

## FINAL SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT



## DISPOSAL OF PORTIONS OF THE FORMER HOMESTEAD AIR FORCE BASE, FLORIDA



**VOLUME IV: RESPONSES TO COMMENTS** 

#### IN THIS VOLUME

Volume IV contains responses to the comments contained in Volume III. This volume includes an Introduction, Responses to Comments, and a Response Index.

The **Introduction** explains the contents of this volume.

The **Responses to Comments** section contains summaries of the comments and responses to each summary comment. The summary comments and responses are grouped into the following 25 topics:

- 1. General
- 2. SEIS Process
- 3. Purpose and Need
- 4. Alternatives
- 5. Content and Methodology
- 6. Socioeconomics
- 7. Transportation
- 8. Utilities
- 9. Airspace and Safety
- 10. Noise
- 11. Land Use and Aesthetics
- 12. Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products
- 13. Air Quality

- 14. Earth Resources
- 15. Water Resources
- 16. Biological Resources
- 17. Cultural Resources
- 18. Minority and Low-Income Populations
- 19. Department of Transportation Act Section 4(f) Lands
- 20. Secondary Development
- 21. Buffer Area
- 22. Mitigation Measures
- 23. Cumulative Impacts
- 24. South Florida Ecosystem Restoration
- 25. Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal

Some of the topics are further divided into subtopics. Each individual summary comment and response has a unique identification number.

The **Response Index** lists commentors, first, alphabetically by last name and, second, alphabetically by organization. Responses that pertain to specific comments can be found using the following steps:

- 1. In the Response Index, find the commentor's last name in the **Individuals** index or the organization in the **Organizations** index.
- 2. Next to the name/organization is a column of "Relevant Response Number(s)." These refer to the topics and numbers in the Responses to Comments section. The column contains the numbers of all responses that appear to be relevant to that individual's or organization's comments. In some cases, the numbers refer to an entire topic, and in other cases to a specific response.
- 3. The last column of the Response Index lists the page number(s) where the actual comment(s) can be found in **Volume III**.

# FINAL SUPPLEMENTAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT DISPOSAL OF PORTIONS OF THE FORMER

**Volume IV: Responses to Comments** 

HOMESTEAD AIR FORCE BASE, FLORIDA

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS—VOLUME IV

INTRODUCTION					
RESPON	SES TO COMMENTS	R-1			
1.0	GENERAL	R-1			
	1.1 Distribution of the Draft SEIS				
	1.2 General Comments on the Draft SEIS	R-2			
	1.3 Comments on the Significance/Acceptability of Impacts				
2.0	SEIS PROCESS	R-3			
	2.1 Compliance with NEPA Requirements	R-4			
	2.2 Public Comment Period and Hearings on the Draft SEIS	R-8			
	2.3 Objectivity of the SEIS	R-12			
3.0	PURPOSE AND NEED				
	3.1 Air Force Goals				
	3.2 Lead and Cooperating Agencies				
	3.3 Need for Proposed Action				
	3.4 Second Runway	R-14			
4.0	ALTERNATIVES				
	4.1 Definition of Alternatives				
	4.2 Proposed Action				
	4.3 Commercial Spaceport Alternative				
	4.4 Mixed Use Alternative				
	4.5 Independent Land Use Concepts	R-37			
	4.6 Other Alternatives				
	4.7 Preferred Alternative				
	4.8 Alternative Airport Locations				
5.0	CONTENT AND METHODOLOGY	R-41			
	5.1 Format of the SEIS				
	5.2 Geographic Areas Addressed in the SEIS				
	5.3 Analysis Not Included in the Draft SEIS				
	5.4 Period of Analysis				
	5.5 Requests for Additional Information				
	5.6 Definition of the Baseline				
	5.7 Assumptions Incorporated in the Analysis				
6.0	SOCIOECONOMICS				
	6.2 Population	R-60			
	6.3 Housing				
	6.4 Community Services				
	6.5 Financial Impact on Government Entities				
7.0	TRANSPORTATION	R-63			
7.0	7.1 Traffic Analysis				
	7.2 Emergency Evacuation				
	<u> </u>				

i

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

8.0	UTILITIES		
9.0	AIRSPACE AND SAFETY		
	9.1 Airports and Airspace	R-66	
	9.2 Airport/Aircraft Safety	R-67	
	9.3 Bird-Aircraft Strike Hazard		
	9.4 Risks at Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant		
10.0	NOISE	R-73	
	10.1 Aircraft/Airport Noise Data	R-74	
	10.2 Noise Methodology	R-77	
	10.3 General Noise Effects	R-86	
	10.4 Community Noise Effects	R-90	
	10.5 National Parks and Refuge Noise Effects	R-94	
	10.6 Commercial Spaceport Alternative		
	10.7 Noise Mitigation Measures		
11.0	LAND USE AND AESTHETICS	R-102	
	11.1 Community Land Use		
	11.2 Special Use Areas		
	11.3 Agriculture		
	11.4 Aesthetics		
	11.5 Coastal Zone Management Act		
12.0	HAZARDOUS MATERIALS AND WASTE AND PETROLEUM PRODUCTS	R-107	
	12.1 Contamination from Past Use		
	12.2 Management of Hazardous Materials and Waste		
	12.3 Risk of Fuel Spills		
13.0	AIR QUALITY	R-113	
	13.1 Emissions of Criteria Pollutants		
	13.2 Airborne Deposition of Nitrogen Oxides		
	13.3 Emissions Not Regulated Under National Ambient Air Quality Standards		
	13.4 Unburned Fuel Emissions		
	13.5 Air Quality Impacts on National Parks		
14.0	EARTH RESOURCES		
	WATER RESOURCES		
15.0			
	•		
	15.2 Stormwater Management Plans Included in the Alternatives		
	15.3 Analysis of Surface Water Discharges		
	15.4 Effects of Storms and Flooding		
	15.5 Analysis of Groundwater Flows		
	15.6 Water Quality Standards		
	15.7 Changes in Water Quality		
	15.8 Fuel and Chemical Spills		
	15.9 Impacts on Drinking Water		
	15.10 Increases in Nitrogen Loads	R-142	

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

16.0	BIOL	OGICAL RESOURCES	R-145			
	16.1	General Wildlife Comments	R-145			
	16.2	Estuarine and Marine Environments	R-146			
	16.3	Wetlands	R-151			
	16.4	Sensitive Species	R-152			
	16.5	Noise Effects on Wildlife	R-154			
	16.6	Bird-Aircraft Strike Hazard	R-157			
	16.7	Exotic Species	R-158			
17.0	CULT	URAL RESOURCES	R-158			
18.0	MINORITY AND LOW-INCOME POPULATIONSR-					
19.0	DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (DOT) ACT SECTION 4(F) LANDSR-					
20.0	SECONDARY DEVELOPMENT					
21.0	BUFFER AREA					
22.0	MITIGATION MEASURES					
23.0	CUMULATIVE IMPACTS					
24.0	SOUTH FLORIDA ECOSYSTEM RESTORATION					
25.0	BASE	REALIGNMENT PROCESS AND PROPERTY DISPOSAL				
	25.1	Realignment Decision				
	25.2	Federal Screening Process				
	25.3	Local Redevelopment Authority	R-171			
	25.4	Compensation for Base Property	R-173			
	25.5	Conditions of Property Transfer	R-174			
RESPONS	SE IND	EX				
INDIV	'IDUAL	S	I-1			
ORGA	NIZAT	IONS	<b>I-</b> 97			
A C'DONV	MC AN	ID APPDEVIATIONS	Incide Back Cover			

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

#### INTRODUCTION

This volume contains responses to the comments submitted during the public review and comment period for the *Draft Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement (SEIS)*, *Disposal of Portions of the Former Homestead Air Force Base (AFB)*, *Florida* that raised questions or issues related to the analysis reported in the Draft SEIS. Many of the comments are similar to one another or address related topics. The Responses to Comments section therefore summarizes and groups them for response. These summarized comments and their responses are grouped into the following subject matter categories:

- 1. General
- 2. SEIS Process
- 3. Purpose and Need
- 4. Alternatives
- 5. Content and Methodology
- 6. Socioeconomics
- 7. Transportation
- 8. Utilities
- 9. Airspace and Safety
- 10. Noise
- 11. Land Use and Aesthetics
- 12. Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products
- 13. Air Quality

- 14. Earth Resources
- 15. Water Resources
- 16. Biological Resources
- 17. Cultural Resources
- 18. Minority and Low-Income Populations
- 19. Department of Transportation Act Section 4(f) Lands
- 20. Secondary Development
- 21. Buffer Area
- 22. Mitigation Measures
- 23. Cumulative Impacts
- 24. South Florida Ecosystem Restoration
- 25. Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal

Some of the categories are further divided into specific topics. Within each topic, there may be several comments that are summarized and given a response.

At the back of this volume is a Response Index with two listings. The first lists individuals whose comments are presented in Volume III, alphabetically by last name. The second is a listing of those comments and letters alphabetically by organization, when one was given. The column next to each name and/or organization identifies topic areas (e.g., Alternatives, Noise, Water Resources), each of which is followed by a set of numbers. These topics and numbers refer to the summary comments and responses contained in the Responses to Comments section of this volume. Readers may refer to the corresponding numbers in that section to find responses related to their comments. In some cases, commentors are referred to overall topic areas, if their comments were general in nature. In other cases, commentors made specific comments and are referred to specific responses.

The last column of the index lists one or more page numbers. These are the pages in Volume III where the actual comment(s) can be found.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank



#### 1.0 GENERAL

This category addresses general comments about the Draft SEIS. General topics include the distribution of the Draft SEIS, general views on the document, and general comments concerning the significance and acceptability of the impacts.

Many commentors expressed an opinion about the proposed commercial airport or another alternative. About 5,000 commentors and petition signers expressed support for the development of former Homestead AFB as a commercial airport, and almost 10,000 commentors and petition signers expressed opposition to the commercial airport. In some cases, the commentors gave general reasons for their conclusions. The most common reasons included economic benefits, noise, impacts on Biscayne and Everglades National Parks, and increased growth and congestion. Several commentors were concerned about how the commercial airport would be developed or managed by Miami-Dade County. Unless the comments contained specific points or questions, no specific response is provided. However, the Air Force and Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) appreciate all inputs, and these views will be taken into consideration in the decision making.

Some commentors made vague comments or criticisms about the analysis in the Draft SEIS. In general, it is difficult to respond to vague comments or criticisms, so responses are limited to specific issues that could be addressed. A number of commentors pointed out factual errors, errors in word choice, or made editorial comments on the Draft SEIS. Rather than address them individually, those comments have been used to correct the errors for the Final SEIS. Specific comments that assisted in improving the document have been incorporated in the Final SEIS.

#### 1.1 Distribution of the Draft SEIS

Comments concerning the distribution of the Draft SEIS ranged from confusion about when and how the Draft SEIS was distributed for public review, to comments on the form and availability of the document.

1.1.1 Comment: A few commentors thought the Draft SEIS was released in February when the public hearings were held.

**Response:** The Draft SEIS was distributed for public review on December 29, 1999, and the Notice of Availability that officially started the 60 day public review and comment period was published on January 7, 2000. Copies of the Draft SEIS Summary were made available at the public hearings in February, but it was actually released in December.

1.1.2 Comment: Distribution of the Draft SEIS to the community and to public libraries was inadequate.

**Response:** The Air Force and FAA made every effort to ensure the Draft SEIS was available to the affected public. About 700 copies of the Draft SEIS and 1,500 copies of the Summary were distributed. Copies were sent to 12 libraries in the region, listed in Volume I, Section 1.5.2, of the Final SEIS. In addition, a toll-free telephone number was available for people to request copies of the documents.

R-1 Final SEIS

1.1.3 Comment: The CD of the Draft SEIS was not usable on some Macintosh computers.

**Response:** The Draft SEIS was offered in printed form and provided to anyone who requested it. In addition, copies of the Draft SEIS were available in several libraries. The CD was provided as a convenience to reviewers and was compatible with most computers, but for people who could not use the CD, including people who do not own a computer, other options were readily available.

1.1.4 Comment: Distribution of the Technical Appendix on Noise was inadequate.

**Response**: The results of the noise analysis were extensively reported in the Draft SEIS. Sections 3.5 and 4.5 of the document devoted over 90 pages to reporting the main findings, and a 109-page Noise appendix was included. The Technical Memorandum on Noise was one of many source documents used in the analysis, all of which are listed in the SEIS References (Chapter 5). Copies of the Technical Memorandum were sent to all the libraries that received copies of the Draft SEIS.

#### 1.2 General Comments on the Draft SEIS

1.2.1 Comment: Some commentors had general criticisms about the adequacy of the analysis in the Draft SEIS or about a particular topic or resource area, but did not specify why they felt it was inadequate or suggest what needed to be added. As an example, numerous letters were received indicating that the Draft SEIS "underestimates the noise pollution and urban sprawl" the proposed commercial airport would cause.

Response: The Air Force and FAA put a lot of effort into ensuring the SEIS adequately addressed all environmental issues of importance for making a decision about the disposal of property at former Homestead AFB. The SEIS addresses relevant environmental issues that were identified as areas of concern in scoping, or that were identified in the course of conducting the analysis. Specific comments on the Draft SEIS that assist in improving the thoroughness and accuracy of the document have been incorporated in the Final SEIS. Criticisms that did not identify specific omissions or errors were too vague to be useful in improving the document. Specific comments on noise are addressed in category 10.0, and secondary development is addressed in category 20.0 below.

1.2.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS presents inaccuracies in relation to topographic elevations of the former base and adjacent areas of proposed development, groundwater issues, wetlands, geology of the site, and rainwater flows in relation to catchment areas.

**Response:** This comment does not provide a specific enough description of the alleged errors to enable them to be corrected. The information in the SEIS was reviewed, and no discrepancies were found.

1.2.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not adequately depict the impact of a commercial airport on traffic, crime, or the quality of schools in the area.

**Response:** The SEIS contains an analysis of socioeconomic impacts, including community services, in Section 4.1 and addresses traffic issues in Section 4.2 of Volume I.

1.2.4 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not describe the damaging impact of a major airport on the national parks.

Response: Nearly all the impact sections in the SEIS discuss impacts on the national parks. In particular, impacts on the national parks and their resources are discussed in depth in the Noise, Land Use and

Final SEIS R-2

Aesthetics, Water Resources, and Biological Resources sections, and a major portion of the summary of impacts in Section 2.9 and the Summary is devoted to the national parks.

#### 1.3 Comments on the Significance/Acceptability of Impacts

Several commentors had observations about the "significance" or "acceptability" of the impacts reported in the Draft SEIS. The Draft SEIS did not use those terms. The focus of the analysis has been to present qualitative and quantitative information that could be used by reviewers to arrive at their own conclusions concerning the importance of the reported impacts. Because significance and acceptability are subjective personal views, readers of the Draft SEIS were able to interpret the reported impacts according to their own priorities and values. The Air Force and FAA respect those individual personal views. They are not individually responded to (unless they contained errors of fact or misinterpretations of the Draft SEIS findings), but the Air Force thanks all commentors for their participation in the process.

1.3.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS states the proposed commercial airport will not have "any significant impact on our natural parks and/or their surroundings" or "will not cause significant noise or water pollution."

**Response:** The Draft SEIS provided information and quantitative data and did not make statements about whether impacts were "significant." Readers may reach their own conclusions about the significance of the impacts reported.

1.3.2 Comment: The environmental analysis in the 1994 Final EIS and Record of Decision have been validated and confirmed in the Draft SEIS.

Response: The Draft SEIS did not make any findings worded in this way.

1.3.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not find adverse impacts from the proposed commercial airport or find the proposed airport to be unacceptable.

**Response:** The purpose of the SEIS is to describe the environmental impacts that could be associated with each of the alternatives examined. It does not address the acceptability of the alternatives. When adverse impacts are identified, the SEIS describes potential mitigation measures that may be able to reduce the impact.

1.3.4 Comment: The Draft SEIS discounted the adverse impacts of the proposed commercial airport by claiming that they are acceptable because the surrounding areas are already exposed to aircraft operations and noise.

**Response:** The SEIS compares projected conditions under each of the alternatives (including No Action) with existing conditions in the region of influence. It does not imply that the changes are or are not acceptable. That conclusion is left to the reader.

#### 2.0 SEIS PROCESS

This category addresses general comments on the SEIS' compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and the NEPA process. It specifically discusses the decision to prepare the SEIS. It addresses comments on the public review of the Draft SEIS and the public hearings held in February 2000. This section also addresses comments on the objectivity of the SEIS.

#### 2.1 Compliance with NEPA Requirements

This category focuses on general NEPA compliance or process issues raised in the public comments. A number of commentors made specific statements about the Proposed Action and alternatives or the treatment of a particular subject matter or resource in the context of NEPA compliance. Those comments are addressed in the relevant topical categories (for example, comments on the Proposed Action and alternatives are addressed in category 4.0) rather than here.

**2.1.1** Comment: The fact that there was no environmental impact study done before making plans for the commercial use of the land is a violation of the law.

**Response:** Two environmental impact statements were prepared to address the proposal for a commercial airport at former Homestead AFB, along with alternative reuse plans. The first was completed in 1994. The second is this SEIS, which was initiated in February 1998, with a Draft SEIS published in December 1999, and culminating in this Final SEIS.

**2.1.2** Comment: In response to pressure by the Council on Environmental Quality and environmental groups, the Air Force began planning in December 1997 to initiate an SEIS process, which has further delayed the transfer of former Homestead AFB.

Response: The decision to prepare an SEIS was made as a result of a review of the 1994 EIS that was begun by the Air Force and the FAA in the spring of 1997. Also participating in the review were the Department of the Interior, Department of Justice, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, and the Council on Environmental Quality. The purpose of the review was to determine whether the 1994 EIS adequately addressed the issues associated with proposed transfer and development of facilities for a one-runway civil airport. After considering fully a contractor's draft report, the Air Force and FAA concluded that the potential environmental issues needed to be addressed further. The decision to prepare an SEIS was made by the Air Force and the FAA, and it was announced December 1997.

**2.1.3** Comment: An SEIS was required because the first EIS was inadequate and did not conform to the law.

Response: The Air Force and the FAA did not decide to prepare a supplemental EIS because the 1994 EIS did not conform to the law, or because any particular group or agency requested it. Rather, elements of Miami-Dade County's proposal had changed, as had other conditions since the original EIS was prepared. In 1997 the Air Force and FAA undertook a review of the 1994 EIS to determine whether it remained adequate to support the then-current proposal. The primary focus of the review was on the potential consequences of new circumstances arising since publication of the 1994 EIS. Based on the initial draft results of the review, and consultations undertaken with other federal agencies, the Air Force and the FAA decided that an SEIS was required.

2.1.4 Comment: According to Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) regulations, an SEIS is to be prepared only if "...the agency makes substantial changes in the proposed action that are relevant to environmental concerns; or [t]here are significant new circumstances or information relevant to environmental concerns and bearing on the proposed action or its impacts." An SEIS is to be prepared without a scoping process or the addition of new alternatives. The SEIS is to begin where the original EIS ended. It is not intended to be an opportunity for a new EIS process whereby new alternatives are considered. Moreover, any new alternatives, if permissible at all, must be added during the scoping process, following a formal public hearing and opportunity to comment, not through some secret process midway through the formal NEPA procedures. Otherwise, the public is denied notice of the SEIS' proposed content and is denied an opportunity to comment.

Final SEIS R-4

**Response:** The preparation of an SEIS is not necessarily limited to the circumstances quoted in the comment. The CEQ regulations provide that agencies "[m]ay also prepare supplements when the agency determines that the purposes of the Act will be furthered by doing so." In other words, although the decision to prepare an SEIS is mandated in some circumstances, it is also something that an agency may choose to do.

In 1997, the Air Force and the FAA undertook a review of the 1994 EIS to determine whether it remained adequate to support the then-current proposal. The primary focus of the work was on the potential consequences of new circumstances arising since publication of the 1994 EIS. Based on the initial draft results of the review, and consultations undertaken with other federal agencies, the Air Force and the FAA decided that an SEIS was required.

The results of the review and the reasons for that decision were explained in December 1997 when the decision to prepare the SEIS was announced. As was explained at the time, the Air Force and FAA believed, based upon the information then available, than an SEIS was required. But even if that judgment had been incorrect, the decision to prepare an SEIS would not have been an abuse of discretion. The Homestead SEIS has facilitated valuable community debate, has reexamined environmental issues in greater detail than was done before, and has evaluated newly developed reasonable alternatives that did not exist at the time of the 1994 EIS. The purposes of NEPA have been furthered by preparation of this document.

Next, there is no prohibition on conducting a scoping process for an SEIS. The CEQ regulations do not require one in the case of an SEIS, but neither do they prohibit it.

The scoping process was conducted from February 27 through July 10, 1998. The complaints now being made about it are being made almost two years after the fact. At the time, no one suggested that scoping was unlawful or even undesirable. The time taken to accomplish scoping was not a substantial portion of the time to prepare the Draft SEIS, particularly in light of the fact that scoping was performed concurrently with initial data gathering and other preparatory work. In the opinion of the Air Force and FAA, scoping was a valuable use of time. Preparing for scoping and listening to the comments provided during it was an important education about the issues, concerns, and complexities that should be addressed in the SEIS.

Similarly, there is nothing improper about including new reasonable alternatives in an SEIS. The claim that an SEIS is limited to the alternatives and issues analyzed in the previous document(s) has no basis in the regulations or case law. Indeed, a new reasonable alternative is just the kind of "significant new circumstance" that can require an SEIS. This particular SEIS may have been begun for different reasons, but addressing the additional alternatives that arose during its preparation was both lawful and prudent.

The claim that alternatives can be added only during scoping is also incorrect. This claim is coupled with the notion that alternatives can be included only after a formal public hearing and an opportunity to comment. However, scoping is a flexible process, and nothing in NEPA or the CEQ regulations impose such constraints. Although the goal of scoping is public input into an early determination of the scope of the issues to be addressed, those decisions can be changed later as needed to produce an adequate environmental analysis. Indeed, the CEQ regulations may require federal agencies to revise their determination if substantial changes are made later in the proposed action, or if significant new circumstances or information arise. The scoping process is merely a means to an end. It is a tool for preparing the SEIS, not a contract.

Finally, the allegations of a secret process and the absence of public opportunity to comment completely lacks merit. The December 1997 press release announcing the beginning of the SEIS process stated that

R-5 Final SEIS

the SEIS would "comprehensively" address potential environmental impacts. (The accompanying explanation of the Homestead EIS Review Process also stated that the SEIS would address "all" potential impacts, and that the approach would be "comprehensive.") The press release announced further that there would be "extensive consultation with government agencies and the public on the scope of the SEIS," and that written input would be welcome "at any time."

During the eight public scoping meetings held in April and June 1998, the presentation made by the Air Force stated that the SEIS analysis would be a detailed study that comprehensively addresses the environmental impacts of the proposed transfer. It also stated that the SEIS would analyze any reasonably alternatives that a property transfer might lead to, and it solicited input from the public on alternatives that should examined. The presentation gave specific examples of alternatives that had been suggested to the Air Force and stated that other alternatives identified during the scoping process would be considered for possible inclusion and analysis in the SEIS.

The Air Force also periodically published a Homestead SEIS Newsletter and distributed it to the public. Six of these have now been published. The focus of the one distributed in February 1999 was on the alternatives being analyzed in the SEIS. The newsletter stated that the SEIS would examine both a Commercial Spaceport alternative and a Mixed Use alternative, neither of which had been analyzed previously in the 1994 EIS.

Thus, the allegation of a secret process is simply not correct in the face of numerous federal statements about a comprehensive environmental analysis, the public solicitation of additional disposal alternatives, and public identification (almost a year before the Draft SEIS was available) of new alternatives that would be included in it.

Moreover, these matters were reported in the press. Later in 1999, after the Air Force had evaluated the Collier and Hoover proposals and public interest in them had increased, the Air Force answered inquiries from county officials, congressional offices, and journalists by stating that the Collier and Hoover proposals would be analyzed in the Draft SEIS as part of the analysis of the Mixed Use alternative. Descriptions and discussion of the Collier and Hoover proposals appeared in stories, columns, and editorials in the *Miami Herald*, such as those on April 11, 14, and 15, 1999, and on October 8, 1999. The issue of the *Miami New Times* dated October 7–13, 1999, ran a lengthy story about the proposals and reported that the Draft SEIS would include an analysis of the Collier and Hoover proposals. These matters were not secret, were reported openly, and should not have been a surprise to anyone monitoring the process.

**2.1.5** Comment: The consideration of new alternatives violates NEPA. It also offends the due process rights and threatens the civil and equal protection rights of the members of the Equal Justice Coalition. It also is inconsistent with the base realignment and closure process.

**Response:** The Air Force and the FAA disagree. The consideration of newly developed reasonable alternatives does not violate NEPA, due process, equal protection, or any civil rights laws, nor is it inconsistent with policies and requirements of the base closure and realignment process.

**2.1.6** Comment: The Collier proposal is not a reasonable alternative. The "concept of alternatives must be bounded by some notion of feasibility." [citing Vermont Yankee] The Collier proposal is based upon a number of events happening that are contrary to exiting U.S. law. Unless these events are carried out, the Collier Resources Company would be unable to carry out its plan.

**Response:** The Air Force does not agree with the premise of the comment, that implementation of the Collier proposal would be contrary to existing law. But even if that were the case, the fact that an

Final SEIS R-6

alternative is contrary to law does not necessarily make it unreasonable. Laws can be changed or exceptions to them made, and in the appropriate circumstances federal agencies might wish to ask for such changes. It is not improper to advocate changes in law, and it is not improper to consider alternatives, otherwise reasonable, that might benefit from or require legislative action.

2.1.7 Comment: The NEPA process must not be used to violate environmental justice and the civil rights of members of the Equal Justice Coalition. The delays in acting on the 1994 Record of Decision, the decision to prepare a supplemental EIS, and the subsequent delays in the NEPA process violate Title VI of the Civil Rights Act and their equal protection and due process rights under the Constitution. The transfer has been delayed and the people of this region have been held hostage for the past five years while the procedures and substantive purposes of NEPA and the Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) process have been violated. The poor and minority people of this region have been exploited for their powerlessness by denying them the benefits of federal programs, under BRAC, so that their communities could be exploited for the recreational and aesthetic benefit of those with wealth and power.

**Response:** In addition to being offered here as comments on the Draft Supplemental EIS, these claims have also been made by the commentor to the Civil Rights Division of the Department of Justice. The Air Force and FAA believe that they have acted in compliance with all applicable laws. Neither the civil rights laws, the base closure laws, the environmental laws, nor the Constitution entitle the members of the Equal Justice Coalition or any other person to a particular outcome at former Homestead AFB. The commentor's opinions about the motivations of some of those opposing an airport transfer are noted.

2.1.8 Comment: The time period for an SEIS should be less than that of an EIS and certainly should remain within a year as established by the Department of Defense.

**Response:** The Air Force initially concluded the NEPA process in 1994. This was within twelve months from submission of the Local Redevelopment Authority's redevelopment plan. Neither the base closure statutes nor Department of Defense regulations specify time periods for supplemental actions.

2.1.9 Comment: The Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) incorporates by reference its prior correspondence (with attachments) concerning the Draft SEIS and the decision to prepare this document. This correspondence and the documents contained therewith bear directly on what NRDC believes to be the Draft SEIS' deficiencies. NRDC requests that the Air Force ensure that these documents have been placed in the administrative record for this proceeding.

**Response**: In 1996, NRDC began corresponding with the Air Force over its position that an SEIS should be prepared. Since that time, the NRDC has submitted boxes of material to the Air Force. The volume of material submitted in 1996 and 1997 was the most extensive. It exceeds 32 inches (not counting video tapes). The volume of material submitted after the decision to prepare the SEIS was announced in December 1997 is less substantial only by comparison. The height of the NRDC's scoping comments was about three inches. The height of the NRDC's comments on the Draft SEIS is a little over one inch.

It is not credible to claim that all of these documents "bear directly" on deficiencies that the NRDC believes it has found in the Draft SEIS. The material submitted to the Air Force includes old newspaper articles; video-taped meetings of the Miami-Dade County Commission, the Governor's Commission on Sustainable South Florida, and the South Florida Ecosystem Restoration Task Force Working Group; and many other irrelevant items.

Starting in 1998, this material was reviewed as part of preparing the Draft SEIS. Judgments were made about what was relevant, outdated, partially useful, and so forth, on a wide variety of material obtained from many sources, including NRDC. Over many months, the products of those judgments were reviewed

and discussed by the lead agencies, the cooperating agencies, and the other participating federal agencies. The Draft SEIS published in December 1999 reflects the final conclusions of the Air Force and FAA about what was relevant and important.

To the extent that a commentor disagrees with the environmental analysis, it is incumbent on the commentor to identify the deficiency with some specificity, not wave vaguely at a large volume of material that was already considered once during the preparation phase. If a commentor identifies a deficiency, the Air Force and the FAA can correct it or can supply reasons for believing that a correction is not appropriate. It is simply not possible, however, to guess which pages from over three feet of material might now be considered relevant to any particular environmental issue.

All of the NRDC's prior correspondence and attachments have been retained. However, in the absence of specific claims presented in a lawsuit, it is premature to judge which documents comprise the administrative record.

**2.1.10** Comment: The Air Force and all other federal agencies should implement the less-damaging alternative. Why have a detailed environmental review and a public input process if the decision can ultimately be to ignore the less-damaging alternatives?

**Response:** NEPA prescribes a required process, but it does not mandate a particular result. Federal agencies are required to identify reasonable alternatives and take a hard look at potential environmental impacts. However, the agencies are not prohibited by NEPA from deciding ultimately that other values outweigh the environmental costs.

#### 2.2 Public Comment Period and Hearings on the Draft SEIS

This section addresses comments on public involvement in the SEIS process, the public hearings held in February 2000, and the public comment period in general.

**2.2.1** Comment: The community has not been brought into the SEIS process. People have been left in the dark.

Response: Opportunities for community input into the SEIS began with a four and one-half month public scoping period that lasted from February 27 to July 10, 1998. During that period, eight public scoping meetings were conducted in Homestead and Miami, and over 20 meetings were held with community groups, agencies, and interest groups, including in Naranja. While the Draft SEIS was being prepared, four newsletters were broadly distributed in the community to keep people informed of the document's progress and contents. Public comments on the Draft SEIS were received at five public hearings and through written correspondence during the 60 day public comment period. Over 8,000 comments were received during this public comment period. This indicates that a large number of people took advantage of the opportunities provided for public involvement.

**2.2.2** Comment: The National Environmental Policy Act does not require public hearings.

**Response:** NEPA does not require public hearings. However, Council on Environmental Quality regulations encourage them, and the Air Force always holds them for environmental impact statements.

2.2.3 Comment: An inadequate number of public hearings were conducted in the communities closest to former Homestead AFB. Only one hearing was conducted in Homestead and two were conducted in Kendall, which will not be affected. No hearings were conducted in communities like Naranja, Princeton, and Goulds.

Final SEIS

**Response:** The Air Force was limited by the number of large facilities available in the area capable of holding the public hearings. A large turnout was expected, so the hearings were held in the largest facilities available close to the former base. Only one hearing could be held at the Homestead High School because of conflicts with school activities. There are no large meeting facilities in communities like Naranja, Princeton, and Goulds. Considering the number of people who did come to the hearings, the smaller facilities in these communities would not have been adequate to accommodate the attendance.

**2.2.4** Comment: The size of the facilities in which public hearings were held was inadequate.

**Response:** The only location where inadequate space was available for the number of attendees was the hearing in Homestead on February 1. This hearing was conducted in the Homestead High School auditorium, the largest facility in the area. The number of people allowed into the auditorium at any one time was limited by fire safety codes. Every effort was made to allow more people in as others left, so that as many people as possible were able to participate.

**2.2.5** Comment: The time and locations of the public hearings made it difficult for working class people to attend.

**Response:** Hearings were scheduled both in the afternoon and in the evening to provide alternatives for people who have to work at particular times. In addition, anyone who was unable to attend the public hearings was encouraged to send in written comments, which are given the same weight as comments provided at the hearings. See also response to comment 2.2.3.

**2.2.6** Comment: Public hearings should have been conducted in Key Largo/Upper Keys, Key Biscayne, and across the United States.

**Response:** The public hearings were held in southern Miami-Dade County, the area where the majority of impacts from reuse of former Homestead AFB are anticipated to occur. Public hearings were not the only opportunity for providing comments on the Draft SEIS. Written comments were encouraged and given equal consideration with comments provided at the public hearings.

**2.2.7** Comment: Public hearings should have been conducted in Opa-Locka because it is an alternative location for a reliever airport.

**Response:** Section 1.2 of the SEIS explains that the purpose of the SEIS is to examine alternative reuses for surplus property at former Homestead AFB. A commercial airport is one of the alternatives examined in the SEIS for the use of that property. Opa-Locka is not an alternative under consideration in this SEIS. Therefore, public hearings were not conducted near Opa-Locka. However, written comments on the Draft SEIS were accepted from any location and are considered equally with public comments furnished at the public hearings.

**2.2.8 Comment:** The public hearings were inadequately advertised.

Response: Notices were put in the New Times, Miami Times, South Dade Newsletter, Miami Herald, The Reporter, and Cutler Courier on January 5–7 and 19–20, including Spanish-language notifications provided in El Nuevo Herald and Diario Las Americas. Two press releases were sent to about 100 media contacts on January 3 and 18. Public service announcements were sent to local radio stations in both English and Spanish. An estimated 2,000 people attended the public hearings. The notifications apparently reached a large number of people.

**2.2.9** Comment: No public workshops to explain the SEIS or its significance or the comment period were scheduled in the affected communities.

Response: Several actions were undertaken to inform people about the SEIS and the public comment period. A newsletter was widely distributed before the Draft SEIS was released explaining its purpose and discussing how to make comments. During the public hearings, displays and handouts were made available and time was allotted for people to review the materials and ask question of government and contractor personnel who were made available. The Air Force encourages people to read the SEIS and draw their own conclusions. The large number of comments received during the comment period indicates that readers were able to interpret the findings and understood the purpose of the comment period.

**2.2.10** Comment: Inadequate information about the Draft SEIS and public hearings was provided in Spanish. Spanish language materials were hidden underneath tables at the public hearings.

Response: Press releases about the public comment period for the Draft SEIS and public hearings were provided to about 100 print and broadcast media contacts on January 3 and 18, 2000. No air time was purchased at English or Spanish language radio or televisions stations. However, both English and Spanish language television and radio stations provided extensive coverage of the Draft SEIS and public hearings. Handouts at the public hearings were bilingual, with Spanish on one side and English on the other. Copies of the Air Force briefing slides were not generally distributed, but Spanish language copies were available on request. Those were the materials kept underneath the sign-in tables. No English language copies of these slides were distributed; they were only available in Spanish.

**2.2.11** Comment: The public hearings were supposed to start at 5:30 but did not get started until 7:00 p.m.

Response: The public hearings consisted of an "open house" period and a "town meeting" period. The open house period was designed to provide people an opportunity to obtain information about the Draft SEIS by reviewing a number of displays and talking to agency and contractor representatives. A court reporter was available during that time to take private oral comments. At the evening sessions, this was scheduled for 5:30–7:00. The town meeting portion of the hearings that started at 7:00 (in the evening sessions) was provided to offer participants the opportunity to make public oral comments on the Draft SEIS.

**2.2.12** Comment: People who will be most affected by the reuse of former Homestead AFB property were not able to speak.

**Response:** A large number of people signed up to speak at the public hearing in the Homestead High School on February 1. Not everyone was able to speak by the time the hearing was adjourned. The meeting had to be adjourned before midnight because of school policy. At the subsequent hearings, priority was given to people who had signed up in Homestead but had not spoken. Not everyone was able to attend another hearing. Everyone who did attended the other hearings was able to speak. Anyone who was not able to speak at the hearings was encouraged to submit written comments, which are given equal consideration with comments given at the hearings.

**2.2.13** Comment: Elected officials were given priority over members of the public. Elected officials/politicians were allowed 10 minutes to comment at the public hearings, while the general public was only given 3 minutes. Not everyone who signed up was given a chance to speak at the public hearings.

**Response:** The Air Force routinely allows elected officials to speak first at public hearings. At the first public hearing in Homestead on February 1, 18 elected officials signed up to speak and were given this courtesy. A total of 51 people spoke at that hearing. At the other hearings, the courtesy of speaking first was only offered to elected officials who had not already spoken at a previous hearing. One elected official spoke at the beginning of the afternoon hearing in Kendall, two at the evening hearing in Kendall, one at the afternoon session in Miami, and two at the evening hearing in Miami. In all, elected officials represented 24 of the total 361 people who provided comments at the public hearings.

The format for each of the public hearings consisted of an introductory presentation on the NEPA process by the Air Force (about 15 minutes long), followed by an opportunity for proponents of each of the alternatives to explain their proposal (10 minutes each), and then public comments (3 minutes each). This opportunity to explain their proposals was offered to Miami-Dade County for the Proposed Action, Florida Spaceport Authority for the Commercial Spaceport alternative, Collier Resources Company, and the Hoover Environmental Group. All declined the offer except Miami-Dade County, which made a presentation at each public hearing. During the public comment portion of the hearings, all commentors were allowed 3 minutes to give their comments, including elected officials.

2.2.14 Comment: An elected official representing the area where the hearing took place was not afforded the opportunity to speak with the other elected officials.

**Response:** The Air Force apologizes for this inadvertent oversight. The intention was to call on all elected officials who expressed an interest in speaking. Apparently, the information did not make its way to the moderator as it should have.

2.2.15 Comment: Speakers at the public hearings should have been required to state their address.

**Response:** The transcripts of the public hearings are published in this Final SEIS. Therefore, the hearing moderator asked speakers not to give their address if they did not want to have it published in the Final SEIS. This was done to ensure compliance with the Privacy Act of 1974.

**2.2.16** Comment: Why was a representative of the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant not invited to the public hearings for the Draft SEIS to answer questions?

Response: The public hearings were conducted by the Air Force and FAA as the co-lead agencies responsible for the SEIS, and included participation by the cooperating federal agencies (specifically the National Park Service). Other participants included the proponents of alternative reuse plans for former Homestead AFB. It was not practical to have every organization or agency that might have information relevant to the SEIS also participate. The primary purpose of the hearings was to receive comments, rather than answer questions. Questions raised during the public comment period are addressed in the Final SEIS.

**2.2.17 Comment:** The comment period should be extended.

**Response:** The Air Force went beyond regulatory requirements and provided a 60 day public comment period for the Draft SEIS. National Environmental Policy Act regulations require a minimum of 45 days for public review of draft environmental impact statements. The Air Force received over 8,000 written comment letters on the Draft SEIS, many of which included extensive and detailed comments. This suggests the comment period was long enough for many people to make meaningful comments.

**2.2.18** Comment: The public comment period for the Draft SEIS should be extended to provide the public the opportunity to review the risk assessment on the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant, which was not included in the Draft SEIS.

Response: The Air Force and FAA do not feel additional public review is needed for the property disposal decision making that is the subject of the SEIS. The Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) has adhered to its own process for evaluating and reviewing the risk assessment prepared by Florida Power and Light concerning the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant. This process included making documentation publicly available. The Final SEIS summarizes the findings of the study. Correspondence from NRC is contained in Appendix I of Volume II. If members of the public still have questions concerning the risk assessment, they should be raised with NRC, which has regulatory authority over the operations at the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant.

#### 2.3 Objectivity of the SEIS

NEPA requires environmental impact statements to contain objective analyses. Some commentors questioned the objectivity of the analyses in the SEIS.

**2.3.1** Comment: The Air Force and FAA wanted an airport, and the report is somewhat slanted because of that. When negative impacts were identified, their importance was downplayed.

Response: The SEIS provides quantitative and qualitative information about potential changes associated with the Proposed Action and alternatives. Readers may come to their own conclusions about the importance of those changes. The SEIS does present data in the context of existing conditions and regulatory standards, and in some cases, the changes reported are relatively small. How important those changes are, regardless of size, is subject to reader interpretation. Based on the comments received by the Air Force, reviewers did in fact reach different conclusions from the information provided in the Draft SEIS. Some commentors indicated that the Draft SEIS findings convinced them that a commercial airport at former Homestead AFB would be acceptable, while others indicated that the impacts reported in Draft SEIS would be unacceptable.

2.3.2 Comment: The company that prepared the Draft SEIS is an aviation consultant (Landrum & Brown) and is biased in favor of the commercial airport. The Draft SEIS was not prepared by environmental scientists.

Response: The Draft SEIS was prepared by Science Applications International Corporation (SAIC), a professional services company specializing in telecommunications, research and development, environmental and health services, energy, and national security. SAIC has over 3,000 environmental scientists and conducts environmental analysis for a wide variety of agencies, including the Department of Defense, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Department of the Interior, other federal agencies, state agencies, and local communities throughout the U.S. and overseas. Landrum & Brown, a company specializing in airport planning, prepared the Airport Planning Report included in Appendix A of the SEIS and the aircraft noise analysis contained in Appendix E of the SEIS, as well as a separate Technical Memorandum on Noise.

The SEIS was independently reviewed and evaluated by the Air Force and FAA to ensure completion of a comprehensive environmental document meeting the requirements of NEPA, Council on Environmental Quality regulations, and other applicable laws, regulations and administrative guidance.

#### 3.0 PURPOSE AND NEED

This category addresses comments related to Chapter 1, Purpose and Need for the Action, in Volume I of the SEIS. Comments in this category pertain to the Air Force goals for transfer of the surplus property at former Homestead AFB, lead and cooperating agencies, the purpose of the proposed property transfer, and federal decisions to be made once the SEIS is completed. This section discusses the SEIS' consideration of possible future airport expansion and construction of a second runway should a commercial airport be developed at former Homestead AFB.

#### 3.1 Air Force Goals

3.1.1 Comment: It is important to note that the Air Force and FAA goal does not include maximization of economic revitalization nor development of a commercial airport.

Response: The goal that was stated in December 1997 at the beginning of the SEIS process was as follows: "the Administration seeks to transfer surplus property in a manner that supports local plans for economic revitalization of South Florida and protects Biscayne Bay and the nearby national parks." At the time this goal was announced in 1997, the only local plan for economic redevelopment was Miami-Dade County's airport proposal, a proposal that had been approved by the Air Force in 1994. Since then, additional alternatives have surfaced, and the Air Force and other federal agencies are carefully evaluating them too.

- 3.1.2 Comment: If the Proposed Action is not selected, the best alternative would be the No Action alternative. This alternative could be developed as follows:
- 1. The Air Force Reserve mission is preserved.
- 2. Government activities at Opa-Locka would be transferred to Homestead.
- 3. Increase drug enforcement activities particularly with the new threats coming from Haiti as well as Colombia, and so forth could be located at Homestead.
- 4. All military reserve activities (Army, Navy, Marine and Coast Guard) might consider the location as well as the Air Force Reserve.
- 5. Cuban military and political threats during and after Castro could be better monitored and kept in a state or readiness.
- 6. Airport use would be preserved until the airport crisis in south Florida has reached such proportions that public outcry for increased airport capacity will outweigh the media generated uncompromising environmental protests founded primarily on emotion.

**Response:** Although one never knows how the future might develop, the developments described in the comment are very speculative. The Air Force does not have and has not received any proposals to relocate other military units to Homestead. The No Action alternative analyzed in the SEIS is based on a continuation of the status quo.

#### 3.2 Lead and Cooperating Agencies

3.2.1 Comment: The Air Force should be circumspect about the FAA as co-lead agency on the SEIS.

**Response:** The Air Force has confidence in the objectivity and expertise of the FAA and has relied upon them for important portions of the environmental analysis.

3.2.2 Comment: The exclusion of non-environmental organizations as cooperating agencies casts heavy doubt on the objectivity of the SEIS. It is lamentable that the Department of Commerce was excluded, and the lack of input from Department of Defense's Office of Economic Adjustment appears to be a major omission.

Response: The lead agencies preparing the SEIS are the Air Force and the FAA. Cooperating agencies are U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, National Park Service, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. The Department of Justice and the Council on Environmental Quality participated in an informal basis. No other federal agency sought to be involved, and no federal agency that asked to be involved was excluded from participating. Of the two agencies mentioned specifically in the comment, neither one commented on the Draft SEIS, although comments were received from the National Marine Fisheries Service, a component of the Department of Commerce. If there has been any lack of input from other federal agencies, it has been from their own choice and not from a lack of objectivity by the lead agencies, or an unwillingness to consider another agency's views.

**3.2.3** Comment: The Final EIS must address fully and resolve the objections of the Department of the Interior (DOI), especially concerning noise.

**Response:** The Air Force and FAA have worked extensively with DOI on a number of issues important to DOI, including the noise analysis. DOI's opinions and preferences are very important to the Air Force and FAA, and the SEIS has addressed DOI's environmental concerns in great detail. The Air Force and FAA will continue to weigh carefully DOI's views during final decision making.

#### 3.3 Need for Proposed Action

3.3.1 Comment: A stated key basis for the Proposed Action has always been that Miami-Dade County requires a reliever airport for Miami International Airport (MIA). Specifically, the Draft SEIS in Appendix A states that MIA's capacity will be exceeded between 2006 and 2010.

Response: The Air Force disagrees that the basis for the Proposed Action is that Miami-Dade County requires a reliever airport. As the SEIS explains in Chapter 1 of Volume I, the purpose and need for the action is to dispose of property determined to be excess to military needs. Department of Defense regulations provide that the local redevelopment plan will generally be used as the basis for the proposed action in the National Environmental Policy Act analysis for property disposal (32 CFR §175.7(d)(3)). The Proposed Action identified in the SEIS represents the reuse plan developed by Miami-Dade County, the Local Redevelopment Authority (LRA). Thus, the basis for the Proposed Action in the SEIS is that it is the local reuse plan.

Although it is correct that Miami-Dade County seeks an airport at Homestead because the capacity of MIA will be exceeded sometime in the future, the Air Force followed the established practice of identifying the LRA's reuse plan as the Proposed Action in the NEPA disposal analysis.

#### 3.4 Second Runway

The purpose of the SEIS is to provide information relevant to the transfer of existing surplus federal property, including a single runway, at former Homestead AFB. The SEIS acknowledges the possibility of future expansion outside this property and construction of a second runway if the former base property is transferred to Miami-Dade County for a commercial airport. However, as Section 1.3 in Volume I indicates, this is not part of the decisions stemming from this SEIS. Such a decision would require a future NEPA process. This category responds to comments that a two-runway airport should have been the basis for the analysis of the Proposed Action in the SEIS.

Final SEIS

3.4.1 Comment: Some commentors believe that the planned two-runway airport should be the Proposed Action for NEPA purposes and pointed out that this was requested in scoping comments and other written arguments and documentation. These commentors felt the Draft SEIS did not adequately address the environmental impacts of a second runway as an integral component of the airport development plan.

**Response:** A detailed analysis of a second runway is not required for this SEIS. However, the potential impacts of a second runway were not ignored. The subject of possible airport expansion is discussed in Section 2.9.2.7 of Volume I. The SEIS recognizes that at some point the one-runway airport could reach its operating capacity. That could occur about 2038, were the airport to grow as quickly as the forecasts used for the analysis assume. However, the ability to analyze environmental impacts so far into the future is highly speculative.

Moreover, a second runway cannot be accommodated within the boundaries of the disposal property, and its implementation is uncertain. The Airport Layout Plan developed by the county includes, for future facility planning purposes, a second runway. Over 1,000 acres off site would need to be acquired for its construction. Also, were a second runway actually ever to be proposed, a new federal EIS would be required before any second runway could be approved or constructed.

In comments made at one of the public hearings, the Mayor of Miami-Dade County stated that the county was committed to the development of a single-runway facility. Though the county's intentions could change, it is accurate to say that a second runway is not part of the existing proposal. It certainly is not, at this time, an "integral component."

Even so, the SEIS attempts to speculate to some degree about the possible future consequences of a second runway, were one ever to be sought. Each of the resource topics in Chapter 4 of Volume I examines the possible additional consequences of a second runway. Those discussions are summarized in Chapter 2 along with the other environmental consequences. These discussions far ahead of the possibility of a second runway are necessarily speculative and limited, but the possibility is recognized and the potential issues are confronted. This issue was further highlighted in the Summary.

#### 4.0 ALTERNATIVES

This section addresses questions and comments concerning the alternatives examined in the SEIS, including the Proposed Action, Commercial Spaceport alternative, Mixed Use alternative, and Independent Land Use concepts. Comments concerning other alternatives are also addressed. Finally, the section responds to comments concerning the preferred alternative.

#### 4.1 Definition of Alternatives

4.1.1 Comment: The discussion of the alternatives to the project is deficient.

**Response:** The Draft SEIS discussed the environmental effects of the Proposed Action and five other alternatives in detail, including No Action. Two of those alternatives have been merged into a sixth alternative in the Final SEIS. The SEIS also addresses a number of independent land uses. As described in Section 2.1.2 of Volume I, these were the only alternatives found to be reasonable, and they reflect a highly diverse range of reuse options. They could be selected in whole, in part, or in combination.

4.1.2 Comment: The alternatives to the Proposed Action considered in the Draft SEIS are highly speculative from a permitting perspective as well as an economic perspective. None of the alternatives have firm plans or permits processed or available in order to commence the redevelopment process at

R-15 Final SEIS

former Homestead AFB, unlike the Proposed Action which has the benefit of expedited review under Florida Statutes, Chapter 288, together with preliminary approvals from the South Florida Water Management District and the State of Florida. None of the other proponents have submitted full and specific plans that have been reviewed by local or state agencies, or have been the subject of any public hearings locally. The Collier-Hoover proposal is dependent on the ability to exchange property, and it is not certain such an exchange can occur.

**Response:** The Commercial Spaceport and Mixed Use alternatives are admittedly less well developed than the commercial airport proposal. The ideas behind those alternatives have been in planning for about two years, while the commercial airport proposal began development in 1993.

Even so, the Collier-Hoover proposal is not significantly less well developed than was the commercial airport proposal when it was included in the 1994 Final EIS and later selected by the Air Force in October 1994. With respect to the factors identified in the comment—lack of firm plans, permits processed, and preliminary approvals from the South Florida Water Management District and the State of Florida—the same could have been said of the airport proposal in 1994. Just as the lack of a more advanced stage of planning did not prevent the Air Force from selecting the airport proposal in 1994, it would not prevent the Air Force from selecting the Collier-Hoover proposal now, were that to be the final decision.

Indeed, it is not the Collier-Hoover alternative but the Commercial Spaceport alternative that is the most speculative possibility at this point, requiring the promulgation of FAA regulations and the preparation of a second complete EIS. The Air Force believes, however, that the Commercial Spaceport alternative is a legally available disposal option despite lack of knowledge about how it would ultimately be permitted.

For that matter, even the commercial airport proposal can still be considered speculative. The permit pending before the South Florida Water Management District is in litigation, and the State's 288 process is not yet complete.

The Air Force believes that the speculative aspects of the Proposed Action and each of the alternatives would not prevent any of them from being chosen as the final disposal decision.

**4.1.3 Comment:** The table of estimated reuse-related influencing factors in the Summary and Section 2.9 of Volume I shows significant increases in the number of aircraft operations in 2000 for every alternative, but no increases in any other factor. The magnitude of the increase seems improbable, especially for the Mixed Use alternative.

**Response:** The aircraft operations shown in this table encompass all operations estimated to use the Homestead airfield, including ongoing military and other government operations. The 19,824 operations shown for the Mixed Use alternative in all years reflect the ongoing operations at Homestead Air Reserve Station. Those numbers are also incorporated in the total operations for the Proposed Action and Commercial Spaceport alternative in all years.

**4.1.4** Comment: Some commentors appeared to be under the impression that the Air Force proposes to expand at former Homestead AFB.

**Response:** The Air Force has no plans to expand or develop additional property at Homestead AFB. The Air Force proposes to transfer surplus property at the former base to another entity for redevelopment. The SEIS examines a number of uses this property could be developed for, including a commercial airport, a commercial spaceport, and non-aviation development.

#### 4.2 Proposed Action

#### 4.2.1 Comment: How/why was the commercial airport selected as the Proposed Action?

**Response:** Sections 1.4 and 1.5 in Volume I describe the Air Force process for preparing environmental impact statements for property disposal actions stemming from base realignments and closures. The commercial airport plan is the reuse plan submitted by Miami-Dade County, the Local Redevelopment Authority. Therefore, it was designated as the Proposed Action, in accordance with defense base realignment and closure policy. However, the Air Force may ultimately select any of the alternatives analyzed in detail in the SEIS.

4.2.2 Comment: The discussion of the commercial airport in the Summary provides no justification for this alternative. The SEIS does not address the airport option within the context of the needs of Miami-Dade County for additional commercial airport. Nor does the SEIS address the impact on the regional economy should the airport not be adopted, considering that 25 percent of the county's economy is aviation related, and 95 percent of the tourists arrive by aircraft. The fact that the county has searched for two decades to find an additional suitable airport should be addressed.

Response: The commercial airport was selected as the Proposed Action because that was the proposal put forth by Miami-Dade County, the Local Redevelopment Authority. The need for a reliever airport for Miami International Airport is briefly summarized in Section 2.2 in Volume I and discussed in more detail in Appendix A in Volume II of the SEIS.

**4.2.3** Comment: How was the decision made to award the airport property to a group of politically connected developers. Were any other groups seriously considered?

**Response:** The decision to select Homestead Air Base Developers, Inc. (HABDI) was made by Miami-Dade County. Another developer was also considered early in the process. After HABDI was chosen, the county negotiated its business deal with them. The selection of an airport developer is a local matter.

**4.2.4** Comment: The Draft SEIS did not indicate whether any airlines or cargo operators have expressed interest in using Homestead as a commercial airport. Any airlines that have expressed an interest in locating to Homestead should be identified.

Response: FAA's office in Florida received some informal inquiries from airlines about Homestead in the mid-1990s. This was a time when, based on the original environmental impact statement, the Air Force had issued a Record of Decision approving transfer to Miami-Dade County for a commercial airport. However, the transfer had not been implemented, and Homestead was not yet available for commercial service. The FAA did not record these inquiries. No expressions of interest from airlines or cargo operators have been received by FAA since the initiation of the SEIS. This is not particularly surprising, considering current uncertainties about the future of Homestead, the estimated timeline for initiation and growth of commercial operations at Homestead, and the immediate anticipated capacity improvement at Miami International Airport with the construction of the fourth runway. Airlines generally operate on a short-term time horizon to base their air service decisions on the latest market conditions.

Commercial service, both passenger and cargo, is forecast to grow gradually over time if former Homestead AFB is converted to a civil airport. There is no airline or cargo activity included in the forecast for the first 5 years of Homestead's operation as a civil airport, and only a small amount of activity in the 2005 forecast. However, the large size and expected population growth of the greater Miami market are factors that contribute to aviation demand and to the forecast need for additional airport capacity.

**4.2.5** Comment: Nowhere in the United States is there a dual field with heavy and fighter operations in a single place.

**Response:** There are many airports in the country that support large commercial operations and military fighter operations. Most Air Reserve Command and National Guard units are collocated with public use and commercial airports.

**4.2.6** Comment: The commercial airport is anticipated to have 231,000 flights annually initially, but that could increase in the future.

**Response:** It is difficult to forecast how many airline operators would want to use a new civil airport. The proposed commercial airport is estimated to have 60,658 operations initially (including military and government operations), increasing to 150,735 by 2015. An operation can be either a takeoff or a landing, so these numbers represent about half as many "flights." The 231,000 operations represent the estimated maximum use of the runway at Homestead, which is not expected to be reached until possibly near the middle of the century.

**4.2.7 Comment:** How does the air traffic projected for the Proposed Action compare with the traffic at Homestead AFB when it was active?

Response: The level of aircraft operations at Homestead AFB varied over the years. When the base was quite active in the years before Hurricane Andrew, it had about 525 military aircraft operations a day, five days a week, including takeoffs, landings, and closed patterns. There were substantial numbers of high-performance military aircraft, including F-4, B-52, and F-15 aircraft. In comparison, the Proposed Action is estimated to have an average of about 166 operations a day, seven days a week, by 2005, increasing to 413 per day by 2015. At maximum use of the single runway, there could be an average of 634 operations per day at Homestead. The numbers of civil aircraft operations include both high-performance jet aircraft and low-performance propeller aircraft. Table 4.5-1 in Volume I of the SEIS provides a summary of the different categories of aircraft that comprise the forecast daily average.

4.2.8 Comment: There is no timeline given for when the proposed commercial airport would generate 38,000 jobs. There is no guarantee that the airport will ever operate at full capacity.

**Response:** Full buildout/maximum use was analyzed in the SEIS for all alternatives to give a sense of the maximum potential impacts. There are no guarantees concerning when or if any of the alternatives would achieve full buildout. As Appendix A in Volume II indicates, the Proposed Action is projected to possibly reach maximum capacity at about 2038, based on available information.

**4.2.9** Comment: The proposed commercial airport will require clearing of protected lands.

**Response:** There are no plans included in the Proposed Action for clearing or developing lands that are protected under environmental law or regulation, such as wetlands or protected habitat areas. As Section 4.11 in Volume I indicates, it is possible that secondary development from the Proposed Action would result in loss of small, unprotected wetlands and pine rocklands.

**4.2.10** Comment: Will residences near Homestead be evicted in order to build warehouses?

**Response:** The Air Force and FAA are not aware of any plans to evict residences in connection with the proposed commercial airport at former Homestead AFB.

4.2.11 Comment: Homestead Air Base Developers, Inc.'s commitment to an environmentally safe airport has been shown through approvals under the Chapter 288 process, the Surface Water Management Master Plan approved by South Florida Water Management District, and the approval of Governor Chiles and the Cabinet.

**Response:** As described in Section 2.2.6 of Volume I, the approval by Governor Chiles and the Cabinet was reversed and remanded by the Third District Court, and the Surface Water Management Master Plan is the subject of litigation. These approvals cannot be considered final.

4.2.12 Comment: The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) has serious environmental objections to the Proposed Action and requests some additional information/clarification in the Final SEIS.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to incorporate additional information in response to comments received during the public comment period on the Draft SEIS.

**4.2.13** Comment: What qualifications do Homestead Air Base Developers, Inc. have to run an airport, and why do they need to use our taxpayers money to build it?

Response: If Homestead property is conveyed to Miami-Dade County for a commercial airport, the county as the airport proprietor would be ultimately responsible for the operation of the airport in accordance with federal requirements. The normal funding sources for airport development include tax-exempt bonds, federal grants, passenger facility charges, airport revenue, state aviation fuel and airline property taxes, aircraft registration fees, state bonds, and state general fund appropriations. While some airport costs may be offset by taxpayer revenue, the proportion is generally a small amount of the overall cost.

**4.2.14** Comment: A number of commentors consider the commercial airport described by the Draft SEIS to be unacceptable just 2 miles from Biscayne National Park and 10 miles from Everglades National Park. Commentors expressed particular concern based on their estimates of the potential frequency of civil flights, such as one aircraft operation a minute.

Response: The Air Force and FAA respect the views of those who regard the proposed commercial airport as unacceptable near the national parks. Numerous commentors indicated this concern based on various mathematical estimations of aircraft overflights (e.g., every minute, every 90 seconds, every 2 minutes). Understanding the overflight and noise effects of the Proposed Action is more complex than simply taking aircraft operations numbers and dividing by days, hours, or minutes to figure out how many aircraft of which size would be over a particular point on the ground and would produce noise levels high enough to be annoying or even noticeable to people at that location. That is why the SEIS noise analysis is complex.

Many commentors' calculations result in an inaccurate conclusion that there would be a large, low-flying, noisy aircraft overhead—whether in the community setting or in the national parks—every 2 minutes, or every 1 minute, or continuously, and so on. There are several reasons why simple calculations like these do not provide an accurate portrayal of aircraft overflight noise at any particular location. Each takeoff and each landing counts as an aircraft operation. Therefore, the number of aircraft operations should be divided by 2 to arrive at the number of aircraft using Homestead, since each individual aircraft is counted twice, once as it lands and again as it takes off. A person on the ground would not be located under both the arrival and departure paths of aircraft, which would be on different sides of the airport. Civil aircraft would use a variety of flight tracks, as shown in the SEIS, depending on aircraft performance and origin/destination. Not every aircraft would fly over the same point on the ground, except in close

R-19 Final SEIS

proximity to the runway. Homestead as a civil airport would serve a broad mix of aircraft from small single engine piston to large commercial and cargo jets. Large and small aircraft have different performance characteristics and different noise emissions levels. Noise dissipates rapidly with distance. Aircraft altitudes abate noise as distance from the runway increases. Noise also dissipates with lateral distance from directly beneath flight tracks (i.e., the slant distance).

The best way to judge noise effects of a commercial airport is to look at the noise contours and grid point analysis data in the SEIS for particular locations. In response to concerns about numbers of aircraft, tables in Appendix E of the SEIS that report daily average civil aircraft numbers by type of aircraft on each flight track have been summarized and added to Section 2.2.2 in Volume I of the Final SEIS. The detailed tables remain in Appendix E in Volume II (Tables II-7 through II-16).

**4.2.15** Comment: Some commentors with concerns about the proximity to the national parks stated that it would be the closest large commercial service airport in the U.S. to national parks, with 236,000 flights per year in its first phase.

**Response:** It is acknowledged that the proposed commercial service airport is close to national parks. The location of former Homestead AFB in relation to these parks has generated a great amount of concern. The SEIS provides an extensive evaluation of potential environmental impacts, with very particular attention given to the national parks.

The comment overstates the commercial airport's projected operational activity. A total of 231,274 annual operations has been calculated to be the maximum capacity potential of the single runway at Homestead, a level that could be achieved around 2038 if Homestead's commercial service continued to grow. The first phase of airport operation is forecast to be 60,658 annual operations. Table 2.2-5 in Volume I of the Final SEIS provides estimated aircraft operations for each forecast year. Response 4.2.14 includes more information regarding the difficulty of assessing an environmental impact (such as aircraft noise) simply from looking at numbers of aircraft operations.

A number of commercial service airports exist within close proximity (10 miles or less) to national parks. Jackson Hole Airport, a commercial service airport in Wyoming, is actually located inside the Grand Tetons National Park. This circumstance does not negate the concern regarding such locations or the strong interest in protecting the national parks.

**4.2.16** Comment: The commercial/air cargo development of Homestead AFB forecasts 300 daily aircraft operations, equivalent to a plane taking off or landing every 4.8 minutes. Current average use of Homestead is approximately 50 daily operations, at maximum. The potential negative environmental and quality of life impacts of more than a sixfold increase in aircraft operations cannot be denied, disputed, or minimized.

Response: Table 4.5-1 in Volume I of the SEIS provides a summary of forecast average daily aircraft operations for the Proposed Action. In 2015, the total forecast daily aircraft operations would be 413, including 140 passenger aircraft operations and about 60 air cargo operations. At maximum use, there could be 634 total daily aircraft operations, including 346 passenger aircraft operations and 74 air cargo operations.

The response to comment 4.2.14 describes the difficulty of reaching conclusions about the environmental effects of aircraft overflights and noise from simply looking at numbers of aircraft operations. The SEIS does not suggest that there would be no environmental impact from the reuse of former Homestead AFB. Extensive analyses have been conducted on the potential environmental impacts of the various alternatives, including a commercial airport. A broad array of resource topics were evaluated, including

Final SEIS R-20

socioeconomics, noise, land use, hazardous materials, air quality, water resources, biological resources, and so on. The environmental consequences of each alternative are described in Chapter 4 and summarized in Section 2.9 of Volume I.

4.2.17 Comment: The SEIS study included the proposed arrival and departure flight paths that show the airport will bring 500 commercial size airplanes, including jumbo jets, over and around Ocean Reef every day. This is not to mention the problems caused by the same air traffic over Everglades and Biscayne National Parks that have been deemed some of the nation's most vulnerable natural environments.

Response: The total daily number of commercial airplanes in the aviation forecast for Homestead is lower than 500. Response 4.2.16 addresses average daily numbers of total aircraft operations that are forecast for Homestead, as well as the numbers of commercial passenger and cargo operations that comprise the total. Not all of the commercial aircraft would be large jets. The projected fleet mix includes a sizeable number of turboprop aircraft and smaller regional jets (see Table 2.2-5 in Volume I). Only a portion of aircraft operations would be on a flight track near Ocean Reef. Section 2.2.2 of the Final SEIS includes a table that summarizes average daily civil aircraft operations that are forecast for each flight track. An extensive portion of the SEIS is devoted to evaluating the potential effects of alternative reuse proposals on the national parks.

Comment: The SEIS does not properly assess the need for an airport in Homestead. The 4.2.18 projections are flawed and do not consider factors such as the expansion of existing facilities and available airport capacity. The FAA and Miami-Dade County's own studies indicate that there may not be an absolute need for a new airport in Homestead. The SEIS must take into the account the Dames & Moore Report of 1995 analyzing airport needs in Miami-Dade County, which concluded that Opa-Locka Airport could be expanded, with a longer runway to serve as a reliever airport for Miami International Airport (MIA). The Miami-Dade County Aviation Department has authorized an \$80 million expansion of Opa-Locka with Stagecoach Aviation, who will build two aircraft hangars. Miami-Dade County Mayor Alex Penelas announced on March 2 a deal with Renaissance Airpark to build hangars, terminals, a hotel and convention center, as well as warehouses and manufacturing facilities at Opa-Locka Airport. The idea is to develop Opa-Locka as an option to MIA for low-cost and commuter airlines and for cargo use. There are other alternatives that the Aviation Department has not mentioned publicly that must be addressed in the Final SEIS. The SEIS did not consider the Aviation Department's own long-term cargo needs analysis prepared by planner Peter Reavely that shows Miami International Airport with a surplus in cargo facilities after completion of the new cargo facilities.

Response: The SEIS has taken into consideration the county's projections of aviation demand, capacity, and the anticipated roles of the various airports in the county. In addition, an independent evaluation was done by the FAA, assisted by consultants, for the SEIS. Based on the projections of aviation demand for the region, there is a long-term need for additional supplemental commercial air service facilities, beyond those existing and planned at existing airports, which Homestead could help to fulfill. While it is true that Miami-Dade County is currently pursuing opportunities for limited commercial service at Opa-Locka, this will not satisfy the long-term airport capacity needs. Therefore, the pursuit of limited commercial expansion at Opa-Locka does not negate the need for commercial service capacity that Homestead could provide. In addition, all of the county's airports are affected to varying degrees by environmental factors that pose problems for expansion. Reasonable and balanced plans to add airport capacity in Miami-Dade County at both Homestead and Opa-Locka would be complementary efforts, rather than competing efforts, considering the forecast aviation growth in south Florida, future capacity limits at MIA and Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport (taking into account planned expansion at both airports), population growth expectations and distribution, and environmental issues surrounding both Homestead and Opa-Locka.

R-21 Final SEIS

The Final SEIS includes information in Section 2.7 and Chapter 4 of Volume I and in the Addendum to Appendix A of Volume II regarding the region's need for additional commercial service airport capacity.

**4.2.19 Comment:** It seems that the only justification for the proposed airport is the perceived need to replace 6,753 jobs lost after Hurricane Andrew wrecked Homestead AFB and displaced 100,000 South Dade residents.

**Response:** Jobs and economic development are important community concerns that have received a lot of attention. The Air Force is seeking to dispose of surplus property at Homestead in a manner that supports local community plans for economic revitalization. Economic benefits to the Homestead area would be a beneficial consequence of developing a commercial service airport.

Although it has received less public attention, there is a long-term need for more commercial service airport capacity in the region, which Homestead could provide. Commercial aviation demand in the region exceeds the capacity of existing airports, including proposed expansions. Other responses in this section provide more information on the need for regional commercial airport capacity.

**4.2.20** Comment: In 1992, 26.5 million passengers used Miami International Airport. By 1998, the total passengers were just under 34.0 million, a 28 percent increase. Total passengers are forecast to reach 48 million in 2005. Likewise, the total tonnage of air cargo has increased from 1.1 million tons in 1992 to nearly 2.0 million tons in 1998, and is forecast to reach 4.0 million tons by 2005. This rapid growth in MIA airline passengers and freight has placed increased demand on aircraft maintenance and overhaul, plus manufacturing of new aircraft and aircraft parts.

**Response:** The data on year 2005 air passenger demand at MIA is acknowledged. Furthermore, passengers are forecast to continue to increase at an average annual rate of 3 percent.

The SEIS estimates that some aircraft maintenance activities could occur at Homestead. Aircraft maintenance operations are estimated at 570 annually in 2005 and 1,470 in 2015. An estimated 1.6 million square feet of aircraft maintenance facilities in 2015 would accommodate the forecast demand.

**4.2.21** Comment: In 1999, The Beacon Council and the Miami-Dade County Aviation Department conducted an aviation industry study. Based on the aviation industry leaders' conclusions, industry needs must be addressed. The aviation industry needs more facilities. Since no additional aviation operations can be located at MIA, Miami-Dade County's general and regional airports must be developed.

**Response:** The SEIS forecast for the proposed Homestead Regional Airport takes into consideration that future forecast demand for commercial air service in the county exceeds the capacity of existing facilities, including planned expansion at MIA.

4.2.22 Comment: The Draft SEIS asserts that the county will be in need of a reliever airport for Miami International Airport by late in this decade. But this conclusion relies upon outdated projections and traffic levels. When more current traffic levels and projections are used, MIA does not appear to require a reliever airport until approximately 2025. A report by Geospec Inc. (submitted by the Natural Resources Defense Council) calculates a mid-2020s time frame in which MIA would require a reliever airport. Even aviation officials admit the present airport is adequate until 2050 and beyond.

**Response:** The SEIS forecast for the proposed commercial airport at Homestead has taken into consideration the county's and the FAA's projections of aviation demand and the ability of the county's system of airports to meet this demand. As discussed in Appendix A of Volume II, demand at MIA is

Final SEIS R-22

forecast to exceed the capacity of the airport, including the fourth runway, within a reasonably foreseeable time frame. The Draft SEIS indicated that demand was estimated to exceed capacity in the 2006–2010 year range. The review of current traffic levels and forecasts that have become available since the Draft SEIS was issued has resulted in an estimate that is toward the end, rather than the beginning, of this range. The Final SEIS includes the latest calculation that demand will exceed capacity at MIA in 2009–2010. The FAA does not agree that either 2025 or 2050 is a realistic estimate of the time frame when demand would exceed capacity at MIA.

**4.2.23** Comment: The Draft SEIS has provided that Miami International Airport is expected to reach full capacity between 2006 and 2010.

**Response:** The most recent information places the dates at 2009–2010. The Final SEIS includes this information. It does not substantially affect the analysis of the foreseeable need for additional commercial airport capacity.

4.2.24 Comment: The FAA reported in its study on the fourth runway at Miami that an airport in Homestead is not feasible because airline companies are typically unwilling to divide their operations within a single region, and local air travelers are unlikely to drive to South Dade to catch flights. The distance of the proposed airport from the urban center of Miami-Dade County (26 miles) is an additional factor. According to the report, most passengers who depart from Miami International Airport live in Miami or Miami Beach. But as many as 20 percent live in Broward or Collier County. Air travelers from these areas could experience travel times of 90 to 120 minutes depending on local and regional traffic conditions. The combination of additional mileage, travel times, and peak hour roadway congestion would serve to deter MIA passengers from using an airport in Homestead, the FAA report concluded. Furthermore, no aviation companies or cargo transporters have come forward demanding to use Homestead or even indicating a need for the facility. History shows that reliever airports are rarely successful.

Response: Foremost among the reasons for eliminating Homestead as a viable alternative to address immediate capacity needs in the referenced 1998 FAA EIS for the fourth runway at MIA was the uncertainty regarding decisions and conditions relating to reuse of former Homestead AFB. Chapter 2 in Appendix A of Volume II of the SEIS describes both positive and negative factors that influence the development of new commercial service airports. An Addendum to Appendix A provides additional information. The largest U.S. cities, such as New York, Chicago, and Los Angeles, often have multiple airports within their metropolitan areas. There are several factors that can result in multiple airports serving major metropolitan areas such as greater Miami, including:

- Urban sprawl and roadway congestion which make alternative airport locations attractive to passengers.
- Major hub congestion that drives new air carriers and passengers to less congested airports.
- Development of niche air carriers that specialize in service from lower cost and/or less congested airports.
- Development of unique markets and services from secondary airports.

Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport already supplements MIA in the northern metropolitan area. Additional commercial air service in the southern part of the air trade area could be provided in the future at Homestead, particularly as the population grows in that portion of the county.

R-23 Final SEIS

The SEIS forecast for Homestead takes into consideration all of these factors as well as the county's need for supplemental commercial airport capacity, which cannot be met entirely by existing airports, including proposed expansions. The SEIS forecast identifies regional air service, including service to Latin American and Caribbean destinations, as well as service by low-cost, new entrant carriers as primary components of estimated future passenger activity at Homestead. Chapter 1 of Appendix A in Volume II explains the assumptions of the Homestead passenger forecast. Additional discussion regarding supplemental and replacement airports can be found in Chapter 2 of Appendix A.

The FAA's analysis regarding the non-suitability of Homestead as an alternative to the fourth runway at MIA is still valid. Homestead Regional Airport is not envisioned to capture the market that is better served at MIA. The SEIS forecast (Chapter 1 of Appendix A) acknowledges that passenger and cargo demand that is dependent on the connecting air service network established at MIA is not anticipated to be captured by a civil airport at Homestead. Instead, Homestead could serve a "niche" role for new entrant, low-cost carriers and for regional service.

4.2.25 Comment: In order to assess the environmental impact of any proposal, the future must be predicted. In this case, the environmental impact depends on, among other things, the air traffic and employment created by the proposed airport. Because of the difficulties of predicting the growth of the airport for the purpose of assessing the environmental impact, optimistic assumptions were made about the level of air traffic. The Airport Planning Data Technical Report in Appendix A of the Draft SEIS states on page 2-7: "Therefore, because it is difficult to judge the potential of a new airport, optimistic air traffic forecasts were developed for Homestead Airport so as to ensure that potential environmental impacts are not underestimated." From an environmental standpoint this makes sense because more air traffic is worse for the environment. However, from an economic standpoint, the optimism leads to unrealistic employment projects. The major airlines at Miami International Airport have publicly stated they will not relocate to or use the proposed Homestead airport. This is quite understandable because they all have substantial capital invested in their facilities at MIA and they have no financial incentive to relocate to a new airport. Further, the passenger and cargo activities of all the airlines now at MIA are so intertwined with connections to each others' flights, baggage and cargo transfers, that relocation would be very costly. The reality is that any airline activity at the proposed Homestead airport would be activity new to the Miami-Dade County area, not activity relocated from MIA. This means that any commercial flight activity (and resulting employment) at the proposed Homestead airport would have to await market forces which cause the development of new airlines or airlines new to Miami-Dade County. This introduces large uncertainties into any economic projections about the proposed Homestead airport and increasing uncertainties into derivative projects, such as employment, with the magnitude of the uncertainties growing as the time horizon increases.

Response: The comment is correct about the difficulties of forecasting air service and growth at a new commercial service airport. The comment is also correct that market forces govern decisions by commercial air operators. The future cannot be predicted with certainty when trying to make either environmental or economic projections. Best reasonable estimates and assumptions must be used. Aviation forecasts for Homestead are grounded in the county's and the FAA's best available long-term assessment of anticipated aviation activity compared to airport capacity in southeast Florida. For any particular year, the rate of growth may turn out to be higher or lower than the forecast. The SEIS indicates that the 2015 forecast is based on a high growth rate. If the growth rate is slower, the 2015 level of operations might not occur until a later year.

Alternatively, there are factors favoring a high growth rate. Greater Miami is the 12th largest metropolitan area in the country (U.S. Census estimates for 1996), and the regional historical and forecast population growth rates are above national averages. The result is an anticipated increasing local demand for air service. Tourism, convention and other visitor traffic show no indication of slowing down. Miami

Final SEIS R-24

International Airport has historically been the prime North American gateway airport to the Caribbean, Central and South America. The SEIS analysis assumes that MIA will retain its international aviation gateway status, as well as continue to serve local residents and visitors. The addition of transfer passengers between aircraft and from aircraft to cruise ships results in extensive anticipated growth of demand. A continued expansion of aviation demand creates opportunities and requirements for some airlines to seek new airport facilities. Homestead, as a commercial airport, would have a high potential to serve a portion of that demand.

The aviation demand initially served at Homestead would likely be new-entrant passenger airlines seeking a unique market and charter airlines that do not depend on transfer passengers. The growth of charter activity at Homestead could be similar to Orlando Sanford, which has become a charter carrier airport. Low-cost carriers in particular are seen as prospective users because of their desire to operate at less congested, non-hub airports to keep their operating costs down. Finally, integrated air cargo companies such as Federal Express and UPS are also potential users of Homestead because they do not depend on transfer of cargo between airlines.

**4.2.26** Comment: Assumptions regarding projected air carrier use of Homestead are very speculative in that there is no commitment from any airline to provide such "lower priced service," as well as the fact that there would be an incentive for Miami-Dade County to capture as much of their capital investment into the infrastructure of the airport as possible. This type of speculation does not seem reasonable.

Response: There are limited facilities at Miami International Airport for new entrant airlines, particularly low-fare carriers. Therefore, it is reasonable that such low-fare carriers would be drawn to an airport such as Homestead. Examples are Islip and Newburgh (Stewart Airport) in New York and Midway Airport in Chicago, which have attracted low-fare carriers that serve New York City and Chicago, respectively. At this point, it is too early to speculate on which particular carriers might choose to serve Homestead.

**4.2.27 Comment:** Which air passengers will be told to use Homestead? How will flights be scheduled to make sure that Broward passengers won't need to make the 40–50 mile trip to Homestead?

Response: Air passengers will not be told to use any particular airport. Homestead would be selected, or not selected, by air passengers on the same basis as other commercial airports. Passengers essentially "shop" for air service much like customers shop for any other type of service whenever there are multiple options from which to choose. Factors such as ticket price, distance to the airport, seat availability, airline "brand" name, and frequency of flights are weighed by passengers in deciding which airport to use. Prospective airlines would also determine which flights to schedule at Homestead based on a series of economic factors including demand for air service, cost, availability of facilities, and competitive position. Broward County has never been viewed as the potential air service market for a commercial airport at Homestead, although lower-cost air carrier service or special air charter service can attract air passengers from greater distances than would normally be the case. Broward passengers would be more likely to use Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport or Miami International Airport.

4.2.28 Comment: The need for an additional commercial airport in Miami-Dade County must be reexamined due to the fact that United, Delta, Continental, and American Airlines are in the process of
setting up flights from New York, Atlanta, Houston, Dallas-Fort Worth, and Los Angeles that will bypass Miami to Latin American, Central America, and the Caribbean. These carriers realize that airline
passengers are not all going to Miami, and to eliminate an unnecessary stopover in Miami is a positive
selling point. Port of entry at Miami International Airport for passengers continuing to other cities is a
time-consuming, troublesome adventure to be eliminated if at all possible. The reduction in passenger
traffic at MIA is already happening. Therefore, Homestead will not be needed.

R-25 Final SEIS

Response: The development of non-stop passenger air service to Latin America, Central America, and the Caribbean from major U.S. cities, thus by-passing Miami, is to be expected to a limited degree as a result of the continued growth in the demand for air service between the U.S. and these international regions. However, Miami is expected to retain its status as the North American gateway to these destinations, much as Los Angeles has retained its gateway status to markets in the Pacific and New York to Europe, while non-stop service to these international regions has developed at other U.S. cities over time. There is a very limited number of "airport cities" in the U.S. that have the population volume and the connecting domestic feed to support non-stop international service. In addition, geographic location, airport facilities, limited route authority, and other factors limit the number of international gateway airports. International service to most cities will continue to require connecting through a major hub or gateway airport, such as Miami International.

**4.2.29** Comment: Miami-Dade County estimates indicate that in 2015, the proposed facility will handle only 2 percent of the commercial airline passengers arriving or departing the county. It hardly seems worth building terminal facilities to handle 2 percent of the county's airline passengers.

**Response:** In 2015, as many as 1.3 million annual enplaned passengers could be using the proposed Homestead Regional Airport. Enplaned passengers are departing passengers. Thus, in total, 2.6 million annual arriving and departing passengers are possible in 2015. A number of existing commercial service airports in the U.S. have this level of passenger activity, or even less.

4.2.30 Comment: Additional capacity can be realized by dividing operations between existing airports, including Miami International, Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International, Opa-Locka, and Palm Beach International. The SEIS also indicates that three Miami-Dade airport facilities (Opa-Locka, Opa-Locka West, and Tamiami-Kendall) will only be 60 percent utilized in 2028. Combined, the three airports will have four times as much unused capacity as Homestead is proposed to use.

Response: The SEIS has taken into consideration the projections of aviation demand, capacity, and the anticipated roles of the various airports in the air service area. Based on the projections of aviation demand for the region, there is still a long-term need for additional supplemental commercial air service facilities, beyond those facilities existing and planned at existing airports. Miami International Airport is forecast to reach capacity by 2009–2010. Fort Lauderdale does and can supplement Miami International Airport in the northern part of the Miami-Dade County service area. It is forecast to reach capacity by 2015. Palm Beach is considered to be north of the Miami air service area, particularly as Miami-Dade County grows southward, and this airport has its own constraints. Opa-Locka West and Kendall-Tamiami Executive Airports are not reasonable candidates for commercial service. More discussion on why existing airports are not viewed as providing sufficient commercial capacity to meet forecast aviation demand is in Appendix A of Volume II. The response to comment 4.2.18 addresses Opa-Locka Airport.

**4.2.31** Comment: A number of commentors have assumed that the proposed airport at Homestead would be an "all cargo airport" and have questioned the need for such an airport. Several commentors added concerns regarding the possibility of 1,000 or more low-flying cargo flights a day.

Response: The Proposed Action is the development of a commercial service airport rather than an "all cargo" airport. Future airport operations are forecast to include passenger, cargo, general aviation, aircraft maintenance, and military/government operations. Table 4.5-1 in Volume I of the SEIS shows projected average daily aircraft operations in each forecast year for the Proposed Action. In 2015, approximately 60 daily operations are forecast to be air cargo (about 15 percent of total operations). At maximum use of the existing runway, which could occur in the 2038 time frame, air cargo operations are forecast to total 74 operations a day (about 12 percent of total operations). Total operations of all categories of aircraft could be 634 operations a day (not 1,000 operations) at maximum use of the runway. The majority of aircraft

Final SEIS R-26

operations would be civil aircraft arrivals and departures using standard approach and take-off procedures and maintaining altitudes above 4,000 feet in the airport vicinity, except during the final approach and initial climb segments of flight.

4.2.32 Comment: Utilizing Homestead as a cargo airport is not viable. Does this mean that all cargo must be handled through this cargo-only airport, or just all cargo airlines? How will this affect the airlines that handle both cargo and passengers? Will they no longer fly cargo into Miami International Airport? Will the carriers who do land at MIA be allowed to fly cargo out of MIA to other U.S. cities and foreign countries? Miami International Airport is spending millions of dollars developing cargo terminals—what will happen to these since they are not suitable for passengers? A segment of the cargo business deals with transfers that are very time and temperature sensitive. What about the resources that U.S. Customs and the Department of Agriculture will have to expend to maintain two airports? The cargo infrastructure that has been established over many years will have to be relocated. This includes airlines, transportation companies, freight forwarders, floral import companies and many other users and service providers, which are too numerous to list.

Response: The Proposed Action is not to develop an all cargo airport, as addressed in the response to comment 4.2.31. The SEIS forecast of commercial aircraft operations at Homestead is based on anticipated demand in a market-driven situation in which airlines and air cargo operators may choose to operate at Homestead, rather than Miami International or other airports. The choice of airports is expected to be based on market factors such as demand for services, cost, availability of facilities, and other considerations. No limitations or restrictions are assumed on the airlines or the types of air cargo services that would be offered in the future at Miami International Airport.

As indicated in Chapter 1 of Appendix A (Volume II), the SEIS recognizes that most air cargo to Miami-Dade County currently goes through Miami International Airport, but it is reasonable to assume that some cargo traffic could be attracted to Homestead in the future. Air cargo services at Homestead Regional Airport would supplement, not replace, those at Miami International Airport. Mail and other cargo that transfers from one aircraft to another and thus relies upon extensive domestic and international connecting service is not expected to be attracted to a location like Homestead. Air cargo that depends on transfers moves in the belly of passenger aircraft as an adjunct to passenger flights at Miami International Airport would be expected to remain at that airport. The SEIS forecast also takes into consideration that air cargo growth is partially dependent on facilities such as customs, clearance warehousing, and repackaging either on-airport or close to the airport, which would need to develop at Homestead as necessary. The forecast assumes that, over time, the needed infrastructure (particularly the vital U.S. Customs capability) could be achieved.

**4.2.33** Comment: The plan is to move cargo operations to Homestead from Miami International Airport to allow expansion of passenger traffic at the existing airport.

**Response:** The SEIS forecast of future aircraft operations at Homestead is not based on cargo operations moving from MIA to Homestead. Cargo service that is dependent on the connecting air service network and on facilities established at Miami International Airport would be expected to continue to be served there. The response to comment 4.2.32 addresses this issue in more detail.

4.2.34 Comment: The Miami Herald reported that more cargo space is not needed to supplement MIA and Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport because trade with Brazil and Venezuela is way down.

Response: Air cargo traffic was down in 1999 versus 1998 at Miami International Airport due to a recession in most major South American economies. With the return of economic growth in Brazil and

R-27 Final SEIS

Chile, among other countries, the volume of cargo is again increasing. Several new cargo facilities are under construction at MIA, indicating the return of traffic. The Boeing Current Market Outlook released in July 2000 states: "Latin American countries are expected to recover from the recent financial crises and will experience some of the world's fastest traffic growth rates."

**4.2.35** Comment: Much more than 50 percent of the commercial jet activity will be by cargo aircraft, which are older aircraft with dirty emissions. Most of them would be from Central America, South America, and the Caribbean. These areas do not have the best aircraft maintenance in the world.

**Response:** As addressed in the response to comment 4.2.31, about 15 percent of total forecast operations at Homestead in 2015 and about 12 percent at maximum one-runway use are in the air cargo category. If forecast cargo activity is calculated as a percent of commercial jet activity, the comment is correct that in 2015, about 50 percent of the projected commercial jet activity would be cargo jet aircraft. However, at maximum one-runway use, cargo jet operations are estimated to account for 22 percent of commercial jet activity because passenger jet operations are projected to increase at a faster rate than cargo jet operations.

All foreign carriers, regardless of origin and regardless of whether they are in passenger or cargo service, are required to meet applicable federal standards to operate safely into and/or within the United States. They are also required to meet emission standards.

**4.2.36** Comment: The SEIS is based upon an imagined complement of planes that will never materialize. For example, turboprop planes are estimated to account for 60 percent of commercial operations at the proposed facility. Many airlines are eliminating turboprop planes from flying flight legs much shorter than those anticipated for Homestead.

Response: The commercial passenger aircraft forecast does include a fleet mix of approximately 60 percent turboprop aircraft operations. There are a number of reasons for this ratio. Turboprop commuters carrying origin and destination passengers are expected to be a major user of Homestead if it becomes a civil airport. Connecting service at Homestead to both scheduled carriers and charters is also projected to be largely via turboprop commuter aircraft. Because turboprop commuter aircraft have only 19 to 50 seats and typically fly at less than 50 percent load factor, they are numerous in operation, but account for a much lower proportion of total passengers.

Commuter aircraft (principally turboprops) would be expected to provide shuttle service from Homestead to points within Florida, including Miami International Airport, Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport, Orlando, Fort Myers, and the Keys. The passengers on these flights are estimated to be split between origin-destination passengers and persons flying to other Florida airports to make onward connections, such as a person going from Homestead to Miami to Minneapolis.

The future shuttle-type commuter carrier fleet at Homestead is estimated to be split between regional jets and turboprops; however, the predominant aircraft are estimated to be turboprops because:

- The short stage-lengths to Miami International Airport, the Bahamas, other Caribbean islands, and other Florida points are ideal for turboprops that would serve the markets in virtually the same scheduled time as jets.
- The seasonal nature of service, with higher demand in the winter, is anticipated to preclude the use of high-cost regional jets and favor the use of lower cost turboprops.
- The smaller passenger capacity of most of the turboprops (19 to 30 seats) is ideally suited to the identified Homestead routes.

• The economical operating characteristics of turboprops are ideal for principally the leisure market (low-fare) and peak-demand nature of the Florida tourist area market.

The air service forecast is also based partly on commuter airlines providing feed to the large jet carriers, both scheduled and charter. Therefore, growth of connecting commercial passenger service at Homestead would likely depend on turboprop service feeding the jets. Six or more 34-passenger turboprops are needed to fill a large jet (for example, a 200-seat Boeing 757). If 19-passenger aircraft such as the Beech 1900 are used, more commuter aircraft would be needed to fill each large jet. Large jets are envisioned to be utilized on the long-range high-density scheduled and charter routes, such as to New York.

4.2.37 Comment: The Draft SEIS incorrectly states that general aviation is on the decline in Miami-Dade County. Current numbers retrieved from the Miami-Dade County Aviation Department (February 3, 2000) show that while some of the aircraft at Opa-Locka and Tamiami airports were destroyed by hurricanes and tornadoes during the 1990s, the numbers of based aircraft and operations at both airports have increased since 1997, Opa-Locka at 7.6 percent and Tamiami at 9.1 percent (by 1999).

Response: The Draft SEIS stated that general aviation activity will not rapidly recover to pre-hurricane levels; it did not say that there would be no current general aviation growth. The SEIS forecast for general aviation is consistent with FAA's national general aviation outlook and FAA's Terminal Area Forecast. There is no evidence that this is not still the case. The SEIS forecasts are based on long-term trends, rather than one-year increases.

**4.2.38** Comment: The Everglades, according to some statements, will be avoided by aircraft. That is easy to say, but practically impossible to do. The Everglades will be adversely affected.

**Response:** The SEIS does not say that Everglades National Park would be avoided by aircraft. There are existing overflights of Everglades National Park by aircraft currently using Homestead and other south Florida airports. A commercial airport at Homestead would increase overflights of Everglades National Park. Portions of the park would experience less overflight activity with the Proposed Action with the implementation of one or more noise abatement flight procedures, but some areas of Everglades National Park would still be overflown.

4.2.39 Comment: The altitude for flights crossing into Biscayne National Park will be 1,600 feet or less. The altitude for flights crossing into Everglades National Park are from 3,000 to 4,300 feet. The cruising altitude for these planes is anywhere from 25-35,000 feet.

**Response:** These statements are accurate. Aircraft over Biscayne and Everglades National Parks would be in their climbs from or descents to Homestead Airport.

**4.2.40** Comment: A single runway airport would, at best, be marginally profitable, attractive only to operators seeking the very lowest financial cost to themselves. Consequently, the plan drawn by the Miami-Dade County Commissioners called for a future additional runway.

**Response:** The potential need for a future second runway at Homestead has been based on anticipated future aviation demand in Miami-Dade County and does not relate to financial profitability. Airlines, including both low-cost and major carriers, can operate profitably (and do so) at airports that have a single runway. The financial performance of airports is related to passenger levels.

**4.2.41** Comment: Eventual construction of a second runway would entail 507 aircraft operations every day directly over Biscayne National Park. This would amount to a ninteenfold increase over current level of operations.

**Response:** The SEIS acknowledges that Miami-Dade County's long-term plan for Homestead has included a future second runway, but there is no presumption in the SEIS that a second runway will eventually be constructed (see Section 2.2.7 of Volume I and the response to comment 3.4.1). The comment correctly computes the average daily number of operations that could be present over Biscayne National Park for an average day of operation if a second runway were constructed and if a two-runway airport were operated at full capacity. The time frame in which a two-runway commercial airport, if approved at some later date, could reach full capacity has been roughly computed to be about 57 years into the future.

**4.2.42** Comment: In order to protect the two national parks from pollution, the planes would be required to use north and south corridors over the Florida Keys.

Response: In east flow (the prevalent operating mode), Homestead departures to the north would be required to make a southbound turn shortly after takeoff, in order to properly separate these departing aircraft from arrivals into Miami International Airport. Protection of the national parks is not the reason for this departure procedure. The flight paths presented in the SEIS, other than those specifically identified as alternative noise abatement flight tracks, are the normal operating flight corridors that would be expected for a commercial airport at Homestead, regardless of the national parks. The noise abatement flight tracks presented for consideration are for the purpose of mitigating aircraft noise in the national parks.

**4.2.43** Comment: Exhibit 1-1 in Appendix A shows that the forecasted operations have been changed in four different ways, and the last one shows that the forecast is much lower than what it would be for 2015.

Response: The comment is correct that several forecasts of aircraft operations have been presented for Homestead as part of various planning studies conducted since 1994. The SEIS undertook the task of collecting the various forecasts, reviewing and comparing them, and making an independent assessment of the most reasonable forecast to use for the SEIS analysis. The documents that were reviewed and the forecasts presented in each document are described in Chapter 1 of Appendix A (Volume II). The SEIS indicates that the forecast developed as part of the 1994 Master Plan was the most rigorous, and so the SEIS forecast was largely based on the 1994 Master Plan forecast. Two main reasons support the lower number of operations in the SEIS forecast when compared to the 1994 Master Plan forecast. The SEIS has a lower forecast of general aviation operations at Homestead and shows an overall shift of the Master Plan forecast by five years into the future to account for the delay in the initiation of airport development, if an airport is approved. Appendix A in Volume II explains the details of the SEIS forecast.

**4.2.44** Comment: No consideration is given in the SEIS to building another runway at Miami International Airport, because the county doesn't want to.

Response: The county is taking all possible steps to maximize MIA. A new fourth runway has been approved and will be developed. The SEIS forecast has taken the fourth runway into consideration. As discussed in Chapter 4 of Appendix A and in the Addendum to Appendix A in Volume II, demand at MIA is forecast to exceed the capacity of the airport, including the fourth runway, by 2009–2010. There is no room at MIA for more runways beyond the fourth. MIA is the tenth busiest U.S. airport, with over 16 million passengers enplaned annually, but it occupies a relatively small land area of 3,300 acres. The average size of the 31 busiest airports in the U.S., with activity ranging from 9 to 38 million annual passenger enplanements, is 6,054 acres—almost twice as large as MIA.

**4.2.45** Comment: The SEIS indicates there will be over 200,000 flights a year, putting Homestead at a par with JFK. On the other hand, there is no information from the airlines as to whether they support this development at all.

Response: If the proposed airport at Homestead were to attain the maximum capacity of its single runway, it could accommodate about 231,000 annual aircraft operations. Such a status is not estimated to occur, if it does occur, until around 2038. Homestead is never expected to be an airport like JFK, even if a second runway were added. With only the single runway, it would have even less capability. If Homestead were to experience an optimistic growth rate as a one-runway commercial airport, its aircraft operational level would resemble commercial airports in Baton Rouge, LA, or Norfolk, Virginia, around the 2015 time frame. Homestead's maximum use (estimated to occur in 2038) potential with a single runway could achieve the operational capacity of San Diego's commercial airport. The issue of airline interest in Homestead is addressed in the response to comment 4.2.4.

**4.2.46** Comment: There has not been a true flight operations analysis of the effect of the aviation activity in the Homestead airport.

Response: The SEIS includes a very thorough analysis of potential flight operations of a commercial airport at Homestead. The lead federal agencies preparing the SEIS took particular pains to develop and use the best available information and most reasonable assumptions for aviation forecasts and flight operations. The SEIS preparation has included the examination of Homestead planning documents (back to 1994) in an effort to identify, review, and update previous analyses related to the aviation activity forecasts, facility requirements, and airspace flight tracks. In addition, an independent evaluation was done for the FAA that is reported in an Airport Planning Data Technical Report in Appendix A in Volume II. This evaluation made some changes to previous forecasts. FAA Air Traffic personnel also performed a new review of flight tracks. The federal agencies, together with FAA, engaged in several reviews of this information before it was used for the analysis of impacts in the SEIS.

4.2.47 Comment: The most recent authoritative study of airport options in Miami-Dade County was performed for the county by KPMG Peat Marwick, with the Final Report issued in July 1988. This study was initiated, in part, to meet the recommendations of a special team appointed by Governor Bob Graham. This study included exploration of the potential use of Homestead AFB. The Draft SEIS did not reference this study and apparently ignored its technical data. This study points out that Opa-Locka Airport has the highest capacity and annual service volumes of the county's airports. It also says that airspace interactions with Miami International Airport would be minor. Since the time of the Final Report in 1988, there have been airfield improvements at Opa-Locka, as well as air traffic control improvements that extend the operational envelopes for Opa-Locka's runways 9L/27R and 12/30.

Response: The 1988 study referred to in the comment is not the most recent study. The Draft SEIS did not use or reference this study. A study completed in 1988 would be based on a snapshot of activity almost 10 years older than the Draft 1996 Dade County Aviation System Plan, and six years older than the only master plan for Homestead Regional Airport, completed by the county in 1994. More recent studies were reviewed and were used for the SEIS to the extent appropriate. Chapter 1 in Appendix A of Volume II describes previous planning documents relevant to the proposed airport at Homestead that were reviewed. More recent information than 1988 has been considered for Opa-Locka as well.

4.2.48 Comment: The draft SEIS makes reference to the "1997 Dade County Aviation System Plan." No such Plan exists. A <u>Draft</u> Dade County Aviation System Plan <u>Technical Report</u> (emphasis added) was prepared by Dames & Moore at the request of Miami-Dade County. Not only was the report commissioned and the work initially instructed at a time of great political enthusiasm for the acquisition of former Homestead AFB by the county, but the draft output was never presented to the County

R-31 Final SEIS

Commission. It did not undergo detailed scrutiny by the Aviation Department's own professional staff, and it was never presented for public or interagency scrutiny. Furthermore, the raw data presented is well out of date for an SEIS in 2000. 1993 traffic figures are the most recent included in the draft report. Recently, Dames & Moore was hired by the Miami-Dade County Aviation Department (January 2000) to revise this Draft Technical Report with current and corrected data, so as to permit its submission to the county for review by staff and public comment preparatory to Board of Commissioners review, amendment if needed, then approval and acceptance as a System Plan. As such, any reliance by the SEIS on the earlier desk draft seems inappropriate. Only independently verifiable current data from source documents should be utilized for the SEIS.

**Response:** Any reference made to a "1997 Dade County Aviation System Plan" in the Draft SEIS has been revised in the Final SEIS to read, "Draft 1996 Dade County Aviation System Plan."

The statements that the study "did not undergo detailed scrutiny by the Aviation Department's own professional staff" and that it "was never presented for public or inter-agency scrutiny" are not entirely accurate. Although the 1996 Dade County Aviation System Plan, Final Technical Report (by Dames & Moore) was not officially adopted by the county, the draft recommendations were presented to the County Manager and to the Board of County Commissioners in 1996. Furthermore, the progress of the report was received by and discussed with the Study's Advisory Committee throughout the planning process. The Study's Advisory Committee also approved the report's recommendations.

The Draft SEIS was based on a combination of technical data and information available at the time of the study, as well as the county's position regarding the reuse of former Homestead AFB. In addition, an independent evaluation was done for the FAA that is reported in an Airport Planning Data Technical Report in Appendix A in Volume II of the SEIS. Several planning documents were used to identify and review previous analyses related to the Proposed Action, including the Draft 1996 Dade County Aviation System Plan, the 1994 Homestead Air Force Base Feasibility Study/Airport Master Plan (1994 Master Plan), and the 1998 Proposed Comprehensive Development Master Plan for Metropolitan Dade County, Florida. These documents reflected the county's position on development of its airports at the time of the preparation of the Draft SEIS. The county is currently updating the Aviation System Plan and the OpaLocka Master Plan. These studies have not been completed yet, nor their recommendations approved. However, the SEIS has been reviewed and modified where appropriate to reflect the most current available information on the county's plans for airport development. No updated county planning substantially changes the aviation evaluation in Appendix A that is reflected in summary form in Volume I of the SEIS.

4.2.49 Comment: A year ago, the FAA released a report that said a commercial airport in Homestead did not serve the general public and certainly could not be expected to serve the residents of Broward County, who would then be another 35 miles farther from the Homestead airport than they would be from Miami International Airport. The report was quickly killed, probably by the White House. Why is there a need for an additional commercial service airport, given the fourth runway at MIA, the availability of Opa-Locka, and the distance of Homestead from Dade center and Broward center?

Response: The FAA has not prepared any such report and has not submitted any report resembling the above description to any other agency or to the White House. The comment may be referring (inaccurately) to the FAA's 1998 EIS for the fourth runway at Miami International Airport. This EIS was made available for public review according to National Environmental Policy Act procedures. The response to comment 4.2.24 describes why Homestead was not regarded by the FAA as a reasonable alternative to constructing a fourth runway at MIA. Broward County has never been viewed as the potential air service market for a commercial airport at Homestead, although lower-cost air carrier service or special air charter service can attract air passengers from greater distances than would normally be the

case. Responses to comments 4.2.18, 4.2.22, 4.8.1, and 4.8.3 address the need for additional airport capacity in relation to Homestead and other county airports.

**4.2.50** Comment: The number of operations in the year 2015 is confusing.

**Response:** Table 4.5-1 in Volume I of the SEIS provides a summary of the forecast numbers of average daily and annual operations for each year analyzed in the SEIS. The summary identifies categories of potential airport users (i.e., commercial passenger operations, cargo, general aviation, aircraft maintenance, and military/government).

4.2.51 Comment: According to information in the SEIS, even if a commercial airport is built at Homestead, the capacity of that airport and Miami International Airport will be under the capacity needed in 15 years. What about the other 17,000 flights? Are they going to build another runway, three runways, five runways?

**Response:** This comment appears to be based on a misinterpretation of the operational information presented in the SEIS for 2015 and for maximum use. The SEIS forecast projects operations to reach 150,735, not 235,000, by 2015. Operations at Homestead could reach the maximum capacity of the single runway (231,000 operations) by around 2038. According to the SEIS forecast, if Homestead serves as a commercial service airport, there would not be a shortage of airport capacity in 2015.

4.2.52 Comment: I challenge anybody to put that many airplanes on a single runway in a 24 hour period anywhere in the world.

Response: Operational and fleet mix forecasts are presented in the Draft SEIS. The updated aircraft operations/fleet mix forecast for Homestead Regional Airport is summarized in Table 1-10 in Chapter 1 of Appendix A (Volume II) for 2000, 2005, and 2015. The forecast operations/fleet mix for 2015 is compared to 2038 in Table 1-12 in Chapter 1 of Appendix A.

Large and small aircraft have different performance characteristics. Therefore, the aircraft operational fleet mix is an important factor in determining an airport's operational capacity. For the purposes of calculating capacity, aircraft are categorized according to their approach speed and size. Operational capacity decreases as the diversity of approach speeds increases. This is because aircraft following each other, either on takeoff or landing, are spaced according to the difference in their air speeds. Also, aircraft create wake turbulence and wing tip vortices that require greater spacing between relatively larger and smaller aircraft. The greater the difference in size and speed of the aircraft in the fleet, the greater the space required between aircraft and, therefore, the lower the operational capacity.

The SEIS went beyond the end of the forecast period (2015) in an effort to project demand to the point where the maximum capacity of a single runway could be reached. Projections were made, starting with 2015 forecast demand, until the annual aircraft operations forecast reached the runway capacity estimation of 231,274 annual operations, which is estimated to be around 2038. Therefore, the maximum use condition attempts to estimate when the single runway could run out of capacity. San Diego is a single-runway airport that currently operates at this level. The 2015 forecast of 150,735 operations is well within the capacity estimated for Homestead.

4.2.53 Comment: The largest proposed airport, in the Big Cypress Swamp, was defeated in the late 1960s along with several other proposed airports in or near the Everglades Water Conservation Areas. All these previous proposals were justified on flawed projections of over-capacity at Miami International Airport and could not be justified legally, economically, or environmentally.

Response: The Dade-Collier Training and Transition Airport, often referred to as the Everglades Jetport, and the subsequent proposed airport at Site 14 in a Water Conservation Area were respectively limited and never developed because of environmental reasons. A single runway was proposed for each site (and actually built at Dade-Collier). The primary impetus at that time for building a single commercial-grade runway away from Miami International Airport was to relieve MIA of extensive flight crew training operations. The development of advance flight simulators for training provided that relief. The long-term plan for these locations was ultimately to develop additional commercial service capacity as MIA reached congestion. Miami-Dade County's inability to develop additional commercial service capacity at a new site has contributed to the need to use the available commercial-grade runway capacity that has already been constructed at Homestead.

4.2.54 Comment: The FAA cannot limit the number of airports built due to interstate commerce, and this lack of control is a very scary thing.

Response: Congress has specifically defined the regulatory role of the federal government in developing the national system of airports. While it is true that there are limitations on the FAA's role with respect to civil airports, which are owned and operated by non-federal entities, all new commercial service airports and the expansion of existing airports require some type of FAA approval or decision (e.g., airport layout plan approval, federal funding) in order to develop. FAA approvals and decisions are federal actions subject to the National Environmental Policy Act. It is within FAA's authority to deny federal approval of airport development based on significant adverse environmental consequences. If federal approval is denied, airport development effectively does not proceed. In the case of Homestead, the federal government presently owns the property proposed to be transferred and has even greater control over whether the property is transferred for an airport or for an alternative use.

4.2.55 Comment: There is little or no way to limit airport operations once former Homestead AFB is transferred to the county and begins commercial operations. Operational levels are apparently dictated by demand and safety considerations, and not by environmental considerations or even the municipal owner (were Miami-Dade County inclined to do so). Therefore, to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act, the SEIS must consider maximum operations of a two-runway airport, as such a level of operations is the primary goal of Homestead Air Base Developers, Inc. and Miami-Dade County.

**Response:** Other than statutory provisions on very limited regulations related to slots and essential air service, there is no statutory provision for federally imposed aeronautical use restrictions at a civil airport. There is legal provision for an airport proprietor to adopt airport restrictions to limit noise under prescribed statutory conditions. The SEIS addresses this subject in greater detail under Mitigation Measures in Section 4.5 of Volume I dealing with aircraft noise.

Section 2.2.7 in Volume I and response to comment 3.4.1 address the issue raised about the second runway. If a second runway were to be proposed in the future, the FAA's approval would be required, and that approval would be subject to the National Environmental Policy Act.

4.2.56 Comment: The proposed use of former Homestead AFB for a commercial airport is inconsistent with the purpose of the national parks and the site location recommendations of the FAA.

**Response:** The Air Force and FAA acknowledge and respect the views of those who believe that a commercial airport is inconsistent with the purposes of the national parks. An extensive portion of the SEIS is devoted to evaluating potential effects on the national parks. A commercial airport at Homestead is not inconsistent with FAA requirements.

# 4.3 Commercial Spaceport Alternative

4.3.1 Comment: The Summary did not provide justification for the Commercial Spaceport alternative. The nation has a significant space launch shortfall, and any effort to satisfy that need will address a national interest. That aspect is not reflected in the SEIS.

**Response:** The Commercial Spaceport alternative is included in the SEIS because various entities proposed it as a potential reuse for former Homestead AFB. The need for such facilities is acknowledged in Section 2.3 of Volume I.

#### 4.4 Mixed Use Alternative

The Draft SEIS presented three different non-aviation scenarios for the Mixed Use Alternative. These scenarios included a Market-Driven scenario, a proposal submitted by Collier Resources Company, and a plan developed by the Hoover Environmental Group. Subsequent to the publication of the Draft SEIS, Collier Resources Company and the Hoover Environmental Group submitted a new joint proposal apparently intended to replace their separate proposals. This new plan is described and analyzed in the Final SEIS. Several of the comments received on the Collier and Hoover plans analyzed in the Draft SEIS have therefore been superseded by the submission of the new proposal. This section addresses comments received on all of the scenarios analyzed under the Mixed Used alternative.

4.4.1 Comment: The information in the Draft SEIS summary tables about the Mixed Use alternative lumps together the three scenarios (Market-Driven, Collier Resources Company, and Hoover Environmental Group) into a range. Separate data should be presented for each scenario.

**Response:** The Mixed Use alternative in the Final SEIS has been modified to include a joint proposal submitted by Collier Resources Company and Hoover Environmental Group. The Final SEIS presents individual data for that proposal and each of the other scenarios of the Mixed Use alternative.

4.4.2 Comment: The Market-Driven scenario does not seem realistic. If there were a market for development, businesses would already be coming to south Miami-Dade County.

**Response:** As Appendix D in Volume II indicates, there is a limited market for commercial and industrial development in south Miami-Dade County. It is anticipated that there will be more of a market for residential development in the area. This is the reason the Market-Driven scenario is projected to develop slowly and take several decades to reach full buildout.

4.4.3 Comment: Some commentors contended that it is not possible to evaluate the Collier-Hoover proposal because the plan has not been sufficiently developed.

**Response:** Each of the alternatives analyzed in the SEIS is at a different stage of definition. The SEIS uses the information provided by each alternative's proponent, supplemented with analytical assumptions based on various planning factors, as explained in Section 2.1.2 in Volume I. A new joint plan submitted by Collier Resources Company and Hoover Environmental Group is described and analyzed in the Final SEIS.

**4.4.4** Comment: The Collier plan uses 162 acres that have already been transferred to Miami-Dade County for a regional park.

**Response:** The Collier-Hoover plan, like the original Collier plan, proposes to exchange property that is currently part of the county park for other property. The plan's proponents assume an acceptable

R-35

exchange could be made. If not, the county would retain the property it has already acquired, and the Collier-Hoover plan would have to be modified to incorporate this change.

**4.4.5** Comment: There was a parcel at former Homestead AFB set aside by Miami-Dade County to be used by the School Board. However, the Collier plan took part of this portion of the school property for financial gain. This jeopardizes federal and state funding for the county school.

**Response:** The Miami-Dade County Public Schools have requested the transfer of approximately 26 acres at the former base. The Collier-Hoover proposal seeks to buy that property as part of the land exchange and use it in their plans for economic redevelopment. The Air Force has not made any final decision concerning to whom that parcel will be conveyed.

**4.4.6** Comment: There is no evidence that there is a demand for the residential land use and luxury RV park and golf course included in the Collier plan.

**Response:** The new joint plan submitted by Collier Resources Company and Hoover Environmental Group no longer includes housing. It still includes a luxury RV park and golf courses. If that alternative is selected, the proponent will be responsible for implementing the plan. Presumably, Collier Resources Company would not have submitted the proposal if it did not believe there is a market for the proposed uses.

4.4.7 Comment: Full buildout of the Collier Resources Company plan seems to be 40 years away.

**Response:** Collier Resources Company estimated that their original plan would reach full buildout around 2020. The combined Collier-Hoover proposal is estimated by the proponents to reach full buildout by about the same time. Market-Driven development, one of the Mixed Use scenarios, is estimated to take up to 50 years to reach full buildout.

**4.4.8** Comment: The Collier plan involves trenching millions of tons of soil, but there is no indication of what will be done with it.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to address a joint Collier-Hoover proposal. It is expected that excavated soil would be used on site, to the extent feasible. Soil that could not be used on site (e.g., contaminated soil) would be disposed of in accordance with applicable regulations.

**4.4.9** Comment: The private sector investment of the Collier-Hoover proposal poses the least financial burden.

**Response:** While the financing structure of the reuse alternatives is beyond the scope of the SEIS, it is believed that all alternatives would involve some level of public and private investment. The Proposed Action also includes proposed private investment on the part of Homestead Air Base Developers, Inc.

**4.4.10** Comment: The Collier Plan is nothing more than a form of federal "red-lining" in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century as a way to prevent African American, Hispanic, and poor people in the Homestead-Florida City area the opportunity for employment and elementary sustenance.

Response: The Air Force and the FAA do not agree.

**4.4.11** Comment: The Collier-Hoover plan will make the base a public place held by private interests beholden to other private interests and accountable to no one but themselves.

**Response:** If the surplus federal land is sold to Collier Resources Company, the land will be privately owned. However, the company's use of the land, and use by others such as the Hoover Environmental Group, will be accountable to the public in the same way that other businesses and organizations are accountable, including required compliance with federal, state, and local laws.

# 4.5 Independent Land Use Concepts

**4.5.1** Comment: Another alternative with less impacts than the Proposed Action should be fully analyzed in the SEIS, even if it will not generate more employment opportunities than the Proposed Action. A more thorough analysis should be completed of the independent land use concepts.

Response: Four reuse scenarios were analyzed in the Draft SEIS in addition to the Proposed Action. In the Final SEIS, a fifth scenario comprising a joint proposal by Collier Resources Company and the Hoover Environmental Group has been added. As Section 2.6 in Volume I indicates, the Independent Land Use Concepts are potential uses for portions of the available land, not for the entire surplus property. Section 2.6 indicates which of these uses could become part of each of the comprehensive land use alternatives. As such, their environmental impacts are generally included in the analysis of the reuse alternatives. For example, reuse of former Homestead AFB as a commercial airport would include aviation support, industrial, commercial, institutional and other uses. Several of the Independent Land Use Concepts, such as an aircraft maintenance facility, back office operations, mail distribution center, insulated panel manufacturing, education complex, research facilities, film production studies, and teleconference center, would be compatible with several alternatives and might well be developed as part of any one of the alternatives. The discussion of the Independent Land Use Concepts within each resource section of Chapter 4 in Volume I focuses on identifying any impacts that might be different from those described for each of the alternatives. Finally, any of the alternatives can be selected in whole, in part, or in combination.

# 4.6 Other Alternatives

This section addresses comments that included suggestions for uses of the surplus property at former Homestead AFB, other than those included in the Proposed Action and alternatives.

**4.6.1** Comment: The property at former Homestead AFB should be put to other uses, such as biomedical and electronics, entertainment complexes for film or music production, information technology companies, vocational school, park, or conservation area.

**Response:** No proposals for these suggested alternative uses have been received, so the Air Force has no reasonable expectation that they would be developed on the property. They might, however, be incorporated into one of the alternatives addressed in the SEIS, like other Independent Land Use Concepts listed in Section 2.6 of Volume I.

4.6.2 Comment: The range of alternatives is insufficient. It should include an alternative to restore the area or connect the adjacent parks.

**Response:** The underlying Air Force need is to dispose of surplus federal property. Alternatives that did not meet that need were not evaluated. Although in principle someone could acquire the surplus property simply to restore it, the Air Force has seen no realistic expression of interest in that from anyone and does not consider it a reasonable alternative.

4.6.3 Comment: Former Homestead AFB should be maintained as a federal protection area and converted to a park like the Presidio in California.

**Response:** The Department of the Interior, which would be the agency to implement such a proposal, has not requested any property at former Homestead AFB for this purpose.

## 4.7 Preferred Alternative

Council on Environmental Quality regulations require final EISs to identify the lead agency's preferred alternative, if that information is not included in the Draft EIS. The regulations require the Record of Decision (but not the EIS) to identify the environmentally preferred alternative, which may be different from the agency's preferred alternative.

**4.7.1** Comment: The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency believes that the Collier Mixed Use proposal, with some important modifications and assurances, is the environmentally preferred alternative and should be pursued further in the Final SEIS.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to include a discussion of recommendations by USEPA and other cooperating federal agencies. They will be carefully considered by the Air Force and the FAA during decision making.

The Final SEIS identifies both the commercial airport (Proposed Action) and the Mixed Use alternative as the lead agencies' preferred alternatives (see Section 2.12 in Volume I). However, no final decision has been made, and all alternatives are treated equally in the Final SEIS.

4.7.2 Comment: The Department of the Interior (DOI) believes that the Mixed Use alternative is the preferred approach to achieve the stated goal for the disposal of former Homestead AFB property and urges the Air Force to adopt the Mixed Use alternative in its Record of Decision.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to include a discussion of recommendations by DOI and other cooperating federal agencies. They will be carefully considered by the Air Force and the FAA during decision making.

## 4.8 Alternative Airport Locations

**4.8.1** Comment: Alternative sites for the development of the commercial airport have been poorly defined and should be addressed. Development of a commercial airport at former Homestead AFB is completely unnecessary. Existing infrastructure (i.e., existing airports) should be maximized.

Response: The purpose of the SEIS is to assess the alternatives for disposal and reuse of portions of former Homestead AFB. One of these alternatives, the Proposed Action, is to develop the former base into a commercial service airport. It is not the purpose of the SEIS to investigate alternative airport sites, because an alternative location for an airport does not address how to dispose of surplus property at the former base. However, the SEIS does present information in Section 2.7 of Volume I, Chapter 4 of Appendix A in Volume II, and in the Addendum to Appendix A regarding the region's need for additional commercial airport capacity and the difficulty of finding a new airport site or achieving sufficient commercial service capacity at existing airports.

4.8.2 Comment: In the original EIS in 1994, Opa-Locka was not even mentioned as a possible alternative.

Response: The comment is correct. Opa-Locka is not a reasonable alternative to reuse of former Homestead AFB, for reasons provided in Section 2.7 of Volume I. It is among the alternatives eliminated

from detailed analysis in the SEIS. However, people have continued to put forward Opa-Locka as an alternative to Homestead, and the Air Force and FAA are responding to questions that have been raised.

4.8.3 Comment: If there is a future need for a reliever airport, expansion of Opa-Locka airport would be a more sound environmental solution. It is the understanding of the Florida Biodiversity Project that Miami-Dade County has already given preliminary approval for reliever cargo operations at Opa-Locka. Opa-Locka is in a more central location and better situated to serve as a reliever airport, as pointed out by a county study in 1995. Opa-Locka Airport would also provide jobs to an area more economically depressed than Homestead. Opa-Locka is within Miami-Dade County's enterprise zone, and developable land is located within the empowerment zone that gives businesses financial incentives.

Response: Section 2.7 in Volume I and Chapter 4 of Appendix A in Volume II of the Final SEIS include information on the capability of Opa-Locka to provide future commercial airport capacity and provide an update on Miami-Dade County's planning regarding Opa-Locka. Opa-Locka is not viewed as having sufficient capability to provide all of the relief anticipated to be needed for Miami International Airport. The FAA's reasoned judgment is that, even if expansion is proposed and achieved, Opa-Locka would not provide sufficient capacity and service capability to negate the need for Homestead. Opa-Locka has environmental issues, as well as Homestead.

4.8.4 Comment: The Draft SEIS noted that the runway system at Opa-Locka Airport (OPF) was inadequate for commercial service. This statement is incorrect and appears to have been made without due consideration or research. In terms of simultaneously useable commercial runways, the runway system at OPF is approximately 1,500 feet longer that that of Chicago Midway (more than 13 million passengers in 1999) and 1,000 feet longer than London Luton, which serviced 5.2 million passengers in 1999. Midway and London Luton are both important commercial airports with significant urban and residential components immediately adjacent. While OPF runways are not suitable for heavy long-haul aircraft, they are well suited to all other commercial jets, the newer of which can operate long-haul services. OPF runways are suitable not only for large modern conventional body aircraft (B757, A300, and A320), but also wide body aircraft (B747,767) when not at Maximum Take Off Weight (MTOW). For example, Air Force One has utilized OPF on a number of occasions. This means that all non-MTOW (both wide- and conventional body) passenger services could utilize OPF. It also means that all maintenance activities on all aircraft types can be hosted at OPF.

Response: The comment misquotes the Draft SEIS. The Draft SEIS did not say that the runway system at Opa-Locka is inadequate for commercial service. The Draft SEIS said that Opa-Locka's longest runway is 8,002 feet, and that it does not appear to be feasible to develop at Opa-Locka the runway length that Homestead has for nonstop long-haul service. The existing runway system at OPF may be adequate for limited commercial service, but the existing runway lengths are not optimal. Other commercial airports with shorter runway lengths do exist, but this does not mean that the current runway system at OPF provides a desirable length. While an 8,002 foot runway (and less) can support operations by commercial service aircraft in some conditions, some weight limitations on aircraft would be expected at Opa-Locka, particularly in hot weather. The Draft 1996 Dade County Aviation System Plan recommended a 9,000 foot long runway (planning length) at OPF for commercial service operations. The comment is acknowledged that Midway and London Luton airports are immediately adjacent to significant urban and residential areas.

4.8.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS identified airspace as a limiting factor for Opa-Locka Airport because of conflicts with Miami International Airport and Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport (FLL) airspace. Further, the Draft SEIS says that operating commercial flights at OPF would be dangerous because of the congestion and "cross-over." While the entire question of south Florida airspace is a technical issue to be addressed by the FAA on an ongoing basis, it is absolutely incorrect to make the

R-39 Final SEIS

statements that are made in the Draft SEIS. There are existing flight paths into and out of OPF today. These co-exist with FLL and MIA. In 1999, these flight paths serviced not less than 117,626 OPF aircraft movements—light, medium, and heavy propeller fixed-wing aircraft as well as rotary wing (U.S. Coast Guard and others) and light, medium, and heavy jet aircraft.

FAA personnel have indicated that an additional 25 commercial flights per hour, or 300 additional commercial flights per day, can be accommodated without any need for airspace planning. This means almost 110,000 additional commercial operations annually. Moreover, there is strong evidence that even more additional flights could be accommodated—noting that these would require some airspace planning which might or might not require moving certain flight paths.

Response: To clarify, the Draft SEIS stated that if a substantial amount of additional commercial service operations were accommodated at OPF, there would be significant impacts on the region's airspace due to Opa-Locka's central location between MIA and FLL (i.e., crossing flight tracks) and the related increase in commercial jet air traffic. Such airspace interactions might require the relocation of some existing flight tracks for MIA and FLL and, in some cases, may affect airport capacity. The potential for crossing flight tracks is not intended to denote a safety problem, but rather a requirement to coordinate operations on converging or intersecting flight paths between FLL, OPF, and MIA, which may affect airport capacity. Runway separation is not identified as a limiting factor. The potential limitations would result from the need to coordinate operations among airports to provide for sufficient separation between aircraft on intersecting or converging paths.

The conclusions drawn in the Draft SEIS regarding airspace limitations are based on available studies. More recent airport system and master planning conducted by Miami-Dade County suggests that potential airspace conflicts appear to be manageable so that they would not be a limiting factor on commercial use of OPF. The Final SEIS includes this recent information obtained from the county. However, it should be noted that the county's planning has not been completed, nor has the FAA reexamined the airspace. A revision of the airspace evaluation, if that occurs, does not substantially change the overall outlook for OPF as not providing a reasonable alternative that would substitute for the need for commercial airport capacity at Homestead, although OPF may be able to function in a commercial service capacity at a higher level than previously thought.

4.8.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS references the issue of noise at Opa-Locka Airport and states that additional noise is the third reason why OPF is not an acceptable location for a commercial runway. Such statements are subjective, inappropriate, and incorrect. OPF has been active for many years with varying levels of aircraft types and operations. At the end of World War II, OPF reportedly serviced the greatest number of annual aircraft movements in the U.S. More recently, aircraft movements have been increasing again. Ruling out a facility as a commercial service airport solely because of subjective perceptions of noise is contrary to various FAA documents that set out guidelines for noise levels, noise abatement and mitigation, and treats OPF on a different basis than Homestead. While it is true that no local community wants more noise, there are procedures for analyzing and mitigating airport noise. Many of the same noise mitigation measures that are suggested for Homestead are also relevant for Opa-Locka. OPF can become a commercial service reliever airport without detracting from the present quality of life or harming property values in Opa-Locka, Miami Lakes, or Hialeah.

Response: The Draft SEIS did not say that Opa-Locka is not an acceptable location for a commercial runway. The Draft SEIS noted that Miami-Dade County is pursuing opportunities for limited commercial service at Opa-Locka. The Final SEIS recognizes that the county is exploring expansion prospects of Opa-Locka for more commercial service. However, the area surrounding the airport has become much more densely populated since World War II, and OPF has residential and business development adjacent to it which pose developmental and environmental issues. There are acknowledged environmental

concerns, including noise, about the prospect of airport expansion to accommodate more commercial service. If the county submits an airport expansion proposal to the FAA, FAA will assess noise and other potential environmental impacts of the proposal under FAA procedures for implementing the National Environmental Policy Act and would apply appropriate analyses and mitigation. Community noise mitigation measures similar to those suggested at Homestead would be considered.

**4.8.7** Comment: The SEIS should be corrected to remove the "either/or" linkage of Opa-Locka and Homestead, to correct facts regarding the OPF runway infrastructure and airspace capacities, and to correct statements made regarding noise and other matters at OPF.

Response: The SEIS has been reviewed and modified where appropriate to ensure that every statement referring to Opa-Locka Airport is accurate and clear regarding technical issues, potential commercial service role and expansion, and Miami-Dade County's current planning effort. The FAA agrees that the situation with respect to commercial air service in Miami-Dade County is not appropriately described as "either/or" relative to OPF and Homestead. Each airport could fulfill a certain commercial service role. The updated and revised information in the Final SEIS on OPF does not substantially change the evaluation in the Draft SEIS that OPF is not a reasonable alternative for Homestead. OPF could be a complementary commercial service airport, but not a substitute for an airport such as Homestead could provide.

4.8.8 Comment: In the absence of a commercial airport at former Homestead AFB, other existing commercial airports in the region may instead become reliever airports, and their safety, capacity limitations, and environmental issues need to be considered as well by decision makers and in the overall sustainable development of south Florida. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency looks to state and county officials to oversee such development to ensure that it is managed, sustainable, and appropriately zoned.

**Response:** These are not reasonable alternatives within the scope of the SEIS. Appendix A in Volume II does describe the difficulties of finding sufficient commercial service capacity within the existing system of airports. The Air Force and FAA agree with USEPA that safety, capacity, environmental issues, and sustainable development are key considerations in any reliever airport proposal.

# 5.0 CONTENT AND METHODOLOGY

This category addresses a series of comments on the content of the SEIS and the overall methodology. Comments on the methodology used to address a specific resource (e.g., Noise, Air Quality, Water Resources) are addressed under those resources.

Several comments questioned the type of information used or the level of detail included in the SEIS. The approach to and level of analysis presented in the SEIS was selected to provide information related to the decisions that need to be made by the Air Force and FAA. This led to an emphasis on identifying the incremental changes attributable to each of the alternatives, and comparing the alternatives to one another. Most of the changes estimated to occur over the next 15 years are primarily attributable to overall growth in south Florida, independent of the reuse of former Homestead AFB. The SEIS includes a cumulative impact analysis, as required by Council on Environmental Quality Regulations, but the emphasis is on identifying the contributions that base redevelopment would make to those cumulative impacts, which is in most cases relatively small (see category 23).

R-41 Final SEIS

## 5.1 Format of the SEIS

**5.1.1** Comment: The discussion of the alternatives and their impacts in the Draft SEIS Summary is superficial. The text did not always provide comparable data about the alternatives.

**Response:** The purpose of the Summary is to give a general overview of the findings of the SEIS and highlight the major points. The Summary of Environmental Consequences table provides more uniform data across the reuse alternatives and between the alternatives and the projected baseline. For more thorough discussion, readers should consult the full SEIS document. By its nature, the Summary cannot provide as thorough information or discussion as the main body of the SEIS.

5.1.2 Comment: The discussion of the stormwater plan is scattered throughout the document.

Response: The SEIS follows the standard outline for an environmental impact statement as delineated in Council on Environmental Quality regulations for implementing the National Environmental Policy Act. The Surface Water Management Master Plan prepared by Miami-Dade County for the Proposed Action is described in Chapter 2 of Volume I, which describes the Alternatives Including the Proposed Action. Existing stormwater conditions are described in Chapter 3, Affected Environment. The impacts of the proposed plan are described in Chapter 4, Environmental Consequences, principally in Section 4.10, Water Resources. Because changes in surface water flows can affect biological resources, potential impacts from the stormwater plan are also addressed in Section 4.11. This format is used for all resources in the SEIS.

# 5.2 Geographic Areas Addressed in the SEIS

**5.2.1** Comment: The SEIS does not consider unincorporated lands in south Miami-Dade County that are near former Homestead AFB.

Response: The region of influence for most of the resource analyses in the SEIS is defined in Chapter 3 of Volume I as the portion of Miami-Dade County south of Eureka Drive, where most of the impacts from reuse of former Homestead AFB are expected to occur. The Socioeconomics sections in Volume I (3.1 and 4.1) specifically address the unincorporated portions of the county, along with incorporated communities within the region of influence like the City of Homestead and Florida City. The Land Use and Aesthetics sections (3.6 and 4.6) also address south Miami-Dade County in general (which includes the unincorporated areas) as well as the two cities. The section on Agriculture in particular pertains to unincorporated areas, where most agricultural land uses occur. In addition, Sections 3.5 and 4.5 present noise information for both incorporated and unincorporated areas surrounding the former base.

5.2.2 Comment: There is no reference to Kendall in the Draft SEIS.

**Response:** Most impacts from the Proposed Action and alternatives are anticipated to occur in south Miami-Dade County, south of Eureka Drive.

**5.2.3** Comment: The Draft SEIS does not consider impacts from reuse of former Homestead AFB on Monroe County and the Florida Keys or consider the Keys' designation as an Area of Critical State Concern.

**Response:** The SEIS discusses impacts on Monroe County in the Socioeconomics, Noise, Land Use and Aesthetics, and Biological Resources sections of Volume I. These are the resource areas in which potential impacts on Monroe County have been identified. For other resources, the Florida Keys are outside the area where the vast majority of impacts are anticipated to occur.

5.2.4 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not mention/address Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary, John Pennekamp State Park, or North Key Largo Hardwood Hammock.

**Response:** Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary and John Pennekamp State Park are shown on the General Location Map in Figure 1.1-1 and discussed in Sections 3.6 and 4.6 of Volume I. The Final SEIS has been expanded to include information on the Key Largo Hammocks Botanical Site.

**5.2.5** Comment: Noise and pollution from the Proposed Action will destroy the environment of the Miccosukee and Seminole reservations and their means of getting medical attention from their medicine people.

**Response:** The Miccosukee and Seminole reservations are relatively far away from former Homestead AFB and the impacts of base reuse. It is not anticipated that the Proposed Action or any of the reuse alternatives would prevent residents at these reservations from continuing their practices.

5.2.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not address environmental impacts from the Proposed Action and alternatives on lands owned by South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD). Virtually no reference is made to the Southern Glades Wildlife and Environmental Area or the jointly held SFWMD/Miami-Dade County Model Lands located south of former Homestead AFB.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to more specifically address SFWMD lands. Additional discussion has been added to Sections 3.6, 3.11, 4.5, 4.6, 4.11, and 4.14 in Volume I and Appendix E in Volume II.

# 5.3 Analysis Not Included in the Draft SEIS

5.3.1 Comment: The impacts of the Proposed Action and alternatives on quality of life were not addressed in the Draft SEIS.

**Response:** Quality of life can be affected by a wide range of factors, and the importance assigned to each of those factors varies from person to person depending on their personal circumstances and values. The SEIS describes impacts on the range of environmental and socioeconomic conditions and describes how the area can be expected to change, so that readers can determine for themselves how each alternative is likely to affect their quality of life according to their personal values and priorities.

5.3.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not address the intangible natural experience.

**Response:** The SEIS describes potential changes in the natural environment that may occur under each of the alternatives analyzed. These include potential changes in land use, population density, noise, aesthetics, and other factors that could affect the natural environment. To the extent that those experiences are intangible and personal, readers may use the information provided to reach their own conclusions about how their experiences may be affected.

5.3.3 Comment: Aviation experts do not believe that the Air Force will remain at Homestead if a significant airport is developed. No significant Air Force training facility co-exists with significant commercial aviation. The missions of commercial aviation and military training are incompatible. It is thus reasonably foreseeable that at some point in the next 10 to 15 years there will no longer be an Air Force contingent at the Homestead facility. This contingency should have been analyzed in the SEIS. Among other things, it significantly affects noise impact analyses and would possibly result in accelerated growth of the commercial airport because of the additional available land and airspace.

**Response:** The Air Force disagrees with the assertion that it is reasonably foreseeable that the Air Force Reserve unit will no longer be at Homestead in the near future.

First, the Air Force will not realign or close bases except in accordance with a comprehensive base closure process authorized by Congress, as was done for the base closures from 1988 through 1995. Such authority does not presently exist. Despite repeated requests to Congress by the Secretary of Defense for additional base closure authority, Congress has not provided it. When Congress might agree to do so is uncertain. What goals or constraints Congress might impose on such a process is speculative. How such a process could affect Homestead Air Reserve Station (ARS) is simply unknown.

Second, there is no reason to believe that the flying activities of the Reserve unit would be incompatible with civil operations in the next 10 to 15 years. Although the comment did not define what was meant by "significant Air Force training facility" or "significant commercial aviation," the projected number of airport operations by 2015 would at most be only half the capacity of the airport. The maximum use was analyzed in the SEIS, not because it was forecast based on demand, but to provide an indication of the maximum credible impact of establishing a commercial airport at Homestead.

Third, the statement that training and commercial aviation do not mix anywhere is also incorrect. As an example, the Albuquerque International Sunport is collocated with Kirtland AFB in New Mexico. In 1999, there were 228,933 takeoffs and landings at the airport. Of these, 84,345 were by major airlines; 28,135 by commuter airlines; 43,761 by military aircraft; and 72,692 by general aviation aircraft.

The majority of the military flying activity at Albuquerque is by the 150<sup>th</sup> Fighter Wing, an Air National Guard unit stationed at Kirtland AFB. The wing flies F-16s. The airport is served by nine major commercial carriers: American, America West, Continental, Delta, Frontier, Northwest, Southwest, TWA, and United. It also receives regular service from commuter airlines (Mesa, Rio Grande Air, and Skywest) and from air freight carriers (Airborne, Burlington Air, Emory/Purolator Express, Federal Express, Integrated Airline Services, Reliant Airlines, and UPS).

Fourth, the commentor's consultant provided a list of specific activities that allegedly "would not be acceptable to a civilian air carrier operation." Some of those activities, like tow target operations, drag chute deployments, and military air traffic control procedures, do not apply to the Reserve's operations at Homestead ARS. Other allegedly incompatible activities, like military priority operations or reduced separation criteria, are also off the mark. Active scrambles by alert aircraft happen only about once every two days and could be easily accommodated by airport controllers. Reduced separation is something permitted only military aircraft, not civilian. (The separation of military aircraft from civilian, either in front or behind, would not be changed.) Even activities like carrying live ammunition occur at commercial airports elsewhere in the country. Not one of the activities identified by the commentor's consultant is considered by the Reserve wing to be incompatible.

Finally, this comment is based on the unwarranted assumption that the aircraft flown by the Reserve unit at Homestead must permanently be fighters. The Air Force changes the equipment of flying units from time to time. Airlift wings transporting passengers and cargo can turn into fighter wings, and vice versa. Were serious incompatibilities ever to develop between military and civil operations, one way to address the issue would be to change the wing's aircraft.

Thus, there is no reasonable basis for assuming any change in the Reserve wing's status at Homestead. Even if it were to change, it would not be expected to result in accelerated growth of the airport. The potential growth of the airport is limited by runway capacity, not facility capacity, and the projections made for the SEIS about the potential speed of airport development are already ambitious (i.e., an airport might grow a lot more slowly than projected, but it would not be expected to grow a lot more quickly).

Appendix A in Volume II describes the basis for projected levels of aircraft operations used in the analysis.

**5.3.4** Comment: The Draft SEIS did not compare the Proposed Action to similar facilities such as Miami International Airport (MIA).

Response: The proposed commercial airport at former Homestead AFB would differ from MIA in many respects, including being a substantially smaller airport. The level of aircraft operations is much higher at MIA, the surrounding development is different, and the environment differs. Other airports were used as a frame of reference to identify many of the components of the Proposed Action, such as the type of hazardous materials that might be used, typical associated development, and other factors. The environmental effects are not considered comparable, however.

5.3.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not study damage to the canals around Miami International Airport. How can the impacts of the proposed airport on canals near former Homestead AFB be analyzed without that information?

Response: There are two main reasons why studies of canals around MIA were not considered relevant for the Homestead SEIS. First, while it may appear on the surface that there are many similarities between the canals at MIA and the canals at Homestead, there are many factors that affect MIA canals that are not anticipated to affect Homestead canals, particularly the level of development that surrounds MIA. The large roadways surrounding MIA are not anticipated to be developed around the former base (although some roadways would be developed), and the level of traffic currently served by these roadways are contributing factors to the deterioration of canals near MIA. Second, the nature of the stormwater management system at the former base is substantially different from the stormwater management system at MIA. The self-contained nature of the drainage from the former base would limit impacts primarily to canals on the former base itself. Such is not the case for MIA.

**5.3.6** Comment: The development adjacent to the base has not been adequately analyzed for hurricane damage and flood potential and associated costs.

**Response:** The potential for hurricane damage and flooding exists independent of the reuse of former Homestead AFB and is not considered germane to the selection of a reuse alternative. Sections 4.10 and 4.11 in Volume I address the potential for a hurricane to create spills of fuel and hazardous materials.

**5.3.7 Comment:** The Draft SEIS does not include the Agriculture and Rural Area Retention Plan and Biscayne Bay Watershed Management Plan required by the Florida Administration Commission but not yet completed by Miami-Dade County.

Response: If those studies had been available, they would have been included in the SEIS analysis. However, they were not available. The studies were required for compliance with state statute (Chapter 288), not a federal requirement. The SEIS has been prepared in compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act. There is no legal requirement for those studies to be prerequisites to the Air Force and FAA's compliance with NEPA. While they would have undoubtedly been helpful if they had been available, they were not necessary to complete the SEIS analysis or for the Air Force and FAA to make an informed federal decision. The state's decision making and approval is a separate process.

**5.3.8 Comment:** The Draft SEIS did not take into consideration the environmental impacts associated with the increased employment.

**Response:** Each section of Chapter 4 in Volume I addresses impacts from both direct and "secondary" development associated with the Proposed Action and alternatives. Each reuse alternative is anticipated to generate secondary employment and population in-migration—the people who move to the area to take jobs at the former base. The impacts of this secondary development are addressed in the SEIS.

5.3.9 Comment: The hazards posed by aircraft noise and unburned fuel on Model Lands, Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary, and John Pennekamp Coral Reef State Park were not addressed in the Draft SEIS.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to further address impacts on the Model Lands. Noise impacts in the Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary and John Pennekamp Coral Reef State Park are addressed in Section 4.5 of Volume I. Aircraft flying over those locations would be at relatively high altitudes where any unburned aviation fuel would evaporate before reaching the surface. Therefore, they are not expected to be affected by unburned aviation fuel.

**5.3.10** Comment: The SEIS addresses all the physical security issues of all the proposals within the applicable laws and codes, but the issues of crime and growth and the changing demographic within Dade County is not accurately accounted for, creating a flaw that will impact the national security of our country as well as all real and intangible resources of the community. This in turn will affect the health, safety, and welfare of all residents in the community.

**Response:** No evidence has been presented to indicate that future security issues would be different in Miami-Dade County as a result of reuse of Homestead AFB. The increased need for police protection (number of sworn officers) due to growth is addressed in Section 4.1.5 of Volume I.

5.3.11 Comment: The SEIS should review issues associated with county landfills, nearby sewage injection wells, and reuse of former Homestead AFB as a whole.

**Response:** These activities do not interact with reuse of former base property, except as part of the total discharges to Biscayne Bay and to groundwater. Contamination from sources outside the former base is incorporated as part of the existing environment, to which discharges associated with the Proposed Action and alternatives are added in the analysis.

# 5.4 Period of Analysis

**5.4.1** Comment: The SEIS should analyze the alternative plans for longer than 15 years.

Response: The SEIS addresses each alternative in three time frames (2000, 2005, and 2015), and at full buildout. Full buildout is defined as that alternative's full potential for development. It varies among alternatives and in some cases extends almost 40 years out.

# 5.5 Requests for Additional Information

5.5.1 Comment: A number of commentors have requested that the SEIS include analyses that are beyond the document's scope. Some of these topics include the significance of unemployment conditions in south Florida, the quality of jobs created by each proposal, the economic viability of each proposal, cost-benefit analysis, implementation costs and funding/financing, detailed mitigation plans, the best location for an airport in south Florida, the environmental record of the Miami-Dade County Aviation Department, and others.

**Response:** It is beyond the scope of the SEIS to also evaluate the many topics that people would like to see discussed. None of these additional analyses are required by the National Environmental Policy Act. The goal of the SEIS is to analyze potential environmental impacts. Commentors may seek information about these other issues, where available, from project proponents, state and local agencies, and other sources.

#### 5.6 Definition of the Baseline

The baseline constitutes the basis of comparison for identifying impacts from the Proposed Action and alternatives. The SEIS uses a projected baseline, projected to 2000, 2005, and 2015. This section addresses questions about the selection of the baseline.

**5.6.1** Comment: Why were existing operations at former Homestead AFB taken as the baseline?

**Response:** The purpose of the SEIS is to compare the projected changes in environmental conditions generated by alternative proposals for reuse of former Homestead AFB property to existing conditions and future no action conditions, in order that the Air Force can make an informed decision concerning property disposal. The existing conditions include ongoing operations at Homestead ARS.

**5.6.2** Comment: The level of aviation activity at Homestead AFB and the impacts of those activities should be the standard of comparison for the Proposed Action and alternatives. Today's limited Air Force activities are not a valid comparison standard.

**Response:** The Air Force and FAA received similar comments during the scoping process. Interest was expressed in a comparison of future impacts to pre-hurricane conditions. For reasons explained below, such a comparison is not the proper standard for National Environmental Policy Act analysis, but information on some of those conditions is presented in the SEIS.

As explained in the beginning of Chapter 3 in Volume I, information about existing environmental and socioeconomic conditions is presented for each resource. That information provides a frame of reference about conditions that prevail currently or existed in the recent past. In some cases, that information includes conditions that existed prior to Hurricane Andrew when Homestead AFB was active. For example, Appendix E in Volume II provides pre-realignment noise contours and grid point analysis.

However, to understand how the Proposed Action or the alternatives could change the environment, it is also necessary to depict conditions as they are estimated to be in the future, both with and without reuse of the base property. Therefore, each resource presents a projected baseline environment that describes conditions as they could be expected to be without reuse of the former base.

It is the comparison of the Proposed Action and each alternative against the projected baseline (same as the No Action alternative) that constitutes the comparison standard for NEPA analysis. To understand why, one must consider the possible decisions that could be made. The Air Force could choose the Proposed Action, one of the other reuse alternatives, or the No Action alternative. It is the purpose of the SEIS to analyze the potential environmental impacts of each and compare them to each other. But the Air Force cannot ever choose to return to a "pre-Hurricane Andrew" environmental condition. So while the previous military conditions (or the even earlier, more pristine environmental conditions) may be of interest to some and may be viewed by others as having relevance to decision making, those conditions cannot form the basis of comparison for the technical impact analysis of the choices actually facing the Air Force and FAA.

R-47 Final SEIS

**5.6.3** Comment: Section 3.10.2.2 of the Draft SEIS indicates that it is not clear how and where projected baseline growth in south Miami-Dade County will occur, but other sections of the Draft SEIS indicate that it will occur south and east of the former base.

**Response:** The analysis in the SEIS surmises that the location of future growth would generally be within the Urban Development Boundary (UDB), with some development likely to occur outside of the UDB. Generally, this means that growth would occur primarily north and west of the former base, with some development east and south. On a gross level, it is possible to estimate how much development there will be, based on general observations of development patterns, but it is not possible to determine what specific parcels might be developed.

## 5.7 Assumptions Incorporated in the Analysis

**5.7.1** Comment: Some commentors did not believe the SEIS should accept the information furnished by reuse proponents.

**Response:** Reuse of former Homestead AFB property will be accomplished by entities who receive the property. Neither the Air Force nor FAA will be implementing any of the reuse plans. It is reasonable, therefore, to use the plans as defined by the reuse proponents as the basis of the Proposed Action and alternatives.

5.7.2 Comment: The Air Force estimated the level and timing of employment associated with each alternative analyzed. The Air Force cannot guarantee that these levels of employment will be achieved.

**Response:** The Air Force relied upon proponents of each of the alternatives to provide information about anticipated development and operations, and in some cases employment. Standard multipliers and economic models were then used to estimate resulting direct and indirect employment for the purposes of analysis in the SEIS. The Air Force does not guarantee the projected employment levels will be achieved, but they represent a reasonable best estimate based on the information available.

5.7.3 Comment: The employment projections for the Proposed Action should be revised to reflect, not the optimistic traffic projections of the Airport Planning Data Technical Report, but the most realistic scenario for the proposed airport, or a range of possible numbers from the most optimistic to the most pessimistic.

**Response:** The analysis in the SEIS of all the alternatives is based on the development plans submitted by the proponents of each alternative. They represent the best estimates of what could occur for the purposes of assessing environmental impacts and comparing the alternatives. Although there is uncertainty associated with any projections into the future, the information is sufficient to allow the Air Force and FAA to make informed decisions about the disposal of surplus property at former Homestead AFB.

**5.7.4** Comment: The SEIS relies upon state processes as being sufficient to cover certain environmental issues. Those processes were a failure.

**Response:** The SEIS relies on state processes to the degree they provide evidence of governmental intentions about matters relevant to the analysis of impacts or reflect regulatory requirements. The SEIS does take into account such things as minimum regulatory requirements for stormwater management and assumes they will be met, but the SEIS does not evaluate whether those processes are sufficient (or insufficient) to protect environmental values.

5.7.5 Comment: It is naïve to believe that noise, pollution, and safety of a commercial airport at former Homestead AFB can be managed or restrained.

**Response:** The noise, safety, and other impacts of the Proposed Action were analyzed using accepted models and methodologies. The results of the analyses are reported in the SEIS, which also identifies potential mitigation measures that could be used to reduce adverse impacts.

**5.7.6 Comment:** The basis for the assumption that 4,000 acres of agricultural land and 4,500 acres of unprotected vacant land could be developed by 2015 is not given. It is not discussed whether these estimates include redevelopment of former Homestead AFB.

**Response:** The basis for the estimates of projected baseline growth is explained in Section 2.1.3 in Volume I. It does not include development of the disposal property at former Homestead AFB.

5.7.7 Comment: Details regarding projected future growth and density patterns in areas currently zoned for agriculture or open land use could be refined and more clearly substantiated or referenced.

**Response:** As explained in Section 2.1.3 in Volume I, the SEIS analysis relied primarily on planning and projections developed by the Miami-Dade County Planning Department. No other agency has conducted detailed studies or made detailed forecasts of future growth and development at the sub-county level. The county's projections assumed a high level of future population growth and were adjusted to a more moderate growth level for use in the SEIS.

# 5.8 Thoroughness of the Analysis

5.8.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS focused primarily on noise impacts and treated other pollution lightly.

**Response:** The SEIS addresses 14 resource topics, including noise, air quality, water quality, and impacts on biological resources.

## 6.0 SOCIOECONOMICS

A large number of comments were received on the socioeconomic effects of the Proposed Action and alternatives, particularly concerning employment and earnings. This section addresses those comments and comments on population, housing, community services, and financial impacts on government entities.

## 6.1 Employment and Earnings

Because of the volume of comments on this topic, this section is subdivided into comments on existing economic conditions, the proposed commercial airport, and the Mixed Use alternative.

# **Economic Conditions in South Florida**

6.1.1 Comment: According to 1990 population data, south Miami-Dade County (defined as south of Kendall Drive) held only 7.94 percent of the county's residents and 11.5 percent of the county's jobs, which equates to higher job opportunity for the percentage of south county residents. A population density map published by the South Florida Water Management District in 1997 illustrates the inequity in population density between northern and southern Miami-Dade County. The pattern of employment opportunities follows the distribution of residents throughout the county.

Response: The data furnished by the commentor was for 1990, when Homestead AFB was still active. In 1995, the area of Miami-Dade County south of Kendall Drive contained 18.0 percent of the population of the entire county and 10.8 percent of the employment. For the area south of Eureka Drive, used in the SEIS analysis, the respective figures are 7.9 percent and 3.5 percent. This reflects an imbalance between population and jobs. South Miami-Dade County functions essentially as a bedroom community with a low number of jobs relative to residential population.

6.1.2 Comment: There is inconsistency in the sources of information to gather statistics regarding the percentage of jobs and population dispersed over north and south Miami-Dade County. The job dispersal statistics on page 3.1-5 of the Draft SEIS use figures based on Kendall Drive (SW 88<sup>th</sup> Street) as the dividing line between north and south county. On page 3.1-16, Eureka Drive (SW 184<sup>th</sup> Street) is used as the dividing line for population dispersal. These two comparisons are made using different geographic regions.

**Response:** The information presented for the area of Miami-Dade County south of Kendall Drive was derived from a study undertaken by the Planning Department of Miami-Dade County. It was provided for information only. For purposes of the analysis in the SEIS, the definition of south Miami-Dade County is the area located south of Eureka Drive. This is used as the geographic basis of comparison for all of the SEIS analysis.

6.1.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS overstates current unemployment in Homestead, which has declined and is lower than that for Miami-Dade County. The greater Homestead area now has the same number of small businesses and jobs as it had prior to Hurricane Andrew.

Response: The average unemployment rate in the City of Homestead for 1999 was 5.8 percent, having fallen from a level of 10.0 in 1992. The average rate in Miami-Dade County in 1999 was 6.1 percent. The county unemployment rate was 10.5 in 1992. These declines reflect a nationwide trend. Unemployment in 1992 was 7.5 percent in the nation and 8.3 percent in the state of Florida. In 1999, these rates declined to 4.2 percent for the nation and 3.9 percent for the state. Homestead's unemployment rate in 1999 was still higher than the national and state averages. Also, much of the area surrounding former Homestead AFB is unincorporated Miami-Dade County; it is not just the City of Homestead.

6.1.4 Comment: Statistics show that Miami-Dade County lags behind in the creation of jobs and has a higher unemployment rate the nation and the state.

**Response:** Unemployment in the county averaged 6.1 percent in 1999, compared to 4.2 percent for the nation and 3.9 percent for the state.

**6.1.5 Comment:** Unemployment in Florida City is 15 percent or higher.

**Response:** Unemployment rates were not available for Florida City. Unemployment in 1999 was 6.1 percent in Miami-Dade County and 5.8 percent in the City of Homestead.

**6.1.6** Comment: The SEIS should address the poverty rates and "poverty designation" for Homestead and Florida City.

**Response:** Portions of Homestead and Florida City (selected census tracts) have been identified by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development as an Empowerment Zone based on poverty rates reported in the 1990 U.S. Census. Targeted grants, tax incentives and loans, public/private investment, and other activities have been implemented as part of a strategic plan to support people looking for work with job training, childcare, transportation, and other measures designed to reduce poverty. In 1990, the

reported poverty rate for the City of Homestead was 29.9 percent and 36.8 percent for Florida City. By comparison, Miami-Dade County had a poverty rate of 17.9 percent and the state of Florida had a poverty rate of 12.7 percent.

6.1.7 Comment: The SEIS distorts the importance of the Air Force Reserve Command presence at Homestead Air Reserve Station by not recognizing that most of the personnel are only there part time.

**Response:** The socioeconomic analysis is based on full-time equivalent jobs, in order to provide a common measure of employment and earnings. To calculate the full-time equivalent jobs for part-time Reservists and National Guard personnel, it was assumed that each individual works 300 hours per year. There are a total of 2,080 working hours in a year, so each part-time employee is equivalent to 0.144 full-time employee, and 6.93 part-time personnel represent one full-time equivalent job.

# **Employment and Earnings for the Proposed Commercial Airport**

**6.1.8** Comment: The Draft SEIS estimate of approximately 38,000 jobs that would be created by the Proposed Action is unsubstantiated. Airports do not dictate the number of employees each airline will employ.

Response: First, it is important to understand that the estimate of 38,000 jobs for the Proposed Action is (1) at full buildout and maximum capacity use of a single-runway airport at Homestead, and (2) includes all direct (on-site) and secondary (off-site) employment generated by the proposal. It is not known when or if full buildout will be reached at Homestead. Further, the total employment includes not only airport employees but also on-site employees at commercial and industrial facilities that might be developed, as well as off-site employees that support related and unrelated activities, including jobs at supermarkets and other businesses that would serve the increased population.

The second important consideration is that there is currently no detailed plan for full buildout. Therefore, the SEIS analysis for full buildout is essentially a capacity analysis. The maximum capacity of the airport and the other disposal lands was estimated based on a number of factors: the reasonable maximum number of aircraft operations that can be accommodated by a single runway, the maximum floor-area ratio permitted for various land uses by zoning regulations, and standard average industry ratios of employees per square foot of facility (by land use) and per aircraft operations or number of passengers. The assumptions used to generate the resulting employment estimates are described in Section 2.2 of Volume I.

6.1.9 Comment: Miami International Airport has 35,000 on-site jobs, but Homestead is projected to provide 38,000 jobs.

**Response:** The estimate of 38,000 potential jobs for the Proposed Action assumes the airport reaches full capacity. This number includes both on-site and secondary off-site jobs. On-site jobs would include not only employment associated with the airport itself, but also employment in industrial and commercial facilities on former base property. The off-site employment, which comprises about 21,000 of the 38,000 total employment, could be located in various areas of Miami-Dade County.

**6.1.10** Comment: The Proposed Action promises 38,000 jobs. How can it promise that? Will people have to relocate because the area becomes overcrowded, noisy, and polluted?

**Response:** There is no promise or guarantee that a given number of jobs would be generated under any of the reuse alternatives. The job numbers in the SEIS are reasonable estimates of anticipated employment under different alternatives. In general, these employment figures are based on similar projects elsewhere

and use reasonable planning factors. The timing of the implementation of any alternative is subject to many variables and has decreasing certainty as one projects farther into the future. The SEIS identifies the potential changes in the environment, including estimated increases in population, noise, and pollution.

6.1.11 Comment: The Draft SEIS is based on erroneous assumptions and is flawed in its employment projections for the Proposed Action. The employment projections are vitally important because most of the local political and grass roots support for the Proposed Action is based on the belief that the jobs created would be significantly more than the jobs created by the alternatives. Further, the ultimate decision regarding the disposition of the property will take into account the economic impact as well as the environmental impact. If the Draft SEIS misstates the economic impact, that decision would be made based on false information. This decision will impact life in south Miami-Dade County for the foreseeable future. It must be made based on accurate information about the benefits and consequences of both the Proposed Action and the alternatives.

**Response:** The information and conclusions in the SEIS are based on the best available data, methodologies, and assumptions. Individual readers may differ as to their interpretation of the information provided and whether it meets their specific goals and objectives for use of the property.

6.1.12 Comment: The number of jobs estimated for the Proposed Action appears to be inflated, when compared to other existing airports that were converted from Air Force bases.

**Response:** It is difficult to directly compare the outcomes of reuse of former Air Force installations because of the varied conditions associated with the areas within which they are located and the time at which they were transferred. The Proposed Action for former Homestead AFB estimates 2,211 direct jobs (i.e., total on-site reuse employment) five years after implementation of the plan. Such a level of activity appears to be well within the range of actual experiences at other installations that have been reused.

6.1.13 Comment: The Draft SEIS Summary estimates on-site jobs for the Proposed Action will be 13,200. The total off-site jobs for south Miami-Dade County was predicted to be 14,000, but the table on page 32 states this number will be 10,000. If the two are averaged, the estimate of the number of off-site jobs brought by the Proposed Action is 12,000. The total jobs created by the Proposed Action by 2015 are 25,200. Combining the predicted job numbers for the Collier plan and the Hoover plan described in the Draft SEIS results in 9,500 on-site and 12,700 off-site jobs by 2015.

Response: The difference in the estimates of off-site jobs under the Proposed Action is between jobs countywide and jobs in the south county (south of Eureka Drive). The number of off-site jobs in south Miami-Dade County is estimated to be 10,004 in 2015 for the Proposed Action, whereas the off-site employment for Miami-Dade County as a whole would be 14,359 in 2015. The Collier and Hoover plans have been combined into a joint proposal, which is addressed in the Final SEIS. Off-site employment for that proposal in 2015 is estimated to be 8,278 in the south county and 6,871 in the county as a whole. The larger number for the south county reflects relocation of some tourism-related jobs. Section 4.1 in Volume I provides more detailed information on employment for the reuse alternatives.

6.1.14 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not provide the income associated with the 38,000 jobs attributed to the Proposed Action.

**Response:** The SEIS estimates total employment and earnings for each alternative. These include a wide variety of on-site and off-site jobs. Although the specific jobs and their incomes are not known at this time, based on the estimated mix of employment types, average annual wages are estimated at about \$29,000 in 1995 dollars.

**6.1.15** Comment: More than one-third of the employment in the aviation industry is composed of skilled workers, defined as those with degrees beyond high school, such as engineers, mechanics, and supervisory personnel.

**Response:** Relative to many other industries, employment in the aviation industry requires high skill levels.

6.1.16 Comment: The commercial airport will bring to the community very good high paying jobs, compared to Collier-Hoover. The relative pay for aviation jobs is typically higher than for recreation jobs.

**Response:** Average earnings per job for direct employment in 2015 is estimated to be approximately \$29,109 for the Proposed Action, including aviation and non-aviation jobs, and \$27,797 for the Mixed Use Alternative, including recreational and other jobs. The average aviation job generates \$36,960, which is 31 percent greater than the average recreation job, which generates \$28,151. These values are expressed in 1995 dollars.

**6.1.17** Comment: Airport-related jobs are estimated to generate over \$1 billion dollars in revenue by 2015.

**Response:** The \$1 billion in revenue estimated for the Proposed Action is at full buildout/maximum capacity, which may not occur until the middle of the century. This includes on-site jobs at the proposed airport and jobs associated with other land uses (industrial and commercial uses), as well as secondary jobs off site. Proposed Action earnings for 2015 are estimated to be about \$800 million.

6.1.18 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not mention the percentage of jobs that would be union represented jobs, and many airport and airline jobs are union jobs. Union guidelines generally mandate that union positions are not only distributed on basis of qualification, but also on the basis of seniority, meaning that existing airport and airline employees (union members) will have the first opportunity at these new positions. Once they have absorbed all of the most desirable positions, the residents of the surrounding areas will be left with the remaining lower end jobs.

**Response:** The analysis in the SEIS provides a general overview of employment at a county and subcounty level, not at the individual job level. Information is not currently available on the percentage of jobs that would be held by union members. That would depend on the specific characteristics of employers, such as airlines, whose identities are not yet known.

6.1.19 Comment: In-migration in the SEIS denotes the attraction of workers into Miami-Dade County to fill specialized jobs and specific labor requirements. The Draft SEIS states that most direct and indirect jobs created by development of the commercial airport will be filled by Miami-Dade County residents. It would appear that specialized workers are going to be brought in to fill the managerial and supervision positions. This would leave the residents of Homestead and the surrounding areas with lower end jobs. All residents must benefit from opportunities afforded by any project to induce an economic upswing in the area.

**Response:** The assumption that there are relatively fewer skilled workers living in south Miami-Dade County is based on data provided in the South Dade Labor Profile Study, 1997, prepared by Prange and O'Hearn, Inc. for the South Dade Chamber of Commerce. Training could be provided to enable local residents to qualify for employment opportunities.

**6.1.20** Comment: A breakdown of the job opportunities to be generated by salary, union, and skill level should be estimated to fully articulate the types of jobs and opportunities that will exist, rather than an estimated number.

**Response:** The projected number of jobs is based on employment ratios associated with various sectors of the economy (e.g., retail) and is not identified according to specific skills, union status, or salary levels associated with specific skills. The purpose of the SEIS is to assess the relative employment and earnings of the alternatives. Not enough detailed information is available about any of the reuse alternatives to identify specific jobs and income levels.

**6.1.21** Comment: There was insufficient effort to categorize the types of jobs provided or to measure the labor pool in need of and available for such jobs. A large part of the Homestead area labor population, for example, is seasonal agricultural workers. Some other jobless are unwilling or unable to take employment. How many will need training and who will provide such training?

**Response:** The SEIS looks at the relative effects of the Proposed Action and other alternatives and provides data on employment and earnings effects that can be used to compare the aggregate effects of the alternatives. The SEIS also includes background data on existing and future economic conditions to provide a context within which to measure these effects. The determination as to which plans might best meet various goals and priorities is left to the decision makers and readers. Employment training would not be expected to change the overall findings of the environmental analysis. However, it is included in the Final SEIS as a potential mitigation measure that could improve employment opportunities for the local labor force.

6.1.22 Comment: Won't most of the new jobs be at Miami International Airport (MIA) and won't the jobs in Homestead already be filled?

Response: Airport operations and activity at MIA are projected to grow in the future with or without a commercial airport at Homestead. A commercial airport at Homestead could potentially serve a portion of the existing or new demand (e.g., for commercial passenger, general aviation, aircraft maintenance, and air cargo activity) that might otherwise be met by MIA, assuming that MIA has available capacity. The Homestead airport would, however, increase the total new capacity in the region. Although it is possible that some activities at MIA may be diverted to the proposed Homestead airport, especially initially, the majority of jobs in Homestead are likely to be new jobs in south Miami-Dade County because of the overall increase in demand for aviation services in the future and the fact that MIA is currently near capacity.

6.1.23 Comment: Provide more justification for the methodology used in the Draft SEIS to allocate reuse-related jobs among the various sources of persons who might potentially fill these jobs.

**Response:** The factors that influence the individual decisions of residents of south Florida regarding where they work and their personal preferences are complex and diverse. It is not feasible to identify and factor them all into the economic modeling performed for the SEIS, and their relevance to projections well into the future (i.e., 2015 and full buildout) would be questionable. The SEIS takes a more macroscopic approach to the employment analysis, using aggregate data on labor availability.

A number of assumptions were made based on observed characteristics of the areas from which workers might be derived. The allocation of reuse-related jobs to various pools of available workers was accomplished for the purpose of deriving a reasonable estimate of the number of in-migrants. It was not intended to specifically allocate jobs to individuals, which was not essential to understanding the impacts of property disposal decisions. The following potential labor pools were considered in the analysis:

Final SEIS

(1) new entrants into the labor pool over the next 15 years and beyond; (2) unemployed persons residing in south Miami-Dade County; (3) employed persons residing in south Miami-Dade County and working in north Miami-Dade County and currently assumed to be commuting to jobs in the northern portion of the county and who would change their place of work; (4) workers in-migrating to Miami-Dade County to fill specialized jobs or hoping to find employment at the project site and who would take up residence in the south; (5) persons (employed and unemployed) currently residing (and working) in north Miami-Dade County, who would relocate their place of residence and take a job in south Miami-Dade County.

As of 1997, the unemployment rate in Miami-Dade County had not fallen below 5 percent in well over a decade. At that time it stood at about 7 percent. The estimated number of unemployed workers who could fill jobs created by a major project was based on the 1997 unemployment level. It was assumed that the then-current unemployment rate of 7 percent could fall as low as 5 percent if more jobs were available. This led to an estimated 2 percent of the workers in the labor force of south Miami-Dade County available to fill jobs created by reuse of former Homestead AFB. The parameters were not varied over time. The projected baseline number of persons in the labor force in south Miami-Dade County was based on a moderate level of growth for Miami Dade County which yielded a conservatively low estimate of available workers.

Since 1997, the unemployment rates for both the county and the City of Homestead have declined. As of December 1999, the number of unemployed persons residing in the City of Homestead alone, with an unemployment rate of 5.8 percent, was 608. The number of unemployed in Miami-Dade County was 51,651. The numbers of unemployed persons used in the SEIS analysis (between 1,095 and 1,550) still represents about 2 percent of the labor force, which is considered to be a reasonable estimate of the number of workers that would be available from the unemployed labor pool. Even if the number of available workers is reduced to 1 percent of the labor force, the number of additional in-migrants would increase by a maximum of about 1,776 in 2015. Total reuse-related in-migration would still represent about 0.2 percent of baseline population in Miami-Dade County.

As the population of Miami-Dade County has grown, an increasing portion of the growth has been absorbed by residential development in the southern portion of the county, since this is the area of the county that still contains non-urban land in substantial quantities. Employment has not, however, followed this same geographical trend. The result has been an imbalance in the ratio of jobs to housing units. For the county as a whole in 1995, it is estimated (from information developed by the Miami-Dade County Department of Planning Development and Regulation) that the countywide average number of jobs per housing unit was 1.38 and was projected to drop to 1.23 by 2015. For the portion of the county north of Eureka Drive, the ratio in 1995 was 1.43, while south of Eureka Drive it was 0.74. On average in 1995 there were 1.83 persons for every job in the county. In the northern portion, this value was 1.75 while in the south it was 3.92. This suggests two things: (1) the population in the county is rising faster than employment and (2) there is an imbalance between the northern and southern portions of the county.

Independent data indicate that the labor force participation rate shows little variation within the county. Thus, working persons who do not hold a job close to their home will commute, in this case predominantly from the southern portion to the northern portion of the county. Reuse of Homestead AFB would generate a considerable number of employment opportunities in the south, and the probability is high that some persons currently commuting to jobs in the north would choose (in order to reduce their transportation costs) to take these jobs. In addition, it is reasonable to assume that new entrants into the labor force in the south would prefer (all other things being equal) to take employment close to their place of residence rather than commute long distances. The SEIS assumes a modest shift in the jobs-to-housing balance in the south county of 0.20 workers per household. This would still leave a lower jobs-to-housing ratio in the south county than in the north. Such a shift would generate a potential pool of workers who could fill the direct and secondary jobs related to reuse of the former base.

R-55 Final SEIS

It is realistic to surmise that some number (assumed to be 5 percent) of the jobs created by each of the reuse alternatives would be specialized and require skilled persons not available in the local labor force. These workers would comprise a portion of the reuse-induced in-migration and are assumed to take up residence in the south county.

This sequence of analysis leads to two findings: (1) the projected available labor pool in Miami-Dade County as a whole would be sufficient to fill all the estimated reuse-related jobs, but (2) the available labor pool in the south county would not be sufficient to fill all the jobs estimated to be in the south county. This suggested that persons currently residing in the northern portion of the county would be attracted to these jobs and might relocate to be close to their jobs in the south.

6.1.24 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumes that approximately 20,000 residents of south Miami-Dade County may be working in the north county in 2015. Even assuming that approximately 3,000 unemployed take jobs at the airport (Homestead currently has between 500 and 1,000 unemployed), there is no support for assuming that three-quarters of the commuting south Miami-Dade County residents would leave their jobs to work at the airport. The Draft SEIS assumes that there will be approximately 27,000 jobs from other sources in the south county by 2015. Is the SEIS assuming that only residents will take airport jobs and only in-migrants will take the other new jobs?

Response: The number of baseline jobs (excluding reuse of the disposal property at former Homestead AFB) in south Miami-Dade County is projected to increase by 26,500 between 1995 and 2015. At the same time the population is projected to increase by 76,357 under moderate growth forecasts. Thus, the increase in jobs would employ about one person in three of the projected increase in population. By 2015, the Proposed Action is estimated to generate 23,191 jobs in the portion of Miami-Dade County south of Eureka Drive. This area includes unincorporated areas of the county in addition to the cities of Homestead and Florida City. The number of unemployed persons assumed to take reuserelated jobs is 1,550 in 2015, which represents about 2 percent of projected south county employment and about 0.1 percent of employment in the county as a whole. The SEIS also estimates that 4,624 of the jobs in the south county would be filled by new south county residents, whether they migrate from the northern part of the county or from outside the county. It is assumed, therefore, that about 17,000 of the reuse-related jobs in the south county in 2015 would be filled by persons projected to be residents of the south county. These may include some current residents but also include projected future residents. The projected employment in the south county in 2015, including the Proposed Action, is about 92,000 jobs. Divided by the projected south county population of about 240,000 results in employment of one out of every 2.6 residents. For comparison, there was a job for one in every 1.8 residents of Miami-Dade County in 1995, when unemployment was over 7 percent. Thus, the assumptions made in the SEIS analysis are reasonable. The population projections, even assuming a moderate rate of growth, are adequate to support both the projected baseline jobs and the Proposed Action employment.

**6.1.25** Comment: The Draft SEIS concludes that the majority of the new jobs created by the airport will be filled by current residents of the communities around the base. These residents are currently either working in the north part of the county or are unemployed.

Response: The population in south Florida is expected to grow over the next 15 years, which will generate new workers able to take reuse-related jobs. Most of the new jobs are anticipated to be taken by new residents or current residents who will enter the workforce in the future. Some would be new entrants to the labor force who are not currently of working age. As Section 2.1.3 in Volume I explains, new jobs at former Homestead AFB are projected to be filled by workers from a combination of sources, including a portion of unemployed workers in south Miami-Dade County, workers preferring to work in south Miami-Dade County who would otherwise commute to the northern section of the county, workers who would relocate from outside the county, and workers who would relocate from north to south Miami-

Dade County. The SEIS describes the assumptions that led to these estimates. No alternative assumptions with supporting justification have been presented.

6.1.26 Comment: The SEIS does not assess the economic impact of the environmental damage from increased air, noise, and water pollution caused by the proposed commercial airport on the tourism industry, including recreational fishing, snorkeling, sightseeing in Everglades and Biscayne National Parks, Dry Tortugas, the Florida Keys, and the National Marine Sanctuary. The national parks receive more than 1 million visitors a year. Further investigation should be made with the state's tourism bureau regarding the economic losses that are expected with the loss of the natural habitat and disturbances to visitors from airplane noise. Florida has invested extensively in promoting and marketing its natural beauty and attracts 50 million visitors a year.

**Response:** Many factors influence how tourists and tourism businesses act. Any attempt to quantify the effect of the Proposed Action on the tourism industry would be highly speculative. It is reasonable to consider that, as population density increases, the national parks will continue to be valued. There is no evidence that a commercial airport at former Homestead AFB would measurably affect tourism in south Florida.

**6.1.27** Comment: The SEIS does not evaluate the economic impact of the proposed commercial airport on agriculture.

**Response:** It is not possible to accurately estimate any loss of earnings in agriculture. Secondary development in connection with the Proposed Action (and alternatives) would likely result in conversion of agricultural land to development, but without knowing which properties would be converted and what their crops would be at the time of conversion, it is not possible to place a dollar value on this impact. As the SEIS indicates, conversion of agricultural lands can be expected with or without the redevelopment of former Homestead AFB.

6.1.28 Comment: What existing industries in the Upper Keys and south Miami-Dade County are going to be hurt by the Proposed Action?

Response: There are many factors that affect economic conditions. There is no evidence that an airport at Homestead would hurt any industries in south Florida. It is possible that occupancy rates in some existing hotel properties could be affected if hotel rooms were developed on the former base and there were no corresponding increases in demand. There is a possibility that tourism and recreation could be affected by changes in the local environment, but these impacts are highly speculative and cannot be quantified. They depend on individuals' perceptions of environmental changes, including to what degree these changes might affect the nature or quality of the visitor or recreation experience, and in turn, whether a change in choice of location, type, or duration of recreation or leisure would be made.

# **Employment and Earnings for the Mixed Use Alternative**

6.1.29 Comment: The Mixed Use alternative could immediately begin to generate 23,000 jobs and \$670 million annual earnings for south Miami-Dade County.

**Response:** The number of jobs and earnings generated by the Mixed Use alternative would depend on which of the four scenarios analyzed was implemented. The Collier-Hoover proposal, for example, is estimated to generate about 8,400 jobs in the south county by 2005, increasing to about 12,400 by 2015 and about 22,000 at full buildout. Earnings in the south county are estimated at \$399 million in 2015 and \$641 million at full buildout.

6.1.30 Comment: The Collier and Hoover plans have merged. The combined plan is expected to generate more jobs than each plan separately. The number of jobs cannot be a sum of the two plans, however, because each plan envisioned different land uses.

**Response:** Collier Resources Company and the Hoover Environmental Group submitted a new joint proposal, which is analyzed in the Final SEIS. Estimated employment generated by the combined Collier-Hoover proposal is discussed in Section 4.1 of Volume I. These estimates are based on an analysis of the new plan and are not a simple addition of the two original plans.

**6.1.31** Comment: The Collier proposal offers fewer jobs than the Proposed Action.

**Response:** Collier Resources Company and Hoover Environmental Group have submitted a new joint plan. Estimated employment generated by the combined Collier-Hoover proposal is discussed in the Final SEIS. The employment level, about 22,000 at full buildout, is less than that projected for the commercial airport.

**6.1.32** Comment: The Mixed Use alternative would generate more jobs and earnings by 2005 than the Proposed Action.

**Response:** Some scenarios of the Mixed Use alternative envision more rapid initial growth than the Proposed Action. The Collier-Hoover proposal is estimated to generate about 6,300 jobs countywide in 2005, compared to about 4,500 for the Proposed Action.

**6.1.33** Comment: The jobs created by the Collier-Hoover plan would more than replace the number of jobs lost due to Hurricane Andrew.

**Response:** The joint Collier-Hoover proposal is estimated to generate about 22,000 jobs at full buildout. In 1990, Homestead AFB had an estimated employment effect of 10,039, which had decreased to 1,582 in 1997.

6.1.34 Comment: Leisure employment does not require the same highly developed skills that are found in multi-faceted activities of a modern commercial airport.

**Response:** Skill levels associated with the service sector (including recreation and tourism-related employment) are lower than those in aviation employment. See also response to comment 6.1.15.

**6.1.35** Comment: Won't most of the jobs under the Collier-Hoover plan be construction jobs and be filled by existing construction workers?

**Response:** Section 2.4 in Volume I shows that the majority of the direct jobs are projected for operations and not construction jobs. Because development is expected to occur over a number of years, it has been assumed that there will be some construction throughout the project life. There will also likely be renovation periodically as the facilities age. The construction jobs for the Proposed Action and alternatives would be new jobs that would not exist without the redevelopment of former Homestead AFB property.

6.1.36 Comment: The range of employment presented for the Mixed Use alternative in the Draft SEIS implies uncertainty in the actual employment that can be expected under that alternative.

Response: The range of employment and other data presented for the Mixed Use alternative in the Draft SEIS was not intended to reflect uncertainty but differences in the employment estimated for the three

reuse scenarios considered under this alternative. The Market-Driven scenario, Collier Resources Company proposal, and Hoover Environmental Group plan all estimated different levels of development and employment, and the ranges reflected the range of numbers among the three scenarios. The Final SEIS includes the joint Collier-Hoover proposal and breaks out data for the different scenarios.

**6.1.37** Comment: If other assumptions and factors are considered, the economic benefits of the Mixed Use alternative are greater than for the Proposed Action.

**Response:** Collier Resources Company and Hoover Environmental Group have submitted a new joint plan, which is analyzed in the Final SEIS. Considering south Miami-Dade County only, 12,594 jobs generated by the Proposed Action in 2015 are anticipated to be filled by existing residents. For the joint Collier-Hoover proposal it is 13,145.

6.1.38 Comment: The net economic impact of the Mixed Use alternative will be smaller than the gross impacts calculated in the Draft SEIS. The more the Collier development diverts demand from existing properties, the smaller the net economic benefits. The issue of business diversion as a result of the proposed Collier development is also relevant with respect to the proposed RV park.

**Response:** It is possible that the hotel development proposed in the Collier-Hoover plan could affect occupancy levels at other hotels in the area, depending on the level of demand for hotel rooms. If there were little or no unmet hotel demand, hotel developers would not be expected to build additional properties. From an environmental analysis standpoint, evaluation of gross effects rather than net effects is a more conservative approach because it has the effect of overestimating the environmental impacts.

**6.1.39** Comment: The SEIS does not confirm whether or not the assumption on the number of visitors attracted by an aquarium is reasonable or supported by data from similar aquariums in other regions; it treats these attendance projections as an assumption.

Response: The Hoover Environmental Group estimated that the aquarium would generate 1.5 million visitors annually. The attendance numbers associated with the aquarium proposal are accepted as an assumption in the SEIS and are comparable to the experience of other aquariums in the country. For analysis purposes, the assumptions presented in Section 4.1.2.3 of Volume I regarding the percentage of visitors from outside the county and other related assumptions were used. The assumption that roughly 7 percent of the annual visitors (105,000 visitors) would come from outside the county and would not have otherwise visited Miami-Dade County is based on the experience of other aquariums in the country. This 7 percent is based on the assumption that 70 percent of the visitors to the aquarium would be from outside the county and that 10 percent of these out-of-county visitors would visit Miami-Dade County because of the aquarium.

6.1.40 Comment: The Draft SEIS indicates that development of an aquarium at former Homestead AFB could lead to redistribution of tourist dollars spent in the county even though tourist spending countywide may not increase substantially. This should be considered a benefit, as one of the largest arguments in favor of the Proposed Action is the need for an economic generator in the southern end of the county. A redistribution of income to an economic generator in the southern end of the county in the form of an aquarium directly addresses some of these economic arguments. There should be a more thorough economic analysis of the impacts of redistribution of income generated from the Mixed Use alternative.

**Response:** The SEIS indicates each of the reuse alternatives would increase earnings in south Miami-Dade County. The development of an aquarium could, as stated in the SEIS, result in a redistribution of tourist-related spending within the county (from north to south) even though tourist spending countywide

might not increase substantially. This would support the economic revitalization of south Miami-Dade County.

The SEIS describes the employment and earnings associated with the Mixed Use alternative on a gross rather than a net basis. In other words, it analyzes the total employment associated with the alternative, as presented in the project description (i.e., the gross effect), and does not reduce this number or the resulting secondary employment and earnings effects by the portion of jobs that might be distributed from the north county to the south county (i.e., the net effect). The discussion of the Mixed Use alternative describes the assumptions about where the estimated 1.5 million annual aquarium visitors would come from, including the percentage of visitors from inside and outside the county, the number of new visitors versus those who would have visited the county anyway, and the number of visitors from within the county coming from the north county and the south county.

The total annual visitor expenditures in south Miami-Dade County associated with the aquarium were projected at approximately \$197 million. Of that amount, \$28 million is attributed to north Miami-Dade County residents who would visit the aquarium and \$154 million is attributed to out-of-county visitors who would have visited the north county but, with the aquarium, could spend a portion of their visit in the Homestead area. The combined \$182 million annual visitor expenditure represents the portion of the visitor expenditures redistributed from north to south Miami-Dade County.

# 6.2 Population

# **6.2.1 Comment:** Miami-Dade County has reduced its population projections.

Response: Miami-Dade County has proposed an amendment to its Comprehensive Development Master Plan that includes revisions to the basic countywide population projections first published in 1994 and adopted by the Board of County Commissioners in March 1996. The amendment application had not been approved by the County Commissioners as of May 1, 2000, and therefore does not constitute an adopted change in the county's projection. The Department of Planning and Zoning's estimates of population for the past few years show growth at lower levels than the county anticipated, which is the reason for the amendment. The proposed change will bring county forecasts closer to the federal and state forecasts used as the basis of the analysis in the SEIS.

**6.2.2** Comment: The assumption that projected baseline population will grow at the same rate as the total population in south Miami-Dade County is flawed because it does not include growth associated with reuse of former Homestead AFB.

**Response:** The projected baseline levels purposely do not include any development of the disposal property at former Homestead AFB. This is to provide a basis of comparison for each of the reuse alternatives, including the No Action alternative. The analysis of each alternative adds reuse-related growth to the projected baseline to derive the reuse-related impacts.

6.2.3 Comment: The information and statements in the Draft SEIS do not seem to support the inmigration assumption. The Draft SEIS assumes that the ratio of jobs per housing unit in south Miami-Dade County would increase from 0.8 jobs per unit to 1.0 jobs per unit by 2015, but the document does not include information about existing housing units in the south county or explain whether this is an accurate assumption. From the information provided, this increase in jobs per housing unit only seems to provide a relatively small increase in available employees from south Miami-Dade County to take airport-related jobs. Assuming that there are 20,000 housing units in the county south of Eureka Drive, then the increase in employees able to take airport-related jobs would be only about 4,000. This still leaves a significant amount of jobs needed to be filled by an in-migrating workforce.

**Response:** Miami-Dade County has projected that the number of housing units in the south county will increase to almost 100,000 by 2015. For the SEIS, this number was adjusted to reflect a more moderate rate of growth, to approximately 85,000 housing units in south Miami-Dade County. Assuming one additional worker in every five households is available to work locally, this would amount to over 17,000 workers.

6.2.4 Comment: The faulty assumption about in-migration in the Draft SEIS leads to minimization of environmental impacts, including minimum need for additional housing units, little new impermeable surface off-site to cause increased runoff, minimal habitat loss, limited new air pollution, limited use of resources such as groundwater, and others.

**Response:** The assumptions used to estimate reuse-induced in-migration were developed based upon the best available information, using agency data, estimates, and projections as input whenever possible, with the goal of representing the dynamic and complex nature of individual choices and economic and demographic trends in future years. The estimates of potential in-migration are believed to be reasonable and, therefore, the resulting impacts are also believed to be reasonable and, in some cases, conservatively high estimates.

6.2.5 Comment: The dramatic increase that will accompany the development of an urban population center in South Dade may well push it beyond the survival stage. The projections of population increase cited in the SEIS depend on an economic engine such as the airport; alternative uses should have much less effect.

Response: Most of the projected increase in population in south Miami-Dade County from the present to 2015 is expected to be baseline growth that would occur even without the reuse of the disposal property at former Homestead AFB. The baseline population is projected to increase in south Miami-Dade County from 182,324 to 239,592 between 2000 and 2015, an increase of 57,268 persons. Over the same time period, the Proposed Action is estimated to add 10,597 persons. The other alternatives are estimated to add less than 1,682 persons.

## 6.3 Housing

6.3.1 Comment: Although property values may be increased, if local residents can no longer afford to live in the area, this could have a detrimental effect on low-income populations. There should be sensitivity to these issues no matter what alternative is implemented, but the Mixed Use alternative seems to encompass a larger residential component.

**Response:** There is a potential for housing costs to increase if economic development, employment, and population growth increase in south Miami-Dade County, but the new job opportunities would also increase household earnings. The majority of the new jobs are projected to be filled by south Miami-Dade County residents who would otherwise be forced to commute to the north, and the additional demands for housing generated by reuse of former Homestead AFB would be relatively modest and presumably have limited effect on housing costs as compared to baseline population growth.

6.3.2 Comment: A linkage should be established between the types of workers to be employed and the mix of housing that will be necessary to accommodate new workers in the area. Not all workers will purchase homes, and there should be a determination of single family units versus rental units to be generated.

Response: For environmental analysis purposes, an estimate of the number of housing units associated with the project workers is sufficient to analyze the related environmental effects such as land

disturbance, traffic, infrastructure, and air quality. The specific mix of housing types (e.g., owner versus renter) would not alter the environmental analysis in any substantial way. In the long term, the private housing market would be expected to respond to the mix of demands in the local housing market, based on the eventual demands that occur.

**6.3.3** Comment: A table should be added to the SEIS to convey the differences of types of jobs generated related to income level and what types of homes will be necessary to accommodate those income levels for all alternatives.

**Response:** The salary levels are implicit in the analysis. The range of salary levels associated with the Proposed Action, based on industrial sectors, varies between \$18,341 and \$38,308. Not enough detailed information is available about any of the reuse alternatives to identify specific jobs and income levels, nor is it needed for the SEIS.

**6.3.4** Comment: The Proposed Action will not increase the ratio of jobs to housing units in south Miami-Dade County more than the Mixed Use alternative, as the Draft SEIS indicates, because of the increase in housing units that would be needed to house in-migrating population, which would be approximately four times that of the Mixed Use alternative, without a fourfold increase in the number of jobs.

**Response:** The Mixed Use alternative in the Draft SEIS included two scenarios (Market-Driven and Hoover plan) that contained on-site housing. The total new housing under those scenarios could be as high as 1,912 units. Collier Resources Company and Hoover Environmental Group have submitted a new joint plan that does not include housing. It is analyzed in the Final SEIS.

6.3.5 Comment: No basis was provided for concluding that employment and housing would double with the addition of a second runway at Homestead. There is no determination that all people working at jobs at the airport would have the overall capacity to buy new homes and no mix of rental or ownership has been discussed.

Response: As Section 1.3 in Volume I indicates, no decision on a second runway will be made pursuant to the SEIS. Its probability and timing are too uncertain and too little is known about its characteristics to perform a thorough analysis at this time. However, the possibility of airport expansion is acknowledged, and a general discussion of possible impact is provided. An approximation of the potential effects was based on the estimates furnished in Section 2.2.7 of Volume I and the difference between site-related employment estimated for the Proposed Action at full buildout and that estimated for a two-runway airport. The effects of the Proposed Action at full buildout were simply scaled up based on the relationships between employment, population, and housing.

# 6.4 Community Services

**6.4.1** Comment: A newly formed community would place a burden on already overworked police and fire departments and overcrowded schools.

**Response:** The potential impacts of the Proposed Action and alternatives on police and fire departments and schools are addressed in Volume I, Section 4.1.5 Public Services.

## 6.5 Financial Impact on Government Entities

**6.5.1** Comment: The financial impact on the local support structure is neither compared nor measured in sufficient detail. For the City of Homestead, for example, what are the costs of infrastructure improvements and who will finance them?

Response: The SEIS estimates the additional demand for public services such as police protection, fire services, schools, utilities such as potable water and wastewater, and changes in vehicle trips. It also provides data on sources of revenues, categories of expenditures, and budgets for local governments. Section 4.1 in Volume I indicates that there would be relatively small increases in public service demands associated with reuse-induced population increases and that there would be an offsetting increase in the tax base and public revenues available for operations and government services. The service capacity of utilities and roads could be exceeded in some specific cases, as described in Sections 4.2 and 4.3. This could require the service providers to analyze their expansion plans and sources of financing, but this is beyond the scope of the SEIS. A qualitative analysis of public finance was considered to be adequate for a comparison of the alternatives to assist the Air Force and FAA in their decision making.

### 7.0 TRANSPORTATION

### 7.1 Traffic Analysis

7.1.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not address the infrastructure required to support reuse of former Homestead AFB.

**Response:** Section 4.2 in Volume I describes the anticipated effects of estimated traffic increases on roadways in the area and identifies roadway improvements that would be needed to maintain acceptable level of service. As it shows, the increase in traffic would be gradual, as redevelopment activities progressed. Section 3.2 also indicates that projected baseline population increases would drive many of the infrastructure improvement requirements.

7.1.2 Comment: The traffic analysis was not based on the most recent and best available data (e.g., on-base traffic volumes date from 1988), and it did not include one-way peak hour directional trip volumes. It is not clear how roadway improvements can be planned. The SEIS estimates that the only incremental traffic in the area will be that going to and from the airport. Traffic-defeating measures such as high parking fees and intelligent traffic signals, were assumed to be in place, and it is naïve to believe that they would affect airport traffic.

Response: The traffic analysis was based on the most recent data obtained from local and state agencies. The discussion of on-base traffic was included to provide an historical perspective from when the base was fully active; 1988 was the most recent year available. The traffic model used included current traffic patterns and those that are likely to occur at various intervals in the future. The Florida Level of Service Guidelines were used for this analysis, and they specify minimum requirements in terms of two-direction traffic volumes. The Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation Manual was used to estimate trips. It is based on studies performed at similar facilities. The SEIS identifies the total estimated increase in trips, but only trips to and from the site could be modeled because those are the only trips that could be assigned to specific roadways. No traffic-defeating measures were assumed for this project; however, high parking costs and other measures can help encourage the use of other available modes of transportation and are possible mitigations.

7.1.3 Comment: Roadway access to the Homestead area is limited, and several roadway expansion recommendations are listed in the SEIS. How will the system accommodate the increases in traffic, and when will the additional lanes be constructed?

**Response:** The SEIS identifies possible roadway expansions that would allow the infrastructure to meet the minimum Level of Service Guidelines for Florida and alleviate traffic congestion. The final decisions on whether to implement the improvements and, if so, when are up to state and local government entities responsible for planning roadway improvements.

7.1.4 Comment: The roads in this area were not designed to handle the substantial truck traffic that would result from the commercial airport (e.g., cargo going to other shipping terminals in Miami). Roadway improvements are needed to accommodate the exponential increase in truck traffic. The Draft SEIS does not address pavement degradation. Delays caused by truck traffic were not addressed.

**Response:** The Average Daily Trips used in the SEIS analysis have been factored to include a percentage of trucks. The model provides a good estimate of overall traffic effects. Freight that has to connect to terminals in Miami would probably fly into Miami International Airport rather than Homestead. Pavement degradation will be affected more by baseline growth in the area than by reuse of former Homestead AFB.

7.1.5 Comment: There is no discussion of a rail system being extended to service former Homestead AFB.

Response: No current plans for reuse of former Homestead AFB include railway service.

7.1.6 Comment: The SEIS should provide a plan to develop mass transit opportunities to relieve traffic congestion.

**Response:** The SEIS analyzes actions that are proposed by proponents of reuse of former Homestead AFB. None of the proposals includes mass transit. However, mass transit is identified as a possible mitigation measure that could be implemented by appropriate transportation organizations to reduce impacts from increased traffic. As Section 4.1 in Volume I indicates, traffic increases in association with redevelopment of the former base are anticipate to grow relatively slowly, and it could be some time before they reach sufficient levels to require mass transit.

### 7.2 Emergency Evacuation

7.2.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not consider the impact of reuse of former Homestead AFB and associated secondary development on hurricane evacuation. The Draft SEIS does not thoroughly analyze impacts to evacuation due to an incident at Turkey Point.

**Response:** Section 4.2 in Volume I estimates the increase in evacuation time associated with each reuse alternative during a hurricane and in event of an incident at Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant. These estimates include population increases attributed to secondary development. No alternative is anticipated to increase evacuation time by more than 5 percent.

7.2.2 Comment: The emergency evacuation analysis is not sufficient since it does not include queuing delay time. Some alternatives are projected to have a negligible impact on emergency evacuation time, while the projected vehicle trips are higher than other alternatives. It would seem that increased vehicle movements, including large increases in truck traffic, would be directly related to evacuation time. Which alternative best accommodates evacuation criteria?

Response: The model used in the evacuation analysis was designed to be a macroscopic representation of future traffic patterns, and it assumes vertical queuing. The roadway capacity values were factored down to account for the delay associated with evacuation. The evacuation analysis examined the areas affected by the reuse alternatives. It assumes that traffic operations will not be normal during a warning period, such as a hurricane warning. In other words, normal working traffic (e.g., people commuting to work or visitors to the site) would probably be suspended, and the evacuation traffic would be focused on where people live rather than where they work. Therefore, the estimated increase in evacuation time for each alternative was based on population increase rather than the number of trips projected for each alternative, which includes employees, passengers, and visitors. Projected baseline increases in population have more effect on evacuation times and travel delays than population increases projected for any reuse alternative. As Section 4.2 in Volume I shows, all of the alternatives are projected to have little effect on evacuation times.

### 8.0 UTILITIES

**8.0.1** Comment: Project impacts on utilities were not provided in sufficient detail to allow planning, scheduling, and funding of improvements.

**Response:** Section 4.3 in Volume I estimates the increase in demand for utilities for the Proposed Action and alternatives, based on available information. Not enough is known about the details of implementing each of the alternatives to provide information suitable for developing specific plans, schedules, and funding. It is assumed the developer of the selected alternative will work with appropriate purveyors and authorities to generate that information.

**8.0.2** Comment: Impacts stemming from the demand for utilities will be significantly greater for the Proposed Action, including water consumption, wastewater generation, solid waste generation and demand for electricity.

**Response:** Section 4.3 in Volume I estimates the increased demand that would be generated by each of the reuse alternatives. It identifies no capacity issues for solid waste disposal or electricity but does indicate that demand will exceed the capacity of some water and wastewater systems, largely due to projected baseline population growth with or without the reuse of former Homestead AFB.

**8.0.3** Comment: The Miami-Dade Water and Sewer Department, the City of Homestead, and Florida City may have to modify their water use permits to account for changes in population and water use associated with reuse of former Homestead AFB.

**Response:** Based on the estimates of projected baseline population growth in south Miami-Dade County, the county and the cities may need to modify their permits whether or not the property at former Homestead AFB is redeveloped.

**8.0.4** Comment: Concern was expressed about new on-site water withdrawal facilities in light of the contaminated sites on the former base.

**Response:** None of reuse alternatives includes plans for new water wells/withdrawal facilities on former base property.

**8.0.5** Comment: Can anyone guarantee that the sewer system needed to support the proposed airport will not leak into Biscayne Bay or surrounding canals?

R-65 Final SEIS

**Response:** The sewer system that would be required to service reuse at the former base would be relatively modest (it would be required to handle on the order of 1 million gallons per day) and similar to sewer systems throughout the area. Section 4.3 in Volume I shows the relative volume of reuse-related sewage compared to existing volumes in the region of influence. Any new construction would be done according to Miami-Dade County's standard practices.

All activities have some associated risk, and construction of a sewer to handle wastewater from a commercial airport would be no different. There is always the possibility that the sewer could be built improperly, resulting in leaks that could affect Biscayne Bay. This could happen anywhere, not just at the former base. It is likely, however, that if leaks developed, they would be detected and repaired.

### 9.0 AIRSPACE AND SAFETY

# 9.1 Airports and Airspace

**9.1.1** Comment: The Dade Collier airport, offered in trade for former Homestead AFB land by Miami-Dade County, has little value and almost no use.

**Response:** The Dade-Collier Training and Transition Airport currently serves as a flight training facility, supporting almost 14,000 annual operations. Determination of the value of this facility is beyond the scope of the SEIS. Its value to the government would be considered were the county to offer it.

**9.1.2** Comment: There are already many airports in the area creating plenty of air traffic—Miami International, Tamiami, Marathon. Congestion of air traffic can bring confusion and complications in the air. Is this necessary?

Response: The primary purpose of the FAA's Air Traffic Control (ATC) system is to ensure safety of aircraft operations while providing for an organized and efficient flow of traffic. Standard ATC rules and procedures developed by the FAA are used by pilots and air traffic controllers so that flights operate safely and without confusion under a wide range of conditions. Air traffic congestion does occur throughout the national airspace system and is a result of many factors, including air traffic volume, density of air traffic, and airspace/airport capacity. Multiple airports are often needed to serve the aviation needs in a given region, since airports have finite capacities and often serve different roles (i.e., general aviation, commercial). This is also the case in Miami-Dade County. It is a primary purpose of ATC to manage air traffic congestion under varied conditions without compromising the safety of operations.

# 9.1.3 Comment: Why is the flight path over the Keys, over Monroe County?

**Response:** The flight tracks for the proposed commercial airport at Homestead are a function of several factors, including the location of the airport and other airports in the region, the geographic origin and destination of flights, the structure and operating procedures of the Miami airspace, the performance of commercial aircraft, and the need to prevent potential conflicts and preserve safety. Flight tracks over Key Largo are mostly southbound departures and arrivals from the southeast.

9.1.4 Comment: Because of conflicts with Miami International Airport's airspace to the north, planes must be routed over the national parks and the Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary and remain at lower altitudes longer than might otherwise be the case.

**Response:** The comment is correct that the complexity of the airspace usage in southern Florida would have effects on the routing and altitude of aircraft using Homestead, as explained in the SEIS. However, airspace complexity alone does not cause airplanes to be routed over the national parks. The amount of

geographic area included within the national parks, refuge, preserve, and sanctuary is so extensive that it is virtually impossible to avoid flying over them, regardless of where commercial airports in this part of Florida are located.

**9.1.5** Comment: Implementation of greater flight pattern restrictions consistent with aviation safety are appropriate.

**Response:** The flight patterns anticipated for use by civilian traffic operating at Homestead have been developed in cooperation with FAA Air Traffic Control personnel with safety and operational parameters as the guiding elements. Alternative noise abatement flight paths are evaluated in the SEIS to mitigate aircraft noise over areas of the national parks, consistent with safety. The FAA rejected several other flight patterns for safety reasons and conflicts with Miami International airspace.

# 9.2 Airport/Aircraft Safety

**9.2.1** Comment: The risks and dangers from the proposed airport have been understated and downplayed in the Draft SEIS.

**Response:** Flight and ground safety issues associated with the Proposed Action and alternatives are addressed in Section 4.4 of Volume I. Additional information on safety issues associated with the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant has been added to the Final SEIS. To the extent possible, statistical estimates have been furnished to characterize the level of risk associated with various potential hazards. No specific data have been presented to indicate that the risks have been understated.

**9.2.2** Comment: A flight path from former Homestead AFB runs through the Channel 6 tower, which is within one mile of the community's elementary and secondary schools.

**Response:** There are safety regulations that address man-made obstructions (e.g., towers) to aircraft flight. Above certain heights, flashing strobe lighting is required. All obstructions are clearly shown on aeronautical charts, and, in the airport environment, air traffic controllers ensure that flights are routed at safe distances from such structures.

**9.2.3** Comment: If the proximity of flight paths from the proposed airport prohibits prescribed burning in the area, this could adversely affect the environment and increase safety hazards in the surrounding communities.

Response: There is nothing that prohibits controlled, prescribed burning in the vicinity of airports when they are an integral part of natural resource management. Coordination between the responsible natural resource management agency, airport managers, and air traffic controllers pertaining to the burning would minimize potential risks. If burns are conducted on days when prevailing meteorological conditions are expected to carry smoke away from the runway and in directions that do not interfere with air traffic routing, there should be little or no impact. Should the runway or critical flight paths become unexpectedly obscured by smoke, air traffic controllers would react just as if meteorological conditions (e.g., fog, severe thunder storms) created a situation in which visibility fell below minimum safe operating levels. The response could range from keeping aircraft in a holding pattern, to temporarily closing the runway, to closing the airport and diverting traffic to an alternate airport.

**9.2.4** Comment: It is not a question of if a cargo aircraft will crash into Homestead Senior High, but when.

**Response:** As Section 4.4 in Volume I indicates, the incidents of commercial aircraft accidents are extremely rare. Only 24 major and serious accidents were reported by FAA nationwide over a 5 year period that involved over 63 million flight hours. The statistical risk of a crash at Homestead Senior High School is incalculably small.

**9.2.5** Comment: It would only take one or two aircraft crashes into the water of Biscayne National Park to destroy its value.

Response: Commercial aircraft accidents are rare. Section 4.4 in Volume I estimates the risk of an accident involving a commercial aircraft to be about one in 5 million. The effects of an accident, if one occurred, are primarily described in Section 4.11 of Volume I. As that section indicates, the impacts of an aircraft crash would depend on the circumstances and the response actions. The impacts of aircraft crash can be severe. Any human activity carries an element of risk. That is also true of existing air traffic flying over Biscayne National Park, as well as ship traffic along the inland waterway or off shore.

**9.2.6** Comment: The Draft SEIS did not address the increased safety that a second runway at Homestead Regional Airport would provide by separating disparate aircraft operations.

**Response:** A second runway is not needed for safety reasons. Disparate aircraft can safely operate on a single runway. Adequate aircraft separation is maintained.

### 9.3 Bird-Aircraft Strike Hazard

9.3.1 Comment: The numbers of bird-aircraft strikes per year reported in the Draft SEIS Summary for the Proposed Action (45) and the Commercial Spaceport alternative (141) appear to be reversed.

**Response:** There was a typographical error in the Draft SEIS Summary. The 141 bird-aircraft strikes per year reported for the Commercial Spaceport alternative should have read "14 bird-aircraft strikes per year." This has been corrected in the Final SEIS.

**9.3.2** Comment: Some comments overstated the number of aircraft accidents that might be expected due to bird-aircraft strike hazard. Some commentors indicated the area has a bird-aircraft strike risk that appears to be four or five times the national average. Others referred to the possibility of two to three aircraft accidents per year caused by collisions with birds.

**Response:** No data presented in the SEIS indicate or imply that there would be two to three aircraft accidents per year caused by collisions with birds. Air Force data indicate the risk of bird-aircraft strikes at Homestead is not substantially greater than at many other locations. Section 4.4.3.1 in Volume I assesses the risks of a serious accident resulting from a bird-aircraft strike at various levels of operations. It also addresses management actions used to reduce the risk. As stated in the SEIS, the probability of a catastrophic accident resulting from a bird-aircraft strike during any given operation is less than one chance in 5 million.

**9.3.3** Comment: How does the Air Force quantify the increased crash hazard for commercial operations from birds at Biscayne and Everglades National Parks and Mount Trashmore?

**Response:** Section 4.4 in Volume I describes how bird-aircraft strike hazards were calculated for the Proposed Action. The Air Force's Bird Avoidance Model does not identify any extraordinary risks in the Homestead area. Homestead Air Reserve Station currently has two personnel to manage bird-aircraft strike risks, one of which is located at the county landfill (Mount Trashmore).

**9.3.4** Comment: Safety requirements for reducing hazards from bird-aircraft strikes make a commercial airport incompatible with Biscayne National Park.

**Response:** The Air Force's Bird Avoidance Model has determined that conditions in Florida present a moderate level of risk of bird-aircraft strikes. Although management actions would be needed at the airfield to reduce bird-aircraft strike hazard, it is not anticipated that any measures would need to extend to Biscayne National Park.

9.3.5 Comment: Pre-Hurricane Andrew bird-aircraft strike data is needed for the safety analysis. Reduced levels of operation at the base since 1992 have allowed bird populations at the base to expand from pre-hurricane levels and do not serve as a valid standard to project to a period when significantly more human activity will be in the area.

**Response:** Information is not available for either the rate of pre-hurricane bird-aircraft strikes or the previous bird densities around Homestead. It is possible that less activity since the hurricane has encouraged some birds to encroach on the airfield. Similarly, future urbanization of the area may encourage some birds to retreat from the airfield.

9.3.6 Comment: How does the FAA quantify the increased air crash hazard for commercial operations from birds associated with Everglades National Park, Biscayne National Park, and Mount Trashmore?

Response: To determine the probability of mishap, FAA uses the number of commercial and general aviation operational hours during a specific period and compares them to the number of major and serious mishaps occurring over that period. This information is in Section 4.4.3.1 of Volume I. In addition, to determine the estimated number of aircraft-bird strikes, Volume I presents a table (Table 4.4-2) that is based on strike rates for Air Force F-16 operations at Homestead. Since the Air Force data are the only quantified data available for Homestead operations, it is appropriate to use the data to estimate the statistical potential for an accident.

9.3.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not consider the impact of FAA Advisory Circular (AC No. 150/5200-33) that provides guidance on the placement of new airport facilities and clearly states that no new airports should be built within close proximity to wetlands that attract birds that pose a safety hazard to aircraft. The proposed airport is between two national parks where the area's largest population of wading birds lives. In addition, the entire water management and mitigation measures depend on the creation of additional wetlands. Therefore, the Homestead commercial airport would be in violation of the FAA's standard.

Response: FAA Advisory Circular 150/5200-33, Hazardous Wildlife Attractants On Or Near Airports, is being applied to the proposed commercial airport at Homestead. The provisions of the Advisory Circular were specifically discussed in Section 4.4.3.1, Bird-Aircraft Strike Hazard, of Volume I of the Draft SEIS and remain in the same section in the Final SEIS. The Advisory Circular does not prohibit civil airports in the vicinity of wetlands. Many existing airports were built on land containing wetlands or are near wetlands. In regions where wetlands are extensive, such as south Florida, close proximities between airports and wetlands are difficult to avoid. In February 1998, the FAA asked a team of experts to visit the Homestead site and evaluate whether Homestead's use for commercial aviation should be discouraged by the FAA on safety grounds because of potential bird strike and wildlife attractant concerns. This team was comprised of an FAA wildlife biologist (who specializes in aviation bird strike and wildlife attractant problems and who wrote the FAA Advisory Circular), two U.S. Department of Agriculture animal hazard specialists, and an FAA environmental protection specialist. There are wildlife habitats on the former base and in the general vicinity that are attractive to birds and other wildlife potentially hazardous to aircraft

R-69 Final SEIS

operations. These were viewed and evaluated. The team concluded that wildlife problems cannot be eliminated, but that with proper wildlife hazard management practices in place, wildlife problems can be managed so that Homestead would be equivalent to other airports in Florida with similar surrounding habitat.

The analysis of the potential for aircraft accidents does not suggest a significant risk. However, the SEIS states that FAA will require Miami-Dade County Aviation Department to conduct an ecological study addressing hazardous wildlife safety concerns as part of the requirement to hold an Airport Operating Certificate to permit scheduled air carrier service at Homestead. The county fully recognizes this critical issue and has included a commitment to conduct a study in its Wildlife Hazard Management Plan.

9.3.8 Comment: The Miami-Dade County Department of Aviation considered bird strikes a significant enough problem last year that they applied for a permit to kill White Ibis at the former airbase. Bird strikes are projected to increase under the Proposed Action and Commercial Spaceport alternatives. White Ibis are a species of special concern. If Department of Aviation concerns are correct that Ibis are already a problem for flight safety, then any increase in airport traffic would be inappropriate because it would increase the potential for bird strikes which are already considered too high. Increased flights and potentially a second runway would be in direct conflict with a protected species of special concern. Bird strikes could be elevated even higher when lands are restored to provide natural habitat in the area through the Conservation and Recreation Lands or Environmentally Endangered Lands programs. More species will utilize the area. Such projects as the stormwater treatment and distribution area (STDA) could serve as an attraction for species, thus exacerbating the problem relative to the Proposed Action. More information on bird strikes needs to be included in the SEIS relative to the effects of the STDA, other habitat enhancement projects, and impacts of a second runway.

Response: The SEIS contains an analysis and discussion on flight safety and the probability of aircraft-bird strikes in Section 4.4.3.1, Bird-Aircraft Strike Hazard. The analysis is based on FAA safety data for commercial and general aviation activities and Air Force mishap information. The SEIS relates this accident information to land uses in the airport area, including the STDA and "habitat enhancement projects." Based on this information, the document fully discusses the need to develop the airport, STDA, and habitats in accordance with guidance in FAA's Advisory Circular 150/5200-33, Hazardous Wildlife Attractants On Or Near Airports, to minimize their contributions to any increase in aircraft-bird collisions. The analysis of the potential for aircraft accidents does not suggest a significant risk.

The Air Force, rather than the county, initially sought to kill White Ibis. However, alternative arrangements were made to remove and relocate the Ibis.

9.3.9 Comment: Considering that, of the 21,257 bird strikes reported during 1990–1998, almost 10 percent of strikes were reported in Florida, it is likely that the FAA will make safety concerns a priority issue over stormwater reduction. The Draft SEIS does not address adequately the conflict between stormwater management at the site and bird populations. The Natural Resources Defense Council is concerned that the stormwater management plan will not be fully implemented as planned because of the likelihood that its retention ponds will create significant standing water. Such retention ponds may not comply with FAA safety regulations and agency policy to minimize the risks of wildlife-aircraft strikes. (See FAA Advisory Circular, Hazardous Wildlife Attractants On Or Near Airports, AC 150/5200-33: "Human-made or natural areas, such as...retention ponds...may be used by wildlife.... Wildlife use of areas within an airport's approach or departure airspace, aircraft moving areas, loading ramps, or aircraft parking areas may cause conditions hazardous to aircraft safety.") This guidance also suggests that retention ponds and other wildlife attractants should be placed at least 10,000 feet away from airports serving turboprop engines.

Response: The Draft SEIS did discuss the need to design stormwater management measures to minimize attracting birds and other wildlife to aircraft operational areas. The county's proposal to use properly designed detention ponds, in lieu of retention ponds, complies with storm water management recommendations in FAA's Advisory Circular 150/5200-33, Hazardous Wildlife Attractants On Or Near Airports. FAA will require the Miami-Dade County Aviation Department to monitor these ponds and, if necessary, develop measures to alleviate any unforeseen wildlife hazards these ponds may cause.

9.3.10 Comment: The Draft SEIS notes an irreconcilable tension between the two goals of maximizing water retention and minimizing wildlife attractants. But the report does not address this conflict. Without explanation, the Draft SEIS assumes that both goals can and will be met. Such an assumption does not conform with the reality that safety issues will likely affect the implementation of the stormwater management plan and reduce its ability to hold maximum amounts of water on-site.

**Response:** The FAA believes that both goals can be met. Homestead is not a unique situation. As noted in Section 4.4.3.1 of Volume I, the Miami-Dade County Aviation Department is proposing to build properly designed detention ponds in accordance with FAA guidance (see section 3.7 of FAA Advisory Circular 150/5200-33, *Hazardous Wildlife Attractants On Or Near Airports*).

9.3.11 Comment: South Florida Water Management District has previously requested comments from FAA regarding the applicability of the FAA Advisory Circular to the stormwater treatment and distribution area project and is still waiting for a response from the FAA on this issue.

**Response:** The Advisory Circular would apply to a commercial airport at Homestead. The provisions of the Advisory Circular include evaluating the potential wildlife hazard to aviation of the proposed STDA. Volume I of the Final SEIS reports in Section 4.4.3.1 that Miami-Dade County has evaluated the proposed STDA under the guidance in the Advisory Circular and concluded that the STDA is not expected to pose additional risk to aircraft operations. More information is provided in Section 4.4.3.1 of Volume I.

### 9.4 Risks at Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant

The Draft SEIS discussed the safety issues associated with the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant, which is located about two miles from former Homestead AFB, but did not include a risk assessment. The Final SEIS summarizes the results of a risk assessment of the proposed commercial airport performed by Florida Power and Light Company and approved by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

9.4.1 Comment: There is concern about reuse alternatives, specifically the operation of a major airport, that pose risks of an accident involving the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant operated by Florida Power and Light Company. The concern centers on the potential for an aircraft accident involving the plant that would result in the uncontrolled release of hazardous radioactive materials. The additional aircraft operations at Homestead would increase the risk at the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant.

Response: The Draft SEIS described the process and criteria for assessing risks involving the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant. As directed by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), Florida Power and Light Company has conducted a risk assessment addressing the risk of an aircraft accident. This assessment was conducted in accordance with NUREG-0800, "U.S. NRC Standard Review Plan (SRP) 2.2.3," using the NRC-approved risk assessment analytical protocols. The assessment considers the types and levels of aircraft operation defined in the SEIS for the Proposed Action. The assessment was not available for the Draft SEIS, but applicable data from the assessment have been incorporated into the Final SEIS. The assessment, which has been approved by NRC, concluded that the risk of an aircraft accident preventing safe shutdown of Units 3 and 4 or resulting in radiological consequences above

R-71 Final SEIS

regulatory limits to be  $3.63-4.43 \times 10^{-7}$ . See Section 4.4 in Volume I and Appendix I in Volume II for more information.

**9.4.2** Comment: What would be the consequences of an aircraft crashing into the Turkey Point control building or spent fuel storage area? What would be the cost of making structures at Turkey Point strong enough to withstand a direct crash by an airliner?

**Response:** The risk assessment does not focus on damage to structures per se, but on damage to structures that results in an uncontrolled release of radioactive materials in sufficient quantity that the exposed population would receive a dose level that exceeds established standards (see Section 3.4.4.1 in Volume I). If risk of occurrence or estimated exposure thresholds are exceeded, mitigation action is required to bring them below established thresholds. The risk assessment recently performed by Florida Power and Light Company indicates those thresholds are not expected to be exceeded.

**9.4.3** Comment: What is the Air Force's statistical probability of an airplane crash at Turkey Point from the Homestead airport?

**Response:** The Air Force relied on the Nuclear Regulatory Commission to evaluate safety issues associated with proposed commercial airport operations at former Homestead AFB and the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant. The results of their required safety analyses are summarized in Section 4.4 (Volume I) and Appendix I (Volume II) of the Final SEIS.

**9.4.4** Comment: Could a terrorist use Homestead to attack Turkey Point before anyone would have time to react?

**Response:** Commercial airports have security in place to guard against terrorism. Homestead would have that security.

**9.4.5** Comment: How many flight paths, holding patterns, and landing patterns cross over Turkey Point?

Response: Flight paths, particularly for departing aircraft, are not narrowly defined "railroad tracks" in the sky, but rather are dispersed corridors that gradually increase in width with distance from the lift-off point. Arrivals are closely defined only in the final stages of approach as aircraft line up with the runway for landing. The Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant is located approximately four to five miles from the runway at Homestead Airport, in close proximity to a number of departure and approach paths. Flight paths are described by the projected centerline of the dispersed traffic pattern that fly along the each path leading to or from airspace fixes in south Florida, or along predefined routes of military and government traffic. Aircraft that conduct training flights at Homestead would fly along generally defined practice patterns. In response to this comment, the number of "backbone" or centerline flight paths passing over and within the vicinity of the power plant structure itself, rather than the extensive area of cooling ponds south of the facility, were determined. Based on the material provided in Appendix E (Volume II), Exhibits II-5 through II-11, a total of five departure and four arrival paths would cross nearly directly over the plant at altitudes between approximately 1,000 and 12,000 feet. No local practice patterns pass directly over the site.

**9.4.6** Comment: How many flight paths, holding patterns, and landing patterns are within two miles of Turkey Point? Within five miles? Within five to ten miles?

**Response:** In addition to the paths that pass directly over the plant, two arrival and seven departure paths pass within two miles of the site. Four closed military pattern routes also fall within two miles of the site.

Final SEIS

Because the power plant and airport are located within five miles of each other, all flight paths would pass within five miles of Turkey Point at some point. This obviously also holds true for five to ten miles.

9.4.7 Comment: What is the FAA's statistical probability of an airplane crash at Turkey Point from the proposed airport at former Homestead AFB? How does the FAA quantify the air crash probabilities for Turkey Point for air carriers from the Caribbean, Central America, and South America?

Response: The FAA maintains statistical safety data for civil aviation, including accident rates, as described in Section 4.4.3.1 in Volume I. However, the Nuclear Regulatory Commission, rather than the FAA, has the responsibility for nuclear plant safety risk analysis, including analysis relative to the risk from an aircraft accident. The FAA does not do this type of analysis and has relied on NRC's analytical requirements and expertise. The Final SEIS, in Section 4.4.4.1 of Volume I, includes information on the consideration of accident rates for aircraft from Latin America.

**9.4.8** Comment: What are the safety risks associated with a commercial spaceport at former Homestead AFB with the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant?

**Response:** As Sections 2.3 and 4.4 in Volume I indicate, commercial spaceports and commercial launch operations are required to go through a licensing process with FAA that includes safety analyses and adherence to specific safety criteria. If a spaceport were developed at Homestead AFB, it would have to comply with the FAA licensing process. Planning for a commercial spaceport at former Homestead AFB has not proceeded to the level of detail necessary to allow the required safety analysis.

**9.4.9** Comment: What is the Air Force's statistical probability of a spaceport crash occurring at Turkey Point?

**Response:** The Air Force has not calculated a statistical probability of a spaceport crash occurring at Turkey Point. The SEIS states that assessing the possible risks to the Turkey Point facility is not possible at this time. See Section 4.4.4.2 in Volume I. The staff of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission has also concluded that there is insufficient information at this time to quantify the potential risk of a spaceport to the Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant. See Appendix I in Volume II.

### 10.0 NOISE

A large number of comments were received on aircraft noise and its effects on various community locations, the national parks, and other areas. Many commentors expressed concerns about the noise of aircraft overflights of the Proposed Action on places that are important to them in communities and the national parks. Clearly the operation of a commercial airport would increase aircraft noise in the vicinity of Homestead. The Air Force and FAA acknowledge and respect these comments. The SEIS noise analysis is unprecedented in its extent and detail because of such noise concerns about reuse of former Homestead AFB.

For purposes of organizing responses, the comments are grouped into seven sections. Section 10.1 addresses comments on aircraft and airport data relevant to assessing noise. Section 10.2 addresses comments on noise methodology. These two sections are presented first in order to address comments on the basic elements of noise assessment in the SEIS. Following the first two sections, Section 10.3 on general noise effects addresses noise comments that are general in nature and may encompass both community and national park noise issues. Sections 10.4 through 10.7 are specific to community noise effects, national park and refuge noise effects, the commercial spaceport alternative, and noise mitigation measures.

The National Park Service (NPS) is a cooperating agency on the SEIS, including involvement in the noise analysis. However, it is clear from portions of the SEIS text and Appendix H, as well as from several comments on the Draft SEIS, that NPS has certain methodological differences of approach and would reach different conclusions in some respects. The FAA is the lead agency with primary responsibility for the SEIS noise analysis, and final decisions on methodology and judgments on noise effects in the SEIS text and responses to comments are the FAA's.

## 10.1 Aircraft/Airport Noise Data

10.1.1 Comment: The largest number of comments on noise focused on how noisy it would be in community locations or the national parks with a commercial airport, based on various mathematical estimations of the number of aircraft overflights (e.g., every minute, every 90 seconds, every 2 minutes, continuous for 16 hours a day, every 7 minutes over the center of Everglades National Park, so frequent that very little "ambient" time would be available, an aircraft noise interruption 1 minute out of every 12, a flight every 5 minutes).

**Response:** Understanding the noise effects of the Proposed Action is more complex than simply taking aircraft operations numbers and dividing by days, hours, or minutes to figure out how many aircraft of which size would be over a particular point on the ground and would produce noise levels high enough to be annoying or even noticeable to people at that location. That is why the SEIS noise analysis is complex.

Many commentors' calculations result in an inaccurate conclusion that there would be large, low-flying, noisy aircraft over their heads, whether in the community setting or in the national parks, every 2 minutes, or every 1 minute, or continuously, and so on. There are several reasons why simple calculations like these do not provide an accurate portrayal of aircraft overflight noise at any particular location. Each takeoff and each landing counts as an aircraft operation. Therefore, the number of aircraft operations should be divided by 2 to arrive at the number of aircraft using Homestead, since each individual aircraft is counted twice, once as it lands and again as it takes off. A person on the ground would not be located under both the arrival and departure paths of aircraft, which would be on different sides of the airport. Civil aircraft would use a variety of flight tracks, as shown in the SEIS, depending on aircraft performance and origin/destination. Not every aircraft would fly over the same point on the ground, except in close proximity to the runway. Homestead as a civil airport would serve a broad mix of aircraft from small single engine piston to large commercial and cargo jets. Large and small aircraft have different performance characteristics and different noise emissions levels. Noise dissipates rapidly with distance. Aircraft altitudes abate noise as distance from the runway increases. Noise also dissipates with lateral distance from directly beneath flight tracks (i.e., the slant distance).

The best way to judge noise effects of a commercial airport is to look at the noise contours and grid point analysis data in the SEIS for particular locations. In response to concerns about numbers of aircraft, tables in Appendix E of the SEIS that report daily average civil aircraft numbers by type of aircraft on each flight track have been summarized and added to Section 2.2.2 of the Final SEIS. The detailed tables remain in Appendix E (Tables II-7 through II-16).

10.1.2 Comment: Several commentors stated noise concerns related to having 500 to 600 large commercial jets flying in and out every day at Homestead.

**Response:** It is correct that sizeable numbers of commercial jets are projected to use a commercial airport. However, the number of large commercial jets that are projected to operate at Homestead is significantly lower than some commentors believe. Some people are mistakenly assuming that all civil aircraft operations at Homestead would be large commercial jets and are further confusing operations numbers with aircraft numbers. Response 10.1.1 provides an explanation of operations versus aircraft numbers. As

Final SEIS

shown in Table 4.5-1 of the SEIS, a commercial airport at Homestead in the year 2015 is predicted to result in about 203 daily commercial aircraft operations (a little over 100 individual aircraft, including both passenger service and cargo) and 156 daily general aviation aircraft operations (78 individual aircraft). At maximum use, the number of commercial aircraft operations could increase to about 424 per day (212 individual aircraft), with no increase predicted in general aviation operations. Military/government aircraft operations that currently occur at Homestead are projected to continue in the future.

10.1.3 Comment: The proposed commercial airport would be drastically busier and noisier than the Air Force Base ever was.

**Response:** This is not a correct perception. When Homestead AFB was an active military air base before Hurricane Andrew, it had about 525 military aircraft operations a day, five days a week. The predicted numbers of daily civil aircraft operations related to a commercial airport at Homestead are given above in the response to comment 10.1.2. Civil aircraft operate on a seven-day week schedule.

Homestead AFB included substantial numbers of high-performance, very noisy military aircraft, including F-4, B-52, and F-15 aircraft, that were noisier than the F-16 military aircraft presently operating at the former base. High-performance military aircraft currently using Homestead ARS remain noisier than large, high-performance civil aircraft, whose noise has been reduced by federal law and regulation. Low-performance general aviation propeller aircraft are much quieter.

At maximum use, the Proposed Action would still not generate as high a level of aircraft noise exposure on community areas near the airport or over the nearby areas of the national parks as the military base generated during its highly active years. Appendix E, Chapter VIII, of the SEIS contains information on pre-realignment base noise.

10.1.4 Comment: According to FAA records, annual government operations at Homestead are now approximately 20 percent less than projected in the SEIS, which decreases the relative contribution to noise of military flights.

**Response:** It is assumed the comment is referring to the National Plan of Integrated Airport Systems (NPIAS). This is not as good a source of information as the detailed review undertaken by the Air Force during the SEIS technical analysis to assure an aircraft count with the highest possible accuracy.

10.1.5 Comment: Cargo aircraft are noisier than comparable commercial passenger aircraft.

Response: No, they are not. Under Federal Aviation Regulations Part 36 and Part 91, there is no difference between the noise levels that passenger and cargo aircraft of identical type are allowed to make. As of January 2000, all large commercial aircraft operating in the U.S., both passenger and cargo, are required to meet quieter Stage 3 noise levels.

10.1.6 Comment: Are regional jets subject to Stage 3 noise standards? They appear to be less than 75,000 pounds.

**Response:** Most regional jets exceed a 75,000 pound takeoff weight threshold and, therefore, are subject to Stage 3 noise standards. Aircraft below this weight are not subject to Stage 3 standards. The National Business Aviation Association passed a resolution in January 1998 that is a first step in the voluntary elimination of the noisier business aircraft under 75,000 pounds.

10.1.7 Comment: Although it is beyond the scope of this SEIS, it is possible that if a commercial airport were to be expanded at a later date, increased noise levels could result, despite any future changes in technology that could mitigate such impact, if such technology were to be developed. It is unclear at this time if that will be the case.

Response: The Air Force and FAA acknowledge the concern about possible future noise increases if Homestead were to be expanded with an additional runway at a later date. With respect to technological development, the record of aircraft source noise reduction in the U.S. is a good one. In 1976, there were an estimated 6–7 million Americans exposed to significant levels of aircraft noise near airports (i.e., Day-Night Average Sound Level of 65 decibels and above). That number has been dramatically reduced to the neighborhood of 500,000–600,000 Americans in the year 2000 because of the federal promulgation of aircraft noise certification standards and the successive national phaseouts of large Stage 1 and Stage 2 aircraft. In 1992, FAA and NASA began co-sponsoring a research program to achieve significant additional advances in noise reduction technology. Based on the progress in this research program, FAA plans to set new Stage 4 standards early in this century. New standards will result in a future transition to a generation of airplanes quieter than Stage 3, similar to source noise reduction transitions that have been implemented since 1976.

10.1.8 Comment: Even if U.S. airplanes are quieter in the future, it is likely that foreign airlines and cargo aircraft that would use Homestead would retain noisier aircraft far beyond 2015. In the Airport Planning Technical Report, Landrum & Brown state the use of the noisiest plane, the Boeing 727, and of the MD-80 will remain essentially constant for cargo flights through 2038.

**Response:** Cargo aircraft must adhere to the same federal noise regulations as passenger aircraft. Foreign aircraft, regardless of origin, are required to meet the same noise standards as domestic aircraft in order to operate into the U.S.

Regarding future cargo operations at Homestead with B-727 and MD-80 aircraft, the SEIS assumes the continued use of MD-80 aircraft for cargo operations to 2038, but the removal of the B-727 from the cargo fleet by that time. By 2038, the newest B-727 would be more than 55 years old, and the newest MD-80 would be 40 years old. In all probability, both of these aircraft are likely to be replaced by newer and quieter aircraft earlier than assumed in the SEIS. The aircraft fleet planning assumptions in the SEIS are considered by FAA to be conservative, by using older, noisier models than will probably make up the U.S. fleet for the long-range time period.

10.1.9 Comment: The SEIS ignores increases in aircraft noise. One example is the B-727-200, whose Sound Exposure Level contour at approximately 80 decibels goes over Ocean Reef. The 727 is one of the more popular planes likely to be in high use at the proposed civilian airport.

Response: The SEIS does acknowledge that a commercial airport would increase noise in the Homestead vicinity and provides detailed quantitative data on potential increases. The B-727 has been a popular airplane, but is an older airplane that has been hushkitted to meet Stage 3 noise standards. It is unlikely that the B-727 will remain in the active U.S. fleet by 2015, owing to the cost of its operation compared to new aircraft having similar lift capacity. Its replacement by newer aircraft models is also being encouraged because it is noisier than newer models. Projections of aircraft activity at Homestead show fewer, rather than more, B-727s in future years.

10.1.10 Comment: There is no indication that small general aviation airplanes will become quieter in the future. Many of the flights from the proposed airport will be in single-engine general aviation aircraft, which although having quieter engines, fly at lower altitudes and, therefore, have equal noise impacts to

Final SEIS

people on the ground. Furthermore, the duration of noise from these aircraft will be greater since they move at much lower speeds.

Response: Small general aviation aircraft do make noise and do fly lower than larger high-performance aircraft. Their noise may be annoying to some people; although as a general matter, small general aviation propeller airplanes do not tend to be the type of aircraft that generate community concerns or complaints. Altitude differences between large jet and small propeller aircraft do not provide a reliable basis for noise prediction. Large jets at higher altitudes (e.g., 2,000, 4,000, 8,000 feet) typically produce more noise than small propeller aircraft at lower altitudes. FAA and the National Aeronautics and Space Administration have initiated a research program to identify and develop propeller-driven aircraft noise reduction technologies to reduce the noise footprint of small general aviation aircraft.

10.1.11 Comment: Aircraft noise levels in the study are based on speculation that future aircraft types will be quieter. Projections that aircraft noise levels in the future will be quieter than today are speculative and should not be the basis for a decision.

Response: As indicated in the response to comment 10.1.7, FAA does have a credible basis for expecting future aircraft types to be quieter than today's fleet. However, as indicated in the SEIS, we cannot currently predict the aircraft models that will be in the fleet in the long-range or what their specific noise characteristics will be. Therefore, for the SEIS noise analysis, only current aircraft types with known noise characteristics were used. FAA considers this to be a conservative noise analysis because it does not quantitatively take into account future expectations of aircraft source noise reduction.

10.1.12 Comment: The proximity of Homestead to Miami International Airport (MIA) increases the severity of the Proposed Action's noise impacts. The SEIS admits that airspace restrictions caused by MIA will cause aircraft using Homestead to fly at lower altitudes at greater distances from the airport than would be the case for unrestricted airspace, resulting in higher noise levels at greater distances from the airport.

Response: The comment is correct that the complexity of the Miami airspace in south Florida would cause departures from Homestead on Runway 5 to turn to the south and climb before turning back to the north to overfly aircraft arriving at or departing from MIA. In several cases, climbs must be restricted to altitudes between 4,000 and 6,000 feet in order to pass inbound or outbound traffic from MIA or Homestead itself. The SEIS uses these lower altitudes in its calculations of noise.

### 10.2 Noise Methodology

10.2.1 Comment: The SEIS methodology for estimating the noise impact is inadequate and biased by FAA methodology. It underestimates the noise impact.

Response: The FAA gave a lot of weight to the importance of accuracy and thoroughness in the early planning of the noise analysis. The SEIS includes an extremely large geographic area within the region of influence and evaluates noise down to very low levels at great distances from Homestead. Aircraft noise from other airports in the area is included in the analysis. A special field measurement program was undertaken to evaluate ambient sound levels in the national parks and refuge, and specially tailored Time Above Ambient calculations were done based on the variable levels of measured ambient values. FAA made enhancements to the Integrated Noise Model to account for noise propagation over water (an acoustically hard surface) and increased noise effects in areas of open water and swampland. Five noise metrics were used in the analysis to describe different aspects of aircraft noise effects. FAA has a high degree of confidence in the noise methodology and results because of the sizeable scope of the work, the

R-77 Final SEIS

adherence to accepted scientific practices, and an analysis that was varied and tailored to the characteristics of the regional sound environment.

10.2.2 Comment: The SEIS relies too heavily on the Day-Night Average Sound Level (DNL) metric to evaluate the noise impact on communities. By using this metric, the SEIS mistakenly concludes that noise increases will not be significant because the average noise will be below 60 decibels. This conclusion ignores that the DNL for Ocean Reef will increase from 35 to 39 decibels. Under the Proposed Action, Ocean Reef would experience substantial increases in the timing, duration, frequency, and level of adverse noise.

Response: DNL is the widely accepted noise metric used to evaluate community noise impacts. DNL was developed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) and was adopted by FAA about twenty years ago. A Federal Interagency Committee on Noise (FICON), including USEPA, Air Force, FAA, Department of Housing and Urban Development, and Department of Veterans Affairs, examined aircraft noise assessment methodologies in the early 1990s. FICON concluded that the methodology employing DNL as the noise exposure metric and appropriate dose-response relationships (primarily the Schultz curve for the percentage of people highly annoyed at various DNL levels) to determine noise impacts on populations is considered the proper one for civil and military aviation assessments in the general vicinity of airports.

FAA's threshold of a significant impact on noise sensitive community land uses (e.g., residential, schools, hospitals, churches) is a 1.5 decibel (dB) increase at DNL 65 dB and higher. At DNL 65 dB, the updated Schultz curve (Figure 3.5-2 in Section 3.5 of Volume I) shows that, statistically, about 13 percent of the population would be highly annoyed by noise. That percentage rises sharply as DNL levels increase above 65 dB. It also decreases as DNL levels decrease below 65 dB. DNL levels of 35–39 dB are very low—so low that they are not charted on the Schultz curve, which ends at DNL 40 dB. At DNL 40 dB, only about 0.5 percent of the population would be expected to be highly annoyed by aircraft noise.

10.2.3 Comment: The Maximum Sound Level (LAmax) metric does not adequately account for aircraft noise impacts on Ocean Reef because military aircraft would not be the most frequent noisy aircraft flying over the community and because the LAmax metric does not include duration and frequency.

**Response:** Day-Night Average Sound Level is the basic metric used to evaluate community noise impacts. DNL includes duration and frequency. LAmax does not include duration and frequency. Its use is intended to supplement DNL and to provide additional information on the loudest single event aircraft noise. At Ocean Reef, military aircraft would produce the highest LAmax. Time Above information for Ocean Reef is also in the SEIS.

10.2.4 Comment: The Time Above Ambient is a useful measure of noise in Biscayne National Park, provided ambient is properly defined and measured, because the fundamental threat of the Proposed Action is impairment of the natural soundscape for future generations. Time Above Ambient provides a quantitative measure of the temporal aspect of the impairment.

Response: Time Above (TA), one of five noise metrics used to assess noise in the SEIS, is an A-weighted estimate of the time that aircraft noise would be above a specified level. Time Above Ambient (TAamb) estimates the average daily time that aircraft noise would be above the average level of other non-aircraft noises in the national parks. TAamb is useful for comparing the relative effects of aircraft noise of the alternatives in the SEIS. In examining the absolute values for TAamb, however, it is important to understand the technical limitations of TA. TA is a time-based descriptor. It does not reflect the noise energy or loudness of aircraft, factors that have been shown to correlate closely with human annoyance.

Unlike sound energy levels, the correlation between TA and human annoyance, especially in low ambient sound environments, is highly uncertain.

In general, people notice aircraft noise when it becomes an intrusion at some point above the ambient sound level. U.S. Forest Service backcountry visitor research with the National Park Service in 1992 concluded that "...comparing overflights reported by visitors with actual overflights identified by acoustic recorders, it appears that many visitors do not notice aircraft even when they are present." More recent FAA park visitor research indicates that noticeability of aircraft noise varies widely and that annoyance varies with visitor activity, group size, gender, and the number of children in a party. All noise that is heard, particularly at relatively low levels, does not necessarily annoy people or interfere with their enjoyment of a park. TAamb does not report how loud aircraft sounds are in comparison to other sounds; whether aircraft are a lot louder, or only a little louder, than other sounds. FAA research at Bryce Canyon in July 1998 found that park visitors were three times more likely to be annoyed by the level of aircraft sound than by the amount of time they heard aircraft. In summary, there is not currently a solid technical basis for relating TAamb to "impairment," and the TAamb data in the SEIS should not be regarded as a measure of impairment to the national parks.

10.2.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS understates aircraft noise impacts by using the traditional ambient sound level to describe background noise levels in the national parks, instead of using the lower natural ambient sound level. The only intruding sounds excluded from the traditional ambient baseline are aircraft sounds. Other human intruding sounds are included, even if they are unwelcome intrusions upon the natural ambient of the parks. The use of traditional ambient, instead of natural ambient, circumvents the National Park Service's mandate to regulate its own soundscape.

Response: The traditional ambient sound level was employed for the noise analysis as explained in some detail in Section 3.5 of the SEIS. Data for the other three ambient categories (existing, natural plus visitor self-noise, and natural) were gathered and were included in the SEIS for purposes of comparison. Where natural sounds dominate, such as in Everglades National Park, the values for traditional and natural ambient levels are very close. Where there are more frequent and louder human activities, such as recreational and commercial boating in Biscayne National Park, traditional ambient sound levels are higher than natural sound levels.

The purpose of the SEIS is to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act and disclose to decision makers and to the public how the affected environment in the vicinity of Homestead would be estimated to change under various reuse alternatives. In the SEIS, the affected sound environment in the national parks and refuge simply reflects the sounds that are heard, whether they are sounds of nature or sounds occurring because of human use. The natural ambient alone does not fully describe all sounds heard in the national properties, especially in Biscayne National Park. All Homestead reuse alternatives are analyzed on the same basis—that is, how much aircraft noise there would be above the average level of other sounds in the parks if there were no action to reuse Homestead, if a commercial airport was established, if the Collier-Hoover proposal were selected, if a commercial spaceport were developed, or if other mixed uses occurred. Aircraft noise levels would remain the same as calculated in the SEIS if a different ambient were used. It is the ambient level that would change, which would affect Time Above Ambient calculations equally for all alternatives. Any additional minutes per day that might be added to the Time Above Ambient, were a lower ambient threshold to be used, would be from aircraft noise that is below the average level of other sounds (the traditional ambient) in the national parks. The FAA has explained in more detail the reasons for evaluating aircraft noise in comparison to the traditional ambient, rather than the natural ambient, in the Department of Transportation Act Section 4(f) evaluation in Section 4.14 of Volume I of the Final SEIS

R-79 Final SEIS

The selection of methodological approaches to noise assessment may vary with differing statutory mandates, policy perspectives, and decisions to be made. The SEIS is structured to assist the Air Force and FAA in decision making about property disposal and airport-related issues, and the SEIS uses assessment approaches and methodologies most appropriate for these purposes. The SEIS recognizes that NPS has a specific purpose in preparing national park soundscape plans, which leads the NPS to assess sounds in national parks in comparison to a baseline affected environment of the natural ambient sound level. NPS is still in the process of developing a draft of its soundscape analysis for Biscayne National Park. That analysis will be different in several respects from the SEIS analysis. There is discussion of analytical similarities and differences in Section 3.5.2.4 of Volume I of the Final SEIS. The draft soundscape Environmental Assessment (EA) analysis will not change the SEIS analysis. As of the time of the Final SEIS, NPS soundscape planning has not progressed enough to provide a basis for predicting the achievement of different quantifiable sound levels in the south Florida national parks than the levels that can currently be measured. The SEIS correctly quantifies additional incremental aircraft noise that would be added to existing noise in the national parks and refuge and explicitly states that the addition of aircraft noise is contrary to NPS soundscape goals.

10.2.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS noise analysis in the national parks is flawed since Wyle Laboratories found far lower ambient noise levels in both national parks than the FAA methodology. The draft report by Wyle Laboratories entitled "The Soundscape in South Florida National Parks" was prepared for the National Park Service and was included in an appendix to the Draft SEIS. The report was prepared to assist NPS in its efforts to resolve methodological issues associated with defining the natural soundscape. The report reviewed the data from earlier studies that were used as the basis for the noise analysis in the Draft SEIS. In various places, the Wyle report points out where the methodology and assumptions in the earlier studies appear to be inconsistent with an accurate assessment of the natural soundscape. For example, the ambient noise level ascribed to the parks by the FAA's short-term measurements is far higher than the levels measured over a longer period of time by Wyle Laboratories. In addition, the Wyle findings do not validate the vegetation-based extrapolation of data that was done by the FAA. The Department of the Interior accepts the Draft SEIS' finding that the airport alternative would lead to increases in the amount of time that there would be elevated noise levels in the parks. However, the re-analysis by Wyle Labs indicates that the analysis reflected in the text of the Draft SEIS may underestimate the amount of time each day that noise levels would be elevated.

Response: The FAA has evaluated and considered the NPS/Wyle report, does not agree with it, and did not use it for the SEIS analysis. The NPS/Wyle study did not simply re-check the ambient data used in the SEIS. Wyle took some of the data and applied an entirely new methodological approach that had not been previously used in any national park noise study. The draft NPS/Wyle report was provided to the Air Force and FAA on September 1, 1999, after both FAA/Volpe and NPS/SID had completed the ambient work for the SEIS using observer-based measurement procedures that have been employed to date for ambient studies in national parks. Before the Draft SEIS was issued, FAA reviewed the draft NPS/Wyle report to determine whether the SEIS noise measurement work remained valid or should be revisited based on the suggested new methodology. FAA concluded that the methodology used to date for national park studies (and also used for the Homestead SEIS) was superior to the new methodology, and that the NPS/Wyle methodology would not result in a more accurate assessment of the natural ambient. FAA provided detailed written comments on the draft Wyle report to NPS (included in Appendix H of the Final SEIS). NPS/Wyle have since finalized the report. The final report replaces the draft report in Appendix H of the Final SEIS. Additional FAA comments on the final report are also in Appendix H.

It is important to note that the NPS/Wyle report is limited to Wyle's analysis of the natural ambient sound level. Despite varying methodology, NPS/Wyle reports relatively small differences between FAA and NPS average natural ambient results. (Larger differences result from NPS/Wyle's added analysis of the data using the L<sub>90</sub> percentile descriptor, which filters out all noise data except for the quietest 10 percent.

The use of this statistic eliminates many sounds that are heard in the environment, including many natural sounds.) The NPS/Wyle report does not examine the collection or accuracy of traditional ambient sound data. While natural ambient levels offer useful information in the SEIS for comparative purposes and are important to NPS for soundscape planning, these levels were not used as the baseline ambient levels for the SEIS noise analysis. The SEIS uses the traditional ambient levels (see response to comment 10.2.5). FAA continues to have confidence in the objectivity and reasonableness of the ambient mapping methodology. This methodology is described in detail in the technical report prepared by the Volpe National Transportation Systems Center entitled "Ambient Sound Levels at Four Department of Interior Conservation Units" (June 1999).

10.2.7 Comment: The SEIS inaccurately separated out current aircraft sounds in determining traditional ambient. This flaw, which is the subject of a report by Wyle Research Laboratories, assumes that aircraft noise events begin long before and end long after the aircraft affect the measured sound level. This methodological error makes the ambient measurement higher than it should be.

Response: Aircraft sounds were separated out from other sounds in the SEIS analysis using the most accurate and scientifically accepted standards available. This comment is essentially based on the commentor's review of the draft NPS/Wyle report (see response to comment 10.2.6 on the NPS/Wyle report). With specific respect to the accuracy of the identification of aircraft sounds, FAA's evaluation is that the methodology used in the FAA/Volpe and NPS/SID measurement work for the SEIS is technically superior to the NPS/Wyle methodology. NPS/Wyle's generalized methodology mixes aircraft sounds in with natural ambient sounds, so long as the aircraft sounds are less than 3 decibels over calculated average background levels. Using the NPS/Wyle methodology results in natural ambient calculations that contain aircraft noise and other human-made sounds.

10.2.8 Comment: It appears that the FAA methodology is more appropriate for urban settings than national parks. The Final SEIS should use the Wyle methodology for measuring noise levels in national parks.

**Response:** In Appendix H of Volume II and in responses to comments 10.2.6 and 10.2.7 above, FAA has explained why it did not find the NPS/Wyle methodology desirable to use. With respect to the methodology used in the SEIS, FAA spent over a year developing a specially tailored and detailed noise analysis specifically for the south Florida national parks and refuge. Details on the uniqueness of this analysis are described in the SEIS and summarized briefly in the response to comment 10.2.1. This analysis is very different from the methodology normally used for urban settings.

10.2.9 Comment: The Draft SEIS' assertion that the sum result of dozens, frequently hundreds, of airplanes overhead will be just a few minutes of "new" aircraft noise is flawed and is the result of using "background" levels that are too high. The combination of Biscayne National Park's close proximity to Homestead and the significant increase in Homestead's aircraft operations would be expected to result in a significant noise impact in the park; yet the SEIS predicts no such significant noise impact. The SEIS' analysis is flawed and its conclusion is incorrect. Most significantly, the baseline or "ambient" noise levels used in the SEIS are far too high and, accordingly, impacts from the massive influx of aircraft are greatly underestimated. If proper baseline noise measurements had been used, the noise impact would be more severe.

**Response:** The basis indicated in this comment for doubting the SEIS' analysis of aircraft noise impact is that the baseline or "ambient" levels used in the SEIS analysis are too high. A number of the above responses address the SEIS' use of the traditional ambient and the NPS/Wyle report, both of which have a bearing on this comment.

R-81 Final SEIS

The background or "ambient" noise levels used for the national parks in the SEIS noise analysis are based on extensive field measurements. FAA/Volpe collected 160 hours of acoustical and meteorological data at 29 sites throughout four national properties in the region. Measurement sites were selected on the basis of geography, representative land cover, NPS recommendations, and accessibility. Additional measurement data from NPS/SID were also gathered and used for the SEIS noise analysis. NPS/SID data covered 20 sites, 12 that were the same as FAA/Volpe's sites and 8 that were unique. FAA/Volpe and NPS/SID measurements were conducted similarly. The FAA ambient methodology is described in the FAA report, "Draft Guidelines for the Measurement and Assessment of Low-Level Ambient Noise."

The majority of measured traditional ambient sound levels in southern Florida parks were between 45 decibels and 55 decibels. Sound levels ranged from a low of 31.2 decibels at the Eastern Sparrow site in Everglades National Park (FAA/Volpe measured) to a high of 64.0 decibels at the Halfway Creek site in Big Cypress National Preserve (NPS/SID measured). Traditional ambient sound levels at Biscayne National Park are somewhat higher in comparison with Everglades National Park, Crocodile Lake National Wildlife Refuge, or Big Cypress National Preserve. This is due primarily to the coastal location of Biscayne National Park, which is 95 percent water (an acoustically hard surface that propagates sound) and the level of recreational and commercial boating activity in the park. At Biscayne National Park, traditional ambient levels ranged between 45 and 56 decibels.

FAA/Volpe and NPS/SID ambient measurements were observer-based using full-time trained listeners to identify sources of sound. These observer-based measurements offer greater precision than unmanned noise monitoring. Listener information was time-integrated with sound level and meteorological data. Audio recordings were used for additional reference. Using this array of information, four ambient sound levels were recorded: existing, traditional, natural plus visitor self-noise, and natural.

Complete details on the baseline ambient measurement program are presented in the 300 page technical report, "Ambient Sound Levels at Four Department of Interior Conservation Units" (June 1999). Based on the careful and extensive process used to collect ambient data for this study and the general agreement of FAA/Volpe and NPS/SID data at most of the common measurement sites, FAA has a good level of confidence in the ambient data used for the SEIS noise analysis.

10.2.10 Comment: The SEIS' characterization of ambient sound levels is flawed because it does not account for daily and seasonal variations in sound levels which would affect the ambient. The SEIS neglects variations in natural sounds during the 24 hour day, and from season to season. In order reliably to capture such variations, long-term sound monitoring is needed in national parks.

Response: While there are limited seasonal data (two seasons), the SEIS noise measurement program did account for daily variances and some seasonal variances. Typically, a morning and an afternoon measurement session were scheduled at each site to control for daytime differences. If the results between these sessions varied by more than a few decibels, a third measurement session was scheduled to provide additional data and added confidence in repeatability. FAA/Volpe also conducted sample nighttime measurements. These data, consistent with nighttime data collected by NPS/SID, indicate that ambient sound levels are generally higher at night due to the nocturnal activity of insects, amphibians, reptiles, and other wildlife.

The use of both FAA/Volpe and NPS/SID measurements in the noise analysis helped to control for seasonal variations. The FAA/Volpe measurements were conducted in the summer (August) and the NPS/SID measurements were conducted in the fall (October and November). FAA/Volpe selected late summer for ambient measurements because this is the quietest time of the year for the region, and it offered the most conservative basis (i.e., lowest measured ambient) for the analysis. In August, high temperatures and humidity reduce visitation. Late summer is also generally the calmest time of the year,

when the effects of wind-related noise are lowest. For these reasons, FAA would expect seasonal measurements in winter to result in higher ambient levels than in the summer.

10.2.11 Comment: The SEIS inappropriately uses energy averaging to characterize "traditional ambient" levels. Because of how the averaging process was done in the Draft SEIS, the supposed average ambient sound level is far higher than the majority of the sounds recorded at a site, particularly when aircraft noise is excluded. Disproportionate weighting makes the energy average close to the highest sound levels during the measurement period. Energy averaging, in effect, uses brief, loud natural sounds to deny protection to quieter natural sounds over long time intervals.

Response: "Energy averaging" refers to the use of the Equivalent Sound Energy Level (Leq), an acoustics-based energy descriptor that is the log of the average value of sound occurring for a given period of time. Leq (by measurement time periods) was used for analysis of ambient data, and a peak Leq metric (Leq(h)) was used to estimate the cumulative noise energy of all aircraft operations over parks during the peak period of forecast activity. Leq is the traditional descriptor used for sound level measurements and offers comparability with other studies. Leq is widely used because it is sensitive to cumulative noise energy, which closely correlates with human response. Its major virtue is that it captures the wide variation in types of environmental sounds and time patterns, reflecting the number, duration, and magnitude of sound events.

Like the mean versus the mathematical average, the comment suggests that it is better to use statistical rather than acoustics-based descriptors for developing average ambient sound levels. Unlike straight percentile descriptors ( $L_n$ ), the acoustic-based Leq is influenced by impulsive sounds, including those in nature. Leq and  $L_n$  averages tend to converge in a steady-state noise environment. Where they tend to vary, it is important to know the sources of the sound, a factor that was given meticulous care in the SEIS analysis.

Some commentors suggested the use of  $L_{90}$  for the ambient noise analysis. The  $L_{90}$  is the sound level exceeded 90 percent of the time and represents the quietest 10 percent of the data. FAA believes that  $L_{90}$  underestimates the natural ambient. While Leq is sensitive to noise level,  $L_n$  descriptors can underestimate noise levels by discounting or eliminating periods of time when higher sounds are heard, whether natural or mechanical.  $L_n$  descriptors are insensitive to the types of audible sounds in the environment, some of which are more likely to be heard and to be more intrusive than others. For these reasons and consistency with the preponderance of research using Leq as the standard, FAA believes that Leq offers the best approach to the development of average ambient sound levels.

10.2.12 Comment: The Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) submitted calculations to support their comment that the FAA erred in calculating the ambient sound level, which NRDC claims results in Time Above Ambient calculations in the Draft SEIS that are flawed because too high ambient sound levels are used in the calculations for about 69 percent of the sites. If corrected, the time of aircraft noise above ambient levels would be much higher.

Response: The subject of NRDC's analysis is the development of the average values for the traditional ambient sound levels that are used in the SEIS. The NRDC's analysis compares the noise measurement time histories at selected sites with the averages obtained at those sites from the measured data. Based on its analysis, NRDC claims that FAA/Volpe errors result in average traditional sound levels that are too high. The FAA reviewed NRDC's analysis and found it to be flawed. NRDC analyzed only 11 of the 29 FAA/Volpe measurement sites. Using this set of data, NRDC inappropriately truncated measurement time histories in comparison with average values. The truncation of measured data occurs at 10 of the 11 sites analyzed by NRDC. For example, at the Biscayne National Park Stiltsville (8/12/98) measurement site, NRDC superimposed the average traditional ambient level of 54.9 decibels onto only 30 minutes of sound

R-83 Final SEIS

level time history. This 30 minute period represents less than  $1/18^{th}$  of the total 9 hour measurement period for this site. In order to accurately analyze the average traditional ambient sound level, the entire 9 hour time history must be used, because this was the basis for the average value at this site. In summary, NRDC did not appropriately base its evaluation of average ambient sound levels on complete and representative measured data.

10.2.13 Comment: FAA used too high a baseline (45–50 decibels) for critical noise analyses for many park areas. According to FAA's own scale, this is equivalent to the noise made by a dishwasher. Sound measurements in the Draft SEIS clearly show that much of the backcountry is two to three times less noisy. The SEIS does not account for truly quiet moments—one of the most singular pleasures of visiting the national parks.

**Response:** To establish the baseline, traditional ambient sound levels were measured at 18 sites in Everglades National Park and 11 sites in Biscayne National Park. In Everglades National Park, the results in traditional ambient ranges were: two sites (50–55 dB), seven sites (45–49 dB), four sites (40–44 dB), four sites (35–39 dB), and one site (30–34 dB). In Biscayne National Park, the resulting traditional ambient ranges were: five sites (50–55 dB) and six sites (45–49 dB).

An increase in sound pressure level (physical intensity) of 3 dB represents a doubling of sound energy. However, the human ear perceives (subjective loudness) a doubling of sound on the order of 10 dB. In either context, some measurement sites were two or three times quieter than others, and the traditional ambient data used in the SEIS noise analysis recognizes these differences. It is important to note the finding of varying ambient sound levels across different backcountry regions. These differences are due primarily to wind effects related to the density of vegetation and the local presence of wildlife. The results also suggest that differences between frontcountry and backcountry in the south Florida parks are not as large as in other regions of the country. This appears to be because of the amount of insect, bird, and wildlife activity during the day—activity which sample FAA/Volpe and NPS/SID measurements found to increase at night, producing somewhat higher nocturnal sound levels.

A number of commentors appear to consider the SEIS traditional ambient baseline too high because the numbers appear high to them. As a commonly understood reference point, the sound of normal speech at a distance of 3 feet from the speaker is 60–65 dB. The measured ambient levels in the national parks are lower than this—some are a lot lower, given the logarithmic nature of sound measurement. The commentor's cited noise level of a dishwasher is, more precisely, of a dishwasher heard from the next room.

10.2.14 Comment: The SEIS' use of the metric Time Above 65 decibels discounts the noise impact on Ocean Reef. Time Above Ambient, corrected to be lower than that used in the Draft SEIS, should have been used for Ocean Reef. Time Above Ambient calculations for grids in Biscayne National Park and Crocodile Lake National Wildlife Refuge that are closest to Ocean Reef show that Ocean Reef would be significantly adversely affected by Time Above Ambient increases. Analysis of the closest grid shows increases of at least 10 to 30 minutes. There are also increases of 30–62 minutes, 14 minutes, and 47 minutes in other grids that would also affect Ocean Reef.

**Response:** Day-Night Average Sound Level, not Time Above, is the basic noise metric used to evaluate community noise impacts. See the response to comment 10.2.2 that addresses DNL in general and DNL values in Ocean Reef in particular. Time Above provides additional supplemental information to enhance readers' understanding of noise changes.

Table 4.5-5 in Volume I shows that, at maximum one-runway use, Ocean Reef could receive less than 1 minute in an average day of Time Above 65 decibels (speech-disturbance and wake-up levels). The

same Time Above 65 decibels is also projected to occur under the projected baseline and No Action alternative. Time Above Ambient is not used by FAA for residential communities. Residential communities, even quiet residential communities, are different in nature and use from national parks and are more highly exposed to human and mechanical activity that increases ambient sound levels.

10.2.15 Comment: Noise measurements should be taken both in front of and behind a landing jet to recognize the maximum impact. The noise levels were minimized to avoid planning for noise abatement techniques.

Response: Measurements were taken of the ambient noise levels in the national parks and refuge. No noise measurements were made to determine the levels of noise associated specifically with aircraft operations at Homestead. Aircraft noise was assessed through computer simulation using the FAA's Integrated Noise Model (INM). Aircraft noise and performance data used in the INM have been developed over many years from formal aircraft noise certification tests. These tests include numerous measurements at many locations relative to an aircraft's position in both landing and takeoff modes of flight.

10.2.16 Comment: The Draft SEIS points out that military aircraft are louder than civil aircraft, and most of the metrics focus on the loudest events. However, military aircraft will operate less frequently than civil aircraft—three per day over Everglades National Park and eleven per day over Biscayne National Park. What is the rest of the day like?

Response: It is not correct that most metrics focus on the loudest events. Five noise metrics were used in the SEIS noise analysis. Two metrics (LAmax and SEL) do focus on the loudest single event aircraft noise. Two metrics (DNL and Leq) evaluate cumulative amounts of noise in a typical day. The fifth metric (TA) is a time-based metric that calculates the length of time in an average day that aircraft noise would be above a pre-determined level—speech interference for community areas and traditional ambient for national parks. The lower frequency of military operations compared to civil, as a civil airport would grow in future years, is accounted for by the cumulative and time-based metrics.

10.2.17 Comment: I suggest the Air Force and FAA provide an acoustical simulation (ISIS/ANDS) of the anticipated conditions created by the Proposed Action.

Response: The FAA Integrated Sound Information System (ISIS), formerly called ANDS, is an information and educational tool that demonstrates the relative sound characteristics of individual aircraft types during takeoff and landing. It also provides useful information about different noise descriptors and how they work. ISIS is a controlled audio-visual system used to illustrate and compare typical sound levels of individual aircraft. It is not a dynamic assessment tool for evaluating multiple flights or making acoustic predictions of the noise environment during a day's time or other periods of time.

10.2.18 Comment: The day/night split of operations appears to be crude. If cargo is expected to make up 12 percent of operations, is a 90/10 percent day/night operations split reasonable?

Response: Not all cargo operations occur during nighttime hours (i.e., between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. for purposes of Day-Night Average Sound Level nighttime weighting of noise calculations). Some cargo operations occur in daytime. Appendix E, Section II.C.1, explains that the assumed day/night allocation of operations for the Homestead noise analysis is based on the existing day/night split at the nearest representative commercial airport, which is Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood International Airport.

10.2.19 Comment: What is the Day-Night Average Sound Level without military flights, particularly the F-16s? This would provide a more accurate estimation of the impact of commercial activity.

**Response:** The purpose of the SEIS noise analysis is to describe how much additional noise there would be, in addition to the projected baseline noise, if Homestead is reused for a commercial airport or another alternative use (e.g., Collier-Hoover proposal, Commercial Spaceport alternative). The projected baseline noise includes the military flights. Different kinds of metrics and maps describe at length the difference between this baseline and proposed commercial activity. It would not be more accurate to estimate noise as the comment suggests.

10.2.20 Comment: Noise is presented in an overly technical manner. The noise analysis should include a measurement that is closer to the human experience of sound, such as frequency of disturbance, and should more clearly present other noise data. An explanation of the decibel measurement (a table of common sounds and their decibels and illustration that it is a logarithmic scale) should be added. The measurement of Time Above Ambient should be expressed as 1 out of every 12 minutes, for example, rather than 2 hours a day. The information on frequency of flights found in the Land Use section should be repeated in the Noise section of the SEIS.

Response: FAA understands that noise is difficult to understand, especially when a variety of noise metrics are used which result in different numbers. FAA has tried to simplify the noise analysis results as much as possible by the use of mapping and clear narration. It probably cannot be simplified more. The table of common sounds on a decibel scale was provided in the Draft SEIS in Figure 3.5-1 and is likewise in the Final SEIS. FAA disagrees with the suggestion for a different portrayal of Time Above Ambient. It would be more inaccurate because the Time Above Ambient is not consecutive minutes, nor does it occur with such standard spacing throughout the day. The commentor apparently located and reviewed the frequency of flight information in the Land Use section of the Draft SEIS. Repetition of information in several places of the SEIS is avoided to the extent possible because it could greatly increase the length of the document. Additional summary of average daily civil aircraft on different flight tracks has been added in Section 2.2.2 of the Final SEIS. Detailed tables are in Appendix E (Tables II-7 through II-16).

10.2.21 Comment: The noise graphics do not report the altitude of aircraft and do not include such factors as whether noise is reflected off of buildings.

Response: Exhibits 1-9 and 1-10 in Appendix A (Volume II) show aircraft altitudes at certain points superimposed over flight track graphics. This is obviously a dynamic situation, with aircraft at increasingly higher altitudes as distance from Homestead increases. Appendix A also includes narrative descriptions of aircraft altitudes on various flight tracks as aircraft would arrive at and depart from Homestead.

The SEIS noise analysis does not assess acoustic effects involving reflection or shielding of noise by buildings. Reflection or shielding of noise by buildings is sensitive to many variables, such as the height and density of buildings (i.e., how closely spaced), the geometry and angles of reflection, and ground surface properties. Most aircraft noise tends to reach the ground at relatively high angles, unlike ground-level sources of noise, thereby reducing potential ground structural reflection or shielding effects.

# 10.3 General Noise Effects

10.3.1 Comment: The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency commented that, as commercial aircraft flights increase over time, the frequency of the overflight effects on Everglades and Biscayne National Parks and nearby communities would surpass current overflight effects of the existing military/government flight operations, and would increase the overall noise level of the area as measured by noise contours. The frequency of operations would dramatically increase at the single runway maximum of 231,000 operations. The frequencies of off-site aircraft noise impacts would be almost

continuous in some areas during peak arrival/departure periods. Noise impacts are among the most important separating the Proposed Action from the Mixed Use alternative.

**Response:** USEPA's comment is acknowledged. The data do not support a conclusion that off-site noise impacts would be continuous (see response to comment 10.1.1).

10.3.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not analyze aircraft noise impacts on the Southern Glades Wildlife and Environmental Area owned by the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) or on the Model Lands area jointly held by SFWMD and Miami-Dade County. These environmentally sensitive areas are located south of and in close proximity to Homestead between the two national parks. The proposed departure and arrival flight paths show significant overflights over these areas. Increased noise levels can affect wildlife, wetland dependent species, and the public's enjoyment of these lands. The areas will experience increased TAamb, although noise abatement flight paths appear to help mitigate TAamb. A noise survey, comparable to that prepared for the national parks, the refuge, and the surrounding community, should be undertaken for the Southern Glades and the Model Lands area. In particular, more noise analysis needs to be done to assess the impact of the Cape Sable seaside sparrow population in the Southern Glades.

Response: A grid point analysis for the Southern Glades and Model Lands areas, using LAmax and Peak Hour Leq, is included in an Addendum to Appendix E of the Final SEIS. The lack of ambient measurements and mapping did not allow Time Above Ambient calculations for each grid. The grid analysis essentially shows that military aircraft using Homestead would continue to be the loudest aircraft in these areas and that cumulative levels of aircraft noise would not significantly change the current noise environment or be high enough to substantially diminish or interfere with existing or planned public recreational uses of these areas. Section 4.14 in Volume I of the Final SEIS includes an evaluation of the grid point analysis. Effects of noise on the Cape Sable seaside sparrow are addressed in Section 4.11 of Volume I.

10.3.3 Comment: Noise from the Proposed Action would be intolerable for residential areas and for the national parks and would greatly jeopardize the environment.

Response: The SEIS noise analysis identifies significant and moderate noise increases on residential areas closest to Homestead within the Day-Night Average Sound Level 65 decibel contour (classified by FAA as significant) and the DNL 60 dB contour (moderate). These would be the areas of greatest noise impact. It is recognized that people are concerned about noise at lower levels in both residential areas and national parks, and that some people consider the noise increases described in the SEIS to be intolerable and to jeopardize the environment. According to FAA's evaluation, the quantification of noise increases projected for the Proposed Action and the comparison of projected increases to studies of human and animal reactions to noise do not support such a conclusion, especially at the lower levels predicted by the SEIS evaluation away from the airport.

10.3.4 Comment: The noise metrics performed in connection with the impacts to the surrounding national parks and refuges and the community abutting former Homestead AFB suggest that noise impacts will not significantly increase over current baseline levels and should remain within the range of Day-Night Average Sound Level of 65 decibels.

**Response:** This is a considerable oversimplification of the extensive noise analysis in the SEIS. It implies that most average noise levels would be within the range of DNL 65 dB, when in fact average noise levels would be lower than that everywhere except immediately adjacent to the airfield. A few residential areas closest to the airfield would experience significant noise increases over current baseline levels, according

to FAA's definition of significance (1.5 dB increases at DNL 65 dB and above). These areas are identified in the SEIS.

10.3.5 Comment: Noise impacts on both national parks and the local community are so small that a noise management and mitigation plan will not be required.

**Response:** FAA does not regard the impacts to be as small as the comment appears to suggest. Noise mitigation considerations for community areas nearest the airport and for the national parks are included in the SEIS. The comment may be referring to whether a state noise management and mitigation plan will continue to be required. Federal agencies would defer to the State of Florida for such a determination.

10.3.6 Comment: Miami-Dade County's leading independent experts concluded that a commercial airport will have environmentally compatible noise impacts. It is important to note that the expected impacts in the environmental study do not even include the implementation of a noise management plan which is required by the State of Florida for use of the base as a commercial airport.

**Response:** There is no conclusion in the SEIS that "a commercial airport will have environmentally compatible noise impacts." Responses to other noise comments address the conclusions drawn from the SEIS noise analysis by FAA relative to the extent of noise impacts on the community and national parks. The SEIS analysis was done independently by FAA, assisted by contractors, and did not include Miami-Dade County experts. It is correct that the expected impacts reported in the SEIS do not include the consideration of a noise management plan, which would be a state requirement placed on Miami-Dade County and has not yet been done.

10.3.7 Comment: The noise of massive daily flights would negatively affect the quality of life.

**Response:** As responses to similar comments on other environmental resource areas indicate, the quality of life is a very subjective judgment that will differ from person to person. The SEIS does not attempt to reach conclusions about the quality of life. See responses 10.1.1 and 10.1.2 for more information on the anticipated number of daily flights.

10.3.8 Comment: A flight every 5 minutes would make it impossible to conduct a reasonable conversation in much of the Homestead area.

Response: This comment vastly overstates potential speech interference effects from proposed aircraft operations. The sound of normal speech at a distance of 3 feet from the speaker is 60–65 decibels. The Day-Night Average Sound Level metric accounts for various factors that make noise highly annoying to people, including speech interference. The higher the DNL, the greater the speech interference. Community areas at DNL 65 dB and higher, where noise is a significant impact according to FAA guidelines, would be expected to complain of speech interference. Speech interference can also be considered adverse between DNL 60 and 65 dB. In community areas below DNL 60 dB, speech interference would range from less frequent to none as distance from the airport increases. Response 10.1.1 addresses the concern about a flight every 5 minutes.

10.3.9 Comment: The noise will adversely affect children's hearing and cause them to be deaf.

**Response:** Noise levels at and beyond the boundary of Homestead airport would not be high enough to present any risk of hearing loss. There are three studies, one by FAA and two by independent labs, that specifically address the question of community hearing loss around airports. These studies found no correlation between hearing acuity and length of residency near an airport, nor any danger of permanent

hearing loss from exposure to aircraft noise, even when exposure was at relatively high levels (111 decibels for 40 flights per hour over a 6 hour period).

Several agencies and interagency groups have issued various guidelines for hearing protection. In terms of continuous exposure, the Occupational, Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) issued regulations in 1971 for the protection of industrial workers. These standards set forth a permissible noise exposure limit of 90 dB on a continuous basis for an 8 hour day. In 1974, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency recommended a standard of Leq<sub>(24)</sub> not exceeding 70 dB over a 40 year period. This criterion is extremely conservative and provides a large margin of safety. It is based on the probability of negligible hearing loss (less than 5 dB in 100 percent of the exposed population) at the human ear's most damage-sensitive frequency (4,000 hertz) after a 40 year exposure. On the basis of cumulative exposure and Day-Night Average Sound Level, the Federal Interagency Committee on Urban Noise in 1980 issued guidelines for residential land use which stated that risk of hearing loss from noise is not a factor until at least DNL 75 dB. Taken individually and together, the research and guidelines indicate no potential risk of hearing loss for the Proposed Action at maximum use.

10.3.10 Comment: The noise of massive daily flights would lower property values.

**Response:** Refer to responses to comments 10.1.1 and 10.1.2 that address numbers of daily flights. With respect to property values, studies of facilities such as airports, highways, and transmission lines have not been conclusive about the impact that proximity to those facilities has on property values. Property values respond to a complex variety of factors, and experience in one location is not necessarily indicative of what will occur in another location. All ranges of property values can be found near commercial airports, from extremely expensive to low cost.

10.3.11 Comment: The noise levels that many people complain about is the difference of 10 decibels, shown in red on the grid maps in the SEIS. In actuality, 10 decibels is nothing more than a soft whisper in a quiet room or office.

Response: The comment appears to be referring to areas that would experience a maximum sound level (LAmax) increase of 10 decibels or more with the Proposed Action. These areas are shown in red on LAmax grid maps in Section 4.5 and Appendix E. (There are no comparable increases on Leq grid maps, and Time Above Ambient differences are in terms of time rather than decibels.) The comment is confusing absolute levels of decibels with amounts of decibel increases. An absolute level of 10 decibels is extremely low and would be found in a broadcast or recording studio. A change of 10 decibels may or may not generate complaints, depending on the level at which the change occurs (i.e., complaints increase at higher absolute noise levels).

10.3.12 Comment: The FAA's conclusion is that there is no noise problem from the commercial airport. That is a questionable conclusion.

**Response:** Like quality of life judgments, the judgment of the extent to which a commercial airport would pose a noise problem is a subjective one, and people may differ in such judgments. The SEIS does not make such a judgment.

10.3.13 Comment: The Draft SEIS text mistakenly states that the Time Above Ambient increase in grids near Ocean Reef in Biscayne National Park and Crocodile Lake National Wildlife Refuge is 1 to 10 minutes. Comparing Figure 4.5-17 with Figure 3.5-16, the Time Above Ambient increases are 10 to 30 minutes within a few miles of Ocean Reef.

**Response:** Figure 4.5-16 in Volume I is the appropriate map for the depiction of predicted Time Above Ambient increase differences between the No Action alternative and Proposed Action at maximum use of one runway. Both the map and the accompanying text indicate TAamb increases of 10 to 30 minutes in some grids, with lower increases and higher increases in other grids. The error reported in the comment has not been identified.

10.3.14 Comment: It appears that some tables were left out of Chapter IV of the Appendices. Table IV-12 follows Table IV-2. The grid point data tables for Exhibit IV-5 in Chapter IV of the Appendices could not be located. Recommend that either the information be included in the appendix or, where appropriate, the reader be directed to where it can be found.

Response: Tables IV-3 through IV-11 were not inadvertently left out. They are detailed tables of the results of the grid point analysis, point by point, and were too voluminous for the SEIS appendices. This is also true for the grid point data tables related to Exhibit IV-5. The complete tables are in the Landrum & Brown Technical Memorandum that was incorporated in the SEIS by reference and made available for review at local libraries. On the first page of the Noise appendix in the Draft SEIS (Appendix E) was the statement that the detailed grid point analysis is in the Technical Memorandum.

### 10.4 Community Noise Effects

10.4.1 Comment: The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has commented that, in general, the Draft SEIS provides both a good description and analysis of the potential community noise impacts of the various alternatives.

Response: USEPA comment is noted. No further response required.

10.4.2 Comment: The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has commented that, without noise mitigation, all alternatives will have residential units located in the DNL 65 dB noise contour. In general, residential housing in the Day-Night Average Sound Level 65 decibel contour and higher is considered to be a noncompatible land use. Current Homestead Air Reserve Station operations create a DNL 65 dB contour that includes 95 residential units, with approximately 656 people, located southwest of the airport as part of a low-income housing development. This impacted population is projected to remain the same for both the Mixed Use and No Action alternatives. It would increase with the Proposed Action and Commercial Spaceport alternative. Concentrating housing and other noise-sensitive receptors in the vicinity of Homestead was and is ill-advised from a noise and land use compatibility perspective.

Response: The Air Force and FAA agree with USEPA's comment.

10.4.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS discounts community noise impacts by concluding that, since these surrounding areas are already impacted by military aircraft operations, it would be acceptable to make it worse by increasing operations with a commercial airport. It is not a sound justification to increase a community's noise simply because the area already experiences some aircraft noise.

**Response:** The SEIS does not discount community noise impacts. According to FAA's established threshold of significant impact for noise, there would be significant community noise impacts on residences within the Day-Night Average Sound Level 65 decibel contour with the Proposed Action. The comment is more specifically referring to the Ocean Reef community, which is projected to experience a small DNL increase in noise with the Proposed Action at low level (i.e., in the DNL 30s). This increase is far below the level of significant community impact.

The SEIS does not say that it is acceptable to increase noise in areas already experiencing aircraft noise. The purpose of the noise analysis is to provide a comparison of the noise effects of potential reuse alternatives against a projected baseline and the No Action alternative. In the case of Homestead, the projected baseline and No Action alternative include military and other government aircraft noise. The assessment of how much additional noise would be experienced with the various alternatives does not mean that additional noise is either acceptable or unacceptable.

10.4.4 Comment: Schools would be adversely affected by noise from a commercial airport. There would be a loss of class attention and degradation of instruction.

Response: According to federal compatible land use guidelines included in Federal Aviation Regulations Part 150, Airport Noise Compatibility Planning, schools are compatible with aircraft noise levels if they are below Day-Night Average Sound Level 65 decibels. No schools are within the DNL 65 dB contour projected for Homestead. FAA has also dealt on a case-by-case basis with several schools that experienced adverse noise effects because of locations within the DNL 60-65 dB contour, near the 65 level and also under the extended runway centerline of an airport. There are no schools within or even close to the Homestead DNL 60 dB contour at maximum one-runway use. A map of schools in relation to the Homestead noise contours has been added in Section 4.5 of the Final SEIS. In summary, schools are not expected to be adversely affected by noise from a commercial airport.

10.4.5 Comment: The current military operations at Homestead Air Reserve Station, necessary for national defense, have a minimal impact on the Ocean Reef community and are tolerable. However, a tenfold increase in flights in the name of commerce would be intolerable. Noise impacts on Ocean Reef would be severe. The introduction of a large number of commercial aircraft overflights into the area would destroy the tranquility of the Ocean Reef community and greatly diminish the quality of life. Noise impacts include the addition of night and weekend aircraft operations, the addition of high use flight paths directly over Ocean Reef, an increase in the average sound level, an increase of Time Above Ambient noise levels and increases in noise above the level at which speech is impaired. These noise impacts are particularly troubling to a community that values peace and tranquility and wants to preserve the natural quiet of the area.

Response: The Air Force and FAA understand the noise concerns expressed by the Ocean Reef community. Because of these concerns, Ocean Reef was one of the community locations for which a special noise assessment was done. The results are included in Appendix E, Section IV.C, of the SEIS. The evaluation of noise using three noise metrics—DNL, LAmax, and Time Above—does not support a conclusion that noise impacts would be severe on Ocean Reef. At maximum use of the existing runway, the LAmax would be the same as the No Action alternative, the Time Above 65 decibels (speech interference) would be the same as the No Action alternative (i.e., less than one minute on an average daily basis), and the DNL would increase from 35 to 39 decibels. These are very low DNL levels—far below levels that are adverse for community land uses. Also see response 10.2.2 that addresses DNL as the appropriate metric to evaluate community noise impacts.

10.4.6 Comment: The SEIS discounts the increase in Day-Night Average Sound Level in Ocean Reef as insignificant, yet this community would experience substantial increases in the timing, duration, frequency, and level of aircraft noise under the Proposed Action. The residents of Ocean Reef should not have to suffer noise levels high enough to impair speech in order for the impact to be considered "significant." The question is not how much noise people can tolerate, but how much change a commercial airport would bring.

**Response:** The DNL metric includes timing, duration, frequency, and level of aircraft noise and is the appropriate metric to evaluate community noise impacts, as addressed in greater detail in response 10.2.2.

R-91 Final SEIS

The SEIS does report changes in noise over the projected baseline/No Action alternative that would be anticipated with a commercial airport. The FAA agrees that the difference in noise among the potential reuse alternatives is the critical factor in assessing noise impacts. While the quantification of differences in noise does not indicate significant noise impacts on the Ocean Reef community, FAA acknowledges that people may make different subjective judgments, including how much noise is tolerable or acceptable.

10.4.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS' conclusion regarding Maximum Sound Level effects on Ocean Reef contradicts a later statement that "LAmax increases, on the whole, would occur in areas farther from the airport where civilian and military flight tracks would diverge..."—areas such as Ocean Reef where commercial aircraft will travel directly overhead.

**Response:** Ocean Reef is within the area where military and civil aircraft traffic would not yet have diverged. As indicated in Table IV-25 in Appendix E, the LAmax is not expected to increase in Ocean Reef with the Proposed Action. The LAmax is calculated to remain at 77 decibels under either the Proposed Action or the No Action alternative; it is made by a military F-16 aircraft. This supports, rather than contradicts, the statement about the general locations of LAmax increases.

10.4.8 Comment: Table 4.6-1, which contains predictions of noise impacts at specific locations in Biscayne National Park, further illustrates the adverse impacts likely to be experienced by Ocean Reef. Three of the study locations (MH, ME, and MW) are within a few miles of Ocean Reef. The impacts at these points show noise levels up to 81 dB. All the decibel levels for the few planes contained in Table 4.6-1 range from at least 44 to 81 dB, well above the 35 dB level currently experienced in Ocean Reef. All the high-end decibel levels provided in this table exceed 65 decibels.

**Response:** Table 4.6-1 in Volume I includes representative information on several aircraft types, rather than a complete prediction of noise effects at these locations. The noise levels, calculated in Sound Exposure Level, for representative aircraft at the seven locations in Table 4.6-1 range from 35.3 decibels for a single-engine general aviation aircraft to 103.6 decibels for an F-16 military aircraft.

The park locations cited in the comment are several miles from Ocean Reef and are not accurate to use in predicting noise effects on Ocean Reef. The SEIS noise assessment that was specifically done for Ocean Reef uses the same aircraft input information that was used for other community locations and the national parks.

In addition, the comment is confusing single event (SEL) and cumulative (DNL) metrics. The 35 decibels referenced is the existing DNL at Ocean Reef. Table 4.6-1 reports SEL levels of specific aircraft types at specific park locations. The calculation of the DNL metric includes individual aircraft noise events that have SELs both noisier and quieter than the cumulative DNL value.

10.4.9 Comment: Another example of the adverse impact of aircraft noise is in the Draft SEIS statement that the likelihood of detecting the presence of aircraft is expected to increase proportionately with the increase in civil aircraft operations in areas where ambient levels are already low. The increase in civil aircraft operations will be detected more easily and frequently in Ocean Reef because of its tranquility and remoteness.

Response: The ability to detect the presence of an aircraft does not equate to an adverse noise impact. The Day-Night Average Sound Level metric used together with the Schultz curve on community annoyance has been recognized by the FAA, USEPA, and Air Force as the appropriate methodology for predicting noise impacts on communities. Supplemental noise metrics have also been used in the SEIS noise

analysis to provide additional information on noise changes. The FAA's evaluation is that the Proposed Action would not result in noise increases of a magnitude to adversely affect Ocean Reef.

10.4.10 Comment: Close examination of the flight path information further illustrates the noise impacts to Ocean Reef. Flight paths which are predicted to be used 90 percent of the time will cross over or near Ocean Reef in many instances. The departure outer fixes for the paths over Ocean Reef are WINCO, EEONS, and MNATE. The Draft SEIS appendix shows that these fixes will receive a tremendous amount of civilian air traffic. The Draft SEIS projects increases in Time Above Ambient under the flight paths as traffic increases. High Sound Exposure Levels (from 69 to 81 decibels) by the principal aircraft to fly over the MW site near Ocean Reef show that Ocean Reef will suffer daily noise impacts over the level that awakens a sleeping person. Data in the Draft SEIS on noise in future years for areas near Ocean Reef contradict the Draft SEIS' conclusion that the Time Above 65 dB for Ocean Reef will be less than one minute.

Response: Aircraft noise predictions have been correctly computed for Ocean Reef based on flight track locations, as well as aircraft numbers and operational and noise characteristics. Similar predictions have been computed for location MW, to which the comment refers. Data for location MW are accurate for that location, but are not accurate for Ocean Reef and should not be used to make judgments about noise effects on Ocean Reef. Day-Night Average Sound Level, with its nighttime weighting, is the metric that accounts for sleep disturbance. According to SEIS DNL calculations, neither Ocean Reef nor location MW is predicted to experience noise levels sufficient to cause sleep disturbance. Time Above Ambient calculations in the national parks and refuges, to which the comment refers, do not contradict the SEIS' conclusion with respect to Time Above 65 decibels at Ocean Reef. The SEIS explains that Time Above 65 is used for community locations, rather than Time Above Ambient.

10.4.11 Comment: Page 55 of the Draft SEIS Summary states that noise in the Keys Gate community could increase from 43 to 51 decibels. However, at one of the hearings, the representative in charge of the noise analysis checked a table or chart on page 2.9-23 of a large volume and said that the noise would be 90 decibels in Keys Gate because it is only 4 miles from the airport and in almost direct alignment with the runway. That same page of the Draft SEIS also says that, for most of the representative community points, aircraft noise would still be below ambient noise levels at maximum one-runway use. This would not be true based on the above information at the hearing and according to the definition of ambient noise level.

Response: The comment is referring to different noise metrics. The projected Day-Night Average Sound Level increase at Keys Gate with the Proposed Action (commercial airport) at maximum use is from DNL 43 to 51 dB. The projected LAmax is 97 dB with both the No Action and Proposed Action alternatives. It is correct that Keys Gate would not be expected to have DNL levels below ambient at maximum one-runway use. However, the highest projected DNL level of 51 dB is below FAA guidelines for both significant and moderate levels of DNL exposure and is also below a USEPA-recommended guideline of DNL 55 dB to provide an extra margin of noise protection below DNL 60 dB.

10.4.12 Comment: There would be 124 flights a day in a 10 hour period over Key Largo. Those flights would produce a 40 percent increase in the noise level in Key Largo.

Response: This comment overestimates the number of flights over Key Largo. Jet departures on a MNATE fix in Homestead east flow conditions would be over Key Largo, but not other civilian flight tracks. Average daily MNATE civil jet departures in east flow are forecast to number (in round numbers) zero in 2000 and 2005, 11 in 2015, and 29 at maximum use (estimated around 2038). Military flight tracks currently pass over Key Largo and would continue to do so under any alternative, adding another three average daily operations in each year.

R-93 Final SEIS

Potential noise changes with the Proposed Action were specifically calculated in the SEIS for Key Largo. The maximum sound level (LAmax) of 69 decibels would not be experienced every day and is not predicted to change. The predicted amount of Time Above 65 decibels is zero. The Day-Night Average Sound Level is predicted to increase from 22–23 decibels under the projected baseline to 31 decibels in 2015 and at maximum use of the Proposed Action. This level of DNL is well below any level considered to be adverse and is even below most ambient noise levels.

10.4.13 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not address noise impacts on the residents of the Upper Keys, a great many of whose jobs depend on eco-tourism such as fishing, boating, snorkeling, diving, and sailing.

**Response:** The Upper Keys are not near the areas of predicted significant and moderate noise exposure for the Proposed Action. There are little substantive noise level differences among the SEIS alternatives in the Upper Keys. Within the larger south Florida region, recreational activities that attract tourists are not expected to be disrupted because of aircraft noise. Additional evaluation of aircraft noise on public recreational areas has been added to the Final SEIS in Section 4.14 of Volume I.

10.4.14 Comment: The noise from constant commercial overflights of the Redland area would drive people away and stymie efforts to promote eco-tourism there.

**Response:** The SEIS includes a grid point noise analysis of a representative location in the Redland area, the Redland Fruit and Spice Park. The grid point data in Appendix E, Table IV-25, indicates that aircraft noise exposure is currently low in this area and would experience little change with the Proposed Action.

10.4.15 Comment: One might argue that all residential areas experience ambient noise which can approach the decibel levels associated with the aircraft operations of the commercial airport. However, local noises such as lawn mowers, boats, and air conditioners can be readily mitigated and avoided, but aircraft noise would not be avoidable.

**Response:** Most people take for granted the noise of everyday common sounds in neighborhoods, including people and domesticated animals, household equipment, power tools, automobiles, air conditioners, etc. These noises are generally not regarded as excessive and are not identified for reduction or avoidance. Normal residential ambient noise levels tend to remain fairly stable for particular types of neighborhoods (e.g., busy urban, suburban). As a reference point, the maximum aircraft sound level (LAmax) in Ocean Reef has been calculated at 77 decibels (an F-16 military aircraft), which would be quieter than the noise made by a lawnmower.

10.4.16 Comment: The Draft SEIS addresses noise impacts on a few existing homes, but ignores the impact on the additional homes the study projects.

**Response:** The SEIS does not ignore the potential for additional homes. Section 4.5 of the SEIS includes estimates of significant noise impact (DNL 65 dB) and moderate noise impact (DNL 60 dB) on existing homes and on estimates of homes that could be built in these areas if no land use controls are implemented.

### 10.5 National Parks and Refuge Noise Effects

10.5.1 Comment: The concern that a commercial airport would significantly increase noise in Biscayne and Everglades National Parks and Crocodile Lake National Wildlife Refuge and would thereby significantly impair park resources has been raised by the U.S. Department of the Interior (DOI), national and local environmental organizations, and concerned citizens. The U.S. Environmental Protection

Agency has also commented that a commercial airport would adversely affect park resources and their public recreational use. DOI's comments point out that the natural ambient soundscape, those sound conditions that exist in the absence of human-caused sounds, is among the important natural conditions and resources of national parks. DOI's letter says that aircraft operations of a commercial airport, whether at one runway or two runways, could significantly increase human-made noise levels in Biscayne and Everglades National Parks, and represent a significant impairment and use of park resources, including natural sounds and a sense of tranquility.

Response: The Air Force and FAA respect the views of those who regard aircraft noise in general and the Homestead airport proposal in particular as undesirable for the national parks. A commercial airport at Homestead would incrementally add to existing aircraft noise in portions of the national parks and refuge, as evaluated in Section 4.5. Reasonable people will probably continue to disagree on how much noise is too much based on various expressed or implicit noise tolerances. The FAA (the joint lead agency with primary responsibility for the SEIS noise analysis) does not predict that the reuse of Homestead for a one-runway commercial airport would significantly increase aircraft noise levels in the national parks and refuge. Neither does FAA believe that the incremental additional aircraft noise from the one-runway airport would substantially impair or use park resources, based on the extensive SEIS analysis done with a variety of metrics to examine different aspects of noise and on information accumulated to date on human and animal reactions to noise. The FAA's evaluation in this respect is included in Sections 4.5 and 4.14 of Volume I of the Final SEIS. Concern about aircraft noise in the national parks and refuge remains an important consideration in the decision on reuse of former Homestead AFB. Aircraft noise mitigation would be a key component of any decision in favor of a commercial airport.

10.5.2 Comment: DOI further commented on the natural soundscape with the following concerns. As with many resources the NPS is charged to preserve, the natural soundscapes of Everglades and Biscayne National Parks are not currently pristine, and all factors affecting those soundscapes are not controlled by NPS. However, NPS will restore degraded soundscapes to the natural ambient condition wherever possible and will protect natural soundscapes from degradation due to human-caused noise. To that end, NPS is currently preparing a draft Soundscape Management Plan for Biscayne National Park. Soundscape preservation will also be addressed in the upcoming General Management Plan for Everglades National Park. DOI is concerned that the development of a commercial airport in such close proximity to Biscayne and Everglades National Parks will frustrate soundscape management efforts, as well as contribute to the further degradation of the resource.

**Response:** The FAA and Air Force acknowledge DOI's concerns. The SEIS explicitly states that the Proposed Action would add more aircraft noise to the south Florida national parks, which is contrary to NPS soundscape goals to reduce human-made sounds.

National park soundscape evaluation and management are in a very early phase. A draft Director's Order on Soundscape Preservation and Noise Management was published by NPS in the *Federal Register* in April 2000 for public comment. FAA comments expressed general agreement with NPS efforts to promote a quieter environment through such means as soundscape planning, noise management zones, and the use of noise data collection systems. FAA comments also included a number of reservations with respect to the draft Order, including the reasonableness of assuming a natural quiet baseline for NEPA analysis of aircraft noise relative to national parks. FAA believes that such a broad assumption is unrealistic and blurs reasonable distinctions that should be made among national park areas that are truly quiet and pristine, or are projected to be so through reasonably foreseeable park management practices (e.g., elimination of roads in an area to return it to back country hiking only), and other national park areas that will continue to be dominated by human-made sounds.

R-95 Final SEIS

No soundscape plan has yet been developed for any national park. As a practical matter, soundscape plans will have to accommodate sounds in national parks other than the sounds of nature. Otherwise, visitors could never enter national parks, and all mechanical equipment and motorized transportation would be excluded. The extent to which soundscape planning and management may actually change the existing sound environment in various areas of Biscayne and Everglades National Parks remains to be seen. Biscayne National Park is generally noisier than Everglades National Park in terms of both natural sound levels and the overall sound environment. Biscayne National Park is louder naturally because it is 95 percent water, an acoustically hard surface that accentuates noise from wildlife, wind, and waves. In addition, Biscayne National Park's Intracoastal Waterway, water recreation and boating, relative position with respect to Miami and Homestead, and amount of visitor use in a much smaller geographic area than Everglades National Park all add to overall existing ambient sound levels.

The FAA and Air Force have been advised that NPS is planning to issue an Environmental Assessment (EA) for the Biscayne National Park Soundscape Preservation and Noise Management Plan. It is the FAA's and Air Force's understanding that the EA will present several alternatives and that NPS anticipates that, at the end of the environmental process, an alternative will be adopted that will result in traditional ambient sound level reductions. However, as of the completion of the Final SEIS, NPS soundscape planning has not progressed to the point of issuing an EA for public review. As discussed in Section 3.5.2.4 of Volume I of the Final SEIS and in response to noise comment 10.2.5, there will be differences in methodological approaches and analyses between the SEIS and the draft soundscape EA. These differences do not cause the approach and analyses in the SEIS to change. Given the current status of the soundscape planning effort and uncertainty about the eventual outcome, there is not a basis at the present time for predicting the achievement of different quantifiable traditional ambient sound levels in the national parks than levels that can currently be measured. As a qualitative matter, the SEIS recognizes that any additional aircraft noise over the national parks is a potential frustration from the perspective of NPS efforts to reduce human-made sounds. Regardless of the future outcome of soundscape planning, the sound environment in the national parks and refuge is recognized as an important concern that merits considerable attention in the decision on the reuse of former Homestead AFB, as well as in the development of mitigation measures to reduce aircraft noise to the extent possible, should a commercial airport be selected as the reuse option.

10.5.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not meaningfully analyze what the proposed airport will do to the natural soundscape of the two parks. Tranquility and peace are fundamental to the enjoyment of the parks, and natural quiet is part of the natural conditions that would be affected. The SEIS does not place an adequate value on the truly quiet moments that can be found in Biscayne and Everglades National Parks.

Response: The SEIS includes an extensive analysis of noise in the national parks, including aircraft noise at extremely low levels, because of the value placed on the parks. As explained in more detail in responses on noise methodology (10.2 above), the SEIS noise analysis predicts the potential change in the affected noise environment for various reuse alternatives for Homestead. The sounds of nature are not the only sounds that comprise the affected noise environment in the national parks. The traditional ambient (all sounds except aircraft) used in the SEIS to quantitatively describe the affected noise environment is essentially the same as the natural ambient (sounds of nature only) in those portions of the national parks that are truly quiet and little affected by human-made noise. As discussed in response to comment 10.5.2 above, soundscape planning has not progressed to the extent of providing a basis on which to predict that particular park areas where the traditional ambient is higher than the natural ambient (because of visitor use and other human-made sounds) would quantitatively be lower in the future by virtue of eliminating those sounds. The FAA's use in the SEIS noise analysis of an affected noise environment that reflects all components of noise that are heard in particular locations, rather than the sounds of nature only, is more fully explained in Section 4.14 of the Final SEIS, in Volume I.

10.5.4 Comment: The development of a commercial airport would violate the National Park Service Organic Act because it would impair natural quiet. There would no longer be a significant quiet natural resource left in the two national parks.

**Response:** The development of a commercial airport at Homestead would not violate the National Park Service Organic Act. The Organic Act applies to activities of NPS in managing the national parks; it does not govern Air Force and FAA actions on Homestead reuse. Responses to comments 10.5.1 and 10.5.2 above provide FAA's responses on issues of the significance of aircraft noise effects in the national parks and impairment.

10.5.5 Comment: The proposed commercial airport will not comply with the National Park System's standards for airplane noise in national parks.

**Response:** There are no NPS noise standards for arriving, departing, or enroute commercial airplanes over national parks.

10.5.6 Comment: A portion of Everglades National Park is designated as a Wilderness Area and, therefore, has strict noise restrictions. The Draft SEIS did not address this.

Response: The Wilderness Act does not impose aircraft overflight noise restrictions for wilderness areas in national parks. The Draft SEIS did describe the designated wilderness areas in Everglades National Park in Section 3.6. In addition, Section 4.6 of the Draft SEIS briefly reported the results of a 1992 study by the U.S. Forest Service on the effects of aircraft overflights on visitor enjoyment in remote wilderness areas. The study essentially concluded that the majority of wilderness visitors interviewed were not annoyed by overflights and that aircraft noise intrusions did not appreciably impair the surveyed wilderness users' overall enjoyment of their visits. It should be noted that the National Park Service does not agree that this study should be relied upon.

10.5.7 Comment: Increased noise levels in the national parks have the potential to disrupt park employees and visitors, park interpretative programs, and park natural resources. Different methodologies and assumptions can result in different analytical results. Knowledge of the effect of increased noise levels on the resources in Biscayne and Everglades National Parks is evolving.

Response: The FAA agrees that knowledge is evolving and is very interested in completing more research to develop broadly recognized methodology and criteria comparable to the tools currently available for community noise analysis. In the meantime, FAA must use currently available methodologies and studies. Studies that have been done, including the National Park Service and U.S. Forest Service studies with no FAA involvement, do not support the conclusion that the levels and extent of aircraft noise increases projected in the SEIS analysis have the kind of disruptive potential described in the comment. A number of existing studies are briefly described in Section 4.6 of Volume I.

10.5.8 Comment: Educational experiences in Everglades National Park, such as teaching children to listen for sounds of nature, could be compromised, if not completely altered by the projected air traffic and noise associated with the proposed airport.

Responses: Noise differences between the existing situation in Everglades National Park and the potential future situation with a commercial airport are not sweeping or large enough to substantially compromise or alter educational programs. Exhibits IV-7, 8, and 9 in Appendix E of the SEIS show existing LAmax, Leq(h), and TAamb, respectively, in Everglades National Park. Exhibits IV-25, 26, and 27 show the potential noise effects in the corresponding metrics of maximum use of the existing runway. At maximum

R-97 Final SEIS

use of the existing runway, the cumulative exposure to aircraft noise (considering number of aircraft, loudness, and duration) would still remain below traditional ambient levels in most of the park.

10.5.9 Comment: In Section 3.5, the SEIS tries to discount the adverse effects of aircraft by noting the high level of some natural sounds. Natural sounds, such as insect noise with decibel levels on the order of 45 that may approach the decibel levels of overhead aircraft noise, are no justification to allow aircraft noise. Natural sounds, although loud, are unavoidable, not as pervasive, and are preferable to aircraft noise.

**Response:** It is understood that most people would respond that they like natural sounds and do not like aircraft sounds. That does not change the fact that when sounds are being measured for analysis, natural sounds measure at certain levels. Natural sounds up close may be equal to or even higher than aircraft sounds at lower levels and greater distances and may effectively "mask" aircraft and other sounds so that they are unheard. When other sounds, whatever their source, are about the same as or higher than aircraft sounds, most surveyed people will tend to respond that aircraft noise is not highly annoying or disruptive to their environmental experience.

10.5.10 Comment: Biscayne National Park would be particularly adversely affected by noise of a commercial airport because of its proximity to Homestead. For example, there would be an estimated 105 flights a day, most at altitudes between 2,000 to 4,000 feet, over the Biscayne National Park Visitors Center. According to the SEIS, at this distance the commercial jets will sound like a lawn mower 3 feet away or like a New York City subway train. Even as far out in the park as Elliot Key, the jet noise would be the equivalent of a garbage disposal or being shouted at from a distance of three feet.

Response: The data provided in Table 4.6-1 of the SEIS summarizes the estimated number of operations by the five largest aircraft type groups in 2015. Of the 105 operations cited by the commentor, 15 would be military jets, 19 would be commercial jets, and the remaining operations would be quieter business jets or propeller aircraft. With respect to the lawn mower or subway train comparison, the comment is inaccurately comparing the loudness of individual aircraft, as calculated in Sound Exposure Level, with a figure in the SEIS that presents noise in A-weighted decibels (dBA). The SEL metric calculates both loudness and duration of single-event noise. SEL values are typically 6–8 dBA higher than recorded peak decibel levels. Consequently, the noise created by commercial jets (68 to 87 SEL) would equate to decibel levels of 62 to 81 dBA or less. A comparison of these levels to the equivalencies in Figure 3.5-1 of the SEIS indicates that the comment has overstated the noise levels by 20 to 30 decibels, or by a factor of 4 to 8 times as much perceived loudness. The comment's estimation of noise at Elliot Key is likewise in error. At Elliot Key, jets produce SELs of 43–77, or 37–71 decibels of peak dBA. The comment has overstated the noise at Elliot Key by 10 to 40 dB, or by a perceived factor of 2 to 16 times.

10.5.11 Comment: Sound levels in Biscayne National Park would approach 70 decibels with a commercial airport.

**Response:** The comment is apparently referring to either the LAmax (Maximum Sound Level) or SEL (Sound Exposure Level) of individual aircraft, since no other noise calculations approach 70 decibels. Military aircraft currently make and exceed a level of 70 decibels in Biscayne National Park and would continue to be the loudest aircraft using Homestead. There would be little or no change in loud single event aircraft noise exposure within Biscayne National Park with a commercial airport.

10.5.12 Comment: A number of commentors stated that a commercial airport is unacceptable just 2 miles from Biscayne National Park and 10 miles from Everglades National Park because of the high numbers of aircraft operations which will create high noise impacts. Biscayne National Park is considered to have more unacceptable noise impacts than Everglades because of its close proximity to Homestead.

**Response:** It is understood that this is the position of a number of commentors. Other commentors do not find the predicted noise levels unacceptable. Reasonable people, reviewing the same data, apparently disagree over what is "acceptable" or "unacceptable."

# 10.6 Commercial Spaceport Alternative

10.6.1 Comment: The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has stated that noise impact is also a concern with the Commercial Spaceport alternative and noted that the DNL 65 dB contour from the spaceport would extend into Biscayne National Park (greater DNL noise impact than predicted for a commercial airport). USEPA further noted that spacecraft launches would be individually much noisier than conventional aircraft, but also less frequent. USEPA considers a commercial spaceport alternative to be marginally more compatible with the national parks than a commercial airport because of the limited frequency of noise events.

**Response:** USEPA's general estimation of noise effects is consistent with that of the SEIS. USEPA's comment on this alternative's marginal compatible edge over a commercial airport is noted.

10.6.2 Comment: USEPA has commented that a commercial spaceport combined with a mixed use option would still include significant single event noise levels, but it would be incrementally more compatible with the national parks than a commercial airport.

Response: USEPA's comment is noted.

## 10.7 Noise Mitigation Measures

10.7.1 Comment: USEPA's major concern is the lack of specific commitments to mitigate the potential community noise impacts of any of the alternatives. The Final SEIS must commit to specific community noise mitigation.

**Response:** Air Force and FAA agree that specific commitments are important. However, the content of mitigation commitments depends on the reuse alternative that is selected. A selection will not be made in the Final SEIS; it will be made in the subsequent Record of Decision (ROD). Mitigation commitments appropriate to the alternative selected will be included in the ROD. Detailed, firm commitments will not be needed for alternatives that are not selected.

10.7.2 Comment: USEPA strongly recommends that mitigation for the commercial airport alternative include a requirement that Miami-Dade County Aviation Department relocate all residential housing located in the existing and future DNL 65 dB contours. Since there are only 311 residential units in total, USEPA recommends that all 311 units be relocated, not just the 95 units within the DNL 65 dB contour. In addition, USEPA recommends that local zoning be modified to prevent residential or other noncompatible land uses from occurring within the existing and future DNL 65 dB contour.

Response: If the Proposed Action is selected, mitigation details that include the above considerations would be worked through with Miami-Dade County. Presently, it is undetermined whether residential housing would be acquired or sound insulated, how many units would be mitigated, and what kind of mitigation schedule would be followed. (Since noise contours would increase only gradually over time and may not increase as much as currently projected because of quieter aircraft in the future, there could be a graduated approach to mitigation that reflects noise contour increases.) FAA would require adequate compatible land use commitments from the county to prevent additional noncompatible development around a commercial airport.

10.7.3 Comment: Page 87 of the Draft SEIS Summary says that noise mitigation could include relocating residents in high noise areas and sound attenuation of homes. Would the government pay for relocation and sound attenuation? Would the homes be bought at the owners' prices? Would families be relocated to houses of their choice, in cities other than Homestead? If these types of mitigation measures are being considered, it must mean that noise will be higher than the ambient level, contradicting the statement on page 54, paragraph 4, of the Draft SEIS Summary.

Response: Miami-Dade County, as airport proprietor, would be responsible for noise mitigation projects such as acquisition/relocation or sound insulation. FAA administers a federal grant program that could provide a share of the mitigation costs for either acquisition/relocation or sound insulation. If federal funds are used for acquisition/relocation, federal guidelines require fair market value for acquisitions and assistance to people being relocated. People would not be told where to move and would have discretion to move to other cities. Payments are established by federal regulation based on available comparable housing.

Acquisition/relocation or sound insulation is normally used to mitigate noise sensitive areas within the Day-Night Average Sound Level 65 decibel contour. It may extend to the DNL 60 dB contour. These contours are identified in the SEIS. It does not include residential areas where the DNL is lower than 60 dB, and certainly not areas where the predicted DNL values are near or less than the normal ambient for community land uses.

10.7.4 Comment: The implementation of noise abatement flight tracks consistent with aviation safety is appropriate.

**Response:** The implementation of noise abatement flight tracks would be considered as part of any decision on a commercial airport. Aviation safety is always the primary criterion that must be met.

10.7.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS discusses noise mitigation for the parks and refuges as "noise sensitive areas." The same mitigation protections should be afforded to people in southern Miami-Dade County, Ocean Reef, and other areas of northern Monroe County. People have chosen to live in these areas because they are quiet.

**Response:** Noise mitigation is discussed in the SEIS for community residential areas in southern Miami-Dade County that would be exposed to Day-Night Average Sound Level 60 decibels and above. Ocean Reef and northern Monroe County are not anticipated to have their noise environment adversely affected by commercial airport operation.

10.7.6 Comment: Which airports have successfully implemented noise abatement flight procedures?

**Response:** The use of noise abatement flight procedures is very common. FAA does not keep an official count of airports, but does have some information indicative of frequency of use. Forty-four of the fifty busiest U.S. commercial airports have reported the use of preferred flight paths for noise abatement.

10.7.7 Comment: Flight track mitigation may not be practicable because of the proximity of other airports and resistance by airlines to taking flight paths that will cost them time and money.

**Response:** The noise abatement flight tracks in the SEIS could be implemented. In early technical analysis, FAA excluded from further consideration any flight tracks that could not be implemented due to the proximity of other airports. Airlines use noise abatement flight procedures at many airports and would do so at Homestead. Since airspace is federally preempted, FAA is the entity responsible for establishing flight paths.

10.7.8 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not adequately address the effects of the noise mitigation flight paths over the upper Keys (Islamorada area to North Key Largo area). Noise abatement flight track mitigation measures to lessen noise over the parks would increase noise in Ocean Reef and other communities.

Response: The community grid point analysis in the SEIS includes Ocean Reef and Angler's Club residential areas on the north end of Key Largo and the town of Key Largo. The effects of potential noise mitigation flight paths were calculated for each of these locations and included in the Technical Memorandum on Noise that was excerpted for Appendix E in Volume II. The flight track analysis was particularly voluminous and was not included in Appendix E. It was in the Technical Memorandum, which was available for review at identified locations, including the library in Key Largo. According to Table V-34 in the Technical Memorandum, Ocean Reef, Angler's Club, and Key Largo would receive a 1 decibel increase in Day-Night Average Sound Level if any of the three noise abatement flight track alternatives was implemented. This is an unnoticeable increase in DNL, particularly at the low DNL levels in these areas. None of these locations would experience an increase in either Maximum Sound Level or Time Above due to a noise abatement flight alternative. This table has been included in the body of the Final SEIS in Section 4.5 of Volume I.

10.7.9 Comment: It is no comfort to state as a mitigating factor that the noisiest planes are likely to be out of service by 2015. Even if true, fifteen years of aircraft noise is a high burden.

**Response:** Based on historical experience with the normal retirement of older aircraft and on the federal approach to gradually phasing in quieter generations of aircraft, FAA would expect older, noisier aircraft to be replaced by newer, quieter models on a phased schedule over time, with a higher percentage of replacements each year (rather than no action for 15 years, as the comment suggests) followed by a total fleet turnover.

10.7.10 Comment: There is no direct federal process that would require aircraft noise mitigation if a mixed use concept is selected. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency recommends that the Final SEIS at least discuss the option that either the Mixed Use alternative sponsor and/or the county could voluntarily relocate the residential housing units that are located in the Day-Night Average Sound Level 65 decibel contour. USEPA also believes that, in order to prevent any future noncompatible residential development in the DNL 65 dB contour, the existing zoning should be modified to not allow residential development or other noncompatible land uses.

**Response:** The measures being proposed would respond to an existing noise condition, not noise impacts predicted to be caused by the Mixed Use alternative. FAA funds would not be available to assist with this mitigation. USEPA recommendations are noted, and they have been included among the potential mitigation measures. Additional discussions among the lead and cooperating agencies of federal policy objectives and recommended mitigation measures will precede any final decision making by the Air Force and FAA.

10.7.11 Comment: It is likely that FAA's Office of Commercial Space could require, through the licensing process, that the spaceport sponsor provide appropriate residential noise mitigation, particularly to the northeast where noise contours will increase. USEPA believes that the existing zoning in this area should be modified to not allow residential development or other noncompatible land uses.

**Response:** This has greater uncertainties than mitigation for a commercial airport and would have to be addressed in a future environmental impact statement for licensing a spaceport operation.

R-101 Final SEIS

### 11.0 LAND USE AND AESTHETICS

This category addresses comments on the topics presented in the Land Use and Aesthetics sections of the SEIS, including community land use, special use areas, agriculture, and aesthetics. It also addresses consistency under the Coastal Zone Management Act.

## 11.1 Community Land Use

11.1.1 Comment: Discussions with City of Homestead staff do not support the statement in the Draft SEIS that 487 acres of previously undeveloped land have been developed.

**Response:** This information is contained on page 5 of the Homestead Comprehensive Plan dated July 6, 1995.

11.1.2 Comment: Section 3.6 of the Draft SEIS does not discuss the secondary and cumulative impacts of the conversion of almost 8,500 acres to residential development on natural resources. It is not linked to any of the redevelopment alternatives.

**Response:** As explained at the beginning of Chapter 3 in Volume I, Section 3.6 and all the sections in this chapter only present baseline conditions—that is, conditions without the reuse of the disposal property at former Homestead AFB. The purpose of the projected baseline is to provide a basis of comparison to the reuse alternatives in Chapter 4, not to assess the impacts of growth unrelated to Homestead AFB.

11.1.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumes that the Urban Development Boundary (UDB) in Miami-Dade County will not change.

Response: The SEIS does not make this assumption. Section 2.1.3 in Volume I indicates that most future baseline development is anticipated to occur within the UDB, but it is likely that some development will occur outside the UDB. Sections 3.6.3.1 and 4.6.2.1 describe the Urban Expansion Area that is expected to be opened to development. The SEIS indicates that areas within the UDB are more likely to be developed because of fewer impediments to development, but it does not preclude some development occurring outside the UDB.

11.1.4 Comment: The Draft SEIS estimates that 10-20,000 acres of vacant land will be lost to development over the next 15 years. Pressure will build to move the Urban Development Boundary if an airport is developed at Homestead.

Response: The SEIS estimates that about 8,500 acres of undeveloped land in south Miami-Dade County will be developed over the next 15 years under moderate population growth projections, without reuse of the remaining surplus property at former Homestead AFB. Under high-growth population projections, that estimate increases to 20,000 acres. The highest estimate of reuse-related secondary development is about 2,000 acres by 2015. As of 1995, there were approximately 9,000 acres of developable (i.e., unprotected) vacant land within the UDB south of Eureka Drive. It is also probable that some agricultural land within the UDB would become developed as population increases. There were an estimated 10,000 acres of agricultural land within the UDB in 1995. This suggests that any pressure to move the UDB would be likely to occur with or without reuse of former base property.

11.1.5 Comment: Reuse of former Homestead AFB as a commercial airport would change land use patterns in south Miami-Dade County, which would ultimately create adverse pressures on land use and comprehensive plans in the Upper Keys. Some of these pressures include increased development in

Monroe County, increase in land owner expectations, and the exacerbation of the hurricane evacuation bottleneck.

Response: It is estimated that the Proposed Action could increase the population in south Miami-Dade County (south of Eureka Drive) by about 4 percent by 2015. At the same time, general population growth unrelated to reuse of former Homestead AFB is projected to increase by over 30 percent between 2000 and 2015, assuming a moderate level of growth. Population growth and development in south Miami-Dade County has the potential to affect Monroe County land use whether or not a commercial airport is developed at the former base.

The estimated effects of reuse-related growth on hurricane evacuation are addressed in Section 4.2 of Volume I. See also responses to comments in category 7.2 above.

11.1.6 Comment: The statement that the development of a second runway "could" affect land uses near the airport would be more accurately stated as "will likely" affect uses around the airport.

**Response:** Any discussion of the potential impacts of a second runway at Homestead must be considered speculative at this time. It is not known whether, and if so when, a second runway might ever be constructed at Homestead. The SEIS addresses this possibility only to provide readers with a general idea of what such an expansion might entail. It is not known at this juncture what the land uses near the airport will be at the time a second runway might be contemplated.

11.1.7 Comment: The Land Use section of the Draft SEIS does not discuss the effects of the construction of a second runway on Monroe County. Other sections of the document address impacts of a second runway, and this section discusses the possibility that a buffer could interfere with the expansion.

**Response:** As Section 1.3 in Volume I indicates, a second runway is not part of the action under consideration and will not be part of the decision to be made. The ability to analyze environmental impacts of a possible second runway so far into the future is highly speculative. Even so, the SEIS attempted to speculate to some degree about the possible future consequences of a second runway, were one ever sought. Not enough information is known about the potential addition of a second runway or how it could be operated to do more.

11.1.8 Comment: Section 4.6.2.1 of the Draft SEIS did not identify mitigation measures for offsetting noise and other impacts from industrial uses on the Homeless Trust Center.

**Response:** Possible mitigation measures have been added to the Final SEIS to address these potential impacts.

11.1.9 Comment: It has been shown that property values in the vicinity of airports decline precipitously. Will a fund be established to compensate people for decreases in property value due to the proposed airport?

**Response:** Property values respond to a complex variety of factors such that the experience in one location is not necessarily indicative of what will occur in another location. Studies of facilities like highways, transmission lines, and airports have not been conclusive about the impact that proximity to those facilities have on property value.

11.1.10 Comment: Would the Collier Resources Company proposal be compatible with surrounding land uses on the former base? Would the homeless housing remain, and would it be compatible with the Collier plan?

R-103

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to include a new joint proposal from Collier Resources Company and Hoover Environmental Group. Section 4.6 in Volume I addresses the compatibility of each alternative with surrounding land uses. There is no plan to alter the Homeless Trust Center or any other existing use on land previously conveyed, except the Collier-Hoover proposal does include a possible land exchange with Miami-Dade County of a portion of the proposed regional park for comparable land elsewhere, possibly on site. The Collier-Hoover plan includes a parcel of adjacent surplus property that could be used for this exchange.

### 11.2 Special Use Areas

11.2.1 Comment: The Final SEIS has to take in full consideration the national interest in the national parks.

**Response:** The Air Force has stated its goal to transfer property at former Homestead AFB in a manner that supports local plans for economic revitalization and protects Biscayne Bay and the nearby national parks. Consequently, the SEIS includes extensive consideration of Biscayne and Everglades National Parks. Section 2.9 in Volume I and the Summary include a specific section on impacts from the Proposed Action and alternatives on the national parks. Sections 3.6.4 and 4.6.3 in Volume I describe the parks and their resources, as well as the national laws, mandates, and policies that govern their protection. Other sections in Volume I, including Noise, Water Resources, and Biological Resources, address impacts on resources in the national parks.

11.2.2 Comment: The description of the National Parks Service's interpretation of resources to remain unimpaired does not include all elements of the natural environment.

**Response:** The discussion of the National Park Service's interpretation of its mandate quotes directly from the Organic Act and indicates that natural soundscape, air quality, water quality, and wilderness are resources to be preserved, "among others." The list is not intended to be all inclusive.

11.2.3 Comment: Section 3.6.4.1 of the Draft SEIS does not discuss if determinations of whether or not a resource is essential and impaired are relevant to the national parks surrounding former Homestead AFB or whether those determinations will be adequately addressed.

**Response:** Section 3.6.4.1 in Volume I begins with a general discussion of the management of national park lands and the mandate to avoid impairment of their resources. This is followed by a description of the relevant resources at Biscayne and Everglades National Parks. The issue of whether reuse of former Homestead AFB would impair resources at those parks is addressed in Section 4.6.

11.2.4 Comment: The Summary discussion of Biscayne National Park should reflect that Biscayne National Monument was established in 1968, and Biscayne National Park in 1980, after a fully operational air base at Homestead was already in place. The National Park Service had to find the impact of the air base on the park at least tolerable, if not desirable.

**Response:** Section 3.6 in Volume I contains historical information concerning the creation of Biscayne National Park. Some information has also been added to the Summary of the Final SEIS. Appendix E in Volume II includes a discussion of the noise effects on Biscayne National Park of a fully operational base prior to realignment.

11.2.5 Comment: It is not appropriate for the National Park Service to try to impose natural quiet and solitude at Biscayne National Park that did not exist at the time the park was established and is unrealistic adjacent to a major urban area.

**Response:** Management of National Park Service resources is guided by laws, policies, and plans. There is no known law or policy that makes it inappropriate for National Park Service managers to try to restore natural conditions in park lands. Conditions of park resources at the time of establishment do not preclude park managers from taking action to improve the condition of impaired resources.

11.2.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS says that studies performed by the Air Force and FAA showed no correlation between increasing noise levels and visitors in national parks.

**Response:** Section 4.6.3.1 in Volume I reviews several studies of the effect of aircraft overflight and noise on visitors to parks and wilderness areas. Studies have been conducted by the National Park Service, U.S. Forest Service, and jointly by the National Park Service and the Federal Aviation Administration. None of the studies reviewed were conducted by the Air Force. The SEIS indicates that all the studies reported some correlation between aircraft noise and visitor experiences, although the impacts varied widely depending on circumstances and visitor expectations.

11.2.7 Comment: The maps in the Draft SEIS do not show Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary.

**Response:** Several maps in Volume I depict Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary, including Figures 1.1-1, 3.6-1, and 3.14-1.

11.2.8 Comment: The South Florida Water Management District's Southern Glades area is incorrectly labeled as the C-111 wetlands in the Draft SEIS. This area has an active and expanding public use program that includes a greenway trail for hiking, biking, and horseback riding.

Response: Figure 3.6-10 in Volume I, which identifies the "C-111 Wetlands," was taken from the Miami-Dade County Comprehensive Development Master Plan. Section 3.6 of the Final SEIS has been expanded to provide more discussion of South Florida Water Management District lands, including the Southern Glades Wildlife and Environmental Area.

11.2.9 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not indicate whether there are any Native lands or properties other than those declared as reservations.

**Response:** Native American reservations are generally outside the region of influence of expected impacts from the Proposed Action and alternatives. No non-reservation Native lands have been identified.

#### 11.3 Agriculture

11.3.1 Comment: The conclusion in the Draft SEIS that "reuse of the former Homestead AFB property is not expected to directly affect agriculture" cannot be determined without data from the agricultural retention study that has not been completed.

**Response:** This statement in the SEIS refers to on-site development of former Homestead AFB property, which currently does not include agricultural uses. Section 4.6.4 in Volume I indicates that off-site secondary development could affect agriculture.

11.3.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS contains an inconsistency on page 4.6-2, which first states that secondary development is not expected to affect agricultural lands and later states that secondary development could occur on agricultural lands.

**Response:** There is no inconsistency in this paragraph. It states that development of the disposal property, that is, the surplus property on former Homestead AFB itself, is not expected to affect agricultural lands.

There is currently no agricultural use of this property. The SEIS acknowledges that secondary development could affect agricultural property.

11.3.3 Comment: If the former base is developed, all agricultural land surrounding the base (approximately 7,260 acres) will be developed.

Response: Section 3.6.5.1 in Volume I indicates that there were about 64,000 acres of agricultural land in south Miami-Dade County in 1994, about 11,600 acres in the five Transportation Analysis Districts (TADs) surrounding former Homestead AFB. As indicated in Section 2.2.5 of Volume I, reuse of former Homestead AFB property could result in development of an additional 2,000 acres of land outside the base property by 2015 and almost 3,000 acres at full buildout, including both agricultural and vacant land. Even assuming all the secondary development occurred on agricultural land within the five TADs surrounding the former base, it would only convert about a quarter of the agricultural land within those TADs and about 5 percent of the agricultural land in south Miami-Dade County.

11.3.4 Comment: The Proposed Action would force the conversion of agricultural land surrounding former Homestead AFB and jeopardize thousands of acres of active agricultural lands west and northwest of the former base.

**Response:** Section 4.6.4.1 in Volume I addresses impacts from the Proposed Action on agriculture. As it indicates, the Proposed Action is anticipated to result in the conversion of some agricultural lands to support secondary development. It is not known where those lands would be located. It is also possible that a commercial airport at Homestead could increase the risks from agricultural pests. No other impacts to agricultural have been identified from the Proposed Action.

11.3.5 Comment: Contaminated runoff from the airport may impact agricultural land adjacent to the airport.

**Response:** All runoff from the former base would drain into the Boundary Canal system and then be pumped to Military Canal. A small fraction of it would be discharged into Biscayne Bay; most would be retained on site and evaporate or percolate into groundwater. Because of this system, runoff from the former base would bypass the agricultural areas to the east. Barring the construction of a stormwater treatment and distribution area (STDA), no contamination would be expected to limit agricultural use east of the former base.

If Miami-Dade County, South Florida Water Management District, or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers constructed an STDA east of the former base, water from Military Canal could be pumped onto the STDA, and pollutants from the former base would then enter the STDA, increasing contaminant levels in soils and plants. Agriculture would not be possible in the STDA for a variety of reasons, including a very high water table that would limit the kind of crops that could be grown there. It is not anticipated that any contaminants in the STDA would affect other agricultural land in the area.

11.3.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS accepts that an impact of the Proposed Action could be to bring agricultural pests (citrus canker) to the area.

Response: The Draft SEIS reported the potential that a commercial airport at former Homestead AFB could increase the spread of citrus canker to south Miami-Dade County. There is no implication that this is "acceptable." The purpose of the SEIS is to report all impacts, including adverse and beneficial impacts. The Florida Department of Community Affairs subsequently reported that the citrus canker quarantine area has already spread to large areas of south Miami-Dade County. The Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service at commercial airports reduces the risk of importing pests.

11.3.7 Comment: Since the Draft SEIS was completed, the status of the citrus canker quarantine area has significantly changed and has now affected large areas of south Miami-Dade County.

Response: The Final SEIS has been updated to include this information.

11.3.8 Comment: The Air Force and FAA are encouraged to recommend policies to prevent conversion of agricultural land and promote continuation of a viable agricultural economy.

**Response:** Section 4.6.4 in Volume I identifies impacts from the Proposed Action and alternatives on agriculture, including potential conversion of agricultural land to development. The section also identifies possible mitigation measures that might be employed to protect agricultural resources in south Florida. The adoption of policies and implementation of protective measures is within the purview of local planning and regulatory agencies, not the Air Force and FAA.

#### 11.4 Aesthetics

11.4.1 Comment: Section 3.6.6.2 of the Draft SEIS omits the 4,500 acres of vacant land projected to be developed by 2015, bringing into question the statement that the overall visual context of open, rural, and agricultural landscapes can be expected to continue.

**Response:** As Table 3.6-1 in Volume I shows, vacant and agricultural lands comprised over 80 percent of non-water lands in south Miami-Dade County in 1994. Together, they amounted to over 162,000 acres. The projected 8,500 acres that could be developed by 2015 would comprise about 5 percent of these lands. This is not expected to change the overall visual context of the area.

11.4.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not address light pollution at night for the noise abatement flight path alternatives.

**Response:** The visual impacts along the noise abatement flight paths would be similar to those described for the proposed flight paths. The locations where aircraft lights would be visible would change.

### 11.5 Coastal Zone Management Act

11.5.1 Comment: The Department of Community Affairs, the state's designated lead agency pursuant to the Coastal Zone Management Act, notifies the Air Force that the proposed transfer of former Homestead AFB land is consistent with the enforceable policies of the Florida Coastal Management Program. Insufficient information is available for South Florida Water Management District staff to evaluate the consistency of the Proposed Action and alternatives with the Florida Coastal Management Program.

**Response:** The Department of Community Affairs' determination concerning consistency with the Florida Coastal Management Program satisfies the requirements of the Coastal Zone Management Act.

## 12.0 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS AND WASTE AND PETROLEUM PRODUCTS

Comments were received on existing contamination from past base activities both on former base property and in Military Canal. Those comments are addressed in this category, along with comments on reuse-related hazardous materials and waste management and risks of fuel spills. Impacts from contaminants on water quality are addressed below in the Water Resources category (15.0).

### 12.1 Contamination from Past Use

12.1.1 Comment: Contaminants from the base have been incompletely characterized and incompletely analyzed.

Response: The contaminants arising from prior activities at former Homestead AFB have been widely studied and analyzed and are subject to a Federal Facilities Agreement between the Air Force and regulatory agencies. Under this agreement, contaminated sites that have resulted from Air Force activity have been characterized and evaluated for risks to human health and the environment. These sites, and their status in the Installation Restoration Program (IRP), are described in Section 3.7 of Volume I.

The active IRP is in the process of remediating the remaining contamination at the former base. Since this will be done irrespective of the land disposal action that is the subject of the SEIS, more information on existing contamination is not needed for the decision on what entity receives the land.

12.1.2 Comment: The pre-Hurricane Andrew operations at the former Homestead AFB left behind a concentration of heavy metals in the canals and on the grounds. These are not mentioned in the Draft SEIS.

**Response:** Past contamination of the grounds and canals on the former base is described in Section 3.7 of Volume I. The concentration of pollutants in base canals is presented in Section 3.10.

12.1.3 Comment: The Base Realignment and Closure Commission determined MacDill AFB was one of several military airbase facilities to be closed. Environmental surveys indicated hazardous materials remained following years of operating as an airfield and would require mitigation. MacDill AFB was being considered for Superfund cleanup funds. The implication is that former Homestead AFB could become a Superfund site also.

Response: Former Homestead AFB is a Superfund site and has an active Installation Restoration Program that is dealing with soil and groundwater contamination under a Federal Facilities Agreement with regulatory authorities. A comprehensive Environmental Baseline Survey was conducted in 1993 (with an update in 1997) to identify any potentially contaminated sites that could not be transferred to another owner under the Community Environmental Response Facilitation Act. Some of the sites identified in these surveys are regulated under the Comprehensive Environmental, Response, Compensation and Liability Act, and others are petroleum sites regulated under Florida Department of Environmental Protection requirements. The status of individual sites varies. Actions are underway to remediate some sites, while others are undergoing further study to determine the most appropriate form of remediation. Some sites have been identified for long-term monitoring, and others require no further action. The current status of the sites and the IRP program are summarized in Section 3.7.4 of Volume I. Remediation under the IRP will continue until regulatory agencies have signed off on the effectiveness of all remediation undertaken. In addition, it is Air Force policy to continue remediation efforts until regulatory approval is received, whether or not land is to be transferred.

12.1.4 Comment: Cleanup targets for Installation Restoration Program sites at former Homestead AFB have been selected and approved by regulatory authorities. Many sites that have already been closed were cleaned to levels consistent with industrial use. Any changes in land use or features that would lead to increased human or wildlife exposure to contaminants could require additional assessment and remediation.

**Response:** It is anticipated that existing cleanup levels would be compatible with land uses under the Proposed Action and Commercial Spaceport alternative. Section 4.7 in Volume I has been expanded to further evaluate land use compatibility for the Mixed Use alternative.

12.1.5 Comment: Those parts of the property that have been cleaned up for restricted reuse will have land use control restrictions which will limit their future uses. It is important for decision makers to understand that if an alternative other than the commercial airport is eventually selected, additional areas may need to be remediated to higher standards than is currently the case. The responsible party in this regard will also have to be determined.

**Response:** The Air Force agrees with this comment and is aware that a consequence of some disposal decisions may be to revisit previous decisions about remediation. The issues raised by the comment are acknowledged in Section 4.7 of Volume I.

12.1.6 Comment: The SEIS does not provide the cost of cleanup of Military Canal or indicate who will pay for it. No further development should be permitted on the base property until the cleanup is completed both on the base and in the canal.

**Response:** The Air Force is responsible for paying for any required remediation of property at former Homestead AFB that was contaminated due to Air Force operations. Through 1999, the Air Force had spent approximately \$25.5 million for remediation activities at the former base. (These numbers include remediation for the cantonment area as well as the surplus property.) The estimated additional cost for the years 2000–2005 is \$6.9 million.

The remediation options being investigated for Military Canal range from approximately \$2.7 million to \$4.7 million. Although the water quality in the canal is excellent—it meets Class III drinking water criteria—contaminated sediments lie beneath the vegetative mat in the canal. The remediation options being considered would be designed to prevent the sediments in the canal from being released to Biscayne Bay.

It would not be necessary, or even helpful, to defer redevelopment of the former base until remediation of the canal is complete. The contamination beneath the vegetative mat is not affected by development elsewhere, whether for an airport or one of the other alternatives.

12.1.7 Comment: Section 3.7 of the Draft SEIS indicates that large quantities of hazardous wastes were generated from the cleanup of hurricane damage. This section refers to site contamination due to a past hurricane-induced spill of 2,000 gallons of jet fuel.

Response: Post-hurricane cleanup included the extensive use of solvents and other cleaning materials that were generally disposed of according to federal, state, and local regulations following use. Building 730 on the former base sustained a 2,000 gallon fuel spill during Hurricane Andrew. The fuel was apparently retained in the soils immediately around the hangar. This location is part of the base's remediation program and is designated Operable Unit 17 (see Section 3.7 in Volume I). The current status of the site is "No Further Action," and the site is expected to be closed out. There is no evidence or suspicion that any of the spilled fuel migrated off the former base. None of the hazardous waste generated during the cleanup following Hurricane Andrew led to further contamination of soils or groundwater on the former base.

12.1.8 Comment: Some previously closed or realigned bases were eligible to apply for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) Superfund assistance in cleaning up prior to developing the land.

R-109 Final SEIS

**Response:** It is not clear to what the comment refers. It is possible that USEPA financial assistance of some kind has been available for environmentally related purposes during the redevelopment of closed or realigned bases. However, it is the Air Force that is responsible for remediating contamination at the bases affected by the base closure laws. No one has had to request money from USEPA to pay for remediation of the Air Force's contamination. The Air Force pays for all required cleanup.

## 12.2 Management of Hazardous Materials and Waste

12.2.1 Comment: Environmental studies completed for base closings provide a baseline for the environmental impacts of airport facilities at former Homestead AFB.

Response: While Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) environmental studies often report substantial and extensive contamination, it rarely comes from recent activities and more typically stems from spills or dumping that occurred decades ago, prior to or shortly after regulatory controls were adopted. Because of these controls, the risk of large spills has been greatly reduced, and the number of spills that result in environmental contamination has also been greatly reduced. BRAC environmental studies are not a good indicator of the upland environmental impacts of airport facilities in the future.

12.2.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumes that pollutants in the area will not change, while recognizing that the airport development will result in hazardous materials increasing twelve times current levels.

Response: The SEIS estimates that the amount of hazardous materials and petroleum products used on the former base would increase twelvefold by full buildout under the Proposed Action. The great majority of these materials would be aircraft fuel. An increase in use does not equate to a comparable increase in releases of pollutants into the environment, however. Regulations require hazardous materials and waste to be handled, stored, and managed in a manner that minimizes the risks of releases. Nevertheless, some increase in pollutants can be expected. The SEIS reports the estimated changes in pollutant generation and puts those changes in the context of existing generation rates for hazardous wastes.

12.2.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS indicates that, under the Proposed Action, aircraft operations could increase hazardous material use an estimated fourfold over the projected baseline in 2005, eightfold by 2015, and twelvefold at full buildout. An increase of hazardous material use and storage at the scale an airport would require is unacceptable within the immediate drainage basin of a national park.

Response: The estimated increase in use of fuels and hazardous materials is proportional to the estimated increase in aircraft operations at Homestead under the Proposed Action. Most of the increase would be the jet fuel used at the airport. To accommodate the additional fuel required, the airport may have to build an aboveground storage tank, containing perhaps as much as 1,000,000 gallons. As with the existing aboveground tanks on the former base, regulations require all tanks to be bermed to contain 110 percent of the tank volume. These tanks typically would have foam-based fire suppression systems. This would prevent fuel from entering surface water or groundwater. Use of other hazardous materials is also regulated and required to be handled in a manner that minimizes risks to the environment.

12.2.4 Comment: The SEIS should include a discussion of materials that will likely be stored on site for each reuse alternative, associated risk factors, and proposals for spill containment and cleanup.

**Response:** Hazardous materials and petroleum products anticipated to be used at the former base are described in Section 4.7 of Volume I. No detailed spill prevention, control, and countermeasures plan has been developed as yet, but the SEIS indicates that such plans are required by regulation and therefore would be developed. Typically, these plans are developed when facilities are farther along in design.

12.2.5 Comment: How will the proposed airport prevent pollutants and hazardous chemicals from entering the air and waters of the Everglades National Park and Biscayne Bay?

Response: Major facilities, including airports, routinely deal with a wide variety of hazardous materials and hazardous wastes. Use of materials that are hazardous under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) must be stored, transported, and used according to specific protocols designed to prevent, to the extent possible, environmental release (to air, water, or land) of these materials. Similarly, hazardous wastes must be stored, transported, and disposed of according to specific protocols designed to prevent environmental releases. Compliance with RCRA and Occupational Safety and Health Act regulations would help to minimize the risk of releases to the environment.

12.2.6 Comment: Miami-Dade Aviation Department has an abysmal environmental record. A recent report by the Department of Environmental Resources Management listed numerous recent violations by the Miami-Dade Aviation Department for significant fuel and petroleum-based spills throughout the airports it manages, including Homestead AFB. The violations show no sign of abating—almost as many violations occurred last year and the year before. Even under a consent decree, deadlines and milestones appeared to be routinely not met. The county has ignored other directives concerning Homestead, such as directives to develop noise and wildlife mitigation plans in connection with the airport proposal.

**Response:** The cited report does not support the comment's allegations. The report indicates the status of all identified contaminated sites on government facilities in Miami-Dade County, including those operated by the Aviation Department. It shows numerous contaminated sites on facilities operated by the Aviation Department but indicates that the great majority of them are being remediated or investigated according to the 1998 Consent Agreement.

Miami-Dade County has prepared a Wildlife/Habitat Management and Mitigation Plan for the proposed airport at Homestead, as described in Section 2.2.6 of Volume I. The county is awaiting the completion of the SEIS to develop the noise mitigation plan.

12.2.7 Comment: The Collier-Hoover proposal does not discuss chemicals that would be used on the golf course. What are the impacts from pesticides and fertilizers from golf courses on the surrounding water?

Response: The Final SEIS has been expanded to incorporate a new joint Collier-Hoover proposal. The proposal includes integrated pest management, which uses short-lived pesticides in small, controlled doses when pests are present. Such applications effectively limit the potential transport of pesticides outside of the area where they are applied, including into groundwater. In addition, the Collier-Hoover proposal specifies that reclaimed wastewater would be used to irrigate golf courses, and because of the nutrients contained in the wastewater, the need for additional fertilizer would be reduced. Any additional fertilizer applied would be in controlled, small applications. While there would be some percolation of nutrients from the reclaimed wastewater and fertilizers to groundwater, the majority would likely be taken up by grasses and other plants, reducing the amount that could reach groundwater.

## 12.3 Risk of Fuel Spills

12.3.1 Comment: No study has been included in the Draft SEIS regarding fuel spills and their effects on the environment.

**Response:** The potential effects of spills from activities on the former base are discussed as parts of Sections 3.7, 3.10, 3.11, 4.7, 4.10, and 4.11 in Volume I.

12.3.2 Comment: How would fuel be transported from the Fort Lauderdale Port Everglades oil offloading facility to Homestead? Will it be transported by truck, through the existing pipeline, or will a new pipeline be built? What are the hazards associated with transporting the fuel to the former base?

Response: The existing pipeline from Port Everglades to former Homestead AFB would be used to supply fuels to an airport facility. The pipeline, owned and operated by Defense Fuels, Inc., was in operation in the early 1970s and supplied Homestead AFB when it was flying B-52s. Currently, fuel is pumped to the former base twice each month, and there is more than enough capacity to supply the proposed commercial airport.

The pipeline is generally a single-walled pipe that has been double walled in areas where vibration could be extensive (near major roadways, for example). When fuel is pumped, precise measurements are taken at several locations to ensure that any leaks would be detected. Should a leak be detected, pumping would immediately cease so that leaked fuel could be contained and/or remediated and the pipeline repaired. The last leak was detected in 1978.

12.3.3 Comment: If aircraft fuel is stored in underground fuel storage, it could increase risks of groundwater pollution.

Response: Fuel is currently stored in aboveground tanks in a tank farm on Homestead Air Reserve Station. If a commercial airport is developed on the former base, additional storage capacity would need to be built, and this storage would almost certainly be in the form of aboveground tanks (not underground tanks) for a number of reasons. First, aboveground tanks are more easily inspected for leaks than underground tanks, and leak control is required under federal, state, and local laws, regulations, and ordinances. Second, the water table underneath former Homestead AFB is very shallow, making construction of new underground tanks problematic and providing a hostile environment for steel tanks. Third, containment of any leaks or spills in a berm surrounding an aboveground tank simplifies cleanup and substantially reduces the risk of uncontrolled leaks contaminating groundwater. Thus, it is very unlikely that fuel would be stored underground at the proposed airport.

12.3.4 Comment: The proposed commercial airport would be a source of fuel and waste dumping.

**Response:** Uncontrolled dumping of fuel and solid or hazardous waste is illegal. The SEIS acknowledges that accidental spills can occur (see Sections 4.10 and 4.11 in Volume I) and there are occasional emergency situations in which aircraft will need to jettison fuel. Procedures would be in place to respond to these situations, minimize environmental damage to the extent possible, and restore areas that have been damaged. Emergency fuel jettisoning, if necessary, is normally conducted at high altitude, and the fuel evaporates before reaching the ground.

12.3.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS' reliance upon spill contingency and stormwater treatment plans is not supported by any analysis determining whether existing spill contingency plans and the Surface Water Management Master Plan are actually adequate to identify, address, and contain all fuel spills and leaks. Nor is such reliance consistent with the history of fuel spills and leaks at numerous airports nationwide and at Homestead AFB. Therefore, the Draft SEIS' analysis is not an accurate prediction of what is expected to occur, but more of a "best case scenario" that assumes that all fuel spills will be identified and remediated before significant contamination occurs.

**Response:** The majority of the existing contamination at airports and airbases, including former Homestead AFB, occurred prior to environmental regulations that require controls on leaks and spills to prevent contamination. Historically, before the potential effects of spills and leaks were known, inadequate or no controls were placed in areas where leaks and spills were likely to occur (at transfer

points from one container to another, or where toxic chemicals were used in an open, unconfined environment), and toxic chemicals were often simply dumped on the ground in convenient areas. While spills still do occur, the areas where spills are likely to occur are required to be designed and built such that the spills are contained, and they are likely to be small (on the order of a few gallons). In cases where the spills are not contained, cleanup and containment actions would be required and specified to minimize the extent of potential contamination. At former Homestead AFB, no new contamination is known to have resulted from recent leaks or spills.

No entity can guarantee that no spill or leak will ever occur or that it will be small, but all reasonable and prudent actions are required to be taken to prevent contamination by new leaks and spills. The exact nature of these actions and controls would not be established until late in the design stage of an airport, when the physical layout and the control structures have been defined.

12.3.6 Comment: During scoping for the SEIS, the Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) identified fuel spills and leaks as a significant issue of concern to be analyzed in the Draft SEIS to determine potential effects on water quality. NRDC recommended the Air Force conduct a six-step process to determine the frequency and severity of spills, based on data from other airports, airport chemical inventories, a risk analysis, and the likely pathways of migration. NRDC further recommended the Air Force conduct a full examination of the efficacy of containment methods, historic failure rates, and the residual amount of chemicals that would enter the environment. This was not done in the Draft SEIS.

Response: The NRDC recommendations were not ignored. They were considered, but the Air Force and FAA concluded such studies were not necessary for the SEIS. The SEIS discusses the possibility of fuel spills and leaks and explains that on-site spills are expected to be contained in the surface water management system where they could be removed before leaving the site. The document also discusses potential environmental consequences if a fuel spill occurred off site. The Air Force and FAA believe the analysis in the SEIS is sufficient to make an informed decision about property disposal at former Homestead AFB.

Other federal and state agencies are responsible for regulating the use, storage, and disposal of hazardous materials, and they have promulgated regulations to address these concerns. There is nothing unique about former Homestead AFB that would suggest different regulatory requirements are needed than at other facilities. Every environmental impact statement cannot revisit fundamental health and safety issues that are the purview of agencies like the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency but must be able to rely on the efficacy of those agencies' regulations to adequately protect the public from identified hazards. If those regulations are not adequate, that is a national, not a Homestead-specific issue. The National Environmental Policy Act does not require original research of this type.

12.3.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumes Miami-Dade County will mitigate any spills on the site.

**Response:** The SEIS assumes that spill prevention, control, and countermeasures procedures that are required by law and regulation will be implemented. It does not assume there will be no accidental spills of fuels or chemicals. The potential impacts of spills on the site, as well as the potential for migrating off site, are addressed in Sections 4.10 and 4.11 of Volume I.

### 13.0 AIR QUALITY

Comments were received concerning the increase in air pollutant emissions under the Proposed Action and alternatives and the health effects of those emission increases. This category addresses comments concerning emissions of criteria pollutants in 13.1. The criteria pollutants are carbon monoxide (CO),

nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>), ozone (O<sub>3</sub>), sulfur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>), and particulate matter. Comments were only received on the first three. Nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) and volatile organic compound (VOC) emissions lead to formation of ozone and are also addressed under this section. Emissions of NO<sub>x</sub> and resulting deposition of airborne nitrogen is of particular concern to the water quality of Biscayne Bay, so this issue is addressed in 13.2. Consequential water quality effects are addressed in the Water Resources comment category (15.0).

Comments concerning air emissions other than the criteria pollutants are addressed in 13.3. Several comments were received concerning emissions of unburned fuel, which is addressed in 13.4. The final section (13.5) addresses comments concerning impacts on Everglades National Park, which is a Class I Prevention of Significant Deterioration area under the Clean Air Act.

## 13.1 Emissions of Criteria Pollutants

13.1.1 Comment: The air and earth quality north of Biscayne Bay is biologically different from the southern end of the bay. This is not considered when countywide air quality impacts are analyzed.

**Response:** The air quality calculations in the SEIS do focus on the southern part of Miami-Dade County. Therefore, the concentrations reported are in fact for the south county. These concentrations are not expected to exceed ambient air quality standards.

13.1.2 Comment: The Proposed Action presented in the Draft SEIS indicates that increases in air emissions would exceed federal levels.

**Response:** Section 4.8 in Volume I reports estimated increases in the emissions of five air pollutants at various time intervals under the Proposed Action and other reuse alternatives. None are anticipated to exceed federal air quality standards.

13.1.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS estimates that, in 2015, the proposed airport-related activities will release 12,000 pounds of carbon monoxide each day. This equates to three pounds of CO for every passenger traveling through the proposed airport. Similar ratios apply to at least five other noxious gases.

Response: The estimates of air pollutant emissions in the SEIS are based on emission factors approved by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), which are incorporated into the Emissions and Dispersion Modeling System model used to estimate the Proposed Action's contributions to ambient air quality. Mobile source emissions are based primarily on the number of aircraft operations, the type of aircraft, and the number of trips by motor vehicles. Emissions from ground-based equipment used to support aircraft are also estimated based on the number of aircraft operations. The results of the modeling indicate that carbon monoxide would have the largest emissions, and other pollutant emission levels are less than a quarter as much. About 40 percent of the estimated CO emissions would be from ground equipment.

The quantity of CO emissions per passenger needs to be viewed in context of the magnitude of emissions associated with every day activities. For example, three pounds of CO is roughly equivalent to driving a personal automobile for 130 miles. The Final SEIS includes a possible mitigation measure to use electrically powered ground equipment, which could reduce CO emissions.

13.1.4 Comment: The Draft SEIS concludes that the Proposed Action would have potentially significant impact on ozone levels but does not discuss what the implications of these increases would be on the residents of south Miami-Dade County to any meaningful degree. The report dismisses the risks on the basis that they will be mitigated.

Response: The SEIS did not conclude that the Proposed Action will significantly affect ozone levels. Nor does it assume any mitigation of reuse-related emissions. The SEIS shows that, although the Proposed Action would increase emissions of NO<sub>x</sub> and VOCs from increased operations at former Homestead AFB, the increase would be small relative to existing emissions in Miami-Dade County and is not expected to result in exceedances of the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS). For example, the estimated concentration of nitrogen dioxide resulting from the proposed Action in 2015 is 27.6 micrograms per cubic meter, compared to the current NAAQS of 100 micrograms per cubic meter. Decreases in countywide emissions of these gaseous pollutants are expected from cleaner-operating mobile sources (cars and trucks) in future years. The county is expected to continue to meet the NO<sub>x</sub> and VOC emissions budgets, and ozone concentrations are not expected to exceed NAAQS. Based on the latest projections made by the Metropolitan Planning Organization of Miami-Dade County, the county should meet the VOC and NO<sub>x</sub> emission budgets in 2000, 2005, and 2015, even when the emissions of the Proposed Action are included.

Table 3.8-7 in Volume I contains estimates of emissions of Miami-Dade County on-road and non-road mobile sources (which include most of the projected sources in the Proposed Action) of about 58,000 tons/year of VOCs and approximately 57,600 tons/year of NO<sub>x</sub> in 1997. For comparison, the projected emissions of VOCs and NO<sub>x</sub> for the Proposed Action by 2015 would be 130 and 392 tons per year, respectively. The Proposed Action would result in relatively small emissions increases in Miami-Dade County.

13.1.5 Comment: Elevated ozone levels inhibit plant growth and can cause widespread damage to crops and forests. This is an issue of concern for farming, an important component of the south Miami-Dade County economy. It is also a concern for visitors to Everglades National Park.

Response: The National Ambient Air Quality Standards for ozone are based primarily on risks to human health. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency recently set an 8 hour standard for ozone, but the district court has ruled that the standard is unenforceable. The 1 hour standard that existed prior to the promulgation of the 8 hour standard is being re-promulgated until legal issues associated with the 8 hour standard are resolved. The 8 hour standard would be somewhat more restrictive than the 1 hour standard.

Currently, Miami-Dade County is a maintenance area for the 1 hour ozone standard, (i.e., the county complies with the standard). The county is anticipated to continue to comply if the  $NO_x$  and VOC emissions budgets for mobile sources in the State Implementation Plan for Florida are met. Miami-Dade County anticipates compliance with the 1 hour standard well into the future, and the Proposed Action and other alternatives would not appear to cause the standard to be exceeded. If the standard is not exceeded, ozone concentrations are not anticipated to cause damage to crops and forests and should not be a concern to farmers or visitors to Everglades National Park.

13.1.6 Comment: The Proposed Action would generate 7 tons per day of toxic air pollutants.

**Response:** Nitrogen oxide and volatile organic compound emissions from the Proposed Action are estimated to, combined, amount to about 1.4 tons per day. Carbon monoxide, by itself, is estimated to amount to about 6 tons per day. The combined total emissions of these three gases would be about 7.5 tons per day in 2015.

At low concentrations (concentrations generally found in the environment), most gases have no biological effects and thus are not toxic, although they can become toxic at high concentrations. The concentrations calculated for the Proposed Action and alternatives would comply with National Ambient Air Quality Standards, which are set at levels to prevent biological (toxic) effects.

R-115 Final SEIS

The term "toxic" has been misapplied in this situation. Nitrogen oxides generally are eye irritants and are not classified as toxic. They do interact with VOCs to create ozone, a more potent irritant. VOCs are composed of a wide variety of organic compounds, some of which can be toxic at high concentrations, and others of which are relatively benign. Carbon monoxide is a respiratory poison and is clearly toxic. However, the concentrations would have to be much greater than those associated with reuse of former Homestead AFB to be toxic.

13.1.7 Comment: Estimates for the emissions of noxious gases do not include emissions from aircraft that would be replacing flights from Miami International Airport.

**Response:** The SEIS includes analysis of all flights expected to originate or terminate at former Homestead AFB, regardless of whether or not they replace flights that currently originate or terminate at Miami International Airport. See also response to comment 13.1.1.

13.1.8 Comment: If new roads are critical to the Proposed Action or alternatives, appropriate transportation planning authorities should consider them in the next Long Range Transportation Plan, which must demonstrate transportation conformity with the Clean Air Act.

Response: For the Proposed Action, five actions have been identified to create a connection north of the former base to Florida's Turnpike extension and to improve traffic flow along this connection. These projects are listed in the Miami-Dade Long Range Transportation Plan and the 1999 Miami-Dade Transportation Improvement Program. An environmental assessment is currently being prepared for these improvements by the Florida Department of Transportation, and transportation conformity would presumably be demonstrated as part of this assessment. The improvements would be expected to improve traffic flow and therefore reduce per mile emissions of traffic generated by the airport.

13.1.9 Comment: Commercial airports rank as high as smokestack industries in the amount of pollution they release into the environment, yet are excluded from many of the pollution controls and disclosure requirements that equally polluting industries must follow.

**Response:** This is a misperception. Commercial aviation is a highly regulated industry. While there are some areas where federal standards have not been established for airports, most federal air, water, and other environmental regulations and standards currently apply to airports. The FAA specifically regulates aircraft source noise. State and local environmental requirements and permits also apply.

13.1.10 Comment: Tables 2.2-8 and 4.2-1 in the Draft SEIS provide different numbers for trips generated. The Final SEIS should clarify the differences. If they are two distinct categories, traffic volumes associated with the proposed airport could be more significant, which could affect air quality.

Response: The numbers in Table 4.2-1 are the sum of the Proposed Action and the Retained and Conveyed Property Average Daily On-site Trips from Table 2.2-8. These numbers were not used to determine the motor vehicle contribution to air emissions for the Proposed Action and alternatives. Increased motor vehicle emissions were assumed to result from the population increase in Miami-Dade County as a result of reuse of former Homestead AFB. The primary input variable in determining increased emissions was the increase in vehicle miles traveled (VMT). VMT was estimated by multiplying the expected population increase due to the Proposed Action and alternatives by a VMT/person factor, derived from a transportation modeling study conducted by the Miami-Dade County Metropolitan Planning Organization. It was assumed that all of the estimated increase in VMT was due to airport-related trips, as a worst-case analysis. Additional trips to the airport from the existing population were assumed to be redirected trips from other destinations, such as Miami International Airport. Because

all vehicle travel by the existing and projected baseline population is already accounted for in the county's projected emissions, only the reuse-related increase in population would result in an increase in VMT.

## 13.2 Airborne Deposition of Nitrogen Oxides

13.2.1 Comment: A number of commentors used the values in Table 4.8-17 of the Draft SEIS to indicate that nitrogen concentrations would increase by more than 40 times or that nitrogen deposition would increase by more than 40 times in Biscayne National Park or both Biscayne National Park and Everglades National Park.

Response: Nitrogen concentrations were not estimated to increase by more than fortyfold. Table 4.8-17 in Volume I presents the changes in atmospheric concentrations of NO<sub>x</sub> (not the absolute value of atmospheric concentrations of NO<sub>x</sub>) estimated to occur in Biscayne and Everglades National Parks with the Proposed Action. The changes reported in this table were used to estimate changes in nitrogen deposition in the two parks. While the Proposed Action's contribution to NO<sub>x</sub> concentrations would be more than 40 times greater in 2015 than in 2000, this translates to a change in atmospheric nitrogen deposition inputs of about 6 percent in Everglades National Park and 23 percent in Biscayne National Park compared to 1994–1998 levels.

Atmospheric nitrogen deposition is only one source (and a relatively small source compared to surface water discharges) of total nitrogen inputs. The SEIS indicates that nitrogen inputs to Biscayne National Park from atmospheric deposition could increase by 23 percent over existing atmospheric deposition, an amount that represents approximately 1.6 percent of the combined projected baseline nitrogen inputs of Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals. The resulting nitrogen concentrations in Biscayne Bay could not be estimated because of a lack of information on nitrogen conversion processes that occur in the bay. It is thought the change is likely to be closer to 1.6 percent than to 23 percent. See also responses in comment category 15.10.

# 13.3 Emissions Not Regulated Under National Ambient Air Quality Standards

13.3.1 Comment: There are a large number of air pollutants generated by aircraft that are not subject to the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (aldehydes, for example). The SEIS should include an analysis of jet emissions in relation to that deposited within the national parks, South Florida Water Management District lands, Conservation and Recreation Lands projects, and lands owned by Indian tribes.

Response: A variety of pollutants are generated as emissions from internal combustion engines. Available models predict emissions for only a few pollutants, generally those for which there are NAAQS or which contribute to the formation of NAAQS gases such as ozone. Emissions from all sources, including aircraft, are quantified for all reuse alternatives in Section 4.8 of Volume I. Emissions from aircraft were estimated based on USEPA-approved emission factors built into the Emissions and Dispersion Modeling System, the model used to estimate the Proposed Action's contribution to ambient air quality from aircraft operations. The model accounts for emissions during taxiing, takeoff, landing, and idling at the gate, including the different efficiencies that would be experienced during those operations. The effects of these emissions are discussed in the SEIS in relation to the NAAQS, conformity with the Clean Air Act, atmospheric deposition of nitrogen, and potential effects of nitrogen deposition on Biscayne Bay. While there are some USEPA reports that deal with aircraft emissions of pollutants other than NAAQS pollutants, the emissions have not been studied for a wide variety of aircraft, nor is their behavior in the atmosphere sufficiently well understood to estimate where individual chemicals might be deposited, if at all, or what the resulting effects might be on underlying lands.

13.3.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not analyze potential health risks from toxic air emissions associated with the Proposed Action. Rudimentary risk calculations performed for the Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) determined that the proposed airport would likely cause cancer risks to increase 10 to 100 fold and to exceed levels considered significant.

Response: The population risk is expected to be at levels that are at least 10 to 100 times lower than those calculated for the rudimentary risk assessment presented in the NRDC comment. That assessment assumed the entire population would reside at the location of greatest air quality impacts at the proposed airport. The population that would be exposed to toxic air pollutants is a major factor in determining future risk. When conducting a risk assessment, it is overly conservative to assume that all of the population would be exposed to toxic air pollutants at the location of estimated maximum impact, and that such exposure would occur 100 percent of the time over 70 years. The area of maximum impact would be near the main activity at the airport, but no people live there. A small number of people live near the airfield, but most people are some distance away. In either case, the residents would have substantially lower exposures to toxic air pollutants than the concentrations predicted at the location of maximum impact.

The screening level risk assessment for aircraft emissions for the Proposed Action in 2015, as presented in the NRDC comments, has an estimated increase in cancer risk of  $4.1 \times 10^{-6}$ . This means that there would be the potential of approximately four additional cancer cases per million people. This is not an increase of 10 to 100 fold in the cancer risk, since the background cancer risk is approximately 250,000 in a million (that is, about one person in four will contract cancer during his/her lifetime). An estimate of four additional cancer cases would be a nominal increase.

The increased VOC emissions estimated for the Proposed Action are due to expected increases in motor vehicle traffic and aircraft flights associated with the airport. There would be increased VOC emissions under all alternatives except No Action due to increases in motor vehicle traffic. Although the comment assumes that the toxic air pollutant emission fractions for non-aircraft emissions from the airport would be the same as for aircraft, there is no basis for this assumption. As noted in the SEIS, these increases in VOC emissions from the Proposed Action have not taken into account the likely reduction in aircraft emissions as more efficient engines and aircraft are built in the 2015 time frame.

13.3.3 Comment: NRDC conducted a preliminary risk assessment on five chemicals identified as a potential concern in aircraft emissions: benzene, 1,3-butadiene, formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, and benzo(a)pyrene (as a surrogate for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, PAH). Emissions of these compounds in local communities would significantly increase under the Proposed Action.

Response: It is reasonable to conclude that the Proposed Action would not result in a substantial increase in ambient levels of these chemicals. The NRDC's analysis, which estimated that the ambient air compounds would increase about ten times from present levels, assumed that the Proposed Action would be the only source of benzene, 1,3-butadiene, formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, and PAH emissions. This is not a valid assumption. As presented in the SEIS, the estimated VOC emissions from the Proposed Action in 2015 are about 130 tons per year, compared to the estimated VOC emissions from just on-road mobile sources in Miami-Dade County in 2015 of 30,000 tons per year. This does not include non-road mobile or stationary sources of VOCs in the county.

13.3.4 Comment: The Draft SEIS finds that increased activity of aircraft and other mobile sources associated with the Proposed Action would increase the generation of PAHs in the vicinity of former Homestead AFB, and releases from the aircraft during flight would be widely distributed at extremely low concentrations before reaching the earth. The Department of the Interior is concerned that distribution of

PAHs may not be so widely dispersed, and extremely low levels of total PAHs may be enough to cause a biological impact.

Response: Information furnished by the National Park Service was used to estimate the settling of PAHs in the SEIS. This information indicates that PAH particles would fall at rate of about 0.01 meters per second. If a particle were emitted at an altitude of 100 feet, it would take over three-quarters of an hour for it to reach the ground. At a nominal wind velocity of 10 miles per hour, this particle would be carried 8.5 miles before it reached the ground. Since most commercial aircraft taking off from the Homestead airfield would approach an altitude of 500 feet by the end of the runway, particles emitted at that point could travel over 42 miles before hitting the ground. At 2,000 feet altitude, particles could be carried over 160 miles. These distances suggest that PAH deposition in the nearshore areas of Biscayne Bay would result in very low concentrations. While PAH deposition could occur as far away as the western edge of Everglades National Park, concentrations there would be very low because of dispersion.

As the SEIS indicates, aircraft operations are not the only source of PAHs. PAHs are emitted by automobiles, other vehicles, and all petroleum-burning engines. The activities at former Homestead AFB are expected to be a small portion of the PAH generated in the region.

## 13.4 Unburned Fuel Emissions

13.4.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not address the health and environmental impacts of unburned aviation fuel. People who live under the flight path of Miami International Airport see residues from aircraft deposited on their vehicles. Some commentors referred to these emissions as PAHs (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons) or volatile organic compounds.

Response: Concern about the potential for the deposition of soot and oily films from aircraft engine exhausts near airports has been raised at a number of locations. The soot that is alleged to come from jet engine emissions is apparently more related to ground vehicles than aircraft. Recent studies have looked at this issue at Chicago's O'Hare Airport; at Boston's Logan Airport; at the Charlotte, North Carolina Airport; and at the Forth Lauderdale Airport. The most comprehensive of these studies compared the "chemical fingerprint" of ambient air samples taken near the airport with wipe samples from the exhaust of jet aircraft engines and with jet fuel. The deposited particles collected in ambient air samples near the airport bore little chemical resemblance to jet engine fuel or soot from the jet engine exhaust. It was concluded in all of these studies that the soot and oily deposits were chemically more closely related to motor vehicle exhaust and other urban sources than to aircraft emissions or fuels.

These deposits are not composed of PAHs, although PAHs are a component of the unburned hydrocarbons emitted from jet engines. Section 4.8 in Volume I estimates increases in VOCs in connection with the proposed airport and discusses PAHs.

13.4.2 Comment: The almost constant fine rain of unburned jet fuel would quickly coat the sensitive vegetation and foul the shallow warm bay with its weak tidal exchange.

Response: While emissions from aircraft engines do contain minute amounts of uncombusted fuel, a "rain" of unburned does not occur. Airborne emissions from aircraft operations are quickly dissipated. The FAA receives a number of concerns regarding unburned fuel and deposition of soot or oily films from the exhaust of aircraft engines near airports. Recent studies that looked at this issue indicated that the deposited particles collected in ambient air quality samples near the airport bore little chemical resemblance to jet engine fuel or soot from jet engine exhausts. The deposits were chemically more closely related to motor vehicle exhaust and other urban sources than to aircraft emissions or fuels. See also response to comment 13.4.1.

R-119 Final SEIS

## 13.5 Air Quality Impacts on National Parks

13.5.1 Comment: Everglades National Park is a Class I Prevention of Significant Deterioration (PSD) area under the Clean Air Act. Any appreciable deterioration in air quality is considered significant. Federal agencies are under an affirmative responsibility to protect air quality-related values of these areas. The Draft SEIS contains insufficient discussion concerning impacts of the Proposed Action on visibility and other air quality-related values in both Everglades and Biscayne National Parks. The Draft SEIS focused principally on the fact that PSD regulations only apply to stationary sources and not to mobile sources. The document failed to take a hard look at the environmental impacts of increased ozone, as required by the National Environmental Policy Act.

**Response:** The SEIS did take a hard look at the environmental impacts of increased ozone. Ozone and other haze-producing chemicals are secondary pollutants that take a considerable amount of time to form. Emissions must combine, and then photochemical reactions in the presence of sunlight must occur to form these pollutants. This process typically occurs over a several-hour period, as the emissions are transported downwind.

For the Proposed Action, the emissions would be spread over a considerable horizontal and vertical distance from aircraft takeoffs, landings, and taxiing; motor vehicles driving to and from the airport; and other emissions sources at the airport. Because the emissions would be dispersed, any formation of ozone and other haze-producing chemicals is likely to occur many miles downwind, with a minimal effect on the two national parks. The Proposed Action at full buildout is estimated to contribute less than 1 percent to the ambient concentration of  $NO_x$  at the eastern edge of Everglades National Park, where aircraft emissions would be the most concentrated. The contribution to VOC concentrations would be less. Therefore, ozone concentrations in the park would increase by at most 1 percent as a result of the Proposed Action.

In addition, it is difficult to determine increases in ozone concentrations from a single project. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency uses a photochemical grid model, called the Urban Airshed Model (UAM), to estimate ozone concentrations on a regional basis. It is not appropriate to use the model to determine if a single source will increase concentrations of ozone. The most appropriate use of the UAM model is for regional long-term planning purposes by regulatory agencies.

In Florida, compliance with the ozone standard is based on an emissions cap: a countywide emissions inventory for VOCs and  $NO_x$  taken in 1990, when there were no violations of the ozone standard. It was assumed that if Miami-Dade County could limit VOC and  $NO_x$  emissions to the 1990 levels, then the ozone standard would be met.

The analysis for the Proposed Action estimated the emissions increase due to the Proposed Action for 2000, 2005, and 2015 and added it to the projected baseline Miami-Dade County mobile source emissions for the same years. It was found that countywide emissions, including the Proposed Action, would still meet the emissions limits. Therefore, it was expected that the ozone standards in Miami-Dade County would continue to be met, and visibility and other air quality related values (AQRV) in Everglades National Park are not expected to change discernibly as a result of the Proposed Action.

As Section 3.8.4 in Volume I indicates, the Clean Air Act provides for only minor increases in pollutants in Class I PSD areas like Everglades National Park from stationary emissions sources. No stationary sources have been identified in connection with the Proposed Action that are likely to increase pollutants in Everglades National Park. The Clean Air Act charges federal land managers (which, in the case of Everglades National Park, is the National Park Service) with an affirmative responsibility to protect

AQRVs of these areas. The National Park Service has conducted an AQRV analysis for Everglades National Park and monitors a number of air quality parameters to protect sensitive resources in the park.

### 14.0 EARTH RESOURCES

There were no comments specifically related to earth resources. Some comments raised questions about topographic, geologic, or soils conditions, but they were in the context of another resource, such as water resources, and are addressed in connection with those resource topics.

### 15.0 WATER RESOURCES

Water resources issues received the largest number of comments. They ranged from water quality in Military Canal, to changes in the volume of surface and groundwater flows, to changes in water quality in Biscayne Bay, and comments on water quality standards. Dividing up the large number of comments into topical groups was challenging because of the interrelationships between surface water and groundwater flows and their impacts on water quality in Biscayne Bay. For purposes of organizing responses, the comments are grouped into ten sections.

The first section (15.1) addresses comments specific to Military Canal. This is followed by sections addressing stormwater management plans (15.2), surface water discharges (15.3), and storms and flooding (15.4). Following the discussions pertaining to the surface water analysis is a section addressing comments pertaining to the analysis of groundwater flows (15.5).

It was felt that water quality issues are inextricably related to the net effects of surface water and groundwater together. Therefore, comments on water quality (i.e., chemical pollutants) are addressed separately from surface and groundwater flow considerations. Section 15.6 addresses water quality standards and is followed by 15.7 addressing changes in water quality. Separate sections are provided on fuel and chemical spills (15.8), drinking water sources (15.9), and increases in nitrogen loads (15.10).

Water quality changes can affect biological resources. Comments concerning the effects of these changes on biota are addressed in the Biological Resources category (16.0).

## 15.1 Military Canal

15.1.1 Comment: There is a discussion in Section 3.10 of the Draft SEIS regarding a Task Force's evaluation of whether to redo a risk assessment for Military Canal. There is no discussion of what will be done with the work when completed.

**Response:** The Task Force recommended that a Feasibility Study be undertaken to identify methods that could be used to remediate Military Canal. The Air Force is proceeding with the Feasibility Study. A draft report was issued in August 2000.

15.1.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS indicates that there are more sources of stormwater runoff to Military Canal than the former base. What is the magnitude of the other sources?

**Response:** No studies have been conducted to estimate the relative contributions of different water sources to the flow in Military Canal. The fact that the base is drained by a series of canals into Military Canal, while the land east of the base primarily drains through small ditches and canals to L-31E, suggests that the predominant flow in Military Canal is more than likely from the former base.

15.1.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not reference the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) Region 4 Military Canal Special Study, Homestead Air Force Base, Florida. Conclusions regarding water and sediment in Military Canal could be altered with the incorporation of these data.

**Response:** The final USEPA study was released too late to incorporate into the Draft SEIS, but data on which the report was based were available and incorporated into Section 3.10 of the Draft SEIS. The findings on water and sediment in Military Canal were based partly on these data. The study was obtained and reviewed to determine whether changes needed to be made in the data presented in Section 3.10 or in the findings. The Final SEIS has been updated to include the study.

15.1.4 Comment: Water quality data and sediment quality data in the vicinity of former Homestead AFB rely heavily on earlier studies performed by Air Force consultants in connection with remedial investigation of Military Canal. Miami-Dade County, state, and federal agencies have found those studies to be inadequate. More recent data and agency reports have been omitted or included only in a superficial manner in the Draft SEIS. Multiple studies using a variety of toxicity assessments have documented statistically significant ecological effects in the Boundary Canal system, Military Canal, and south Biscayne Bay. The USEPA has determined that the contamination in Military Canal is linked to sources associated with former base operations, and that the contamination represents an ecological risk to Biscayne Bay. The offshore coral reefs will be threatened by the airport's runoff.

**Response:** The Air Force has committed, as an action unrelated to the reuse of former Homestead AFB, to conduct a Feasibility Study for remediation of Military Canal. Remediation of Military Canal would reduce the loads of contaminants entering Biscayne Bay from the former base. This remediation is not considered part of the federal property disposal action and will occur irrespective of property disposal decisions.

The SEIS presents information from several studies on Military Canal, including studies by Miami-Dade County, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and USEPA. Additional information on the USEPA study, which had not been completed at the time the Draft SEIS was prepared, has been added to the Final SEIS. This reinterpreted data does not alter conclusions about the disposal of former base property. Decisions on remediation will be made separately from the property disposal decision, with input from appropriate regulatory agencies and on these data sets.

15.1.5 Comment: The USEPA concluded the stormwater discharge canal draining from Homestead Air Reserve Station into Biscayne Bay is contaminated with radioactive materials.

**Response:** USEPA has not concluded that Homestead ARS stormwater discharge canal is contaminated with radioactive contaminants.

15.1.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not recognize that contaminant transport by sediment resuspension would occur both on site and off site. Data in the Draft SEIS noting variable contaminant levels in Military Canal, and existing contamination near the outfall canals, support arguments that sediments are transported and migrate. In fact, the Draft SEIS concluded that sediment resuspension in Military Canal can and does transport contaminants.

**Response:** Section 3.10 in Volume I acknowledges that elevated concentrations of some metals in the water column of Military Canal, probably caused by occasional resuspension of sediments during high flows or wind-induced mixing, suggest some transport of contaminants probably occurs over extended periods of time. However, there has not been sufficient sampling to identify how frequently this occurs. The fact that many of the remaining contaminants date from discharges that occurred a long time ago (e.g., chemicals that have not been used for decades) suggests that past sediment transport has been

limited, otherwise these contaminants would have been scoured out long ago. In any event, the Air Force is conducting a Feasibility Study to determine how best to remediate Military Canal.

15.1.7 Comment: Flows from Military Canal would increase and likely contain soluble pollutants and resuspended toxic-contaminated sediments.

**Response:** The analysis described in the SEIS indicates that flows and loads from Military Canal would decrease with the proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan.

## 15.2 Stormwater Management Plans Included in the Alternatives

This section addresses comments on the stormwater management system incorporated in the analysis of each reuse alternative.

15.2.1 Comment: Several comments focused on the Draft SEIS' reliance on the Proposed Action's Surface Water Management Master Plan, expressing concern that there was no evaluation of the plan. Commentors were concerned that the Draft SEIS assumed that reductions identified for the first stage of airport development were simply assumed to apply to all later stages of development.

Response: The Surface Water Management Master Plan was developed as part of the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) Environmental Resource Permit process and is a requirement for obtaining a permit from SFWMD. Although the elements were designed as part of Phase 1 development, the SEIS used the characteristics of the Surface Water Management Master Plan to determine what the consequences of further development would be, assuming no further changes to the plan. The analysis did not assume anything about additional stormwater management activities that might occur on the former base. Input parameters, such as increases in impervious surface and pollutant buildup for different land uses, were all incorporated into the model.

The SEIS acknowledges that elements of the Surface Water Management Master Plan could be changed prior to implementation. SFWMD has made it clear in comments on the Draft SEIS that a comprehensive stormwater management plan would be required, irrespective of what entity receives the disposal property. It is reasonable to assume that whatever plan would be required would be at least as effective as the plan currently proposed.

15.2.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumed the county's proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan would be highly effective, but little information about the plan is included in the Draft SEIS. The document did not contain an adequate discussion of the design standards of the stormwater plan. The Draft SEIS did not address the likelihood that the plan will be effective in achieving the proposed reductions or evaluate whether the plan is compatible with the proposed site.

Response: The SEIS does not make any assumptions about the effectiveness of the proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan. The estimated reductions that would be achieved by the Surface Water Management Master Plan were calculated, not "assumed." The actual proposed design elements of the plan, as presented in the "Homestead Regional Airport (HST) Surface Water Management Master Plan (Volumes 1–3)" and "Supplemental to April 1998 Homestead Regional Airport (HST) Surface Water Management Master Plan," both prepared in 1998 by Post, Buckley, Shuh & Jernigan, Inc., were used to model stormwater flows with the Surface Water Management Model (SWMM) to derive the results reported in the SEIS.

The SWMM is a state-of-the-art, USEPA-approved hydrologic model commonly used in Florida to evaluate the performance of stormwater management practices. It is a computer model that uses drainage

system configurations and takes time-varying meteorological inputs to estimate total discharges and chemical loadings. The SWMM in effect did evaluate the performance of the county's proposed plan by calculating stormwater flows and loads based on the proposed development and the structural elements specified in the plan. No incompatibility with the proposed site was identified.

Persons wishing more detailed information about the plan are referred to the documents cited above, which are listed in the SEIS References (Chapter 5 in Volume I). Those documents were submitted to South Florida Water Management District.

15.2.3 Comment: The assumptions pertaining to the county's proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan used in the SEIS analysis are not explained or evaluated.

**Response:** The county has developed a number of scenarios in preparing its proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan. The scenario selected for analysis in the SEIS ("Scenario 2") was derived from the most recent supplement to the plan (October 1998), which forms the basis of the county's outstanding application for an Environmental Resource Permit from South Florida Water Management District.

15.2.4 Comment: The design standards for the Surface Water Management Master Plan are inadequate because they use conservative rainfall figures, high evaporation amounts, unreasonable base levels for the present and future, and do not use reasonable stormwater levels outside the catchment areas. Elevated regional groundwater levels following major rainfall events are not recognized.

Response: SWMM, the model that was used to estimate stormwater flows from the former base, is a time-varying model. It requires time-varying inputs in order to function accurately. While it may appear that a time-variant analysis was not used because only annual numbers are reported in the SEIS, annual averages were not used for any parameters in the model except impervious surface in the years analyzed and hydraulic heads at the boundary. The rainfall used in the model, as stated in Section 3.10 of Volume I, was the daily rainfall for 1988, the year that was determined to be most representative of rainfall for the years evaluated. The evaporation rates used were average monthly pan evaporation rates that vary with temperature and humidity. Over a year, evaporation is approximately 36.5 percent of rainfall, but both lower and higher evaporation rates were used in the model, depending on the time of year.

The model used fixed hydraulic heads as boundary conditions because the data needed to specify variable hydraulic heads are not available. In the absence of these data, using fixed hydraulic heads as boundary conditions is standard practice and reasonable.

It is true that the groundwater model did not account for the temporary high water tables and flow rates during storm events. It is estimated that groundwater from the former base will take more than 30 years to reach Biscayne Bay, and a steady state model is sufficiently accurate to model groundwater flows over this time scale.

15.2.5 Comment: Stormwater drainage plans for the proposed airport at former Homestead AFB have not been finalized. The possibility of replumbing to route stormwater through wetlands east of the former base has not been addressed.

Response: The SEIS used the Surface Water Management Master Plan prepared by PBS&J under contract to Miami-Dade County, which is assumed to reflect the county's most current intent. It is acknowledged that this plan has not been approved by South Florida Water Management District and is the subject of a lawsuit challenging the SFWMD's staff's recommendation to grant an Environmental Resource Permit to the county. The outcome of the lawsuit has not yet been determined.

Although details of the plan are yet to be finalized and could change as a result of the lawsuit and/or further deliberation by SFWMD, it is reasonable to assume that any plan that would be approved would perform at least as well as the current plan with regard to stormwater retention on the former base. If the amount of stormwater retained is at least as great as that achieved by the current plan, the flows and loads of surface water discharged from the former base would be no greater than those documented in the SEIS. If greater amounts of stormwater were retained on base, the potential for increased ammonia to enter Biscayne Bay through groundwater would be increased, unless specific additional stormwater treatment was also required.

Possible replumbing to route stormwater through wetlands east of the base property has not been designed past a conceptual stage by Miami-Dade County, SFWMD, or the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Stormwater treatment and distribution areas have been mentioned as possible actions in the cumulative impacts analysis (particularly in the Water Resources and Biological Resources sections), but the designs for such projects must be further along than they currently are in order to evaluate the impacts. The uncertainty associated with both the design and the probability and timing of implementation of any of these projects precludes more definitive statements on their impacts.

15.2.6 Comment: Stormwater management for development of the Proposed Action beyond Phase I would require a large amount of land and would affect biological resources. Perhaps the Draft SEIS intended that the stormwater treatment and distribution area (STDA) proposed by the county would be for these purposes.

Response: This comment is based on an unexplained and unsubstantiated assumption that the stormwater management system for the Proposed Action would require large amounts of land. The county currently has no plans for stormwater treatment beyond those contained in the proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan. The SEIS estimates changes in stormwater flows and loads in future years under the assumption that there would be no additional stormwater management activities associated with the Proposed Action other than that presented in the Surface Water Management Master Plan. Under that assumption, impacts on biological resources would be minimal. There was no assumption that any STDA would be used to treat stormwater from the former base. The SEIS assumes that South Florida Water Management District would determine the adequacy of the plan through its permit process. If an STDA were to be constructed, it could be located on former base property and have little impact on biological resources. There are also other measures that could be taken to increase stormwater retention. Even if an STDA were constructed off site, the effects on biological resources would be expected to be largely beneficial and consistent with ecosystem restoration.

15.2.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS skews the analysis in favor of the Proposed Action by assuming the Mixed Use alternative will not include a stormwater management system for the site.

**Response:** The Draft SEIS analyzed five reuse scenarios (not including the No Action alternative). Of those five, it was assumed that four would involve a stormwater management system similar to that developed for the Proposed Action, because such a plan is required by regulation. It was assumed that two scenarios under the Mixed Use alternative would require a comprehensive stormwater plan, the Collier Resources Company proposal and the Hoover Environmental Group plan. The only alternative that assumed no comprehensive stormwater plan was the Market-Driven scenario under which the surplus property would be disposed of incrementally in small parcels.

15.2.8 Comment: The section evaluating the Mixed Use alternative and impacts to water resources assumes that there will be no stormwater management system required for the proposed facilities. Permits are required for any work that reduces recharge of the aquifer or for the construction, installation, or alternation of any outfall or overflow system on, under, or upon any water body, including lakes and

R-125 Final SEIS

canals. Permits are also required for drainage systems in non-residential properties. Any surface water management plan should be designed to meet the Outstanding Florida Water requirements of Biscayne Bay. Water quality and quantity impacts associated with the Mixed Use proposal must be reevaluated.

**Response:** The Mixed Use alternative addressed in the Draft SEIS included three potential scenarios: a Market-Driven scenario, a proposal submitted by Collier Resources Company, and a plan developed by the Hoover Environmental Group. Of those three, only the Market-Driven scenario was assumed to have no sitewide stormwater management system. The other two were assumed to have systems comparable to the Proposed Action.

The Market-Driven scenario assumes that the disposal property would likely be broken up into a number of smaller properties, each of which would need to comply with existing Miami-Dade County permitting requirements. With the information available, it was not possible to determine how a number of property owners would join forces to develop a stormwater management program that would be comparable to the Surface Water Master Management Plan developed for the Proposed Action. It was therefore surmised that the quantity and quality of water discharged to Military Canal would be more like what has been described for the Market-Driven scenario than for the Proposed Action, the Commercial Spaceport alternative, or the other Mixed Use scenarios.

Under the new joint Collier-Hoover proposal, a single entity would presumably be responsible for stormwater management on the disposal property, although what that entity might entail has not yet been determined. Because of the focus of the proposal on water and stormwater management, it is expected the Collier-Hoover proposal would more nearly resemble the performance attained by the Surface Water Management Master Plan as described for the Proposed Action. The method of achieving this performance level, however, would be different from the methods used for the Proposed Action and has not yet been designed to the level of detail of the county's plan. The Environmental Resource Permit process is the appropriate mechanism for ensuring compliance with Outstanding Florida Waters requirements.

15.2.9 Comment: Runoff and mitigation issues are not being addressed in the Collier-Hoover plan in the Draft SEIS.

**Response:** The Collier proposal and Hoover plan both proposed use of on-site canals for water storage. Although the joint Collier-Hoover proposal added to the Final SEIS is somewhat different from either of the original plans presented in the Draft SEIS, on-site wetlands and canals in the revised plan are intended to provide several thousand acre-feet of storage.

15.2.10 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not address operations or maintenance responsibilities for different landowner/entities sharing stormwater management facilities on the former base or the integration of existing facilities into a master stormwater plan.

**Response:** The SEIS reports the information available from the Miami-Dade County Surface Water Management Master Plan for Homestead and the plans submitted by other reuse proponents. Many of these details have not yet been determined. The Air Force assumes that landowners will be responsible for complying with applicable regulations and requirements concerning stormwater management on their properties.

15.2.11 Comment: Surface water management plans should be required for the secondary development.

**Response:** Secondary development would be similar to and interspersed with ongoing residential, commercial, and other development in the region and could not be adequately separated out to develop a stormwater management plan specifically for this development.

15.2.12 Comment: Based on an analysis of the implementing rules administered by South Florida Water Management District, insufficient information is available for staff to evaluate the consistency of the Proposed Action and the other redevelopment alternatives with the District's Environmental Resource Permit rules and criteria.

**Response:** The recipients of the land at former Homestead AFB will need to comply with applicable Environmental Resource Permit requirements before the land is developed.

15.2.13 Comment: In some circumstances, the Draft SEIS attempts to conclude that the Proposed Action will improve the general quality of the water resources surrounding the base. At least in part, this conclusion appears driven by the Air Force's improper definition of the No Action alternative as the existing polluted site—not a remediated site. Comparison of the Proposed Action with a remediated site would better identify the significant environmental impacts of the Proposed Action.

Response: The commentor's point is unclear. The analysis indicates that certain aspects of water quality can be improved through a surface water management plan like that proposed by Miami-Dade County for the Proposed Action. The analysis does not predict water quality improvements based on remediation of existing contaminated sites on or off base, and it does not attribute any such improvements to the Proposed Action. There is no evidence that existing contamination at former Homestead AFB appreciably affects the concentration of pollutants in either surface water or in groundwater away from the immediate vicinity of the contaminated sites themselves. Therefore, remediating the sites is not expected to reduce baseline pollutant concentrations to the extent that it would change conclusions concerning the Proposed Action and alternatives. Thus, the only improvements in water quality identified for the Proposed Action and alternatives are attributable to the implementation of a comprehensive stormwater management system such as the Surface Water Management Master Plan incorporated in the Proposed Action. The No Action alternative does not include such a plan. The Air Force believes that the No Action alternative has been defined correctly.

15.2.14 Comment: The stormwater treatment and distribution area (STDA) proposed by Miami-Dade County is not intended to serve as the required water treatment area for former Homestead AFB. No Environmental Resource Permit application has been submitted for this STDA.

**Response:** The SEIS does not present the STDA proposed by Miami-Dade County as part of the reuse of former Homestead AFB but as an independent project considered in the cumulative impact analysis. The analysis of the Proposed Action and alternatives was not based on the implementation of the STDA.

Miami-Dade County has proposed the STDA as a method of improving water quality and the pattern of water discharge to Biscayne Bay. The notional area described in the SEIS only happens to lie near former Homestead AFB; it is not intended as a method of specifically dealing with Military Canal discharges.

Miami-Dade County has had a conceptual design developed for a trial area within the area shown in Figure 2.8-2 in Volume I, but it has not proceeded with further development of the concept nor has it submitted a permit application to SFWMD. The text in Section 2.8 has been revised to reflect these facts.

15.2.15 Comment: The Draft SEIS implies that the L-31E Flowway Redistribution Project will mitigate impacts from reuse of former Homestead AFB. The L-31E redistribution project is not related to reuse of former base property.

Response: For the purpose of conducting a cumulative impacts analysis, the L-31E Flowway Redistribution Project is described in Section 2.8 of Volume I as an independent project that may occur in the region of influence. The cumulative impacts analysis in an environmental impact statement is required by Council on Environmental Quality regulations to address the incremental impact of an action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future actions. The SEIS discusses how this project may interact with the reuse of former Homestead AFB and reports estimated cumulative effects. It does not imply that the L-31E project is intended to mitigate impacts from reuse of the former base.

15.2.16 Comment: Regardless of which reuse alternative is selected, it must eliminate or significantly reduce reliance on Military Canal and discharges to Biscayne Bay, provide a master stormwater management plan for the former base, include a comprehensive water quality monitoring program, and develop an integrated area-wide land use and water management watershed plan.

**Response:** These actions have either been incorporated into the alternatives or been identified as possible mitigation measures in the Final SEIS. Any future development of the property would have to comply with applicable permitting requirements of SFWMD or Miami-Dade County.

## 15.3 Analysis of Surface Water Discharges

15.3.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS appears to be inconsistent in determining rates of stormwater generation per impervious acre.

Response: This comment is too vague to ascertain the nature of any inconsistencies or errors, or to correct them. The SEIS was reviewed and no inconsistencies were found. For development off base (for projected baseline, secondary, and cumulative growth), it was assumed that 5 acre-feet of runoff would be generated per impervious acre; that is, all rainfall that falls on an impervious acre would become stormwater. For impervious acres on the former base, the amount is somewhat less because losses associated with percolation to groundwater and evaporation are included in the model used to estimate discharges from the former base. Thus, the runoff figures presented in the SEIS for the former base would be lower per impervious acre than those presented for off-site growth, and probably more realistic because they account for some level of evaporation and infiltration. The net effect is a probable conservatively high estimation of stormwater discharges in the SEIS.

15.3.2 Comment: Several comments indicated that the annual average evaporation rate used in the Draft SEIS is too high. The average evaporation rates would be lower because of a lack of vegetation in retention basins and the fact that lower evaporation rates occur during periods of high rainfall.

Response: The Surface Water Management Model approved by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, which was used in the SEIS analysis, takes variations in evapotranspiration rates into account. The evapotranspiration rates used in the SWMM were calculated by the model based on monthly data on temperature and humidity. The rates employed were monthly, not annual averages and accounted for both wet and dry seasons. A comparison of the model's monthly evapotranspiration rates with published measured monthly pan evaporation rates indicates that the model rates were about 10 percent lower than published rates. Pan evaporation rates do not incorporate vegetation. Therefore, it does not appear that the rates used were overestimates of actual evaporation rates.

15.3.3 Comment: In the past 70 years, sea level has risen about 0.7 feet. It is not apparent that continuing rises in sea level have been accounted for in assessing surface water and groundwater dynamics or the effectiveness of the proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan. It is also not clear what sea level was assumed in the evaluation of the Surface Water Management Master Plan.

Response: The sea levels used for groundwater modeling are those used by South Florida Water Management District in their analyses. The model outputs were consistent with available recent well water levels measured in the area and are believed to reasonably reflect existing conditions. Projected sea level rise of approximately 0.1 feet per decade has not been accounted for in the projections of surface water and groundwater discharges to Biscayne Bay from the former base. Over the time scale of the analysis (to 2015), sea level could rise by 0.15 feet, and this change is within the error margin of the predictions. A rise in sea level would have two counteracting effects on groundwater flows: (1) reducing the hydraulic gradient that determines the rate of groundwater flow, and (2) increasing the hydraulic gradient by retaining more water in the canals that discharge to Biscayne Bay. The complexities of these interactions are not sufficiently well known to predict what the net changes would be, particularly within the time frame of the analysis. In the longer term, sea level rise would increase the chances of storm surge flooding of the former base as well as all coastal areas worldwide.

Sea level rise is not germane to the amount of stormwater runoff that would be generated off site because of secondary development, because the estimates are based on the assumption that all rain falling on impervious surface would run off and discharge into the bay. A rise in sea level would not change these estimates.

15.3.4 Comment: Were projected baseline flows and loads in Table 3.10-19 of the Draft SEIS based on the 19,000 acres of development referenced in Table 2.8-2? Table 3.10-19 should be revised to show incremental flows and loads from Mowry, Princeton, and Military Canals to Biscayne Bay resulting from combined on-site and off-site development projected for the reuse alternatives.

**Response:** Table 3.10-19 in Volume I of the Draft SEIS presented increases in baseline flows and loads without additional reuse at former Homestead AFB. In the Final SEIS, the information in Table 3.10-19 has been revised, and the table number has been changed to 3.10-14. These increases are not based on Table 2.8-2, which presents the high-growth population forecasts, but on moderate growth forecasts presented in Tables 2.1-9 and 2.1-10, which projects about 8,475 acres of future baseline development. The analysis of impacts from high-growth forecasts is contained in Section 4.10.

15.3.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS significantly underestimates the amount of secondary development and therefore the amount of stormwater generated and discharged as a result of secondary development induced by the airport.

**Response:** No specific information has been provided to demonstrate that the estimated secondary development in the SEIS is inaccurate or unreasonable, nor has any substantiation been provided for other, higher estimates suggested by some commentors. The SEIS actually took a conservative approach (erring on the high side) to estimating stormwater discharges from secondary development by (1) assuming all secondary development would be concentrated in the Princeton and Mowry Canal watersheds, and (2) assuming all rainfall would become stormwater.

15.3.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not address the impact on water quality and stormwater flow of development closer to Biscayne Bay.

Response: The SEIS acknowledges that development could occur outside the Urban Development Boundary, but most of the land closer to Biscayne Bay is protected and cannot be developed. Even if it

were, there are no fundamental reasons why locations closer to the bay would have more (or less) impact on water quality or stormwater flows than locations farther away. Differences in water quality and stormwater flow would be determined more by stormwater management practices than location. If stormwater is retained near the site where it is generated, then surface water flows would be reduced and water quality would be improved. This is true whether the retention occurs 10 miles from Biscayne Bay or on its shores. The SEIS takes a conservative approach to estimating stormwater flows from off-site secondary development associated with reuse of former Homestead AFB and probably somewhat overestimates the increase in stormwater discharges and resulting water quality effects.

15.3.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not consider the impacts of secondary development on canals other than Princeton and Mowry Canals. Specifically, canals north and south of Princeton and Mowry Canals and C-111 were ignored.

Response: It was assumed that secondary development would occur only in the Princeton and Mowry Canal watersheds for two reasons: first, the greatest intensity of secondary development would probably occur near the former base, and second, concentrating secondary development in the two watersheds adjacent to the former base is a conservative approach that would tend to yield conservatively high estimates of the potential impacts. The estimated increases in water flows are also very conservative (err on the high side) because they assume all rain that falls on impervious surface would run off and none would evaporate or infiltrate to groundwater.

The C-111 canal was not included in the analysis because it is more distant from the former base than Princeton and Mowry Canals, the impacts on the flows of C-111 would probably be considerably less than impacts on flows of Princeton and Mowry Canals, and the amount of secondary development that might occur solely in the C-111 watershed could not be separately estimated.

15.3.8 Comment: Miami-Dade County Department of Environmental Resources Management (DERM) does not agree with the recommendation for a stormwater treatment and distribution area as potential mitigation for the Proposed Action. DERM supports the concept of on-site stormwater management systems and does not believe that an STDA is an effective means of treating toxic chemical contamination.

Response: The reason the STDA was mentioned as a possible mitigation is that, if stormwater were retained on site, some portion of the stormwater would percolate to groundwater and would flow eastward to Biscayne Bay. The nitrogen in this groundwater would essentially be converted to ammonia, and ammonia toxicity, particularly in sediments as groundwater mixes with bay water, was expressed as a concern in comments. The STDA would remove much of the nutrients in the water (through uptake by plants) prior to it percolating to groundwater, thus alleviating some of the concern about ammonia toxicity. There would be a tradeoff associated with the STDA—potential accumulation of metals and other pollutants that would be discharged from the former base through Military Canal.

The proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan, the type of plan most likely to be implemented if the former base becomes a commercial airport, would retain on base approximately 30 percent of the current flow to Military Canal. An STDA would help treat the nutrients and other pollutants in the water discharged to Military Canal, even with the plan. Without an STDA, the portion of the retained water that percolated to groundwater would not have nitrogen removed to any appreciable degree and would potentially contribute to nitrogen toxicity in nearshore Biscayne Bay water.

15.3.9 Comment: The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency commented that the development of a stormwater treatment and distribution area is essential. Routing the canal discharge into the STDA,

combined with remediation of Military Canal, appears to be an excellent way to address many of the environmental concerns about potential degradation of water quality in Biscayne National Park.

**Response:** USEPA recommendations are noted and will be carefully considered by the Air Force and FAA during decision making.

### 15.4 Effects of Storms and Flooding

15.4.1 Comment: Several commentors indicated that the consequences of the failure of the Surface Water Management Master Plan to handle large storm events were not analyzed. Pollutant loadings during large storms, particularly those with storm surges that would flood the base, would be significant.

Response: The Surface Water Management Master Plan as proposed by Miami-Dade County has been extensively tested through computer models developed by Miami-Dade County, and the model and results of the testing have been reviewed by South Florida Water Management District. The plan was designed to contain all of the runoff from a 25 year storm, the design criterion required by SFWMD. Both Miami-Dade County and SFWMD appear satisfied, to the extent possible by computer model runs, that the plan would operate as intended.

The analysis in the SEIS also took the information from the county's modeling efforts and evaluated changes that would occur on the former base under all of the alternatives. The results of these modeling efforts are presented in the SEIS. Using daily rainfall inputs from 1988, a representative year, the model output was similar to that obtained by the county for the site. While intense storm events would probably carry higher pollutant loadings than more average storm events, the Surface Water Management Model calculates loadings on a storm-by-storm basis, so annual loadings reported in the SEIS incorporate the range of storms that occurred in 1988. That year was considered to be most representative of average conditions in southern Florida. In years with fewer, less intense storms, loadings could be lower. In years with a larger number of more intense storms (or one very intense storm), loadings could be higher. Because stormwater discharges from all other areas in southern Florida would be subject to the same extreme storm events as the former base and would respond with higher discharges with more intense storms, however, the relative contribution of the former base to stormwater discharges and chemical loadings to Biscayne Bay would not change appreciably from those reported in the SEIS.

It is not possible in south Florida to retain all stormwater on a property during very large storms. During those storms, rain falls at a faster rate than the rate at which water can infiltrate to groundwater. So some surface water runoff has to occur. This is the reason that some discharge to Military Canal is predicted. The Surface Water Management Master Plan developed for the Proposed Action was designed to meet regulatory requirements and retain as much stormwater on site as possible without inundating the runway and taxiways and affecting airfield operations (including continued military and government missions).

During extreme storm surges, water on the former base and water from Biscayne Bay would commingle, and contamination of Biscayne Bay waters would result. The only measure that could be used to prevent this occurrence would be to construct a high berm along the southern and eastern border of the former base. The benefits of such a berm would likely be limited. While washoff of pollutants from the former base during storm surges might result in widespread contamination if a very large spill occurred during the storm, the area that would be flooded by storm surges (the southeastern part of the base) is not an area where large spills are likely to occur.

15.4.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS seems to underestimate the extent of potential rainfall Homestead could experience during extreme storms. Considering that Tropical Storm Irene, just last year, dropped

14.57 inches of rain within 24 hours, the statement in the Draft SEIS that the 100 year 72 hour storm will generate 14.9 inches of rain seems low.

Response: The data on the size of storms at various recurrence intervals were taken from the Surface Water Management Master Plan. The source of the figures in the Surface Water Management Master Plan was South Florida Water Management District's Management and Storage of Surface Waters Permit Information Manual—Volume IV. The source was checked, and the numbers presented in the SEIS are correct.

15.4.3 Comment: During extreme storm events (summer and winter) in south Florida, groundwater flow rates can be greater due to an increase in hydraulic head from fresh water infiltration. The Draft SEIS did not address and analyze these storm-induced flow rate changes.

**Response:** No data are available that allow the prediction of temporal variations in groundwater flow rates. Although groundwater flows would increase during storm events, this would not change average annual groundwater flow and contaminant transport to Biscayne Bay and is not an appropriate basis for modeling. Year-to-year variations in groundwater flow rates are probably larger than variations in flow rates caused by storms.

15.4.4 Comment: How can the Draft SEIS predict a no-impact conclusion from fuel or other chemical spills, particularly given the proximity of the base to Biscayne Bay and susceptibility to storm surge flooding?

**Response:** Section 4.10 in Volume I indicates that spills on the former base would generally be containable by the nature of the site and its surface water management system. This section acknowledges that spills associated with storm surges accompanying large hurricanes would have the capability of transporting spilled materials directly to Biscayne Bay. Should storm surges result in Biscayne Bay waters reaching the former base, the wind and wave energy would be sufficiently intense to distribute spilled pollutants over a wide area.

15.4.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS analysis dismisses the potential for significant contamination of Biscayne Bay National Park because of expected dilution during extreme weather events.

**Response:** The SEIS indicates that pollutants washed off the former base site during flooding would be widely dispersed over areas to the south and east and Biscayne Bay. Contamination could be widespread if a sufficiently large spill occurred during extreme weather events. The probability of such an event is small. Aircraft, particularly commercial aircraft, are evacuated as a matter of course from areas where extreme storms are expected.

During Hurricane Andrew, there was a spill of 2,000 gallons of aircraft fuel from an aircraft that was severely damaged just outside a hangar. There is no indication that any of this fuel was washed off of the base property. The fuel was apparently retained in the soils immediately around the hangar. Similar accidents could occur in the future, but the effects would also be expected to be similar. The possibility of an aircraft being in a position (e.g., at the south end of the runway) during a severe storm is unlikely. The SEIS does not imply that impacts are appropriate because they would be diluted, but if fuel were released under these circumstances, it would be widely dispersed, and biological impacts would not be extensive.

15.4.6 Comment: Flooding is a common occurrence in the region. What assurances are there that flood waters would not be contaminated by the airport?

**Response:** Drainage at former Homestead AFB is a separate, self-contained system that is isolated from surrounding areas. Any flooding that occurred (except during extreme weather events such as hurricanes) would drain into the on-site canals.

15.4.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not state what effect, if any, a 100 year flood would have on the alternatives for the reuse of the former base property.

**Response:** The potential effects of flooding, particularly with regard to fuel spills during floods, are discussed in Sections 4.10 and 4.11 of Volume I. During a 100 year flood, standing water on the runway could be expected to restrict its use for aircraft or spacecraft operations. Otherwise, South Florida Water Management District regulations specify the minimum heights above National Geodetic Vertical Datum that are required for roads and buildings. Providing those minimum heights are met, water levels during the 100 year flood should not limit use of the former base property.

## 15.5 Analysis of Groundwater Flows

15.5.1 Comment: The groundwater flow data used in the Draft SEIS are based on areas that have dissimilar drainage.

**Response:** The area east of the former base has drainage that is similar to that of other undeveloped parts of south Miami Dade County, so the parameters used in the groundwater model are considered reasonable.

15.5.2 Comment: The slow groundwater flow rates in Section 3.10 are based on data collected between 1974 and 1982. Why these years and were they typical years?

**Response:** These were years for which data were available. Except for 1977 and 1982, these years were drier than normal. Also, based on the average observed groundwater level data presented in Figure 3.10-3 in Volume I, the horizontal hydraulic gradient at former Homestead AFB is approximately 0.3 feet per mile. The gradient slowly increases eastwards towards Biscayne Bay. The groundwater flow model was calibrated to meet these conditions, and flow velocities were the result of these gradients.

15.5.3 Comment: Tidal pumping phenomenon is known to have an impact on groundwater movement into the marine environment. Tidal pumping could accelerate the movement of contamination plumes.

**Response:** The Air Force's Installation Restoration Program at former Homestead AFB has conducted a number of studies on contamination plumes under the former base. In every circumstance, there has been no evidence of migration of these plumes away from their original sources. While tidal pumping could accelerate the movement of contamination plumes, it apparently has not on the former base. This suggests that tidal pumping is also unlikely to accelerate movement of those contamination plumes in the future.

15.5.4 Comment: The time required for groundwater to travel from the former base to Biscayne Bay is shorter than claimed in the Draft SEIS because (1) there are historical records of freshwater springs in southern Biscayne Bay that indicate more rapid groundwater flow, (2) the estimate was based on "average" hydraulic parameters and ignored storm events, (3) it ignored the karstic nature of the geologic profile, and (4) it ignored the role of canals in groundwater flow.

**Response:** Based on several comments, the time estimated for groundwater to travel between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne Bay was reevaluated. Most comments suggested more rapid travel times because of the presumed presence of solution channels in the limestone underlying the former base. There are no data on the area of the former base and eastward that allow the direct determination of whether

such solution channels do or do not exist. One commentor, however, stated that there are solution channels beneath Turkey Point, a nearby area.

The basic groundwater flow rate was determined using the nearest available data on groundwater flow. In the absence of knowledge on underlying geology, it was assumed that the geological matrix was relatively homogeneous, and that groundwater flows were limited by this matrix. Available time-based information on concentrations of pollutants in groundwater under the former base suggest that groundwater movement is very slow. Pollutants that entered groundwater several years ago appear not to have appreciably migrated away from their source. Thus travel times appear to be longer than days or weeks. The depths to groundwater predicted by the groundwater model are consistent with measured depths, lending support to travel times measured in years rather than in days or weeks. In areas where solution channels develop, sink holes also tend to develop, and sink hole formation in the area of the former base appears to be limited.

Even if the travel times were shorter, even orders of magnitude shorter, this would not change the volume of groundwater that would enter the bay per time unit, nor would it change the loading of pollutants that would be carried by groundwater. It would, however, mean that changes in pollutant concentrations in groundwater would be experienced in Biscayne Bay in less time.

15.5.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not recognize the constant interchange between stormwater and groundwater flow of the unconfined Biscayne Aquifer. Considering the typical high level of groundwater in the area, such interchange is common. Therefore, during these events, the rate of contaminant flow in groundwater would be the same as the time it takes water in the canals to reach the bay.

**Response:** The SEIS considers the net effects of both surface water and groundwater changes. Therefore, assumptions on the length of time it takes for contaminants in groundwater to reach Biscayne Bay does not imply that there would be no increase in contaminants in the bay. Whether such effects occur now, next week, or 50 or 100 years from now does not change the fact that the effects would occur.

Section 3.10 in Volume I discusses the sources of recharge of the Biscayne Aquifer (the surficial aquifer in the vicinity of former Homestead AFB). It specifically mentions that recharge from canals occurs most often during the dry season, and the groundwater discharge to canals occurs most often during the wet season. Depending on the relative heads of groundwater and surface water, exchange in one direction or the other could occur at almost any time of year. In order for the rates of contaminant flow to Biscayne Bay to be the same as the time it takes water in the canals to reach the bay, canals would have to occur every few feet east of the former base. Such is not the case.

15.5.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS concludes that any decrease in volume of groundwater flow to Biscayne Bay from the Proposed Action will be insignificant.

**Response:** The SEIS characterizes the estimated decrease in groundwater flow and estimates that secondary development in the vicinity of former Homestead AFB could reduce groundwater flow into Biscayne Bay in the area of the former base by approximately 3,664 acre-feet per year by 2015. A decrease of that magnitude would be small relative to the groundwater flows south of Eureka Drive to Biscayne Bay, which are suspected to be on the order of 350,000 acre-feet per year.

15.5.7 Comment: The Proposed Action will result in an increase in polluted surface water discharges and a decrease in relatively clean groundwater flows to Biscayne Bay. Groundwater flow to Biscayne Bay is much less than historical levels, and is expected to continue to decrease as a result of development and restoration efforts in the Everglades.

**Response:** There are a variety of actions planned in south Florida to try to restore the amount of freshwater input to Biscayne Bay. These projects emphasize overland sheet flow and groundwater inputs. Some of these efforts are part of the overall program to decrease drainage out of the Everglades. Implementation of any or all of these actions is uncertain, but they are discussed in the SEIS as part of the cumulative impact analysis in both Water Resources and Biological Resources sections. (The actions are unrelated to the redevelopment of the former base.)

Should the majority of these projects be implemented, freshwater flows into Biscayne Bay would increase dramatically, irrespective of what happened on the former base or its immediate vicinity. The Proposed Action would have the net effect of reducing groundwater input to the bay because of the decline in groundwater flow created by secondary development. Increases in pollutant loading under the Proposed Action would also come primarily from secondary development. Surface water discharges from the former base itself are expected to decrease and groundwater flows to increase with implementation of a sitewide Surface Water Management Master Plan.

15.5.8 Comment: South Florida Water Management District and others are trying to increase groundwater flows to Biscayne Bay. Although estimates of the volume and quality of water that would enter the bay are not available, they will be greater than those used in the Draft SEIS projections.

**Response:** The additional groundwater that may enter Biscayne Bay as the result of actions taken by either Miami-Dade County or SFWMD would increase flows east of the former base but not from the former base itself. Any increases in contaminant loads associated with county or SFWMD proposals would be dependent on the source of the additional water and the effectiveness of a stormwater treatment and distribution area in removing contaminants.

## 15.6 Water Quality Standards

15.6.1 Comment: Several water quality standards were omitted, and Section 3.10 and other parts of the Draft SEIS contain inaccuracies regarding water quality standards. Miami-Dade County water quality standards were not reported even through they apply. Freshwater metals criteria are calculated based on ambient hardness, but the hardness values used were not reported. Marine or freshwater criteria may apply to different locations, but the Draft SEIS did not indicate which were appropriate and which were applied. The Florida turbidity water quality criterion was not indicated. The ammonia criterion listed in the document is for free ammonia, but the values reported appear to be total ammonia.

**Response:** The text and notes to tables in the SEIS have been reviewed and revised to incorporate additional and corrected standards as appropriate. This did not alter the findings concerning impacts.

15.6.2 Comment: As indicated in Section 3.10 of the Draft SEIS, Mowry and Princeton Canals are presently in exceedance of Florida Class III water quality standards.

**Response:** There were errors in the standards presented in Table 3.10-13 in the Draft SEIS. These have been corrected in the Final SEIS. Mowry and Princeton Canals comply with all numeric water quality criteria that apply, except for dissolved oxygen.

## 15.7 Changes in Water Quality

15.7.1 Comment: Discussions and summaries of Miami-Dade County Department of Environmental Resources Management water quality monitoring data contain errors, omissions, and apparent misinterpretations. These errors may have affected projections of impacts and loadings associated with reuse alternatives. A thorough review of the original source of the data and inclusion of more up-to-date

data would strengthen estimates of pollutant loading and ecological risk associated with nutrients and toxic contaminants.

Response: DERM data, obtained from DERM, were used in Section 3.10 to indicate, among other things, water quality in Military, Princeton, and Mowry Canals. These data were also used to determine current pollutant loadings to Biscayne Bay. In response to this comment, the data were reviewed again, and several changes were made. First, rather than use different time periods for the analysis, all available data were used. Second, the stations selected for Princeton and Mowry Canal in the Draft SEIS were stations where mixing with Biscayne Bay water had already occurred. This had the effect of reducing reported concentrations for these canals. For the Final SEIS, stations in the freshwater portions of these canals were used, and loads were recalculated based on these data. This had the effect of substantially increasing the existing load from these canals to Biscayne Bay, and all subsequent load estimates (for secondary growth and cumulative high growth) were also substantially increased. Third, the reinterpreted DERM data were presented as maximums, means, and medians, as requested by DERM. Sections 3.10 and 4.10 in Volume I have been revised, and Section 4.11 (Biological Resources) has also been edited and revised, as appropriate, to reflect the higher inputs.

15.7.2 Comment: Groundwater quality at and around the former base has been historically monitored. Sufficient data exist to determine present contaminant levels and provide estimates of increases from the Proposed Action. There are numerous sites on the former base where the Miami-Dade County DERM cleanup activities and enforcement actions are ongoing.

Response: The concentration of pollutants in groundwater at Installation Restoration Program sites/operable units is a matter of public record. The sites mentioned in the DERM Report are all sites that are currently part of the IRP. These sites are currently being remediated, undergoing a Feasibility Study to determine appropriate remediation technologies, are being monitored, or have been recommended for no further action (subject to review by regulatory agencies, including DERM). These sites, the great majority of which were caused by uncontrolled spills or inappropriate disposal practices in the past, are unlikely to increase in magnitude or result in additional contamination off site because of redevelopment of the former base.

15.7.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumes the Proposed Action's stormwater plan will reduce overall surface water loading of metals and pesticides to Military Canal. Relative to baseline conditions, nutrient loading is expected to decrease 34 percent in 2005 and 19 percent in 2015.

**Response:** The reductions in pollutant loadings reported in the SEIS are based on modeling results, not assumptions. The estimates of pollutant loadings are outputs of the Surface Water Management Model, the model used to estimate surface water flows and pollutant loadings, based on the configurations proposed in the Surface Water Management Master Plan. The model uses inputs such as pollutant accumulation based on land uses, and then simulates washoff of the pollutants during storm events. SWMM is a widely used and accepted model, and the estimated pollutant loadings are reasonable representations of changes that can be anticipated with implementation of the Surface Water Management Master Plan.

15.7.4 Comment: The Proposed Action's Surface Water Management Master Plan improves water quality by 28 percent and decreases direct discharges to the bay. The water quality of discharges into Biscayne Bay will improve 35 percent by the year 2005 under the Proposed Action.

Response: The SEIS indicates that surface water discharges from Military Canal to Biscayne Bay are estimated to decrease by 28 percent in 2015 compared to current discharges. This is not the complete

effect of the Proposed Action, however, because surface water discharges would increase from secondary development.

Implementation of the Surface Water Management Master Plan for the Proposed Action is estimated to result in a 19 percent reduction in nutrients discharged in surface water to Biscayne Bay by 2015, a 23 percent reduction in metals discharged, and a 23 percent reduction in pesticides. Soluble nutrients, metals, and pesticides, however, would still enter the bay through groundwater. These changes in loads do not mean there would be a 28 or 35 percent improvement in the water quality of discharges into the bay.

15.7.5 Comment: How can the SEIS come to conclusions based on the assumption that nutrient or pollutant loading to Biscayne Bay will be the same for on-site and off-site development?

**Response:** The SEIS does not assume that nutrient or other pollutant loadings would be the same for onsite and off-site development. Pollutant loadings for on-site development were calculated using SWMM, the computer model used to estimate flows for the Proposed Action and alternatives. This model simulates the accumulation of pollutants in areas at rates that depend on the land use of the area, and then simulates the washoff of the pollutants into the stormwater system during storms. Pollutant loadings for off-site development were not modeled. It was assumed that loadings from off-site development would increase proportionally with increases in flow, primarily because there were insufficient data to allow a SWMM model configuration to be developed for off-site areas.

15.7.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS underestimates the concentration of pollutants in stormwater generated by secondary development by assuming that chemical loadings would be proportional to flow. This is incorrect because stormwater flow and contaminant levels are two independent phenomena responding to different environmental factors. Stormwater flow is due to impervious acreage, and contaminant levels are due to the nature and intensity of development. The Draft SEIS assumption ignores the fact that increased development will result in increased pollutant loading. By assuming that chemical loading will be proportional to flow, the Draft SEIS assumes that secondary development will not increase the level of contaminant loading in the areas around Homestead. Similarly, the Draft SEIS assumption of proportionality ignores that secondary development will use undeveloped lands that are providing benefits to water quality in the region. Undeveloped lands capture and slow stormwater. By doing so, these areas trap sediment, trace metals, and soluble forms of nutrients.

Response: Assuming chemical loadings for secondary development would increase in proportion to stormwater is reasonable because the secondary development stimulated by the Proposed Action would be similar to existing development in the region. Contaminant loads for secondary development were not specifically calculated because the exact nature or location of this development is not known. Because the secondary development would be similar to other development in the area (including some industrial, commercial, and residential uses), the relative level of contaminants would also be about the same and increase proportionally.

Stormwater flows and pollutant loads are not necessarily independent parameters. As impervious area increases, stormwater generation increases, and stormwater loads increase. These relationships are implicit in the modeling used in south Florida to predict stormwater flows and loads. Thus, the SEIS assumes that increased development would in fact result in increased pollutant loadings. The loadings would increase as the flow increased.

Undeveloped lands capture rainwater, not stormwater. Stormwater is collected in canals. The filtering function that is provided by currently vacant land serves only to reduce the pollutants that are in rainwater. Pollutants generated by washoff of nearby developed areas would not flow onto vacant land, so there would be no opportunity for pollutants to be removed. While development could cause some loss in

capability to remove pollutants from rainfall, the amount would probably be minor in relation to the volume of runoff from impervious surfaces. Since runoff and washoff are both dependent on the amount of impervious surface, it is reasonable to assume that pollutant loadings would increase in proportion to the increase in stormwater volume.

A significant portion of the area drained by Princeton and Mowry Canals is agricultural, so nutrient concentrations in these canals tend to be high. Nitrogen concentrations in these canals are currently two to four times higher than in Military Canal. Some secondary development associated with reuse of former Homestead AFB would probably occur on agricultural land, so nutrient loads would probably decline as agricultural land was developed.

15.7.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumes the airport and associated secondary development will have no effect on the concentration of pollutants in stormwater. It assumes the airport, which will emit tons of pollutants daily into the air, will cause no additional loadings to surface water or groundwater.

Response: The SEIS does not assume that atmospheric emissions would have no effect on surface water. Section 4.10 in Volume I includes specific calculations of nitrogen deposition to Biscayne Bay due to air pollutant emissions. Even using a method that is believed to substantially overestimate nitrogen deposition, atmospheric nitrogen was not found to be a major source of nitrogen loadings (about 8 percent of surface water discharges from Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals; estimated 5 percent of total surface water discharges to southern Biscayne Bay; and a smaller percentage if unknown quantities of groundwater are also considered).

15.7.8 Comment: The discussion of impacts on Biscayne Bay is inadequate because the Draft SEIS relies on a comparison of estimated increases in pollutant loadings to annual discharge volumes to Biscayne Bay, leading it to conclude that, because the increases amount to a small percentage of overall discharge volumes (1.6 percent), they will likely have little effect on the biota of Biscayne Bay. This approach dilutes the significance of the discharges associated with the Proposed Action which amount to 23 percent of expected increase in total volume discharges to the bay by 2015 from Princeton and Mowry Canals or 4,100 acre-feet per year.

Response: The increase in discharge from Princeton and Mowry Canals due to secondary development associated with the Proposed Action is estimated to be 6,545 acre-feet per year by 2015 (see revised estimate in Section 4.10 of Volume I—apparently the first digit of the flow was misentered in the Draft SEIS). Decreases in flows from Military Canal of about 1,437 acre-feet per year would offset some of the projected increase. The net increase in flows caused by the Proposed Action would amount to about 27 percent of the projected baseline increase in surface water flow between 1995 and 2015, which would be equivalent to about 2 percent of the combined projected baseline discharges from Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals. Another way to look at this is as equivalent to about four years of baseline population growth. There is no evidence that this small percentage change would have large impacts on biota in Biscayne Bay.

15.7.9 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumed that most pesticides and metals are insoluble but did not determine whether or not this is an appropriate assumption for the Proposed Action.

**Response:** There is no reason to suspect that the solubility of pesticides and metals from an airport would be different than from other sources. The solubility of these contaminants is related to their composition and characteristics, not to their source.

15.7.10 Comment: The existing polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and heavy metals in groundwater under the base refute the Draft SEIS conclusion that these contaminants will sorb to sediments and not enter the groundwater.

**Response:** Although small areas of the former base have been contaminated with a variety of chemicals (and some of these chemicals are in groundwater), there are no large groundwater plumes emanating from these contamination sites, which provides strong evidence that the SEIS conclusion about PAHs and most heavy metals is valid.

15.7.11 Comment: The Draft SEIS concludes that there will be no increase in loadings of insoluble chemicals (metals, PAHs, pesticides) to groundwater because they will sorb to sediments and remain on site. This conclusion is based on the assumption that adsorption-desorption phenomena are important components of contaminant dynamics in aquatic systems around Homestead AFB. While adsorption-desorption phenomena are important components of contaminant dynamics in aquatic systems where terrigenous-clastic sediments (sediments with high clay content) dominate the suspended particulate pool and benthic sediments, adsorption is not as dominant in the limestone bedrock systems common to south Florida and around former Homestead AFB.

**Response:** While it is true that soils like those at former Homestead AFB would not adsorb metals and other contaminants to the extent that soils with higher clay contents would, they would adsorb sufficient pollutants to essentially eliminate the movement of most insoluble metals and PAHs off the former base.

The amount of specific organic pollutant that can be sorbed to a given soil depends on the nature of the pollutant and the nature of the soil. The ability of an organic chemical to sorb is largely determined by its sorption capacity,  $K_{oc}$ . The higher the sorption capacity, the greater the amount of chemical that can sorb per unit of soil sorption capacity. The ability of a soil to sorb organic chemicals is determined largely by its sorption capacity,  $f_{oc}$ . The greater the  $f_{oc}$ , the more of a specific organic chemical that can be sorbed to the soil per unit mass. The sorption coefficient of an organic chemical is defined by  $K_{oc}$  multiplied by  $f_{oc}$ , where  $K_{oc}$  is chemical specific and  $f_{oc}$  is soil specific. The  $K_{oc}$  of the heavy PAHs (e.g., benzo(a)pyrene, benzo(a)anthrecene) and polychlorinated biphenyls varies from  $3 \times 10^5$  to  $2 \times 10^6$  L/kg. A very low  $f_{oc}$  value (representative of the soil type around Homestead AFB) of 0.0001 would produce a sorption coefficient greater than 20 L/kg, and increase the contaminant travel time to reach Biscayne Bay to greater than 1,000 years. Therefore, it is expected that before reaching the Biscayne Bay, organics would be completely degraded.

For metals, several factors (e.g., pH, competing cation effects, soil porewater concentrations, soil organic matter content, and soil texture) affect the sorption process. The sorption coefficient for specific soils for a specific chemical is usually determined through sorption tests. In the absence of such tests, the sorption coefficient can be estimated from literature values based on factors such as soil texture and pH. For example, the average sorption coefficient for cadmium is 80 L/kg in sandy soil and 560 L/kg in clay soil (reported by Shephard and Thibault in 1990), and while these coefficients are different by a factor of 7, the lower value does not mean that the soils near Homestead do not sorb metals. Observations indicate that even with the low-end values for metals for sandy soils, it would take on the order of thousands of years before they could reach Biscayne Bay. Were contaminants introduced onto the soils of former Homestead AFB in concentrations high enough to be of concern, the travel time required would essentially mean that they would never reach Biscayne Bay. The travel time certainly indicates that remediation could easily occur in that time frame. Existing regulations under a variety of environmental acts would require remediation if concentrations were above levels of concern.

15.7.12 Comment: Even if heavy metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons sorb to sediments, this can cause significant environmental impacts in retention ponds and wetlands. Although wetlands help

R-139 Final SEIS

remove pollutants, some pollutants, such as metals, can accumulate and degrade the ecosystem functions and values affecting the organisms living there.

**Response:** Pollutants that sorb to sediments would accumulate on the disposal property, so any impacts would be limited to on-site canals and wetlands. At some time in the future, these pollutants might need to be removed if they can no longer be assimilated. The use of on-site retention areas by waterfowl and wildlife is expected to be limited by the level of human activity likely to occur in the area. Retaining as much of the pollutants on site as possible would still be better than allowing them to be discharged to other surface water bodies, including Biscayne Bay.

15.7.13 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not readily distinguish between ecological pollutants and heavy metals or organic chemical pollutants. Therefore, the variety of water quality impacts expected from nutrient runoff into Biscayne Bay is not sufficiently described. The Draft SEIS did present phosphorus data, but never any substantive discussion about implications of phosphate loading to Biscayne Bay. This is a major oversight because Biscayne Bay is a phosphorus-limited ecosystem and is extremely sensitive to phosphorus loading.

Response: The impacts of phosphorus discharges have been added to Section 4.11 Biological Resources in Volume I. The Water Resources section only reports changes related to the reuse alternatives; ecological impacts are discussed in Section 4.11. Phosphorus discharges from the disposal property are expected to decline with implementation of a stormwater management plan, so eutrophication is not expected from phosphorus discharges from the former base. Estimated changes in phosphorus loads in surface water due to the Proposed Action (including off-site secondary development) have been added to Section 4.10 in Volume I of the Final SEIS. These indicate that by 2015, Proposed Action phosphorus loads (including secondary development) would increase by approximately 1.7 percent over projected baseline phosphorus discharges from Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals.

15.7.14 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumes that all heavy metals and toxics are insoluble and will not contaminate the groundwater. The Draft SEIS did not adequately address impacts on groundwater quality from soluble chemicals (other than nitrogen compounds).

**Response:** The SEIS does not assume that all heavy metals and toxics are insoluble and will not contaminate groundwater. It indicates that most metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and pesticides would probably sorb to soils and likely not increase groundwater concentrations. The analysis in the SEIS assumes there are soluble forms of toxic compounds that would enter groundwater. Soluble toxic chemicals in groundwater would be carried to Biscayne Bay, as would those in surface water. The SEIS predicts loads for toxics for which chemical constituent data are available. Unfortunately, there are few data available for soluble toxic contaminants in either surface water or groundwater.

15.7.15 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not adequately address the groundwater impacts of soluble chemicals, such as water-soluble toxic chemicals, claiming that there is "essentially no data that can be used to assess their present occurrence in groundwater or how they are likely to change with airport development" (Draft SEIS page 4.10-15). Such a cursory conclusion without discussion of efforts to identify what data are available fails to comply with the mandates of the National Environmental Policy Act. NEPA requires that action agencies not only analyze the impacts of proposed actions on the environment using readily available data, but also to obtain data when little data exists. This duty is especially appropriate in this case, where the Proposed Action is likely to use and generate significant amounts of conventional and non-conventional pollutants. An analysis of the potential effects of these pollutants on water resources is an important component of an adequate NEPA analysis and should not be ignored absent well-supported claims that no data exist to analyze such pollutants.

Response: The statement that the data are not available is well supported. Inquiries to federal, state, and local government agencies that would have data if any existed did not obtain any. The only data available at Homestead is that developed by the Air Force in connection with the Installation Restoration Program. A number of IRP sites have been designated operable units (OUs) and are undergoing remedial investigation in accordance with the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act. Unfortunately, the data from the OUs are not generally representative of the groundwater under the base (OUs occupy a very small area on the former base), nor are they representative of the groundwater that would occur under the base should an airport be established. On the other hand, there is no presumptive evidence that there is more contamination on the former base than has already been identified. Moreover, the OUs have been monitored for several years, and data show essentially no migration of contaminants from any OU, let alone migration off the base. The SEIS meets all requirements by disclosing the information that is lacking, identifying its relevance, examining the evidence that is available, and evaluating the potential impacts based upon generally accepted scientific analysis.

15.7.16 Comment: The Draft SEIS recognizes that the commercial airport will create large quantities of polluted groundwater flowing into Biscayne Bay but discounts its impact by overestimating the time it would take for the groundwater to reach the bay.

Response: The SEIS does not conclude that the Proposed Action will create large quantities of polluted groundwater. It indicates that the net effect of the Proposed Action would be to reduce the amount of groundwater flowing into Biscayne Bay. This is because increases in groundwater flows created by the proposed Surface Water Management Master Plan would be offset by decreases associated with secondary development.

# 15.8 Fuel and Chemical Spills

15.8.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS addresses nitrogen oxides and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons but does not correlate impacts to long-term problems resulting from routine servicing of aircraft.

**Response:** Routine servicing of aircraft can lead to a number of small leaks and spills, often only a few quarts to gallons in magnitude, that generally are cleaned up in short order and do not lead to long-term environmental contamination. In the case of former Homestead AFB, the drainage system is such that the great majority of leaks and spills, even if they are not contained and enter the surface water management system on base, would probably be retained within the system and not be released to Biscayne Bay.

15.8.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumes that all fuel spills and leaks will be fully remediated (or diluted during extreme storms) and will not have a significant effect on groundwater quality.

Response: With the improvements in technology that have occurred over the last decade to control spills and leaks, it is not anticipated that significant environmental releases would occur. Spills and leaks that could occur would likely be contained on site except during extremely high water when pollutants could be washed off site. In those cases, any spills that contaminated groundwater would generally remain near the ground surface and would move very slowly, so there would be time to remediate the contamination before a plume could migrate appreciable distances off site.

15.8.3 Comment: Airport development and aerial fuel dumping will double aerial pollutant loadings in parts of the bay.

R-141 Final SEIS

**Response:** Aerial fuel dumping is unlikely to result in any increase in airborne pollutant loadings because it would be done at an altitude where it would essentially evaporate, and the parts of the fuel that did not evaporate would be widely dispersed over the Atlantic Ocean considerably east of Biscayne Bay.

# 15.9 Impacts on Drinking Water

15.9.1 Comment: Concerns were expressed that contamination of groundwater from the former base would affect drinking water.

Response: Drinking water sources would not be expected to be affected by activities at the former base. It is not anticipated that any groundwater contamination that might occur under the Proposed Action would spread to drinking water sources. Existing contamination is localized under specific sites and has apparently not migrated over several years. The general pattern of groundwater flow is to the east from the former base towards Biscayne Bay. Areas north, west, and south of the former base essentially cannot be affected by the existing groundwater contamination under the former base or by any future contamination that might occur. Public water supply wells are north and west and several miles away from the former base, so they are also unlikely to be affected by contamination on the former base.

# 15.10 Increases in Nitrogen Loads

15.10.1 Comment: Some commentors indicated that they were confused by the way in which nitrogen loading data were presented in the Draft SEIS and requested clarification on the total increases in nitrogen that would become inputs to Biscayne Bay.

Response: The Proposed Action is estimated to add approximately 67,000 pounds of nitrogen a year to Biscayne Bay by 2015, which is about 3.6 percent of projected baseline surface water nitrogen inputs from Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals. Sources of potential nitrogen inputs into Biscayne Bay from the Proposed Action and alternatives include surface water flows from the former base, groundwater from the former base, atmospheric deposition from aircraft overflights, and surface and groundwater flows from secondary development. The net increase of about 67,000 pounds per year would be comprised of the following:

- (1) Nitrogen inputs from surface water flows from the former base were estimated using the Surface Water Management Model, the model used to evaluate changes in surface water discharges associated with the Proposed Action. Nitrogen loads to Military Canal from the Proposed Action are estimated to be about 19 percent less than current loads to Military Canal. This would be a decrease of about 2,000 pounds per year.
- (2) There would be an increase in the nitrogen discharged in groundwater from the former base (see Section 4.10 in Volume I of the Final SEIS for the methodology used to estimate this increase). This is estimated to amount to approximately 24,000 pounds per year increase.
- (3) There would be an <u>increase</u> in atmospheric nitrogen deposition to Biscayne Bay of about 30,000 pounds per year over the Biscayne National Park portion of Biscayne Bay.
- (4) Secondary development is estimated to result in an increase of about 49,000 pounds per year in surface water nitrogen load by 2015. At the same time, there would be a decrease in nitrogen inputs from groundwater of approximately 34,000 pounds per year, resulting in a net <u>increase</u> of about 15,000 pounds per year.

Section 4.10 in Volume I of the Final SEIS has been revised to make the net effects clearer.

15.10.2 Comment: Airports are known to be significant sources of nitrogen pollution. Airplane and ground transportation exhaust contains significant amounts of nitrogen oxides that settle on the ground and can enter the groundwater in the form of ammonia.

**Response:** The model used to estimate emissions of nitrogen oxides is specifically designed for airport-related air quality analysis. The model outputs were considered in the water quality analysis.

15.10.3 Comment: Nitrates from the airport will increase up to fourfold.

Response: A distinction needs to be made between relative increases and absolute increases. Potential sources of nitrogen from the Proposed Action include surface water and groundwater discharges from the former base, surface and groundwater discharges from secondary development, and atmospheric nitrogen deposition. Although atmospheric sources would increase substantially relative to current aircraft operations at Homestead, that is because current deposition from operations at Homestead Air Reserve Station is very low. Taken together, the combined sources of nitrogen inputs to Biscayne Bay from the Proposed Action are estimated to be about a 3.6 percent increase over projected baseline inputs from Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals.

15.10.4 Comment: Based on existing loads of ammonia, nitrate plus nitrite, and phosphorus for 1995 from Mowry and Princeton Canals, ammonia loadings will increase 397 pounds per year, nitrate plus nitrite by 45,621 pounds per year, and phosphorous by 397 pounds per year by 2015. These are significant increases in loading that the Draft SEIS did not adequately analyze.

Response: Using existing loadings from Princeton and Mowry Canals from Table 3.10-13 in Volume I of the Final SEIS, and multiplying by the estimated increase in flow from secondary development associated with the Proposed Action (6,545 acre-feet) divided by the combined annual flows of Princeton and Mowry Canals (231,420 acre-feet), the annual increase in loadings due only to secondary development would be about 2.7 percent greater than projected baseline loads to Biscayne Bay. This leads to estimates that phosphorus would increase by 104 pounds per year and nitrogen by 48,876 pounds per year. These numbers are reestimated based on data from different (freshwater only) stations in Princeton and Mowry Canals (see Table 4.10-5 in Volume I of the Final SEIS). Ammonia loadings are actually anticipated to decrease under the Proposed Action (see Table 4.10-11).

The increase in flows and loadings associated with the Proposed Action and alternatives, including secondary development, are on the order of 3.6 percent or less of combined baseline loadings from Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals. The impacts of a 3.6 percent change in existing loadings are expected to be small, particularly since the flows are assumed to be concentrated in the Princeton and Mowry Canal watersheds, while secondary development is likely to be dispersed over a larger area. So a 3.6 percent increase is probably an overstatement of the likely changes.

15.10.5 Comment: The Draft SEIS assumption that the concentration of nitrogen in groundwater would remain the same with development on the former base is incorrect. There are methods that would allow estimation of the existing and future nitrogen concentrations in groundwater so that loading increases could be estimated.

**Response:** The assumption made in the Draft SEIS in estimating increases in ammonia discharges to Biscayne Bay through groundwater was that there would be no increases in nitrogen concentrations in groundwater. This assumption has been reexamined for the Final SEIS, and new calculations have been added.

In the Final SEIS, Surface Water Management Model outputs were used to estimate groundwater nitrogen loads. The SWMM model calculates the total amount of a pollutant that is washed off of impervious surfaces and the total amount of a pollutant that is discharged through surface water. The difference between the two numbers is an estimate of the load to groundwater. This estimate is conservative (high) because stormwater percolates through soils before reaching groundwater, and some of the pollutants would be removed by plant uptake or soil sorption in the process. However, no removal of pollutants has been assumed in the analysis.

15.10.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS suggests that the increase in flows of ammonia, which is toxic to organisms, could be 13 to 14 percent under the Proposed Action. The use of French drains, an important element in the Surface Water Management Master Plan for the proposed airport, may increase contaminants (including ammonia) flowing from groundwater into the bay, rather than reduce it as suggested in the Draft SEIS. This is especially likely when one considers the amount of ammonia flowing from nearby landfills. Ammonia in groundwater is a powerful solvent that will move metals and other contaminants out into the bay.

Response: South Florida Water Management District and Miami-Dade County Department of Environmental Resources Management have both stated that they require or advocate the retention of as much stormwater on site as possible, and French drains are one of the mechanisms proposed in the Proposed Action to achieve this. Retention of stormwater would cause an increase in the amount of ammonia discharged to Biscayne Bay through groundwater. There is no evidence that groundwater from nearby landfills would commingle with groundwater from under the former base; the ammonia concentrations in near-surface groundwater under the former base would be the result of rainfall and washoff primarily from the former base itself. At deeper levels, concentrations of ammonia would be determined by groundwater flows primarily from west, not north, of the former base. Thus, the former base's proximity to local landfills would not appear to influence groundwater ammonia concentrations.

Measurements of concentrations of contaminants at Installation Restoration Program sites on the former base over a number of years have indicated that previously existing contamination has not appreciably migrated from the original sites of the contamination. This suggests that any ammonia that is present in groundwater is not acting as a powerful solvent that moves metals and other contaminants in groundwater.

15.10.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS Summary indicates that ammonia is being transported to Biscayne Bay, but it also indicates that materials spilled at the airfield are contained in Boundary Canal. This appears to be an inconsistency.

Response: Most forms of nitrogen are soluble in water and would not sorb onto sediments in the stormwater management system or attach to soils as surface water percolates to groundwater. A number of other pollutants, on the other hand, are not highly soluble in water (many organic compounds, for example, would float) and sorb readily to sediments and soils. Floating materials would generally be contained in the reservoir above Military Canal (discharge to Military Canal is by means of pumps that have intakes near middle depths in the reservoir, so floating materials generally would not be discharged), and pollutants that sorb to sediments or soils would settle to the bottom of the canal and also would generally not be pumped into Military Canal. These pollutants would attach to soils as surface water percolated to groundwater. Soluble toxic compounds or soluble forms of toxic compounds, such as methyl mercury and some organic compounds, would not generally be retained on site and would be discharged in groundwater, as would soluble forms of nitrogen.

## 16.0 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES

This category addresses comments on the biological resources discussed in the SEIS, including general wildlife (16.1), estuarine and marine environments (16.2), wetlands (16.3), and sensitive species (including those listed under the Endangered Species Act) in 16.4. Specific sections address issues related to noise (16.5), bird-aircraft strike hazard (16.6), and exotic species (16.7).

#### 16.1 General Wildlife Comments

16.1.1 Comment: Except for consideration of some shorebirds that are federally or state listed, and mention of a couple wintering raptors, the Draft SEIS does not give sufficient consideration to the importance of the region of influence as wintering habitat for birds. Table 3.11-8 lists only migrant land birds. There is no comparable table for shorebirds or water birds that pass through or winter in the area.

**Response:** Section 3.11 in Volume I of the Final SEIS has been expanded to incorporate data from 13 winter Christmas Bird Counts at Biscayne National Park and 19 Christmas Bird Counts at Everglades National Park, to provide more information on wintering birds. Two tables are provided showing the species of water birds and birds of prey that have been recorded during these counts.

Construction associated with reuse of former Homestead AFB is not anticipated to affect waterbirds, raptors, and other birds at the national parks. Aircraft overflights and noise associated with the commercial airport alternative would occur at both national parks. However, based on the analysis in Section 4.11.3 in Volume I, there would likely be little impact to bird life at these two parks.

**16.1.2** Comment: Once commercial airliners begin to arrive and depart, how long will the wildlife remain?

**Response:** Section 4.11 in Volume I discusses various impacts that reuse of former Homestead AFB could be expected to have on wildlife. This includes habitat destruction due to construction, potential for bird-aircraft strikes, and noise effects. While some wildlife may relocate, it is not expected that there would be a major change in wildlife in the region.

16.1.3 Comment: Birds can be strongly affected by mobile airborne objects such as balloons, kites, model airplanes, and low flying aircraft. Some species can be driven from an area by such objects.

**Response:** The SEIS relied on published information of bird responses to aircraft overflights, events that are more nearly representative of the conditions that would be expected with the Proposed Action than balloons, kites, or model airplanes. This information, in addition to observations of birds at Homestead Air Reserve Station, indicates that overflights under the Proposed Action would likely have minimal effects on wading birds and other bird species.

16.1.4 Comment: The SEIS says little concerning the effects of aircraft exhaust pollutants on bird rookeries, nesting areas, mangrove forests, and nursery areas for fish and invertebrates.

**Response:** Section 4.8 in Volume I addresses aircraft emissions and estimates that these emissions would be within regulatory standards. Therefore, they are not anticipated to adversely affect these resources. Sections 4.10 and 4.11 in Volume I of the Final SEIS specifically address the effects of airborne nitrogen deposition from aircraft emissions and its potential effects on water quality and biological resources.

16.1.5 Comment: Space Access would like to clarify that cryogenic fuels (such as liquid hydrogen and liquid oxygen) will either be consumed in a rapid flash and fireball or will vaporize rapidly and dissipate

into the atmosphere. This dissipation may or may not cause other burning in the presence of a flame or ignition source.

**Response:** The text in Section 4.11 of Volume I has been modified in the Final SEIS to incorporate this information.

#### 16.2 Estuarine and Marine Environments

16.2.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS overlooks the Proposed Action's harmful impacts on Biscayne Bay and other environmental resources. The bay's ecology will be severely impacted with more than double the volume of polluted stormwater discharging into it than projected by the Draft SEIS. Seagrasses will die off, triggering other disturbances throughout the estuarine and marine environment and accelerating the decline of sensitive coral reefs.

Response: The Air Force and FAA do not agree that the Proposed Action would more than double the volume of polluted stormwater discharging into Biscayne Bay. No evidence has been presented to support this allegation. The analysis of stormwater discharges from this development took a conservative approach that tends to overestimate, not underestimate the effects. Available evidence on the water quality of Biscayne Bay indicates that current surface water discharges to the southern part of the bay (over 400,000 acre-feet per year) are not significantly affecting water quality at stations 2 to 3 miles from shore. The station nearest Mowry and Military Canals has a salinity of 1.3 parts per thousand less than the average salinity of all stations in Biscayne Bay, and Biscayne Bay as a whole has salinities approaching those of seawater, about 35 parts per thousand. Given these salinities, the estimated changes associated with reuse of former Homestead AFB would not be expected to have the effects alleged in the comment.

The basis of the estimates of secondary impacts from the Proposed Action on population in-migration is described in Section 4.1 of Volume I. This led to the estimated amount of secondary development that could be generated, which in turn led to estimates of increased impervious surface. The assumption used to estimate increased runoff caused by secondary development was that each impervious acre created by secondary development would result in 5 acre-feet of water being discharged into Biscayne Bay. In other words, the SEIS assumes that all rainfall that falls on impervious surface would be discharged to the bay. This overestimates the discharge because some would percolate to groundwater, and some rainfall would evaporate. Percolation to groundwater and evaporation were not incorporated into the estimates of stormwater runoff because it is not known what stormwater management practices would be employed for areas of secondary development, and the magnitude of the losses could not be calculated. Thus, the surface water discharges to Biscayne Bay as a result of secondary development are probably overestimates.

For the purposes of the stormwater analysis, it was also assumed that all secondary development would occur in the Princeton and Mowry Canal watersheds, the watersheds immediately adjacent to the former base. Secondary development would probably occur over a broader area than this. By assuming that it would be concentrated in the adjacent watersheds, the relative changes in surface water discharges are somewhat overstated because some of the surface water would probably be discharged into other canals, reducing the projected increases in Princeton and Mowry Canals. However, it was reasonable to assume that the great majority of the surface water runoff would eventually be discharged into Biscayne Bay. Even with this overstatement, the estimated increase of about 6,545 acre-feet per year by 2015 would be a relative increase of about 2.6 percent in surface water discharges through Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals compared to the projected baseline. This increase represents about 1.5 percent of the current discharges to the southern part of the bay. (The total increase in surface water discharge would actually be somewhat less than that because approximately 1,437 acre-feet of stormwater would be retained on the former base).

Even if secondary development were double that estimated in the SEIS (and no evidence has been presented to indicate this would be the case), the increase would be about 3 percent of baseline discharge in the southern part of Biscayne Bay. It is not anticipated that this level of change would have discernable effects on the estuarine and marine environment.

16.2.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS concludes that stormwater flow, loss in groundwater flow, and increases in pollutant discharges due to the Proposed Action will have insignificant impacts on the water quality and biological resources of Biscayne Bay.

**Response:** The changes that would occur in surface water and groundwater flows associated with the Proposed Action would be small in comparison to existing surface water and groundwater flows to southern Biscayne Bay, and the impacts of the changes are also expected to be small.

16.2.3 Comment: Page 4.11-1 of the Draft SEIS indicates that changes in stormwater management practices may influence the nearshore salinity regime, but does not discuss the effects in any detail.

Response: The statement on page 4.11-1 in Volume I must be considered in the context it was presented. It is from the introduction to the section on potential impacts on estuarine and marine communities. Subsequent paragraphs of this section indicate that the proposed on-site stormwater management system would have generally beneficial effects on Biscayne Bay by reducing surface water nutrient and toxic chemical inputs to the nearshore area. On the other hand, secondary development would increase the surface water nutrient and toxic chemical inputs to the nearshore area, generally by a greater amount than would be reduced by the stormwater management program. The net effect would be more nutrients and toxic chemicals discharged in surface water to Biscayne Bay, but the increase would be relatively small in comparison to existing and projected baseline discharges.

16.2.4 Comment: According to the Bortone Report, polluted stormwater pulses to Biscayne Bay shock the biota of the bay by dramatically affecting salinity cycles and sharply increasing pollutant levels in a short period of time. Mangrove forests are sensitive to changes in surface water flow and quality (and once disturbed and degraded, are difficult to restore), and seagrasses, corals, and wetlands south of Homestead would also be disturbed by these irregular flows and changes in salinity regime.

**Response:** The arguments put forth in the Bortone report are based on the premise that changes in stormwater discharges would dramatically change the seasonality of freshwater inputs to Biscayne Bay. To change the seasonality of salinity regimes in the bay, stormwater would have to be stored on the former base (and in the nearby watersheds) in lined basins (to prevent percolation to groundwater) and then be released during the dry season. The Bortone report does not claim that pulses of stormwater (resulting from the periodic opening of control structures at the ends of canals, the "irregular, high-volume pulses") would have the impacts noted in this comment. It only references changes in seasonality.

The frequency of pulses of freshwater (and possibly the volumes of water discharged at each control structure opening) from Princeton and Mowry Canals would increase with secondary development associated with the Proposed Action. Pollutant loadings would also increase. While the magnitude of the flows may appear large (5,108 acre-feet/year by 2015), in relation to current flows into southern Biscayne Bay (over 400,000 acre-feet per year), 5,108 acre-feet is a relatively small contribution (1.3 percent). It is improbable that a change of 5,108 acre-feet would change the salinity regime in a 90 square mile bay with a volume of approximately 575,000 acre-feet and a salinity very close to that of offshore seawater (35 parts per thousand) to such a degree that discernible changes in the biota would result. The evidence more strongly suggests that Biscayne Bay waters essentially do not mix with freshwater inputs. Most freshwater inputs would be generally dispersed as shallow lenses of freshwater overlying deeper, higher salinity water (although very high freshwater flows resulting from very large storms apparently mix more

thoroughly). Therefore, the impacts of additional freshwater inputs are not likely to appreciably affect salinity regimes. If there are no appreciable changes in salinity or in the seasonality of the salinity regime, discernible changes to the bay biota would be unlikely.

The preponderance of evidence indicates that secondary development would create essentially no change in the seasonality of water inputs to wetlands. The water table east of the former base would generally be shallower because of the retention of stormwater on the former base and an increase in the hydraulic head associated with that retention. But the periodicity of water flow into wetlands east of the former base is driven primarily by rainfall, not canal discharges. The canals bypass this area and discharge directly into the bay. Water inputs to areas south and west of the former base are also driven primarily by rainfall, not overland flow from other sources. Thus the Proposed Action is unlikely to change the seasonality of water inputs to wetlands, and resultant impacts are also unlikely.

16.2.5 Comment: Reduction in overall groundwater flow could have significant effects on the nearshore environments in Biscayne Bay due to increased salinity stemming from interstitial saltwater intrusion.

Response: Very little is currently known of the amounts of groundwater that enter Biscayne Bay, but in the southern portion of the bay, it is expected they are very large. The amount of water that falls as rain on Miami-Dade County land south of Eureka Drive (not including national park lands) is about 1,750,000 acre-feet per year. Even if 36.5 percent of this water evaporates, at least 1,111,250 acre-feet per year must be discharged as surface water or groundwater to Biscayne Bay. If annual surface water discharges are about 400,000 acre-feet per year south of Eureka Drive, that leaves about 700,000 acre-feet of water discharged to the bay as groundwater. A portion of this water would drain to Florida Bay rather than Biscayne Bay, but the relative amount is not known. If as much as half of the groundwater discharges to Florida Bay, groundwater inputs to Biscayne Bay must be at least 350,000 acre-feet per year. By comparison, the reduction in groundwater inputs estimated to occur with the Proposed Action is about 3,700 acre-feet, or about 1 percent. This is not expected to substantially affect either depth to the water table or the hydraulic head of freshwater, and it is considered unlikely that saltwater intrusion would result.

16.2.6 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not recognize the already stressed condition of Biscayne Bay and the possibility that additional increases would be the "straw that broke the camel's back," particularly for seagrasses and corals in Biscayne Bay and the Florida Keys. The increased loadings from the Proposed Action would likely have significant effects on seagrass communities and offshore coral reef communities. Seagrass communities will likely experience further degradation due to increased nutrient concentrations which will enhance phytoplankton growth, macroalgae, and seagrass epiphytes.

Response: There is no evidence that Biscayne Bay is on the verge of dramatic ecological shifts that would be caused by small increases in nutrient or toxic chemical discharges. While there have been a number of changes to Biscayne Bay caused by canalization and development in south Florida, the majority of impacts appear to be fairly localized. The weight of evidence indicates that the changes in surface and groundwater discharges from the Proposed Action would be relatively small. The seagrasses and coral reefs currently exist in an environment that receives surface and groundwater discharges that are 100 times greater than those estimated for the Proposed Action. This suggests that the demise of seagrasses and corals in Biscayne Bay is unlikely. Canalization has caused more extensive changes in Florida Bay, but Florida Bay would not be affected by stormwater associated with the Proposed Action.

16.2.7 Comment: Increased runoff and associated pollution (resulting from development outlined in the Proposed Action) can alter and diminish plant communities and filter-feeding organisms in the bay.

**Response:** Given the small relative changes in inputs to Biscayne Bay from secondary development associated with the Proposed Action in 2015 (estimated to be less than 3 percent of existing inputs through Princeton and Mowry Canals), it is thought that significant alteration and diminishment of plant communities and filter feeding organisms in the bay would be unlikely.

16.2.8 Comment: An area of Biscayne Bay is identified as Essential Fish Habitat and is subject to specific requirements of the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act as amended (1996).

**Response:** An Essential Fish Habitat Assessment has been prepared and is included as Appendix J in Volume II.

16.2.9 Comment: The statement in Section 4.11 of the Draft SEIS, "The total amount of nitrogen input would not change, but its path (groundwater versus surface water) would be different," ignores inputs from atmospheric deposition (a 23 percent increase) mentioned in Section 4.10.

**Response:** The context of this statement in the SEIS refers only to discharges from the former base, not all sources of nitrogen inputs associated with the Proposed Action. Sections 4.10 and 4.11 in Volume I of the Final SEIS have both been revised to clarify the effects of changes in nitrogen inputs.

16.2.10 Comment: Ammonia and nitrates are treated as equivalents in the Draft SEIS. As nutrients this is true, but ammonia is toxic and its toxicity is not examined in the document.

**Response:** The toxicity of some forms of ammonia is acknowledged in several sections of the SEIS. This is a concern particularly in groundwater because benthic organisms in Biscayne Bay would be exposed to ammonia as groundwater entered the bay (ammonia in surface water is rapidly taken up by plants or is converted to a more oxidized form under the aerobic conditions that would prevail during surface water transport). This would be true with any reuse alternative that reduced surface water discharges by implementing a stormwater management system. The increases in ammonia inputs caused by reuse of former Homestead AFB would be small compared to other sources of groundwater inputs and are not expected to, by themselves, have a discernible effect on biota in Biscayne Bay.

16.2.11 Comment: Chapter 3 of the Draft SEIS indicates that higher nutrient inputs would increase productivity in surface waters, possibly leading to the system being influenced more by phytoplankton than by seagrasses. This ignores the most important ecological role of seagrasses in substrate stabilization and habitat. The Final SEIS needs to (1) incorporate the increase in atmospheric deposition of nitrogen in its estimates of biological effects, (2) examine potential ammonia toxicity, and (3) consider the effects of seagrass decline or loss.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to further discuss the biological effects of increased atmospheric nitrogen deposition and the effects of seagrass decline or loss. Although the SEIS acknowledges potential impacts from ammonia toxicity in groundwater, there are insufficient data on the biota and locations of groundwater input to Biscayne Bay to do more than acknowledge that ammonia toxicity could increase.

16.2.12 Comment: Coral reefs and non-reef corals require pristine conditions to thrive. The Proposed Action would impact these corals through additional nutrient inputs. The corals are already declining because of existing nutrient inputs to Biscayne Bay. The Draft SEIS addresses nitrogen oxides and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons but does not correlate direct impacts to threatened coral reefs. The SEIS does not mitigate impacts on coral reefs.

**Response:** It is not expected that there would be impacts on coral reefs that require mitigation, except in the event of an aircraft accident. Increases in nitrogen inputs are not expected to cause appreciable impacts because they are estimated to change by 3.6 percent of projected baseline loads from Princeton, Mowry, and Military Canals alone. This level of change in nitrogen inputs is not anticipated to have discernible biological effects on coral reefs or any other species.

Airborne PAHs would be widely dispersed and are not likely to be deposited at any location in Biscayne Bay in sufficient quantities to discernibly affect the biota of the bay. PAHs in stormwater runoff at the airport could be higher, but they are not likely to be transported to the bay because of the proposed stormwater management system. They are more likely to sorb to sediments and be retained on site.

16.2.13 Comment: The deposition of unburned jet fuel would destroy marine life in the shallow warm water of Biscayne Bay with its weak tidal exchange. Bird rookeries, nesting areas, and mangrove forests would also be affected, yet the Draft SEIS is silent on these impacts.

**Response:** Tidal exchange in Biscayne Bay actually appears to be very good. Generally, the near-open ocean salinity levels in the bay indicate it is more affected by marine waters than fresh waters, despite a large input of surface water and groundwater.

There is little evidence that large amounts of unburned fuel are emitted from aircraft. The unburned fuel that is emitted is generally widely dispersed and does not concentrate in specific areas. Marine life or wildlife is not expected to be adversely affected by unburned emissions from aircraft due to the Proposed Action. See also response to comment 13.4.2.

16.2.14 Comment: Any biology student knows that plankton floats on the surface of the water. Therefore, if oil from a plane crash is floating on the surface, the plankton will be destroyed. Heavier oils would pollute and destroy the bottom structure, plants, and animals.

**Response:** Plankton does not float on the surface of the water, but is suspended in the water column. Therefore, surface contamination by fuels, oils, and fluids would have little effect on plankton, except possibly by blocking sunlight. Heavier fractions of fuels, oils, and fluids that sink could harm bottom plants and animals if they were exposed over a period of time.

16.2.15 Comment: The Draft SEIS indicates that coral reefs would not be affected by an aircraft accident unless the aircraft directly impacted the reef. Coral reefs and associated algae need unpolluted saltwater and sunlight to survive. If the water around the reefs were polluted by oil or fuel from a plane crash or from fuel dumping, it would be lethal to the reefs.

**Response:** Section 4.11 in Volume I discusses why it is believed that most effects from an aircraft accident would not seriously impact coral reefs. This discussion has been expanded in the Final SEIS.

16.2.16 Comment: Impacts from a direct aircraft crash in a coral reef are minimized.

**Response:** The SEIS indicates that biota in the immediate vicinity of an aircraft impact would be immediately killed. Depending on the extent of the damage, recolonization of coral reefs could take as long as decades. If the area is contaminated by fuels, oils, or hydraulic fluids, recolonization could be delayed until these materials were substantially degraded and dispersed. This description does not seem to minimize the potential impacts on coral reefs.

16.2.17 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not mention the possibility, and resulting pollution, of commercial aircraft having to dump fuel into Florida Bay (Everglades National Park) or the Atlantic, adjacent to the Keys. This would result in significant damage to mangroves and seagrass.

**Response:** On the infrequent occasions that fuel dumping is required, it is generally carried out at a prespecified altitude, generally over 10,000 feet, for as long as needed to attain minimum required fuel loads. At this altitude, essentially all of the fuel vaporizes and is widely dispersed by winds without ever hitting the ground. The small fraction of the fuel that is not vaporized falls as small droplets through almost 2 miles of atmosphere before reaching the ground. Since jet aircraft move at a rate between 4 and 5 miles per minute, or faster, the small fraction of fuel that does not vaporize is distributed over large areas. The droplets are further dispersed by winds.

Aircraft that must dump fuel are generally directed by air traffic control to areas over the deep ocean at locations southeast of Florida, not over the Everglades or Florida Bay. It is likely that fuel dumping by aircraft intending to land at Homestead would occur at least 50 miles east of the Florida Keys, preventing amounts that could cause harm to sensitive habitats such as coral reefs from reaching those habitats.

#### 16.3 Wetlands

16.3.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS used outdated satellite imagery to characterize vegetation communities in the vicinity of former Homestead AFB. Reliance on older, less accurate data contributed to errors in the narrative description of the areal extent and ecological value of mangroves and other wetland communities.

**Response:** The land cover map in the SEIS (Figure 3.11-2 in Volume I) has been updated with the most recent satellite imagery available (imagery based on 1993/94 coverage). The plant community acreage estimates have been revised based on this new map. More recent mapping of the plant communities along the western shoreline of Biscayne Bay was limited in aerial extent and not used in the SEIS because a map showing a larger area was needed.

16.3.2 Comment: The Proposed Action anticipated filling nearby wetlands, which are the habitat for threatened and endangered species, in order to reduce bird-aircraft strike hazards.

**Response:** There are no plans under the Proposed Action or any of the alternatives to fill nearby wetlands off the former base property. At the southwest end of the runway, two areas will be studied to determine whether they pose sufficient bird-aircraft strike hazard under the Proposed Action to warrant filling. Currently, FAA does not think that such action would be necessary. These areas are used intermittently, during winter, by wading birds, occasionally wood stork, and as feeding and loafing areas when standing water appears there.

16.3.3 Comment: The Draft SEIS underestimates potential loss of wetlands. Historically, administration of Section 404 of the Clean Water Act has resulted in excessive and illegal destruction of wetlands.

**Response:** The SEIS assumes that applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations will be enforced. It does acknowledge that small, unregulated wetlands could be lost to development.

16.3.4 Comment: The Proposed Action is likely to have impacts on the freshwater and mangrove wetlands associated with the L-31E Flowway Redistribution Project.

Response: The L-31E Flowway Redistribution Project has not yet been designed past the conceptual stage, and without a plan of what would be done, it is difficult to determine what the effects of that project would be or how it might be changed as a result of the Proposed Action. In general terms, it is estimated that discharges from Military Canal would carry the pollutants indicated in Table 4.10-5 in Volume I to a stormwater treatment and distribution area (STDA). The STDA would remove some or most of the pollutants in the water prior to reaching L-31E. The amount of pollutant removal would depend on a number of factors, including retention time, vegetation, and the rate at which water from Military Canal would be supplied to the STDA. Depending on the amount of pollutant removal and which pollutants were removed, effects on wetlands and mangroves could range from none (the water quality is essentially the same as other water entering L-31E) to some unquantifiable higher impact. Given that the amount of water entering this area from Military Canal would probably be considerably less than the amounts coming from other sources, the impacts on water quality are likely to be small. If the impacts on water quality are likely to be small, then the biological or ecological effects of the pollutant loads entering L-31E from Military Canal are also likely to be small.

## 16.4 Sensitive Species

This section addresses non-noise related comments concerning sensitive species. Noise-related comments are addressed in the subsequent section (16.5).

16.4.1 Comment: The South Florida Water Management District Southern Glades Wildlife and Environmental Area and the Model Lands area serve as a wildlife habitat corridor that connects the national parks, preserves, and state parks. The Southern Glades support breeding populations of the endangered Cape Sable seaside sparrow and contain designated critical habitat for this species.

**Response:** The designated critical habitat for Cape Sable seaside sparrow is displayed on Figure 3.11-5 in Volume I. The habitat area includes the Southern Glades Wildlife and Environmental Area, although the Southern Glades were not specifically identified on this figure in the Draft SEIS. The Final SEIS has been expanded to incorporate more information on the Southern Glades and Model Lands Basin.

16.4.2 Comment: There is no reference in the Draft SEIS to the resident population of bottlenose dolphin (a species protected under the Marine Mammal Protection Act) in Biscayne Bay.

**Response:** Information on the bottlenose dolphin has been incorporated into the Biological Resources sections of Volume I of the Final SEIS.

16.4.3 Comment: Key Largo Hammocks State Botanical Site and Crocodile Lake National Wildlife Refuge (NWR) both are habitat for four federally endangered species: American saltwater crocodile, Key Largo woodrat, Key Largo cotton mouse, and Schaus swallowtail butterfly.

**Response:** The redevelopment of former Homestead AFB would not affect these resources. The only aspect of reuse that they could be exposed to is aircraft overflight. The effects of aircraft noise on the American crocodile are addressed below in section 16.5.

The Key Largo woodrat and Key Largo cotton mouse occur on north Key Largo, including at Crocodile Lake NWR. They would not be affected by the Proposed Action. Commercial aircraft flying over Crocodile Lake NWR would be at an altitude of 6,000 feet or higher. Given this, it is expected that overflights would not affect these two rodents.

The Schaus swallowtail butterfly occurs on north Key Largo, Elliott Key, and other keys in Biscayne National Park and on the Deering Estate on the mainland north of the park. The increase in overflights

under the Proposed Action would likely not impact the butterfly, given that aircraft would be 3,000 to 5,000 feet or higher above Elliott Key.

The Final SEIS has been expanded to include more information on the crocodile population at Crocodile Lake NWR and an assessment of the potential impacts the Proposed Action and other alternatives could have on this population and on the other endangered species on Key Largo.

16.4.4 Comment: The saltwater crocodile has been breeding successfully in the Turkey Point area since Hurricane Andrew curtailed operations at the former base, possibly as a result of reduced noise levels since the realignment of Homestead AFB.

Response: The American crocodile began nesting at Turkey Point in 1978, and its numbers increased through the 1980s when Homestead AFB was in full operation. The number of adults at Turkey Point began to level off in the 1990s, and this site may be at carrying capacity (see Section G.2.3 in Appendix G, Volume II, for more details). There were an average of about 375 operations per day from Homestead AFB before Hurricane Andrew. This indicates that the American crocodile expanded into Turkey Point when there was substantially more aircraft activity in the area than currently.

16.4.5 Comment: What will happen to the Florida panthers that are occasionally seen near Keys Gate?

Response: It is not envisioned that the Proposed Action or any of the reuse alternatives would have any impacts on the Florida panther. As indicated in Section G.2.5 of Appendix G (Volume II), radiotelemetry data have documented the presence of Florida panther south of the former base, mostly in the Model Lands Basin. There is potential marginal habitat for this species north of Palm Drive that could be lost through secondary development. It is not thought that aircraft noise would affect occasional individuals that may occur north of Palm Drive (including the Keys Gate area) or in the Model Lands Basin.

16.4.6 Comment: The Dade County Manatee Protection Plan (versus personal communication) may provide more objective information for assessing the likelihood of impacts to manatees from proposed uses.

**Response:** The personal communication reference in the Draft SEIS has been removed from the Final SEIS, and information from the Manatee Protection Plan was used instead.

16.4.7 Comment: The discussion of impacts on endangered species resulting from conversion of vacant/agricultural lands to commercial/residential lands does not consider the relationship of animals to their extended environment. The long-term viability of species needs to consider impacts on prey species and their habitat.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to add that secondary development would likely result in the loss and fragmentation of various components of some habitat, including the abundance of prey animals. The SEIS indicates that secondary development relating to reuse of former Homestead AFB could result in elimination and fragmentation of some indigo snake habitat.

16.4.8 Comment: The Department of the Interior notes the Mixed Use alternative offers the opportunity to preserve remaining pine rocklands and increase wading bird habitat. This may be possible under any scenario involving Mixed Use, particularly if deed restrictions are used to preserve rare and ecologically sensitive habitat.

R-153 Final SEIS

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to include recommendations of the Department of the Interior and other cooperating federal agencies. They will be carefully considered by the Air Force and the FAA during decision making.

16.4.9 Comment: The Draft SEIS implies that acreage on former Homestead AFB is already disturbed and not worth protecting. The remaining 16.7 acres of remnant pine rocklands, a vanishing habitat in south Florida, should be protected to the maximum extent possible given the large number of sensitive plants there.

Response: The Proposed Action includes a Wildlife/Habitat Management and Mitigation Plan that provides protection for 16.1 acres of pine rocklands on the former base. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has also requested that three of the four areas designated for protection (those containing the endangered Small's milkpea) be preserved through a deed covenant. Under the county's plan, an additional 14.1 acres of remnant pine rocklands south and southeast of the runway would be studied to determine whether they could contribute to bird-aircraft strike hazard, and decisions on their preservation would be made after the studies are completed. It is unlikely these areas would be lost. Therefore, under the Proposed Action, up to 30.2 acres of remnant pine rocklands would be preserved, and between 0.6 and 14.5 acres could be lost. Under the other alternatives, at least the pine rocklands containing Small's milkpea would be preserved. It is also unlikely that the 14.1 acres of remnant pine rocklands near the runway would be altered under any of the Mixed Use scenarios.

#### 16.5 Noise Effects on Wildlife

16.5.1 Comment: Many studies have shown that animals are detrimentally affected by noise. One study has shown that mammals, including dolphins, will go miles and miles out of their way to avoid human being noise.

**Response:** Section 4.11.3 in Volume I addresses the potential effects of noise on sensitive species. Based on the studies reviewed for this analysis, noise levels generated by aircraft from the Proposed Action are expected to have little or no effect on most species of wildlife. Text concerning the bottlenose dolphin populations in Biscayne Bay was added to Section 3.11.2, and the effects of noise on this species is briefly addressed in Section 4.11.3 of Volume I. Based on the studies reviewed, it is thought that the bottlenose dolphin would continue to occur in Biscayne Bay if the Proposed Action were implemented.

16.5.2 Comment: The animals most detrimentally affected by noise are birds. Birds will be bothered by the noise. They might make a nest, and they might even lay an egg, but then they will abandon that egg. This will affect both the existing bird population and the baby bird population, which is the adult birds of the future.

Response: The potential impacts of noise on nesting birds is discussed in Section 4.11.3 of Volume I. Although information on the effects of noise on many bird species is limited, available information on wading birds and other aquatic birds that predominate in the area of former Homestead AFB indicates that the projected noise exposures, in terms of magnitude, duration, and frequency of occurrence, are unlikely to have any long-term effects on breeding populations. The western shoreline of Biscayne Bay and associated canals and freshwater wetlands, where changes in noise would be greatest, currently support a fairly low density of foraging wading birds that are typically seen as widely scattered solitary individuals or in small groups, and there are no rookeries in this area. Changes in noise associated with the Proposed Action at breeding locations for theses species, the rookeries at Arsenicker Key, for example, would be small.

Given the current level of human activity in these areas and the ongoing military air operations, noise generated from the Proposed Action is anticipated to have little effect on wading birds and other sensitive bird species in the area of former Homestead AFB or along the western shoreline of Biscayne Bay.

16.5.3 Comment: The effects of increased noise on birds are not well known, and it is possible that increased noise from the Proposed Action will disrupt nesting, foraging, and migration patterns of bird species in the area. The Cape Sable seaside sparrow is of particular concern.

Response: The Final SEIS has been expanded to provide more discussion of Cape Sable seaside sparrow habitat. The eastern population and critical habitat of the Cape Sable seaside sparrow occur in the western part of the Southern Glades Wildlife and Environmental Area. The noise modeling conducted for the SEIS showed no increase in the maximum noise exposure levels under the Proposed Action over current levels at and near these locations. In some areas, the amount of time that aircraft noise levels would be above ambient levels could increase more than two hours. It is considered unlikely that these increases would affect nesting, foraging, or migration, but they may result in slight masking effects.

16.5.4 Comment: If aircraft noise prevents singing birds from mating, will this noise be the cause of a drop in reproductive success?

Response: There is little information regarding noise preventing birds from hearing each other (referred to as masking). This issue is addressed in the SEIS for the Cape Sable seaside sparrow (see Section 4.11.3 in Volume I), and it is acknowledged that aircraft noise may mask breeding bird communication in portions of the eastern population of the Cape Sable seaside sparrow. This type of masking effect may also occur for other species in the area. The amount of time that this could occur is not expected to be sufficient to affect reproductive success. Aircraft noise events tend to be of short duration and spread out over the course of the day.

16.5.5 Comment: Birds that flush during feeding or resting two to eight times per hour will not have nesting success, defined by raising chicks to fledging, as often as those who are not stressed in this way, even if they do not abandon the nest.

Response: Wading birds and other species are not expected to flush two to eight times per hour as a result of the Proposed Action. Wading birds currently foraging on the former base in the area of the runway typically do not flush during aircraft operations, even though noise levels can exceed 110 decibels. Studies of wading birds elsewhere in Florida (see Section 4.11.3 in Volume I) have shown that they do not flush from their nests at noise levels from 60 to 75 decibels, and sometimes do not flush with noise levels as high as 100 decibels. Although the effects of noise on wading birds along the western shoreline of Biscayne Bay has not been specifically studied, it is reasonable to believe they would be similar to the findings of other published studies and to recent observations at Homestead Air Reserve Station.

16.5.6 Comment: The conclusions that aquatic bird life will adapt to expected noise levels ignores the fact that many wading and diving birds do not communicate vocally and therefore are relatively unaffected by noise.

Response: As indicated in Section 4.11.3 of Volume I, there is little information regarding the effects of noise in masking vocal communication by birds, including wading and diving birds. However, noise has a variety of effects on birds besides masking vocal communication, and these are discussed in the SEIS. Based on current noise levels and projected noise levels for the Proposed Action, information from the literature, and observations of wading birds on and near former Homestead AFB, there appears to be no basis for concluding that noise generated by the Proposed Action would have much effect on wading birds.

R-155 Final SEIS

16.5.7 Comment: The Draft SEIS says that some birds may relocate to quieter areas with suitable habitat, but suitable habitat is limited in south Florida.

**Response:** As indicated in Section G.2.4 of Appendix G (Volume II), the western shoreline of Biscayne Bay and associated canals and freshwater wetlands currently support a fairly low density of foraging wading birds that are typically seen as widely scattered solitary individuals or in small groups. Under these circumstances, it is believed that suitable habitat is available for some of these birds to relocate to other areas.

16.5.8 Comment: Animals are going to respond to the frequency of noise more than to total noise levels over a 24 hour period.

Response: There is a high correlation between the amount of time noise levels from aircraft flights are above ambient levels and the frequency of flights. If a given species has a negative reaction to aircraft noise and/or visually seeing an aircraft, and the species does not become habituated to this activity, then an increase in frequency of flights will likely have more of an effect on this species. This has been observed with some species of waterfowl in fairly remote locations, as discussed in Section 4.11.3 of Volume I. Studies of noise effects on wildlife in less remote areas have shown that some species can habituate to aircraft noise and be much less affected; for example, wintering waterfowl near Piney Island, North Carolina. No studies of noise effects on birds and other wildlife have been conducted at or near former Homestead AFB or in Biscayne Bay. The level of human activity (including military aircraft flights) in these areas is fairly high, and birds have and will likely continue to be habituated to this activity level. The increased frequency of flights associated with the Proposed Action is likely to have little effect on these species.

16.5.9 Comment: The Draft SEIS indicates that the noise impacts at the western shore of Biscayne National Park and in the northern and eastern areas of Crocodile Lake National Wildlife Refuge are unknown for the American crocodile. If the effects are unknown, it would be better to err on the side of caution and not further stress this endangered species.

**Response:** As the SEIS indicates, no information was found on the American crocodile's response to noise. The American crocodile is repopulating the western shoreline of Biscayne Bay, and two related crocodilians (American alligator and spectacled caiman) now reside on former Homestead AFB. These species also occurred on the base when it was fully operational. This indicates that there is no presumptive evidence that the American crocodile is, or other crocodilians are, sensitive to aircraft noise. Based on available evidence, American crocodiles appear to be less sensitive to noise than some bird species.

The occurrence of these crocodilians at former Homestead AFB when it was fully operational suggests that these species can adapt to noise at airfields. An important step in the recovery of the American crocodile has been the establishment of a breeding population at Turkey Point Nuclear Power Plant beginning in 1978. This population continued to grow throughout the 1980s. Homestead AFB was fully operational at that time, with an estimated 375 aircraft average daily operations in 1987. The average Sound Exposure Level from an F-16 near Turkey Point is about 85 decibels (see Figure 3.5-6 in Volume I). This indicates that the American crocodile is either insensitive or able to adapt to elevated noise levels from aircraft. The discussion of potential impacts of noise on the American crocodile in Section 4.11 of Volume I has been expanded to include this information.

16.5.10 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not analyze the effects of 1,000 overflights per day on bird nesting and reproductive behavior in Florida Bay if the flight path mitigation alternatives are adopted. The

Draft SEIS does not analyze the effects of noise pollution on the nesting and reproductive behavior in Crocodile Lake National Wildlife Refuge, located in North Key Largo.

**Response:** Sections 3.11 and 4.11 in Volume I of the Final SEIS have been expanded to provide more information on sensitive species in Florida Bay and Crocodile Lake National Wildlife Refuge and aircraft noise effects in those areas. There is no location, however, that would be exposed to 1,000 flights per day from the Proposed Action. Wading bird rookeries and bald eagle nests occur in eastern Florida Bay. The maximum noise levels and time above ambient would change slightly under the Proposed Action. The small increases in noise levels in Florida Bay would not be expected to affect nesting wading birds or bald eagles in this area.

Although there is limited information on noise impacts on crocodilians, circumstantial evidence from the former base and from along the western shoreline of Biscayne Bay indicates that the crocodilians inhabiting this area would probably coexist with the increased noise that would result from the Proposed Action. The American crocodile currently inhabits areas close to the base (Turkey Point), and two crocodilians (the American alligator and spectacled caiman) currently reside in the wetlands and canals along the runway on the former base. Further, these species have resided at the base for decades. This indicates that these two crocodilians coexist with the current noise levels and resided on the base when it was under full operation in a much noisier environment.

## 16.6 Bird-Aircraft Strike Hazard

16.6.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS should include additional information related to species distribution associated with bird-aircraft strikes. Given the number of federal and state-listed endangered and threatened bird species in the vicinity of former Homestead AFB, the SEIS should address applicable regulations or agency policies of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and Florida Fish and Wildlife Commission related to the inadvertent "taking" of birds.

**Response:** Bird-aircraft strike data for the last four years from Homestead Air Reserve Station indicate mostly small birds, such as swallows and killdeer, are struck by aircraft, along with occasional larger birds, such as gulls and vultures. Bird strikes currently occur about once every two months, as indicated in Section 3.4.3 of Volume I.

16.6.2 Comment: The recommended use of bioacoustics to disperse birds to avoid aircraft strikes could have adverse effects on migratory bird flight patterns and rookeries of breeding birds. If these techniques include noise that prevents birds from roosting, this will affect wildlife in an around the national parks. They could also disturb other wildlife in the area.

Response: Bioacoustics are identified as a potential means of reducing bird-aircraft strike hazards. The SEIS makes no recommendation about the use of this measure. Bioacoustics are currently used to disperse birds at Homestead Air Reserve Station. Efforts to scare birds away from flight paths to minimize the danger of bird-aircraft strikes are focused on birds that are feeding or loafing near the runway, not at roosting sites. There are two small nocturnal roost sites on the former base (no wading bird nest sites occur on the former base) that are used occasionally by birds. These sites do not pose the same concern as birds feeding along the runway and are typically not subject to control techniques that are used along the runway. The sound level from the bioacoustics would dissipate quickly and have little effect on wildlife beyond the area immediately around the airfield.

16.6.3 Comment: A more expansive analysis of the bird-aircraft strike issue needs to be completed with a focus on a plan to alleviate increased strikes from full buildout and/or a second runway. The aviation department requested authority to shoot white ibis on the former base last year, ostensibly for air

safety reasons. If the limited number of flights currently departing from the runway is already creating white ibis strike concerns, then increased flights from a commercial airport would logically increase those strike concerns.

Response: Homestead Air Reserve Station requested permission to shoot white ibis as a method of minimizing bird-aircraft strike hazard near the airfield, but the request was withdrawn in response to public opposition. The Air Reserve Wing at Homestead has two staff to deal with bird-aircraft strike hazards, one for the airfield, and one for the nearby Miami-Dade County landfill (Mount Trashmore). Data from 1996 to 2000 indicate that most bird-aircraft strikes at Homestead involve small birds, such as swallows and killdeer, with less frequent strikes of larger birds, such as gulls and vultures. No wading birds have been reported as being struck by aircraft. As reported in Section 3.4.3 in Volume I, bird-aircraft strikes occur about once every two months on the former base. Bird-aircraft strike hazard would increase with a greater number of flights under the Proposed Action, and methods similar to those currently employed to scare birds on and near the runway may be used. These methods include using noise and small pyrotechnics (see Section 3.4.3). The specific methods that would be used under the Proposed Action have not been finalized.

The possibility of a second runway at Homestead is perhaps decades away and too far in the future to plan for.

# 16.7 Exotic Species

16.7.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS did not consider the potential for cargo and passenger aircraft arriving from foreign countries to introduce nonindigenous species into south Miami-Dade County.

**Response:** Considerations of possible introduction of pest species are discussed in Sections 3.6.5 and 4.6.4 in Volume I.

16.7.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS indicates that changes to the stormwater management system at the former base could cause existing spectacled caiman to relocate to nearby wetlands. Control or eradication measures should be implemented under the Proposed Action or reuse alternatives to prevent this species from invading surrounding ecosystems.

**Response:** Available information indicates that caiman currently occur in many areas off the base and may occupy most available freshwater habitat from Black Point south to Palm Drive (see Section 3.11.2 in Volume I). A caiman removal program for the former base has been identified as a potential mitigation measure in the Final SEIS.

## 17.0 CULTURAL RESOURCES

No comments concerning the cultural resources analysis raised questions or concerns that needed response.

## 18.0 MINORITY AND LOW-INCOME POPULATIONS

This category addresses comments concerning compliance with Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations, and measures to mitigate impacts on minority and low-income populations.

18.0.1 Comment: The environmental justice analysis in the SEIS is superficial. It does not address the impacts of the process and resulting decisions upon low-income and minority populations.

**Response:** The goal of the analysis in the SEIS is to comply with Executive Order 12898, which directs federal agencies to identify and address, as appropriate, disproportionately high and adverse human health or environmental effects of its programs, policies, and activities on minority and low-income populations.

To accomplish that, potential resource impacts were reviewed to determine the location and level of those impacts and their potential for adverse environmental, safety, or health effects on nearby low-income or minority populations. The potential exposure of residents to increases in Day-Night Average Sound Level of 1.5 decibels (dB) or greater within the 65 dB contour and of 3 dB or greater within the 60–65 dB contour was the only potential health or environmental effect that warranted discussion. Although the comment labels the Draft SEIS analysis "superficial," it does not identify any specific errors in the discussion nor identify any additional health or environmental issues that should have been addressed.

Another comment was that the discussion did not address impacts of the SEIS process and of the resulting decisions on low-income and minority populations. The impacts to which the comment refers are not clear, but they are interpreted to refer to economic issues, such as delays in redevelopment and differing job opportunities associated with each alternative. Such issues are not the human health or environmental effects that the Executive Order instructs federal agencies to identify and address.

18.0.2 Comment: The SEIS should evaluate the (negative) impact of acquiring residences exposed to airport-related Day-Night Average Sound Levels over 65 decibels on minority and low-income populations.

**Response:** The residences identified as potentially exposed to these elevated noise levels under the Proposed Action are within a housing area developed for farmworkers and inhabited by minority and low-income residents. Relocating these residents to an area that has less noise exposure would have the effect of reducing adverse impacts to these populations.

18.0.3 Comment: It is misleading to conclude that reuse-related secondary development will not have any disproportionately high and adverse impacts on minority or low-income populations when there is no solid proposal for the secondary development.

**Response:** The secondary development stimulated by reuse of former Homestead AFB property is expected to be spread over various portions of the region, principally in south Miami-Dade County. It could include some airport-related development (in the case of the Proposed Action), unrelated industrial and commercial development, and residential development to accommodate in-migrating population. It would be developed incrementally as demand warranted. As such, it is not likely there will ever be a specific proposal for secondary development as a whole. Given the available information, there is no reason to conclude that secondary development would have disproportionately high and adverse impacts on minority and low-income populations.

## 19.0 DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (DOT) ACT SECTION 4(F) LANDS

19.0.1 Comment: The Department of the Interior (DOI) understands that a "Section 4(f) Determination" is underway in accordance with Section 4(f) of the Department of Transportation (DOT) Act. For reasons outlined in DOI's letters, DOI believes the FAA should conclude under Section 4(f) that the Proposed Action would constitute a constructive use of National Park Service lands. Similarly, other comments received along the same lines relative to impacts on the national parks would reach the same conclusion as DOI.

**Response:** The FAA respects the views of agencies and individuals that regard the Proposed Action as inherently undesirable for the national parks. Reasonable people will probably continue to disagree about

the magnitude and impact of the potential environmental effects. The FAA has relied on information in the SEIS for its DOT Act Section 4(f) evaluation and has determined that potential impacts would not rise to the level of severity that would constitute a use of resources protected under DOT Act Section 4(f). The FAA's Section 4(f) review in Volume I, Section 4.14 of the Final SEIS fully explains the basis for the FAA's determination.

19.0.2 Comment: The Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC) commented that the Draft SEIS does not include the complete discussion and analysis required under Section 4(f). NRDC noted that whether or not a reliever airport is needed in Miami-Dade County may impact upon the FAA's Section 4(f) determination and provided environmental information and a report on this issue to assist the FAA in its compliance with Section 4(f). NRDC reserved the right to augment its information, including after the FAA makes public further documentation concerning its compliance with Section 4(f).

**Response:** The FAA's Section 4(f) review is included in Volume I of the Final SEIS at Section 4.14. The FAA has relied on information in the SEIS for its Section 4(f) determination. Information relevant to the Section 4(f) determination has not substantially changed between the Draft and Final SEIS. The information provided by NRDC was reviewed and considered by the FAA. Although the specific Section 4(f) finding related to "no feasible and prudent alternative" is not applicable because the FAA has determined that there would be no Section 4(f) use, FAA continues to believe that more commercial airport capacity is needed in the future in south Florida to relieve Miami International Airport. Detail on the evaluation of the need for more commercial airport capacity is found in Appendix A in Volume II.

19.0.3 Comment: The National Parks Conservation Association believes that the proposed airport development of Homestead AFB violates Section 4(f) of the 1966 Department of Transportation Act. This act stipulates that the Secretary of Transportation shall not approve any project that "requires the use of any publicly owned land from a public park...unless (1) there is no feasible and prudent alternative to the use of such land, and (2) such program includes all possible planning to minimize harm to such park...." Case law indicates that "use" in this context includes indirect impacts such as noise, pollution, visual intrusion, and increased traffic. There are a number of feasible alternatives to the proposed airport that the SEIS fails to consider.

**Response:** The FAA's DOT Act Section 4(f) evaluation in Volume I, Section 4.14 of the Final SEIS includes the consideration of all environmental impacts and includes an assessment of constructive use as well as direct, physical taking of Section 4(f) lands. Since the FAA has determined that there would be no Section 4(f) use with the Proposed Action, the "feasible and prudent alternative" finding does not apply. The FAA believes that such a finding would be supported based on the aviation need addressed in detail in Appendix A in Volume II and the situation with respect to other alternatives. The FAA does not agree that the SEIS fails to consider feasible and prudent alternatives.

19.0.4 Comment: Section 4(f) of the Transportation Act requires that there exist no reasonable or prudent alternative to any proposed use of the national parks, such as by noise from overflights. As the proposed commercial airport at former Homestead AFB will almost certainly in fact adversely affect the adjacent national parks, the FAA should study whether there are alternative sites, such as Opa-Locka Airport, for Miami-Dade County's next reliever airport.

**Response:** The FAA's DOT Act Section 4(f) evaluation includes the consideration of all environmental impacts, giving the greatest amount of attention to noise from aircraft overflights. Volume I, Section 4.14 of the Final SEIS explains in detail why the FAA has determined that environmental effects of the Proposed Action would not rise to the level of constructive use under DOT Act Section 4(f). While the finding of "no feasible and prudent alternative" is not applicable absent Section 4(f) use, FAA has

reviewed the availability of other airport sites and the capacity of other airports, including Opa-Locka, to meet projected future aviation demand in south Florida. This review is in Volume II, Appendix A.

# 20.0 SECONDARY DEVELOPMENT

Reuse-related secondary development is an integral component of the SEIS analysis, and many resource-specific (e.g., Socioeconomics, Water Resources) comments concerning secondary development are addressed within those resource categories. This category addresses general comments on how the amount of secondary development was calculated for each alternative.

20.0.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not thoroughly investigate the impacts of secondary development.

**Response:** Each section of Chapter 4 in Volume I addresses impacts from both direct and secondary development associated with the Proposed Action and alternatives. Each reuse alternative is anticipated to generate secondary employment and population in-migration—the people who move to the area to take jobs at the former base. Chapter 2 in Volume I describes how secondary development was estimated for each reuse alternative. The impacts of this secondary development are addressed in the SEIS.

**20.0.2** Comment: Consideration was not given to the rental car companies, warehouses, and other development that would be generated by a commercial airport.

**Response:** Section 2.2 in Volume I describes the types of adjunct airport-related development that could be expected to occur with the Proposed Action. Much of this development could be accommodated on former Homestead AFB property, but some of it could also occur in nearby areas as secondary development.

**20.0.3** Comment: The SEIS underestimates the additional development that the Proposed Action would attract. Estimates of development from the Proposed Action could be as high as 20,000 acres.

**Response:** No specific information has been provided to indicate that the SEIS' estimates are inaccurate or unreasonable, nor has any substantiation been provided for other numbers that have been suggested by some commentors. Section 2.2.5 in Volume I indicates that a more reasonable estimate for secondary development from the Proposed Action is about 3,000 acres by full buildout.

**20.0.4** Comment: The Proposed Action will result in perhaps 15,000 acres of agricultural land being taken out of production.

**Response:** The Proposed Action is estimated to result in secondary development of about 3,000 acres by full buildout, including both agricultural and non-agricultural land.

20.0.5 Comment: The analysis of the impacts of secondary development associated with reuse of former Homestead AFB is superficial. The area between the former base and Biscayne Bay is currently undeveloped and acts as a buffer between development and the bay. This area will be subject to development if a commercial airport is developed at Homestead.

**Response:** It is not possible to predict exactly what the secondary development would entail and which parcels would be developed. It is only possible to estimate the magnitude and general location of secondary development that may be stimulated by reuse of former Homestead AFB property. There are no specific plans for this development; it is likely to occur in scattered locations on an incremental basis. Therefore, it is not feasible to predict with greater precision the environmental effects or determine

stormwater management practices that would be applied. In general, it can be expected that projected growth in south Miami-Dade County will result in increased urbanization and development of lands that are currently undeveloped, including areas east of the former base that are not protected from development (e.g., agricultural lands).

**20.0.6** Comment: The Draft SEIS did not analyze the potential secondary impacts from increased population growth to surrounding areas such as the Florida Keys.

**Response:** Each resource section in Chapter 4 in Volume I describes the impacts of both on-site development and secondary development. The SEIS discusses impacts on Monroe County in the Socioeconomics, Noise, Land Use and Aesthetics, and Biological Resources sections. These are the resource areas in which potential impacts on Monroe County have been identified. For other resources, the Florida Keys are outside the area where the vast majority of impacts are anticipated to occur.

20.0.7 Comment: The matter of controlling induced growth was addressed in the Final Environmental Impact Statement for the Replacement Airport for the Everglades Jetport prepared in the 1970s to analyze a proposed jetport in Big Cypress National Preserve. The last sentence on page S-25 of that document's Summary states: "Potential adverse environmental impacts that might result from induced development would be protected against through commitments specified in a grant agreement for land acquisition." Applying this to the Homestead project means requiring Miami-Dade County and the City of Homestead to commit to enforcing land use and development regulations. The FAA and the Air Force could provide the federal oversight as parties to the federal action.

**Response:** The mitigations that have been suggested for a commercial airport at former Homestead AFB are described in the Final SEIS. Though addressing induced growth appears to have been a common issue in both documents, how that might be accomplished for Homestead is affected greatly by its own particular location and by possible legal constraints on the commitments the county is permitted to make. At Homestead, the possibility of controlling growth by creating a buffer area, rather than by land use regulations, has achieved prominence among those concerned with controlling growth in areas outside the Urban Development Boundary. The approach suggested in the comment, however, is a possibility.

## 21.0 BUFFER AREA

This category addresses comments on a potential buffer area discussed in the SEIS that would be between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park.

21.0.1 Comment: A buffer area between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park has been recommended by numerous agencies and groups and should be part of any reuse alternative for former Homestead AFB. If a buffer between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park is necessary to protect critical resources, it should be recommended as such.

Response: The buffer is a possible approach to implementing several measures that would reduce impacts from development near Biscayne National Park. There are also other existing and potential ways to achieve these objectives. A buffer area would be beneficial in controlling the effects of growth and development proximate to the park, including both unrelated (baseline) development and reuse-related secondary development. It could prevent development of noise-sensitive land uses, such as housing, in areas exposed to high noise levels from aircraft operations at Homestead. It could also facilitate the establishment of a stormwater treatment and distribution area, preservation of wetlands and habitat, and implementation of ecosystem restoration projects.

21.0.2 Comment: The Department of the Interior believes that a buffer to maintain existing agricultural and open spaces uses between Biscayne National Park and the urban areas of southeast Miami-Dade County is essential to protect the national and regionally significant resources and values of the park. Implementing the buffer may be more easily accomplished under the Mixed Use alternative in that it is projected to result in the use of fewer acres adjacent to former Homestead AFB property and the secondary development may be less.

**Response:** The Final SEIS has been expanded to include recommendations of the Department of the Interior and other cooperating federal agencies. They will be carefully considered by the Air Force and the FAA during decision making.

The strong interest in a buffer by federal agencies and the public has been recognized since work on the SEIS began. The topic of buffer lands is one of the special topics separately addressed in the Summary and Chapter 2 of Volume I.

It is not certain that a buffer would be more easily accomplished under the Mixed Use alternative. Miami-Dade County has committed to the concept of a buffer in connection with the proposed commercial airport. It is not clear who would sponsor a buffer if the Mixed Use alternative were selected.

21.0.3 Comment: The proposal for a buffer between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park is unclear. The Draft SEIS did not provide sufficient information on how the buffer area would be implemented (e.g., which lands must be purchased) or how the buffer would affect water quality and flow from the former base.

**Response:** The SEIS includes as much information about the potential buffer as is available. No detailed plan for the buffer or its implementation has been developed.

21.0.4 Comment: Some sections of the Draft SEIS propose a buffer area as a measure to protect resources, while other sections identify adverse impacts from the buffer. The ecological value of providing a buffer between former Homestead AFB and the natural system should be weighed in determining whether the buffer zone is necessary. The inhibition of development of a second runway should be a secondary consideration.

**Response:** A buffer area between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park has been proposed by a number of organizations and is discussed in the SEIS. Each resource topic in Chapter 4 of Volume I addresses the potential effects of such a buffer. As with other impacts, both beneficial and potential adverse effects are discussed.

**21.0.5** Comment: Restricting property to agricultural use in the proposed buffer area between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park would drive agriculture out.

**Response:** This issue was raised during scoping for the SEIS and is acknowledged in Section 4.6.4 in Volume I. As that section indicates, the impact of establishing a buffer would depend on how it was implemented and the extent to which potential adverse effects could be mitigated.

**21.0.6** Comment: The conclusion in the Draft SEIS that a buffer between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park would not provide appreciable benefits is apparently based on the assumption that existing land use would not change. This conclusion does not consider the benefits of the proposed Biscayne Bay Coastal Wetlands project.

Response: There is no specific plan that defines what a buffer might encompass or how it might be implemented. Some of the proposals for a buffer have suggested that existing land use (primarily agriculture) would be maintained. The SEIS indicates that such a proposal would not be expected to create major changes. It also indicates that much of the land between the former base and Biscayne National Park is already protected. The Biscayne Bay Coastal Wetlands Project is addressed independently from the buffer as part of the ecosystem restoration initiatives in the cumulative impact analysis.

21.0.7 Comment: If a buffer between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park is necessary to protect critical resources, a dedicated funding source for implementation should be identified.

**Response:** While a buffer would have beneficial environmental effects, it has not been found necessary to protect critical resources, principally because there are existing mechanisms for protecting resources such as threatened and endangered species and wetlands.

## 22.0 MITIGATION MEASURES

This section addresses issues related to mitigation measures in general. Mitigation measures suggested to reduce specific resource impacts are addressed in the categories for those resource topics (e.g., Noise, Transportation, Water Resources).

22.0.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS implies that the recommendations of the Homestead Air Force Base Issue Team and the Homestead Air Force Base Drafting Subcommittee were endorsed by the South Florida Ecosystem Restoration Working Group. This is not true, and the SEIS should be corrected to eliminate this implication.

**Response:** The SEIS simply states that the two committees submitted their recommendations to the Department of the Interior, which in turn forwarded them to the Air Force. It does not indicate whether or not the recommendations were endorsed by the Working Group.

**22.0.2** Comment: The Draft SEIS does not indicate the cost of mitigation measures or identify which government agency would be responsible for implementing the mitigations.

**Response:** Calculating the cost of various potential mitigation measures was not within the scope of the SEIS. The SEIS does identify, to the extent known, who might be responsible for implementing the mitigations.

22.0.3 Comment: The Final SEIS must analyze all mitigation necessary, including the buffer between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park, and examine the costs of implementing the mitigation measures.

**Response:** The SEIS identifies possible mitigation measures for reducing environmental impacts. The Air Force will identify which mitigation measures, if any, are a condition of the property conveyance in the Record of Decision after the Final SEIS has been completed. Funding responsibilities may also be addressed in the Record of Decision.

**22.0.4** Comment: The Air Force hedges its answers on conditions, knowing that the implementers will never do half the things that must be done to mitigate the consequences to have the project fly. The implication of this comment appears to be that the analysis is misleading because it is based on mitigations that may not be implemented.

**Response:** The SEIS has analyzed the consequences of redeveloping the surplus property in a manner consistent with the stated intentions of each alternative's proponent. The SEIS has not assumed that the Air Force would impose any particular mitigations, and therefore the impact analysis does not depend on assuming compliance with any of the potential mitigations. Further, the SEIS does not assume that all mitigations would be fully effective, and it acknowledges that accidents could happen that would have adverse environmental effects.

22.0.5 Comment: The Florida Biodiversity Project recommends several modifications to the Mixed Use alternative. These include (1) increased open space and habitat restoration; (2) maximize a scientifically defensible buffer zone between former Homestead AFB and Biscayne National Park; and (3) the Air Force must demand compensation at fair market value for the base. The compensation offered in the Hoover-Collier proposal is inadequate.

Response: The Mixed Use alternative does not need specific modification to be able to include the mitigations suggested in this comment. The analysis provided throughout the SEIS would permit a buffer area or the other suggested mitigations to be selected as part of a property disposal, were that to be the Air Force's decision. The implication that fair market compensation is required for the Collier-Hoover proposal is correct (although fair market value would not be required for some of the other disposal possibilities). The value of the mineral rights being offered by the Collier Resources Company and the surplus property for which they would be exchanged are being appraised.

Comment: One assurance that is critical to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 22.0.6 (USEPA) is a suitable environmental trade-off of Collier lands/mineral rights (particularly environmentally significant lands in south Florida that would enhance the federal/state restoration efforts) in exchange for the surplus lands at former Homestead AFB for the proposed mixed use development. In order for the Collier proposal to be considered further, it should be assured that (1) a suitable transfer of Collier lands and/or mineral rights is achievable; (2) the Air Force and National Park Service determine these assets have comparable (environmental and otherwise) value to the property being traded; (3) growth to full buildout is limited commensurate with the ecological sensitivity of the area; (4) construction is accomplished according to Best Management Practices monitored by a third party; (5) long-term operation incorporates environmentally sensitive practices (e.g., reduced pesticides and fertilizer use on golf courses) with monitoring for water quality and other parameters; (6) the complex is adequately buffered from the national parks by natural or planted greenway corridors; (7) site layout design for any new development conforms with presently agreed upon specific site remediation standards or additional remediation is completed commensurate with the proposed new land use where necessary; and (8) the state and county oversee appropriate land use controls/zoning restrictions which take into account both the associated local development and regional cumulative impacts in Miami-Dade County.

**Response:** USEPA recommendations are noted. Additional discussions among the lead and cooperating agencies concerning federal policy objectives and recommended mitigation measures will precede any final decision making by the Air Force and FAA.

22.0.7 Comment: The SEIS should include the following limitations in connection with approval of the proposed commercial airport: (1) acceptance of Mayor Penelas' offer to transfer the defunct "Jetport" in Big Cypress; (2) development of a buffer zone around the Homestead airport; (3) further study of the water runoff problems in conjunction with the National Park Service; (4) flight pattern restrictions that are consistent with aircraft safety; (5) zoning restrictions; (6) an environmental contingency fund of 3–5 percent (up to \$40 or 50 million), primarily from landing fees, to correct or ameliorate unforeseen ecological problems or to acquire additional park land; (7) an extensive environmental impact review of the proposed second runway, including public hearings; and (8) establishment of an ongoing ad hoc environmental review committee. The property transfer should be conditioned upon and have deed

R-165 Final SEIS

restrictions (i.e., covenants running with the land) allowing the property to revert to the U.S. government in the event of non-compliance with these mitigations.

**Response:** The SEIS does not decide what mitigations will be required. That will occur in the Record of Decision. The Air Force and FAA will consider all feasible mitigation measures in the decision making.

## 23.0 CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

This category addresses comments pertaining to the cumulative impact analysis in the SEIS and to the projects and activities included in that analysis. Comments pertaining to south Florida ecosystem restoration initiatives, which are included in the cumulative impact analysis, are addressed in a separate category (24.0).

23.0.1 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not fully evaluate the cumulative impact of off-site development in conjunction with the Proposed Action and alternatives.

**Response:** Each resource section in Chapter 4 of Volume I describes the impacts of both on-site development and related off-site development. The impacts reported include the total effects, including on-site and off-site effects. Cumulative impacts are also described, which include the on-site and off-site effects of reuse of former Homestead AFB in combination with other proposed activities in the region.

23.0.2 Comment: Section 2.2.5 of the Draft SEIS indicates that the purpose of the cumulative impact analysis is to encompass additional secondary employment generated by the Proposed Action but not accounted for in the employment projections. Thus, some of the cumulative high-growth impacts should actually be attributed to the Proposed Action.

Response: Section 2.2.5 in Volume I indicates that a review of the experiences of a large number of airports across the country was inconclusive with regard to the potential for an airport to stimulate non-airport-related development in its proximity. This type of development occurs in some airport areas but not in others. The variety of factors that influence whether development will occur in any given location is too complex to determine how they may affect development at Homestead. Whether development occurs in an area is ultimately dependent on the demand for that development. In the absence of that demand, induced development at Homestead would probably be limited. The only circumstance that might stimulate this type of development could be a high-growth environment like that reflected in the cumulative impact analysis. In that situation, any development that occurred in the vicinity of the Homestead airport would be responding to the high-growth demand, not generating it.

23.0.3 Comment: The discussion of cumulative impacts of high growth is presented in the wrong context, which has the effect of diluting the impacts of the Proposed Action.

Response: The impacts of the Proposed Action are properly presented in the context of projected baseline conditions. This discussion is presented in greater detail and prior to any discussion of cumulative impacts. For this discussion, the high rate of population growth forecast by Miami-Dade County was modified to a more moderate rate of baseline population growth precisely to avoid potentially diluting the relative impacts of the Proposed Action. The higher growth rate was addressed as a potential cumulative impact in order to ascertain whether the Proposed Action could contribute to a larger cumulative impact. In general, the SEIS acknowledges that the Proposed Action could aggravate the adverse impacts of accelerated growth, although its contribution would be relatively small.

23.0.4 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not adequately address the cumulative environmental impacts on the biota of Biscayne and Everglades National Parks or the need to restore the surrounding ecosystem.

**Response:** The SEIS adequately addresses the cumulative impacts within the context required by Council on Environmental Quality regulations, which is to determine whether the Proposed Action or alternatives could contribute to larger cumulative impacts. Each section in Chapter 4 of Volume I assesses whether the reuse of former Homestead AFB is anticipated to contribute to an overall cumulative impact on the resource analyzed in that section.

23.0.5 Comment: The cumulative impact analysis should analyze the increase in traffic on U.S. Highway 1 with regard to level of service and impact on hurricane evacuation if the road becomes a largely commercial corridor as a result of its widening.

**Response:** As Section 4.2 in Volume I describes, the Proposed Action and alternatives are expected to have only minor impacts on hurricane evacuation times and would, thus, not be likely to appreciably contribute to any impact that development along U.S. Highway 1 might have. In addition, widening U.S. Highway 1 is expected to reduce evacuation times. Most of the area along U.S. Highway 1 between Florida City and Key Largo is protected from development, so the amount of commercial development that could occur is very limited.

## 24.0 SOUTH FLORIDA ECOSYSTEM RESTORATION

Several commentors expressed concern that redevelopment of former Homestead AFB, particularly as a commercial airport, could conflict with initiatives to restore the ecosystem of south Florida. This category addresses those comments.

**24.0.1** Comment: There are extensive efforts by federal, state, and local agencies to restore the ecosystem in south Florida. By reducing groundwater flow to Biscayne Bay, the airport plan is in direct opposition to these efforts, and any redevelopment must be fully integrated and compatible with current Everglades restoration plans. Without explanation, the Air Force treats this issue as insignificant and proposes an action that will contravene the efforts of these agencies.

**Response:** The Air Force and FAA recognize the importance of groundwater flows to south Florida ecosystem restoration and devoted extensive discussion of this issue in the SEIS Water Resources analysis. The cumulative impact analysis in the SEIS describes how reuse of former Homestead AFB property could be expected to relate to other activities in the region, including south Florida ecosystem restoration initiatives. The analysis indicates whether the Proposed Action and alternatives could be expected to contribute to cumulative impacts or conflict with other initiatives.

The analysis concludes that the Proposed Action and alternatives would contribute, to varying degrees, to overall growth and development in south Florida. It is that growth that has the most potential for diminishing the success of ecosystem restoration efforts. However, south Florida is expected to grow whether or not the property at former Homestead AFB is redeveloped. The Proposed Action is estimated to add about 4 percent to the population of south Miami-Dade County (south of Eureka Drive) by 2015, assuming a moderate level of baseline growth. If Miami-Dade County's high-growth forecasts are realized, the additional effect of the Proposed Action would be less than 1 percent, but the cumulative impact would be higher.

The Proposed Action and other reuse alternatives (except for the Market-Driven scenario) incorporate stormwater management measures that have the effect of reducing on-site surface water discharges and increasing groundwater flows to Biscayne Bay. This is what would be required by the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) and Miami-Dade County and is thought to be generally consistent with ecosystem restoration goals.

R-167 Final SEIS

The management of stormwater generated by secondary development may not necessarily adhere to the same level of stormwater controls. If SFWMD and Miami-Dade County were to impose very strict stormwater controls, groundwater discharge to Biscayne Bay would increase. These controls would include requiring developers and individual landowners to actively retain as much stormwater on their land as possible and to ensure that the drainage from any roads, sidewalks, and other impervious surfaces is collected and retained to the extent feasible. Such requirements would not only minimize the adverse effects of secondary development, but would also minimize the adverse effects on surface and groundwater of all future growth in south Miami-Dade County.

**24.0.2** Comment: The Air Force should be certain that the selected reuse alternative is in keeping with south Florida ecosystem restoration initiatives and that plans for reuse of the former base incorporate any changes that occur as ecosystem restoration plans and designs evolve.

**Response:** The Air Force and FAA believe that reuse of former Homestead AFB property can be accomplished without interfering with ecosystem restoration initiatives in the region. However, these initiatives are anticipated to take many years to develop and implement, and it is not possible to anticipate any and all changes that might be made to them in the future.

# 25.0 BASE REALIGNMENT PROCESS AND PROPERTY DISPOSAL

This category addresses comments on the base realignment and closure (BRAC) process as it pertains to the decision to realign Homestead AFB, the identification of reuse alternatives, and the conveyance of surplus property. Specific topics include the federal screening process whereby other federal agencies can obtain property no longer needed by the Air Force, the role of the Local Redevelopment Authority, and compensation for property that is disposed of under BRAC.

## 25.1 Realignment Decision

**25.1.1** Comment: Bring back Homestead AFB. It is needed to defend the country. Other military units also could make use of the facilities.

**Response:** The purpose of the SEIS is to examine the potential impacts of disposing of the surplus property. The Air Force understands the public's continuing interest in making additional military use of Homestead, but there is no proposal to do so at this time. There are also significant political and legal obstacles that would have to be addressed.

Homestead AFB was realigned pursuant to a complex base closure process authorized by Congress. It is not reasonable to expect any significant reconsideration of those decisions except as part of a future base closure process that is also authorized by Congress. Although the Department of Defense has twice requested authority for new base closures and realignments, Congress so far has declined to provide it.

**25.1.2** Comment: The Air Force did not promise a commercial airport. The community was promised that the base would be rebuilt as a military base.

**Response:** The recommendation of the 1993 Defense Base Closure and Realignment Commission did not support rebuilding the base. The commission's recommendations were approved by the President and were not rejected by Congress. Therefore, the Air Force was required by law to implement the commission's recommendations.

**25.1.3** Comment: An issue that should be discussed is that if an alternative is selected that does not contribute to airfield operating costs, there will be an impact on the next round of base closures. Homestead Air Reserve Station will be a prime candidate for closure.

**Response:** The Air Force disagrees that the issue of potential closure of Homestead Air Reserve Station should be discussed. If another base closure process is authorized by Congress, all Air Force bases will be reviewed equally at that time. The Air Force is not willing to speculate about the possible outcome for any base. Some bases would be reduced in size or closed completely; other bases would grow. What would be recommended would be very dependent upon circumstances existing at the time the future base closure process was conducted.

For the 1991, 1993, and 1995 base closure rounds, the following eight criteria, with minor modifications, were used to evaluate a military department's recommendations for a closure or realignment.

Military Value (given overall priority consideration):

- 1. The current and future mission requirements and the impact on operational readiness of the Department of Defense's total force.
- 2. The availability and condition of land, facilities, and associated airspace at both the existing and potential receiving locations.
- 3. The ability to accommodate contingency, mobilization, and future total force requirements at both the existing and potential receiving locations.
- 4. The cost and manpower implications.

#### Return on Investment:

5. The extent and timing of potential costs and savings, including the number of years, beginning with the date of completion of the closure or realignment, for the savings to exceed the costs.

## Impacts:

- 6. The economic impact on communities.
- 7. The ability of both the existing and potential receiving communities' infrastructure to support forces, missions, and personnel.
- 8. The environmental impact.

As can be seen, cost implications have been an important factor in the decision making process, but they were not the only factor.

The potential effect a property disposal might have on a future base closure process is not considered an appropriate consideration for the property disposal decision making process. The property disposal decision-making process is directed towards economic redevelopment, not towards enhancing or diminishing the future chances of remaining Department of Defense installations.

## 25.2 Federal Screening Process

25.2.1 Comment: Once property is declared surplus and excess, other federal agencies have an opportunity to claim it. When the window of opportunity closes, they no longer have the opportunity to come back at a later date and say, "Now we want it." That precludes the Department of the Interior from asking for the property at this time so they can execute the Collier trade.

Response: Although the details of the process are somewhat complicated, a goal of the BRAC property disposal process is an early determination of which excess property, if any, will be retained for use by others within the Department of Defense (DOD) or by other federal agencies, and which property will be declared surplus and available for disposal. One of the purposes of making an early determination is to facilitate planning by a Local Redevelopment Authority (LRA). The time frame for that determination passed years ago.

However, DOD regulations also state that, prior to the disposal of property, a military department may, at its discretion, withdraw a surplus determination and evaluate a federal agency's late request for excess property. As part of such a review, the military department should consider any comments by the LRA and the time and effort invested by the LRA in the planning process. Please refer to the regulations for a complete description of the rules.

**25.2.2** Comment: Consideration of a request by the Department of the Interior for property at former Homestead AFB would not be in the best interest of the communities affected by the closure of Homestead AFB. It would be a direct affront to them.

**Response:** The Air Force and the FAA have not made any final decisions, and all alternatives will be considered.

25.2.3 Comment: Even if the Air Force had the discretion to consider a late request by the Department of the Interior for property at former Homestead AFB, it would be a clear abuse of discretion for the Air Force to grant such a request in this case. By regulation, transfers based on a late request are "limited to special cases as determined by the Secretary of the Military Department..." (32 CFR §175.7(a)(15)(i)). At a minimum, the Secretary is required to take into account the "time and effort invested by the LRA in the process" (32 CFR §175.7(a)(15)(iii)). There can be no question that the LRA, as well as the federal government, have invested substantial time and effort into the disposal and transfer of Homestead AFB. Miami-Dade County has received approximately \$15 million from the federal government for planning and development. It would be an extraordinary waste of taxpayers' funding to have spent this money with no return.

**Response:** The Air Force has the authority to withdraw surplus determinations and consider late requests by federal agencies for excess property. Procedures and matters to be considered have been specified by DOD in the regulation cited in the comment. Comments received from the LRA are among the matters to be considered. The commentor's opinion about what decision should be made in the event of a late request is noted.

25.2.4 Comment: Transfer of property to the Department of the Interior for the purposes intended, regardless of the lateness of the request, would, in any event, run afoul of BRAC and DOD's surplus regulations. Fundamental to these is the principle that the requesting agency's request for excess property be premised upon the need for the property to fulfill a specific purpose relevant to that agency's program (32 CFR §175.7(a)(9)-(10), 41 CFR 101-42.201-2, 101-47.801(b)). The benefit accrues because the agency would otherwise purchase non-federal land to accomplish its goal. In this case, the Department of

the Interior is interested in Homestead AFB for no purpose other than to swap the land for the Collier's mineral rights in Big Cypress National Preserve.

**Response:** A late request for excess property from the Department of the Interior or any other federal agency would be evaluated by the Air Force in accordance with the procedures specified for late requests. Late requests must meet the requirements imposed on other requests for excess property. The commentor's opinions about what those requirements are and whether the purposes attributed to the Department of the Interior could meet those requirements are noted.

#### 25.3 Local Redevelopment Authority

**25.3.1** Comment: Several comments stated that federal base closure law requires the Air Force to give substantial deference to the Local Redevelopment Authority and its redevelopment plan. Other comments stated more strongly that the Air Force is required to defer to the LRA's plan.

**Response:** The Air Force is mindful of the very important role that an LRA plays in the disposal and redevelopment of surplus property at military bases that have been closed or realigned. The Air Force listens closely to the needs of LRAs and works hard to address their concerns. As a technical matter, however, these comments are not correct statements of the legal requirements applicable to the disposal of property at Homestead.

In 1994, Congress enacted two alternative processes for addressing the availability of property at closed or realigned bases for meeting the needs of the homeless. One procedure applies to bases closed or realigned before October 25, 1994. The other procedure largely applies to bases closed or realigned after that date, though it also applies to any base approved for closure or realignment before then if the redevelopment authority so requests. (See Defense Base Closure and Realignment Act of 1990, Public Law 101-510, as amended, §§ 2905(b)(6) and (b)(7) (10 U.S.C. § 2687 note).)

Miami-Dade County did not request that DOD apply the procedures applicable after 1994. Therefore, the provisions that are applicable to the property at Homestead are those of subsection (b)(6). Those provisions do not require substantial deference to the local redevelopment authorities' plans.

The provisions that the commentors presumably have in mind are those of subsection (b)(7). Under those provisions, the local redevelopment authority is required to create a redevelopment plan that considers using property to assist the homeless, and the redevelopment authority is required to obtain approval of that plan by the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development. The military department, in turn, is required to treat an approved redevelopment plan as part of the federal proposed action and, in making disposal decisions, to give the plan "substantial deference." (See, e.g., §§ 2905(b)(7)(K)(ii) and (iii).) As previously stated, however, those provisions are not applicable to property disposals at former Homestead AFB.

Although neither strict adherence nor substantial deference is required as a matter of law, the Air Force does prefer to dispose of the property to the LRA. The preferences of the Air Force are described in Section 2.12 in Volume I.

25.3.2 Comment: Miami-Dade County is the designated Local Redevelopment Authority for former Homestead AFB.

**Response:** The Draft SEIS stated that "Miami-Dade County was designated as the Local Reuse Authority (LRA) responsible for formulating a reuse plan for the former base property." That statement had two errors that have been corrected in the Final SEIS.

#### **RESPONSES TO COMMENTS**

First, the phrase used in the DOD regulations is "Local Redevelopment Authority," not "Local Reuse Authority." Second, as a technical matter, in late 1993 Congress gave the term "redevelopment authority" a precise statutory meaning involving formal recognition by the Secretary of Defense (which is accomplished by the DOD Office of Economic Adjustment [OEA]). OEA's practice is to formally recognize an LRA only in two circumstances: (1) to accomplish an economic development conveyance, or (2) for preparation or implementation of a redevelopment plan pursuant to the procedures of the Base Closure Community Redevelopment and Homeless Assistance Act of 1994. Absent those two circumstances—neither of which has been applicable to Homestead—formal recognition by OEA is neither required nor accomplished. This means that OEA has not formally recognized Miami-Dade County as the LRA.

However, the Air Force has dealt with Miami-Dade County as the LRA since 1993–94. This is because Miami-Dade County is the local Florida government that has jurisdiction over land use and zoning issues for property at the former Homestead AFB, and it is the community planning body that received funding in 1993 and 1994 from OEA to support development of a base reuse plan. It is the primary local body with whom the federal government deals on matters concerning redevelopment of former Homestead AFB. It is also the local body that would be recognized formally by OEA were formal recognition required to accomplish an economic development conveyance.

The Final SEIS has been corrected to reflect the correct definition of the acronym "LRA" and to remove the statement that Miami-Dade County has been formally recognized.

**25.3.3** Comment: The Local Redevelopment Authority plan was approved as a master plan by the Miami-Dade County Commission. The master plan received all required approvals at the regional and state levels. The final state approval was issued pursuant to the unanimous decision of Governor Chiles and his cabinet sitting as the state Administration Commission.

Response: The county enacted its original master plan in 1996. The Administration Commission issued an order that required the county to make changes in its plan to address environmental concerns. The county's new plan, as amended, was enacted by the County Commissioners in 1998 as amendments to the Miami-Dade County Comprehensive Development Master Plan. Subsequent to that action, a Florida state court reversed the Administration Commission's order and ruled that it was unlawful for the Administration Commission to have approved the county's plan before completion of the federal SEIS and before completion of studies required of Miami-Dade County. Though not presently implementable, the county's adopted master plan is considered, for purposes of the analysis, to be a reasonable representation of the county's intentions.

25.3.4 Comment: The Air Force has a duty to work cooperatively with the LRA, and if the LRA's redevelopment plan is not a reasonable alternative, the Air Force has a duty to identify problematic elements and work with the LRA to devise mutually acceptable modifications to the plan. The Air Force has never required Miami-Dade County to modify the plan's basic purpose, that of a commercial airport. The Air Force has made the elementary finding that the LRA's plan has passed the threshold requirement to be "legally permissible."

**Response**: The SEIS did not make a finding worded the way the comment states. The county's proposal, like the other alternatives analyzed, is dependent upon obtaining various governmental approvals not within the jurisdiction of the Air Force. However, the Air Force is not aware of any legal reason that would in principle bar the county's proposal or that of any of the other alternatives.

**25.3.5** Comment: At this time, under law, policy and precedent, the community's plan, in this case the commercial airport, must be given presumptive weight by the Air Force.

Final SEIS R-172

**Response:** DOD policy is to be deferential to the community's wishes, as represented by the Local Redevelopment Authority. That does not mean, however, that the community's plan must be followed in every case. Any of the alternatives analyzed in the SEIS may be chosen by the Air Force, not just the Proposed Action.

25.3.6 Comment: Environmental compatibility of the proposed airport at former Homestead AFB can only be assured if responsibility and control remain with Miami-Dade County. The present agreement with Homestead Air Base Developers, Inc. (HABDI) should be terminated and a public entity placed in control.

**Response:** The Proposed Action analyzed in the SEIS is proposed by Miami-Dade County, not HABDI. The county has chosen HABDI as its airport developer. However, should the Air Force decide to dispose of the property for airport purposes, it would be the county, not the developer, that the federal government would transfer property to and hold accountable for complying with the agreement.

25.3.7 Comment: Commissioner Sorenson said the Collier-Hoover plan would take the project out of the hands of the local government and put it on the federal level.

Response: None of the alternatives would result in a project being run at the federal level. According to the transcript of the public hearing held on February 1, Commissioner Sorenson said that "the Collier-Hoover plan takes the politics out of Miami-Dade County. Under the Collier plan the county will have no claim to the land."

#### 25.4 Compensation for Base Property

**25.4.1** Comment: The government should require compensation for the airport. Only the Collier-Hoover alternative proposes compensation for base property. The Proposed Action contains no compensation for the base. The federal government should not be giving away valuable property for nothing.

**Response:** It is long-standing government policy to give away surplus property in order to accomplish important public objectives. Government property is given away for schools, parks, historic monuments, homeless assistance, and other categories of uses. Surplus airports have been given away for over 50 years. Property at realigned military installations can also be transferred at no cost to accomplish economic redevelopment. All of these policies have been enacted by Congress.

25.4.2 Comment: The Draft SEIS does not analyze the fair market value of the 1,600 acres of the base nor analyze the compensation for each alternative.

**Response:** This information is not needed to meet the requirement of the National Environmental Policy Act. Information about the fair market value of some of the surplus property may eventually be available from the federal government. The Department of the Interior is conducting an appraisal of the approximately 717 acres that are available for transfer to the Collier Resources Company.

**25.4.3** Comment: A criticism of the Collier plan was that the federal property would be turned over to a private entity. In the county's plan, the property would also be given to a private company—an entity that received a private backdoor, no-bid deal swung by lobbyists.

**Response:** The Proposed Action analyzed in the SEIS is proposed by Miami-Dade County, not Homestead Air Base Developers, Inc. The county has chosen HABDI as its airport developer. However, should the Air Force decide to dispose of the property for airport purposes, it would be the county, not the

#### **RESPONSES TO COMMENTS**

developer, that the federal government would transfer property to and hold accountable for complying with the agreement. See also the response to comment 25.4.1.

25.4.4 Comment: The Mixed Use alternative would transfer valuable assets to wealthy developers.

**Response:** Property transfers under the Mixed Use alternative would not be gifts. The recipients would have to pay fair market value to buy the property.

#### 25.5 Conditions of Property Transfer

25.5.1 Comment: The Air Force might be liable for handing over property before the ultimate use of it has been fully explained or detailed.

**Response:** The purpose of the National Environmental Policy Act analysis is to examine the reasonably foreseeable uses of the property. The SEIS has taken great care to do so. The property can be conveyed even though potential plans for it are still unfinished. Indeed, none of the plans for the property have been completely finalized.

**25.5.2 Comment:** Some highly sensitive federal agencies will still occupy some portions of the base. Are we assured all proposed developers are and will be truly sensitive to national security needs?

**Response:** The Air Force does not believe that the commercial airport or any of the scenarios considered under the Mixed Use alternative would interfere with continuing federal aviation operations at Homestead. There are, however, some potential operational conflicts with the Commercial Spaceport alternative that would require resolution as part of any spaceport development. For further information, see Section 2.3 in Volume I.

25.5.3 Comment: The property is being conveyed in fee simple. That is a very powerful thing.

**Response:** Whether the property at former Homestead AFB is conveyed in fee simple depends on the alternative selected. For example, if the Collier-Hoover proposal is selected, the property title would be conveyed in fee simple to the Collier Resources Company, since they would be paying fair market value for it. Under the Proposed Action, the title that would be conveyed to Miami-Dade County would be something less than fee simple, since the deed would require that the property be used for airport purposes and the federal government would retain rights of reversion.

**25.5.4** Comment: After the land has been transferred, who will ensure the project is completed in a timely manner and that local workers are hired?

**Response:** Implementation of the selected alternative will be the responsibility of the entity who receives the property.

Final SEIS R-174



# RESPONSE INDEX—INDIVIDUALS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Aaron, Bonnie B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Aaron, Brittany		Noise (10.1.1)	O-97
Abad, Magali R.	***************************************	General (1.0)	S-1
Abramitis, W. Robert		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-595
Accius, Juliette		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Acevedo, Jorge H.		General (1.0)	W-59
Acheson, Michael H.	Blue Water Capital	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Ackart, Terry L.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Ackermann, Kristen		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ackermann, T. F.	Ackermann Enterprises Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Acosta, Paul		Socioeconomics (6.1.5, 6.1.16)	O-37, O-166
Adams, Cathy A.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Adams, Cindy		General (1.0)	S-1
Adamson, Katie		General (1.0)	S-1
Adamson, Lisa		General (1.0)	S-1
Aderhold, Steven		Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.5), Water Resources (15.9.1)	W-67
Aguier, Arsenio		General (1.0)	W-50
Aguirre, Barbara		General (1.0)	S-1
Ahmed, Dazia		General (1.0)	S-1
Aixala, Fabiola		General (1.0)	S-1
Ajagbe, Augustine O.		Socioeconomics (6.1.16)	O-23
Ajebshir, Soheila		Alternatives (4.0)	S-1
Albrecht, Debbie		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Albart, Edward		General (1.0)	W-3
Alcántara, Fran		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-597
Alden, Charles A.	Charles A. Alden, Landscape Architect, A.S.L.A.	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.2.1), Content and Methodology (5.1.1, 5.5.1), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.2.2)	O-39,
Alexander, George		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Transportation (7.0)	O-60, W-92
Alexander, Jay		General (1.0)	W-268
Alexandre, Nadeige		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Alfonso, Cristi		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-589
Alfonso, Margaret		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Alfonso, Silvie L.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Alicea, Eileen	<u> </u>	Transportation (7.0)	W-60
Allen, A. B.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics	W-163
		(11.0)	
Allen, Alice	Tavernier Community	Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise	W-396
	Association, Inc.	(10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	
		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Allen, Asa B. (Mrs.)		General (1.0)	W-118
Allen, Janet		Alternatives (4.0)	W-75
Almeida, Eduardo		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Almeida, Xiouara		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Alonso, Jose Manuel		General (1.0)	O-127
Alonso, Norberto		Air Quality (13.0)	W-40
Alonzo, Miriam		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-21
Alorams, Chris		General (1.0)	S-1
Alrury, Frank		General (1.0)	W-63
Alston, Catherine		Alternatives (4.0)	W-246, S-1
Alston, M.		Content and Methodology (5.0), Transportation	W-354
		(7.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	
Alvear, Diana		Noise (10.0)	O-150
Alvear, Elsa M.		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-293
Alwa, Bethany		Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-385
Aman, Susan Bright		General (1.0)	S-1
Ambridge, Lyn		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-327
Ambroy, Dolores B.		General (1.0)	S-1
Amerman, Theresa Lynn		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Amico, Michael A.		Socioeconomics (6.1.32)	O-149
Anaston, Kim		General (1.0)	O-155
Ancona, John		General (1.0)	S-1
Andalman, Josée & Michael		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-281
Anderson, Anne S.		SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Base Realignment Process and	W-228
		Property Disposal (25.0)	
Anderson, Dennis		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), South Florida	W-348
ringerson, Dellins		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	1
Anderson, Judith G.		General (1.0)	S-1
Anderson, Kirk & Patricia		General (1.0)	W-224
Anderson, Michael F.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3, S-4
Anderson, Robert	-	General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	. <del></del>

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-2 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Anderson, Robert E.		SEIS Process (2.2.13), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-185, W-529, W-529, W-530
Anderson, Sydney P.		General (1.0)	S-1
Anderson, Wayne		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-605
Andrades, Gracela		SEIS Process (2.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	S-3
Andree, Dale		General (1.0)	S-1
Andres, Fred	San Bruno Mountain Watch	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-317
Angones, Francisco		General (1.3.1)	O-152
Anschutz-Rodgers, Sue		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Anthony, Caroline		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-215
Anthony, Leonard S.	Princeton/Naranja Community Council	SEIS Process (2.2.3)	W-88
Antúnez, Juan C.		General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-323
Antúnez, Maria A.		General (1.0)	W-324
Anzardo, Alex		General (1.0)	O-26
April, Ana L.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Arcay, Maria		General (1.0)	S-1
Arce, Luisa M.		Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-119
Arch, Allan S.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Arevals, Jeanette		General (1.0)	S-1
Ariosa, Robert J.	Cranston	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Arizaleta, Teresita		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-337
Armellini, Richard	Armellini Industries, Inc.	Alternatives (4.2.32)	W-206
Armesto-Garcia, Eladio	***************************************	General (1.0)	O-120
Armstrong, Elaine M.		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-243
Armstrong, William J.		General (1.0)	W-241
Arnau, Ann N.		General (1.0)	S-1
Arnau, Lucius H.		General (1.0)	S-1
Arnett, Charles E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ashbaker, William J.	Florida Department of Transportation	Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-388
Ashcraft, Bob	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-319
Ashley, Larry		General (1.0)	W-205, S-1
Atherton, Susan, et al.		Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0)	S-5
Atherton, Belinda		General (1.0)	S-1
Atherton, Mike		General (1.0)	S-1
Atkinson, Marjorie	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Atkinson, Marjorie &  Dale		Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-140
Atwood, Sheri	•	Alternatives (4.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
	Audubon of Florida	Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.2.8, 4.2.26, 4.5.1, 4.8.1), Content and Methodology (5.2.6, 5.5.1, 5.6.3, 5.7.6), Socioeconomics (6.1.1, 6.1.2, 6.1.8, 6.1.12, 6.1.18, 6.1.19, 6.1.20, 6.1.40, 6.2.2, 6.3.1, 6.3.2, 6.3.3, 6.3.5), Transportation (7.1.4, 7.1.5, 7.1.6), Airspace and Safety (9.3.8), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.2, 11.1.6, 11.1.7, 11.1.8, 11.2.3, 11.2.9, 11.3.2, 11.4.1), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.3, 12.2.4), Air Quality (13.3.1), Water Resources (15.1.1, 15.1.2, 15.1.3, 15.2.14, 15.4.7), Biological Resources (16.6.2, 16.6.3), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0.2, 18.0.3), DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.4), Buffer Area (21.0.1, 21.0.3, 21.0.4), Computative Interests (22.0.1)	
Augustin, Karriel		21.0.3, 21.0.4), Cumulative Impacts (23.0.5) General (1.0)	S-1
Aultman, Marcy		Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-93, W-221
Austin, Patrice		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-307
Ayer, Karla Ann		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-92
Ayres, Irene S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Babcock, Grace		General (1.0)	S-1
Babcock, Grant		General (1.0)	S-1
Back, Phila	Sierra Club Berks Group	Noise (10.2.1), Secondary Development (20.0.3)	W-247
Badenell, Alice K.		General (1.0)	W-78
Bae, Jong		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-282
Bagg, James F.	***************************************	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Bagwell, Marvette Panch		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Bailey, Margaret & Howard		General (1.0)	W-121
Bailey, William T. & Margaret J.		General (1.0)	W-431
Baillères, Alberto		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Baker, Corrine		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Baldwin, Arthur W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Bale, Allan E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Balestra, Ruth		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-303
Balestra, Victor C.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-293
Baljet, Peter P.	Baljet Environmental	General (1.0)	O-55, W-216

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Ballentine, David		General (1.0)	O-127
Ballerano, James A., Jr.		General (1.0)	S-1
Ballinger, Greg		General (1.1.3), SEIS Process (2.2.17), Alternatives (4.2.33), Socioeconomics (6.1.22, 6.1.35), Airspace and Safety (9.4.1), Noise (10.1.1, 10.2.20), Air Quality (13.1.1), Water Resources (15.5.2, 15.5.4, 15.5.8, 15.10.1), Biological Resources (16.2.9, 16.2.10, 16.2.11, 16.5.8)	O-126, W-336, W-338
Baney, John & Joan		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Banks, K.		General (1.0)	W-274
Baptiste, Natasha		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Baragona, Rose Marie		Noise (10.0)	W-189
Baran, Kathleen		General (1.0)	S-1
Barasch, Werner	Sierra Club Loma Prieta Chapter	Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-244
Barbarino, Gina	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-1
Barbarino, John P. & Gina		General (1.0)	W-225
Barber, Kathleen		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-41, S-1
Barbosa, J.	University of Minnesota	Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	
Barcelo, Gabriel		General (1.0)	W-57
Bardsley, M. C.		General (1.0)	S-1
Bare, C. D.		General (1.0)	S-1
Barger, Martha A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Baringer, Joanne J.		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0)	W-538
Barnes, Brooke		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-385
Barnhart, David L.	Isakson-Barnhart	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Barogrannis, Christina		General (1.0)	S-1
Baron, Charles		General (1.0)	W-600
Barra, Martin	·	Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-209
Barreto-Tercilla, Maggie		General (1.0)	S-1
Barrett, Nancy		General (1.0)	S-1
Barrett, Robert L. & Polly B.		Noise (10.0)	W-136
Barrientos, Juliet		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-151, W-209
Barry, Donald J.	U.S. Department of the Interior	Alternatives (4.7.2), Air Quality (13.3.4), Biological Resources (16.4.8, 16.6.2), Noise (10.1.7, 10.2.6, 10.5.1, 10.5.2, 10.5.7, 10.5.8), Water Resources (15.2.5, 15.10.6), Buffer Area (21.0.1, 21.0.2)	W-446
Barthel, Joan A.		Transportation (7.2.2), Airspace and Safety (9.4.1), Biological Resources (16.4.4)	W-336
Barton, Sheila D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Bash, Al & Judith		Air Quality (13.0)	W-73
Bateman, Estrella		General (1.0)	O-130
Bateman, Steven		General (1.0)	S-1
Bates, Henry G.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Bathe, Sharon		General (1.0)	S-1
Battard, Selena		General (1.0)	W-352
Battenfield, Julianne		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-209
Battiato, Joseph F.		General (1.0)	S-1
Battiato, Phyllis A.		General (1.0)	W-174
Bauer, Melissa	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Bauer, Richard H.	Vision Council	General (1.0)	W-20
Bauer, Robert F.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Baules, R. W.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-275
Baumgartner, Jacqueline		Biological Resources (16.0)	O-55
Beach, Mark		General (1.0)	S-1
Beachem, J. W.	Beachem Investments	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	S-3, S-4
		(15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	-
Becerra, Karina		General (1.0)	O-131
Becerra, Robert		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-598
Becker, Amy		Alternatives (4.0)	S-1
Becker, Leslie		General (1.0)	S-1
Becker, Susan Kelly		General (1.0)	W-604
Becquer, Lucia		General (1.0)	S-1
Behar, Howard R.	Rasco & Reininger,	Alternatives (4.4.4, 4.4.5), Base Realignment	O-35,
Donar, 110 ware 11	P.A.	Process and Property Disposal (25.4.4, 25.5.3)	O-67,
		* *	O-168
Beharry, Michael		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0	O-96
Belcher, Diane		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Belis, Elaine	<u> </u>	Alternatives (4.0)	S-1
Bellmund, Sarah		Content and Methodology (5.3.6, 5.3.9), Transportation (7.2.2), Airspace and Safety (9.2.1, 9.3.4, 9.4.1), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.1), Secondary Development (20.0.1)	O-2
Bello, Jessica		Alternatives (4.0)	S-1
Beltran, John		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-48
Beneke, J. David		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Benjamin, George N., III		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Benjamin, James Elliott		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-68
Benjamin, Lois & Roger		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-69
Bennet, Robert G. (Mrs.)		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Bennett, Gerri	1	SEIS Process (2.0)	W-16

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-6 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Bennett, Louise	<u> </u>	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-274
Bennett, Ron		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Benovitz, Burton A. & Madge K.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Benson, Alice		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-93
Benson, Eli		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-210
Berall, Jon		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-318
Berg, Nancy		Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-81
Bergstrom, Patricia		General (1.0)	W-312
Berman, Angela M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Berman, Rochelle		General (1.0)	S-1
Bernabei, Catharina	·	Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	O-71, O-143
Bernal, Lisa-Marie	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Bernethy, Aileen		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Transportation (7.0)	W-299, W-596
Bernover, Alan		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-151
Bernstein, M. S.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-57
Bernstein, Oliver		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-240
Berriz, Deborah D.		General (1.0)	S-1
Betancourt, Marisbel		General (1.0)	W-46, W-88
Betancourt, Monica S.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Betz, Charles & Jane		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Betz, Charles J. (Mrs.)		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-92
Bevier, Louis		Airspace and Safety (9.4.1, 9.4.2)	W-11
Bianco, Suzanne		General (1.0)	W-297
Bible, Donna		General (1.0)	S-1
Bible, James T.		General (1.0)	S-1
Bickel, Bettina		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-278
Biegon, Rebecca		Transportation (7.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-286
Biggar, David M.		General (1.0), Content and Methodology (5.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-358
Biggar, Maryanne	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0)	W-102
Biggar, Mildred F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-376
Bijiani, Robin		General (1.0)	W-582

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-7 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Billera, Joseph & Dolores		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Binder, Debra I.		General (1.0)	W-194
Binder, Scott		Alternatives (4.2.10), Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Transportation (7.1.3)	W-207
Bird, T. E. & Mary D.		Content and Methodology (5.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-176
Birghenthal, Kaitlin	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Birghenthal, Virginia K.	The state of the s	General (1.0)	S-1
Birnbaum, Richard & Shelley		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Bishop, Paul R.	H-P Products, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Bitter, Adriana		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need	,
Scalamandré		(3.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-569, W-593
Black, David L.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Black, David E.		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-45
Black, Gloria L.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Blackburn, Marsh H.		Transportation (7.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-153
Blacklidge, Richard (Mrs.)	пинити	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Blagriff, Olive & William		Noise (10.0)	S-1, S-2
Blagriff, Ruth F.		General (1.0)	S-1
Blaha, Roy C.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-75
Blair, Cheryl		General (1.0)	S-1
Blair, Sylvia		General (1.0)	S-1
Blakley, Jeff		SEIS Process (2.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-174
Blanco, Reynaldo		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-582
Blass, Bill		Socioeconomics (6.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-328
Blinn, George		Air Quality (13.0)	W-175
Blish, Melissa R.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Blumenthal, Carol Pinsky	Victorial	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Blumenthal, Joel	Biscayne Bay Foundation	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Blush, Jack W.		General (1.0)	S-1
Blyden, Joshua	Young Friends of the Everglades	General (1.0)	W-40
Boehm, Peter		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Boerstler, Glenn & Lisa		General (1.0)	S-1
Bonanno, Cindy		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-139
Bonavia, Luis		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Bonavia, Teresa		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Bonker, William	<b></b>	General (1.0)	S-1
Bonner, Thomas O.		General (1.0)	S-1
Bono, Charles	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Booher, Sam		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-343
Boone, John D.		Content and Methodology (5.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-280
Boone, Roger		Noise (10.0)	W-310
Booth, Maxine L.		General (1.0)	W-97
Borras, David		General (1.0)	W-205
Borten, William H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Bosworth, Danielle		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-328
Bourhe, Betty		General (1.0)	W-138
Bowden, R.	Bowden Productions	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Bowen, Norman C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Bowling, Beth & Gene		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-225
Bowling, James W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-80
Bradley, Elizabeth A.		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-601
Bradley, James T. & Rebecca M.		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Brady, Mary R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Brand, Richard & Judy	***************************************	General (1.0)	W-528
Brandlen, Julie A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-72
Brannen, William Dale		General (1.0)	W-141
Brannon, Megan E.		General (1.0)	W-160
Brantley, Maurice		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Braun, Daniel D.		General (1.0)	W-181
Braun, Ingrid R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Breece, Freda C.		SEIS Process (2.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	S-3
Bremen, Gary Andrew		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Content and Methodology (5.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	<del></del>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).

I-9 Final SEIS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Brenner, Lise		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-221
Bretsnyder, Lynn		Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-260
Brewer, Charlotte A.		General (1.0)	W-193
Brewster, Frederick		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-86
Brickman, Robert J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Brid, Patricia		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-275
Bridges, Theresa		Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-74
Brigell, Alan		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-284
Bright, Jewell		General (1.0)	S-1
Brinkman, K.		General (1.0)	W-301
Briomer, Rosemary J.	<u> </u>	General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Brister, Bob		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	<del></del>
Brito, J. Ernesto	-	Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-322
Brockhouse, Bruce		General (1.0)	S-1
Brody, Christine		General (1.0)	S-1
Broeman, Dwight & Marilyn		Airspace and Safety (9.4.1)	W-73
Brohman, M.		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Brohman, Paul		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.5)	O-120, S-2
Broll, Nancy T.		General (1.0)	W-370
Brooker, Wilburn C.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Brookes, Ryan		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Brooks, Betty B.		Transportation (7.0)	W-226
Brooks, Jo Anne & James F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Brooks, Jo Anne V.		Alternatives (4.0)	W-113
Brooks, Lenore F.		Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-611
Brooks, Mary Ann		General (1.0)	S-1
Brophy, Leslie		General (1.0)	S-1
Brown, David		General (1.0)	W-223
Brown, Jamie		Socioeconomics (6.1.6), Minority and Low-Income	O-29,
		Populations (18.0)	O-65,
			O-167
Brown, Jamie E.	Verner, Liipfert,	General (1.3.3), SEIS Process (2.1.2, 2.1.4, 2.1.5,	W-423
	Bernhard, McPherson,	2.1.6, 2.1.7, 2.1.8), Alternatives (4.4.10), Minority	
	and Hand	and Low-Income Populations (18.0.1), Base	
		Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.2.1,	
		25.2.2, 25.2.3, 25.2.4, 25.3.1, 25.3.2, 25.3.3, 25.3.4)	
Brown, Jeannine B.		General (1.0)	W-221
Brown, Lesley		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-11

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Brown, Lloyd	Wildlife Rescue of Dade County	Socioeconomics (6.1.3), Transportation (7.0)	O-50, O-106, O-120, O-162
Brown, William D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Broyhill, Hunt	Broyhill Asset Management LLC	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-461
Broyles, Suzanne	***************************************	General (1.0)	S-1
Broyles, Zelia S.		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-383
Brozak, Dennis	Design Basics Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Brucia, Charles J. & Laura J.	Charles Brucia & Co.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Brumbaugh, John G.		General (1.0)	S-1
Brunmaje, Diana		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	S-4
Bryan, Elizabeth		SEIS Process (2.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-17, W-277
Bryant, Sandra		General (1.0)	W-595
Bubala, Lou		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Buckthal, John R.		Alternatives (4.2.15, 4.2.31)	W-193
Buckthal, W. P.		Alternatives (4.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-248
Buel, Martin S.		Cumulative Impacts (23.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-91
Buhler, Melissa K.		Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-70, W-222
Bullard, Larcenia	Florida State Representative	General (1.0)	O-15
Burch, George E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Burleigh, Sandy		General (1.0)	S-1
Burri, Hans		General (1.0)	W-578
Burst, Donald O.		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-12
Burton, Elizabeth		Noise (10.0)	W-120
Burton, Holly		General (1.0)	S-1
Burton, Truly	Builders Association of South Florida	Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-289
Bush, Brenda		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-297
Bush, Gregory W.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-103, W-320

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Buster, Margi		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0)	O-51
Butcher, Niki		Alternatives (4.8.1)	W-610
Butler, Christopher		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Butler, Lisa S.		General (1.0)	W-195
Byler, Teresa M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-540
Caballero, Lissette		General (1.0)	W-581
Cabrera, Lisa		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-580
Cacace, Janice L.		Alternatives (4.6.3)	W-45
Cadman, George E., III S	outh Dade Realty, Inc.	General (1.0)	O-25
Cairns, Christine		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-18
Calabrese, Elizabeth		SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0)	W-164
Calabrese, Matthew		General (1.0)	S-1
Calbeck, Kaia		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-340
Calderon, Sheila &		General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-334
Marvin			
Caldwell, Elizabeth H.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-112
Calero, Kent L.		Alternatives (4.0)	W-591
Callaway, Paul	······································	Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-379
Callman, Ira J.		General (1.0)	W-177
Calumpang, Carla	······································	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Camacho, Christina & Ramon		General (1.0)	S-1
Camejo, Robert E.		General (1.0)	S-1
Campa, Mario		General (1.0)	S-1
	/Jannington	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Campbell, Carl W.	······································	Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-130
Campbell, Lori	······································	General (1.0)	S-1
Campbell, Lori A.		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-84
Campbell, Patricia A.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Campbell, Stephen K.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Candelora, Elizabeth		General (1.0)	W-385
Candelora, Richard		General (1.0)	W-382
Cankat, Mustafa		General (1.0)	W-126
Canning, John E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Cannon, Jarrod		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
,	lorida State Representative	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.0)	O-14
Cantral, Ralph F	Plorida Department of Community Affairs	SEIS Process (2.0)	W-524
Caplei, Nicholas (Mrs.)	***************************************	General (1.0)	W-139

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Carey, Raelene	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Carle, Sabrina		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-376
Carlson, Stephen C.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Carothers, Charles O.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Carranca, Rolando	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Carrara, Susan	<u> </u>	Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality	W-187
,		(13.0)	
Carrera, Ed	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Carrigan, Ryan		General (1.0)	S-1
Carrio, S. A.		General (1.0)	W-267
Carroll, Dick & Jackie		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Carson, Dorothy		General (1.0)	W-105
Carter, Don		General (1.0)	W-273
Carter, Rachel		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0),	S-5
Carter, Nacher		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	5-3
Caruso, Marjorie		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-600
Casas, Luis M.	<u> </u>	Biological Resources (16.0)	O-100,
,			O-172
Case, Sara	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-312
Casio, Elizabeth	<del> </del>	General (1.0)	W-10
Casolari, Bruno & Sue	<u>.</u>	General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Cassel, Kenneth G.		Alternatives (4.0)	O-51
Cassidy, Cynthia		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-140
Cassidy, Marie		General (1.0)	S-1
Castellanos, Lina		General (1.0)	S-1
Castellanos, Mari		General (1.3.3)	O-124
Casternuovo, Eleanor		Noise (10.0)	W-117
Castillo, Ana D.		General (1.0)	S-1
Castillo, Sazkya E.		General (1.0)	S-1
Castle-Bray, Ana Marie		Alternatives (4.8.2)	O-31
Castro, Julio		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0),	S-5
		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	
Catala, Carmen Pickett		General (1.0)	W-207
Caudill, Nelson		General (1.0)	S-1
Caudill, Yolanda M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Caula, Antonio V.		General (1.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	O-71
Causey, Billy D.	U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmos- pheric Administration, National Ocean Service	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.2.7), Water Resources (15.2.11), Secondary Development (20.0.3, 20.0.6)	W-539
Cecil, J. P.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-13 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Cesar, Veronica		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	<b>S-</b> 5
Chace, Leonard S., III		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Chace, Stephen B. & Anne		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Chacón, Manny	Labor Finders	General (1.0)	W-119
Chalmers, Beatrice	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Champigns, George, IV	1	Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-330
Chaoui, Luz	•	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Chapell, Connie	Keys Academy of Marine Science	Biological Resources (16.0)	O-36
Chapin, L. D.		General (1.0)	W-179
Chapin, S. D.		General (1.0)	W-180
Chapman, Sheryl	·	General (1.0)	W-312
Chaudhary, Laura		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-612
Chen, Allan	<u> </u>	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Chenoweth, Michael F.	Friends of the Everglades	General (1.2.3), SEIS Process (2.3.2), Alternatives (4.2.44), Content and Methodology (5.3.1, 5.3.3), Socioeconomics (6.1.3)	O-38
Cherry, Robert		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-231
Chervinski, Noreen		General (1.0)	W-308
Chervinski, Ron		General (1.0)	W-308
Cheshire, Matthew S.	All Seasons Tree Care	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Chesterman, Aaron		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Chinquina, Don	Tropical Audubon Society, Inc.	Socioeconomics (6.1.3)	0-49
Chisholm, Martha M.	**************************************	Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-103
Chisholm, Robert E.		General (1.0)	O-135
Christensen, Paul W. & Sarah E.	-	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Cintrón, Esther Bonnie (Rosa)		General (1.0)	O-146
Clandy, J.		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Clanton, Penny		General (1.0)	W-134
Clark, Alicia M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Clark, Anna Maria	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0)	S-1, S-2
Clark, Joan M.	<u> </u>	SEIS Process (2.2.6)	W-119
Clark, Louise M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Clark, Nancy	<del>•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••</del>	Alternatives (4.0)	W-7
Clark, Tom		General (1.0)	S-1
Clarkson, Julie		General (1.0)	S-1
Claude, Claudia	The second secon	General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Clauder, Carolyn A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Clauder, Michael A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Claus, Jerry, III	Young Friends of the Everglades	General (1.0)	W-40
Claussen, Mary		Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-83
Cleland, Carrie		General (1.0)	O-161
Clements, William, Jr.		General (1.0)	S-1
Clerfeune, Beverly	•	General (1.0)	W-351
Cliatt, Kathryn		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Clifford, Joan		General (1.0)	S-1
Cline, Meredith A.		General (1.0)	W-198
Clinton, Ray	Clinton Enterprises	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Cobb, Sandra M.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Cobo, Jose A. & Aixa		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-599
Cocchiarella, Sergio & Yolana		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Cockrum, Dolores		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Coffey, Crystal Lynn		General (1.0)	S-1
Coffigny, Richard		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-388
Cohen, Daniel J.	Uniforms by Star	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Cohen, Hertha	\$	Noise (10.0)	S-2
Cohen, Max L.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Cohen, Mona		General (1.0)	S-1
Cohen, Valleri		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-258
Cole, Debbie	<u> </u>	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-378
Colen, James		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-340
Collier, Rodnicia		Alternatives (4.0)	S-1
Collier, Walter E.	Greater Miami Aviation Association	Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-54, W-553
Collins, Harlin		General (1.0)	S-1
Collins, Kevin	National Parks Conservation Association	General (1.2.4), Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Content and Methodology (5.7.2), Noise (10.1.1, 10.2.13, 10.5.3, 10.5.10, 10.5.11, 10.5.12), Water Resources (15.4.1, 15.5.7), DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.3)	W-368
Collins, Lee	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-168
Collins, Shan		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-238
Collins, Steven G.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-15 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>!</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Collins, Teri		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-257
Collins, Virginia		General (1.0)	S-1
Colomar, Josefina		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-582
Colvin, Ann		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and	W-301
C01v111, 7 11111		Aesthetics (11.0)	
Comam, Kathleen		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Compel, Joseph, Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Cumulative	W-88
Compet, sosopii, st.		Impacts (23.0)	
Comrie, Hyacinth		General (1.0)	W-150
Condie, Thomas S.		General (1.0)	S-1
Congdon, Natalie N. & John R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Connally, John A.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Connellee, Clark D. & Jerrilea		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Connelly Family	<del></del>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Conner, Enid B.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Conner, Robert		General (1.0)	S-1
Conrad, Cheryl L.		Alternatives (4.6.1)	W-74
Constant, Allison	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Constant, Carleen Jean		General (1.0)	S-1
Consuegra, Stephen		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-585
Contreras, Gilbert A.	Armando J. Bucelo, Jr., Attorneys and Counsellors at Law	General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-371
Cook, Dorothy G.		General (1.0)	O-148
Cook, Jack		General (1.0)	S-1
Coon, Owen L., Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Cooney, Sequioa L.		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Cooper, E. Gerald		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Cooper, Ruta T.	The second secon	Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Copeland, Darryl & Shirley		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Corash, Karen		General (1.0)	S-1
Corby, Joan W.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-232
Cordova, Ana		Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-337
Cordova, Otto		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-337
Costantino, Richard D.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Cotrofeld, Deronda		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-310
Cottrill, M. Elsie		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-4

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-16 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Coughlin, Kevin	Ohio House of Representatives	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-459
Couper, Darlene		General (1.0)	W-166
Couper, James M.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Transportation (7.0)	W-178, W-571
Courter, Cathee		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Cowen, Cynthia L.		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-43
Cox, James R.	Arthur Cox Wilson Insurance Consultants	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Coyne, Elsie H.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-573
Craig, Lee Ann		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Craig, Stephen J.	Linquist & Craig-Hotels & Resorts, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Crain, Cindi B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Crain, Merrilee P.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Cramer, S.	·	Transportation (7.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-286
Crane, Elizabeth A.		General (1.0)	W-121
Creekmur, Amy		Airspace and Safety (9.4.1)	W-332
Creighton, Evelyn M.		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Crespo, Iliaed		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-152
Crippen, Joni		Alternatives (4.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-593
Crisp, Sue		SEIS Process (2.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-3, W-79
Cronik, Glenn A.		General (1.0)	W-277
Crumbling, Deana M.	<u> </u>	Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-75
Cruz, Carlos	<b>*</b>	General (1.0)	S-1
Cruz, Felipe		General (1.0)	W-45
Cruz, Luis P.		General (1.0)	W-44
Cruz, Maria B.	,	General (1.0)	S-1
Cruz, Robert D.		Alternatives (4.4.6), Socioeconomics (6.1.3, 6.1.30)	O-21, O-163, W-59
Cubas, Gino		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Cunnier, Lourdes		General (1.0)	S-1
Curbelo, Celso A.		General (1.0)	W-248
Curran, P. M. & M. M.		General (1.0)	W-269
Curry, Austin R.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-279

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-17 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Cutler, William H. & Audrey E.		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-598
Cypen, Irving	Cypen & Cypen	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Czekanski, Paul E.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.8.1),	O-101,
,		Socioeconomics (6.1.10)	W-188
Daenzer, B. J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-141
Dahlke, Keith		General (1.0)	S-1
Dale, Neal W.		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0),	W-355,
,	,	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-524, W-525, S-3
Daly, Graham		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Dangi, Girish & Kalpana		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Danielson, Steve		General (1.0)	S-1
Dannen, Valerie		General (1.0)	S-1
Darby, R. G.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Darrah, Raymond &		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives	W-348,
Diana		(4.0), Noise (10.0), Base Realignment Process and	W-352,
		Property Disposal (25.0)	W-352,
			W-353
Dauphin, Ki		General (1.0)	W-63
Dauphin, Michael P.		General (1.0)	W-58
David, Tom M.	Perrine-Cutler Ridge Council, Inc.	General (1.0)	W-389
Davidson, Thomas N.	Quarry Hill Group	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-3
Davis, Danielle		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-210
Davis, Monty		General (1.0)	W-166
Davis, Shavis		General (1.0)	W-156
Davis, Stephen M.		Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-287
Davison, Marilyn H.		General (1.0)	W-275
Davlantes, Nancy		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-243
Dawson, Jon		Socioeconomics (6.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-124
Daye, William L.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0)	W-158
Dean, Paul	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-335
DeBerry, Henrietta		Noise (10.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-162
De Fieitas, Fatima		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-333
De France, Mark		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-282
DeGraaf, Robert		Alternatives (4.2.15), Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.7)	W-377
De La Guardia, Maria		General (1.0)	S-1
De La Hoz, Gira		General (1.0)	S-1
Delamaza, Eduardo		General (1.0)	W-596
de la Vega, Jorge		Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-89

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Deleina, Vanessa Maria		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Delgado, William J.	Latin Builders Association, Inc.	General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	O-37, W-84
Delligatti, Michael J.	M & J Management Corp.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
DeLoach, Bryan		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-211
Del Rio, Andrew	Young Friends of the Everglades	General (1.0)	W-40
Del Toral, Albert		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Del Toral, Gisela		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
del Toro, Mario C.		General (1.0)	S-1
De Lucca, Morly		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Del Valle, Ismael		General (1.0)	S-1
Del Zotto, Marlene		Alternatives (4.0)	W-116
Demers, Evelyn M.		Noise (10.0)	S-2
de Moll, Jeanette		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-142
DeNigro, Lilian		General (1.0)	S-1
Denison, Ken		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Derderian, Virginia M. & Robert		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
DeSaiea, Rhonda		Noise (10.0)	W-192
Deshommes, Estime		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
DeShong, Scott		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-71
D'Esposito, Jane R.		General (1.0)	S-1
D'Esposito, Ted		General (1.0)	S-1
Detgen, Marianne		General (1.0)	W-179
DeToma, Carmela		General (1.0)	W-305
Deutsch, Edward B. & Nancy C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Devine, P. J.	<b></b>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Dewberry, Shaquita		General (1.0)	W-583
DeYoung, Robert W.		Noise (10.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-294
Diamant, Ena		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Diaz, A.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0)	W-153
Diaz, Art		General (1.0)	W-65
Diaz, Ait Diaz, Jenny		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-340

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Diaz, Jorge		General (1.0)	W-157
Diaz, Jorge, Sr.		General (1.0)	W-157
Diaz, Jose, Mayor	City of Sweetwater	General (1.0)	O-10
Diaz, Natalie		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-577
Diaz, Oscar		General (1.0)	O-116
Dick, Allen	Dick Broadcasting Co. Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Dickens, Edward C.		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-347
Dickhaus, Ann S.		General (1.0)	W-223
Dickman, Carol		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Di Domenico, Margie	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0)	W-590
Dieckhoff, Richard H. & June H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Diehl, Larry		Alternatives (4.2.3), Noise (10.1.2, 10.2.15, 10.3.7, 10.3.10)	W-78
Diehl, M. H.	The state of the s	Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-573
Dieudonne, Rudy		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Dilday, Mark		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-294
DiLeo, Esther		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-176
Diliberto, Martha		SEIS Process (2.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	S-3
Dillashaw, William	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-63
Dillon, Angela B.		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-536, S-3
Dillon, Raymond F.		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-528, S-3
Di Lorenzo, Anthony		General (1.0)	S-1
Dimsdle, Art & Nancy		General (1.0)	W-226
Dimsdle, Arthur		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-2
Dimsdle, Nancy		General (1.0)	W-1
Dinger, Marilyn		Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-302
DiResta, Daniel	University of Miami Marine Science Program	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.26, 6.1.27), Biological Resources (16.5.7)	W-230
Di Sabatino, Eugene		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-123
Dispensa, Jaclyn		Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-297

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Diure, Marco		General (1.0)	W-362
Dixon, Robert M.	M. C. Dixon Lumber Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Djabali, India		Purpose and Need (3.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-579
Dodge, Marilee		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Dolan, Christine		General (1.0)	S-1
Dolfi, Sharon		General (1.0)	S-1
Dolinsky, Robert	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	O-150
Dollard, Katherine		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0))	W-358
Donnarumna, Paula & Leo		General (1.0)	S-1
Donnell, Nancy O.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Doran, Carole		Transportation (7.0)	W-189
Dorris, Ronald		General (1.0)	S-1
Dorschner, Peter		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-211
Dorsey, Michael	University of Michigan	Alternatives (4.6.2), Cumulative Impacts (23.0.4)	W-259
Dorsey, Tom		General (1.0)	S-1
Dort, David T.		Content and Methodology (5.2.3), Biological	W-13,
		Resources (16.0)	W-136
Dort, Patricia		Alternatives (4.0), Content and Methodology (5.0),	W-13,
		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality	W-531,
		(13.0)	W-531
Dorval, Jean C.		Transportation (7.0)	W-100
Dostourian, Jaclyn		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-604
Dougherty, James, Jr.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Douglas, Jean E.		General (1.0)	S-1
Douglass, Daniel K.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Transportation (7.0), Land	W-166,
-		Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-590
Douriez, Carole		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-589
Dover, Cindy		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Dover, Victor		General (1.0)	W-609
Downs, Andrea		General (1.0)	S-1
Doyle, Gail H.		General (1.0)	S-1
Doyne-Bailey, Kristi		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-592, S-1
Dracos, Patricia		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-7
Driest, Edith		Airspace and Safety (9.1.2, 9.4.2), Biological	O-133,
	***************************************	Resources (16.5.4)	W-302
Driscoll, Thomas F.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-577
Drivas, Helen		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-229

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Drum, Bruce	Miami-Dade County	Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0),	O-34,
,	Aviation Department	Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-67
Duba, Roger L.	***************************************	General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0),	W-610
		Biological Resources (16.0)	
Duckworth, Jewel		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Dudekerk, Judith		Transportation (7.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-273
Duffy, Joseph W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-237
Dunbar, Nancy		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Duncan., Robert D., Jr	Collier Resources Company	General (1.0)	W-386
Dupré, Joe		General (1.0)	W-17
Duran, Aracelya		General (1.0)	W-235
Duranza, Rebecca		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0)	W-4
Durden, Heather		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0),	W-262,
		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources	W-266, S-3
		(16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Dutton, Ronald C.		Alternatives (4.0), Transportation (7.0), Base	O-60,
		Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.3.7)	W-225, W-570
Dymsza, Henry		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-83
Dynek, Linda		General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-610
Eagle, John R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Earl, Clover & George		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Early, Jason		General (1.0)	S-1
Echlov, Sylvia		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-268
Echo, Krysten	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Eckenfelder, Jene F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Economou, Constantina		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-601
Edelson, William E.		General (1.0)	W-74
Edlund, Gerald & Carole M.		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-68
Edlund, Marilyn		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-68
Edmonds, Andrew W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Edwards, Jimmy D.	***************************************	General (1.0)	W-267
Egan, Maria F.		General (1.0)	W-268
Ehlers, Marion		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-341,
,			W-604
Ehlers, Mike	Florida Keys Fishing Guides Association	General (1.0)	S-1
Eichert, Nancy		General (1.0)	W-313

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Eiseman, Robin		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-240
Eldridge, Sue		Airspace and Safety (9.0)	W-190
Ellin, Gladys		General (1.0)	S-1
Elliott, Richard G., Jr.		Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-386
Ellis, Cynthia		General (1.0)	S-1
Ellis, David & Craig		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Elmer, Sarah Fox		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-227
Elrich, Louise		General (1.0)	S-1
Elton, Wallace M.		Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-364
Elulich, Anne H.		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-265
Embry, Judith E.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-195
Emley, Jack W.		General (1.0)	S-1
Emmert, Helen & Gregor		Alternatives (4.8.1), Noise (10.3.3)	W-292
Endres, Arthur		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Endres, Jody		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Ennis, Bruce		General (1.0)	S-1
Ennis, Doris		General (1.0)	S-1
Ennis, Paulette		General (1.0)	S-1
Ensor, G. Lewis		General (1.0)	S-1
Epler, Susan		General (1.0)	O-98
Epling, Robert L.	Community Bank of Homestead	SEIS Process (2.0)	W-104
Erickson, Cynthia A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Esco, Jacquelyn		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-110, W-591
Escobar, Amy		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-579
Escoffery, Lorna	Girl Scout Troop 78 of Tropical Florida	Biological Resources (16.0)	S-6
Esquinazi, Salomon B.	Rasco Reininger & Perez P.A.	Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Alternatives (4.2.23), Socioeconomics (6.0), Socioeconomics (6.1.17)	O-24, O-66, W-438
Estaver, Florence		General (1.0)	S-1
Estrella, Julia		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Esty, Karen		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.3)	W-341
Ethington, Pat B.	Ethington Building Supply, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Ethington, Robert E.	Ethington Building Supply, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Eton, Linda & Darwin	T. T	General (1.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Ettling, Brian		Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-35
Evans, Beverly		General (1.0)	S-1
Evans, Fred		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Evans, Lynn		General (1.0)	S-1
Evans, Pat		Content and Methodology (5.2.3)	W-159
Evans, Theodore A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Evans, Thomas A.		Alternatives (4.2.38), Noise (10.5.1)	W-140
Ezpeleta, Noemi		General (1.0)	S-1
Faber, Charles P.		Alternatives (4.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-236
Fahn, Lawrence		Alternatives (4.1.1), Cumulative Impacts (23.0.4), Secondary Development (20.0.1)	W-264
Fairbanks, Richard		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Fairbanks, Richard M. (Mrs.)		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Falk, Christian V.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Falk, Robert I.		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-260
Falk, Victor S., III		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Fanes, Silvio		General (1.0)	W-362
Fann, Terri		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-248
Farago, Alan	Sierra Club Miami Group	SEIS Process (2.2.6, 2.2.12), Alternatives (4.0), Content and Methodology (5.7.4), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	O-81, O-163, W-555
Farago, Peter		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.9)	W-81
Faries, Aimee		Alternatives (4.2.19, 4.2.31), Noise (10.1.2)	W-267
Farmer, Richard T.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Farrell, Courtney		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Farrell, Mary		SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-333
Farrorda, Rene		General (1.0)	W-350
Faster, Susan		General (1.0)	W-9
Faulconer, Sarah P.		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-294
Fayant, Dennis E.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0)	W-360
Fayant, Linda		General (1.0)	S-1
Fazio, D. Fredrico	Fazio, Dawson, DiSalvo, Cannon, Abers, Podrecca & Fazio	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Fazio, Joseph R., III	Fazio, Dawson, DiSalvo, Cannon, Abers, Podrecca & Fazio	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Fehlhaber, Robert F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Feldman, Frieda		General (1.0), Noise (10.0)	W-326
Feldman, Nancy		General (1.0)	S-1
Felix, Johnson		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Felix, Pouchon		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Fellabom, Roberta A.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-123
Fenimore, David C.		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-431
Ferenstein, Jennifer		Noise (10.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-259
Ferger, Jane D.		Alternatives (4.2.31), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-360, W-527
Ferguson, Roslynn M.		General (1.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-318
Fermo, Thomas F.		General (1.0)	S-1
Fernandez, Adolfo		Socioeconomics (6.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-382
Fernandez, Alexandria		Socioeconomics (6.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-583
Fernandez, Anita		General (1.0)	S-1
Fernandez, Art	I.B.E.W. Local Union 349	General (1.0)	O-28, O-171, W-58
Fernandez, Coral		General (1.0)	S-1
Fernandez, Francisco N.		General (1.0)	O-122
Fernandez, George		General (1.0)	S-1
Fernandez, Laura P.		General (1.0)	S-1
Fernandez, Mirna		General (1.0)	W-251
Fernandez, Oli		General (1.0)	S-1
Fernandez, Otto A.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Air Quality (13.0)	O-133
Fernandez, Ray	South Dade Investment Group, Inc.	General (1.0)	W-20
Fernandez, Robby		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-328
Fernandez, Sandra G.		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-57, W-594
Ferre, Maurice A.		General (1.0)	O-147
Ferrell, Gregg & Pam		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ferris, Arlene B.		General (1.0)	W-236
Fetner, Harold A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-25 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Fiery, Robert		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Finales, Lino E.		General (1.0)	W-249
Finch, Frank R.	South Florida Water Management District	Alternatives (4.0), Content and Methodology (5.2.6), Utilities (8.0.3, 8.0.4), Airspace and Safety (9.2.3, 9.3.11), Noise (10.3.2), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.2.8), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.7), Water Resources (15.2.6, 15.2.10, 15.2.14, 15.2.15, 15.2.16, 15.3.4,	W-405
		15.5.3, 15.6.1), Biological Resources (16.4.1, 16.5.3, 16.6.1, 16.7.2), Secondary Development (20.0.5), Buffer Area (21.0.6), Cumulative Impacts (23.0.1)	
Finlan, Mary	Greater Homestead/ Florida City Chamber of Commerce	General (1.0)	O-32
Finley, Larry & Darla		General (1.0)	W-125
Fireman, Sheldon & Marilyn		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Fischel, Peter		Alternatives (4.0)	O-134
Fischer, Blanche		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-1, S-3, S-4
Fischer, Edward	····	General (1.0)	S-1
Fisher, Diane		General (1.0)	W-280
Fisher, Rosemary		Airspace and Safety (9.0)	W-47, W-73
Fitzel, William		Noise (10.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-17
Fitzgerald, James		General (1.0)	S-1
Fitzgerald, Marjorie		General (1.0)	S-1
Flagg, Clinton D.	Law Offices of Clinton D. Flagg	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Flammang, Lucretia		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-71
Flanagan, J. M. & Catharine M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Fleites, Karen		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Flitcraft, Ralph	***************************************	Noise (10.0)	S-2
Florence, Judith		General (1.0)	S-1
Flores, Rolando		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-216
Flynn, Debra	-	Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-84
Flynn, Jackie		General (1.0)	W-158
Fogt, Natasha		Alternatives (4.0)	W-82
Folse, Shirley F.	<del></del>	General (1.0)	W-430
Forbes, Ken	Eden, Inc.	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-359
Ford, Eugene F. & Alice D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ford, Francee		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-119

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Ford, Linda L.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Ford, Timothy		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Forelli, Martha		General (1.0)	W-115
Forelli, Matthew S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-115, W-299, S-3
Foreman, James L.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Forman, Win		General (1.0), Noise (10.0)	W-304
Forouhar, Sara		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-578
Forrester, Gerald K.		General (1.0)	S-1
Forsht, Donald & Lynn Bannister		General (1.0)	W-104
Fortier, Jacky		General (1.0)	S-1
Fortuin, John M.	Sierra Club Miami Group	SEIS Process (2.3.1, 2.3.2)	O-83, W-19
Foster, Hilary		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-296
Foster, Phyllis & Michael		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-536, S-3, S-4
Foster, Sharon & Powell		General (1.0)	W-595
Foust, Suzan		General (1.0)	W-188
Fovel, Carolyn &  Donald		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Fox, Marguerite	•	General (1.0)	S-1
France, William & Kathleen		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-290
Francis, Marna		General (1.0)	S-1
Franklin, Acie		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-84
Franklin, Joan Marn		General (1.0)	S-1
Franklin, Karen		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-150, W-214
Frazier, Owsley Brown		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Fredrick, M. M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Freed, Jerry & Gail		General (1.0)	W-224
Freeman, Julie E.		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-370
Freeman, Shirley	Monroe County Board of County Commissioners	Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-129
Freire, Frances		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-587

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-27 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Fried, Jessica	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Friedman, Edwina B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Friedman, Richard N.		Alternatives (4.2.51)	O-161
Froehlich, Angela		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Frost, Richard W.	Biscayne National Park	Alternatives (4.2.39), Noise (10.4.12)	O-18
Fruehauf, Harvey C., Jr.	\$	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Frye, James C., II		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Fuechsel, Nick		Air Quality (13.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-6
Fuisz, Robert E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Fulgueira, Jose Luis		General (1.0)	W-250
Fulgueira, Leonardo		General (1.0)	W-251
Fuller, Manley K., III	Florida Wildlife Federation	General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-370
Fulton, Ellen	<u></u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Furmen, Dario		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-578
Fusfield, Susan		General (1.0)	S-1
Gabbert, Louise M.	<u></u>	General (1.0)	W-146
Gaffney, Homer K. & Mitsuko		SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0)	W-130
Gaines, Betsy	······	General (1.0)	W-259
Galindo, Marilys		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-586
Galitz, Eli		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Gallagher, Michelle	Young Friends of the Everglades	General (1.0)	W-40
Gamino, Maricela		General (1.0)	S-1
Ganciaruso, Anthony		General (1.0)	S-1
Gann, Joyce & Donald		Noise (10.0)	W-320
Garay, Rafael & Enelia		General (1.0)	W-181
Garbisch, Richard G.		General (1.0)	W-232
Garcia, Agustin		Air Quality (13.0)	W-581
Garcia, Catherine		General (1.0)	S-1
Garcia, Erika		Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-579
Garcia, Gladys		General (1.0)	O-130
Garcia, Mark	American Freight International, Inc.	Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-235
Garcia, Regla M.		General (1.0)	W-266
Garcia, Roberto N.		General (1.0)	O-134
Garcia, Rodolfo, Jr.	Florida State Representative	General (1.0)	O-15
Garcia, Sylvia	Capitol Title Services	General (1.0)	O-134
Garcia, Tere	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	O-136

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
García-Serra, Mario J.	· .	SEIS Process (2.0)	O-29,
			O-169
Garciaz, Lily		General (1.0)	S-1
Gardner, Azucena		General (1.0)	S-1
Gardner, Ben		SEIS Process (2.0), Base Realignment Process and	O-2,
		Property Disposal (25.5.1)	W-16
Gardner, Chris	'	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), South Florida	W-73, S-1
		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Gardner, Joe		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Garland, Scott H.		General (1.0)	W-153
Garland, Sue A.		SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-86
Garman, Jean		Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-219
Garner, Margaret		General (1.0)	S-1
Garrido, Luis		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0),	W-18,
		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and	W-56
		Aesthetics (11.0)	
Garrison, Angela		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-253
Garrote, Alexander W.		General (1.0)	S-1
Garwood, Marvin L.		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-85
Gates, John & Kathleen		General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0),	W-339
		Biological Resources (16.0)	,
Gaunt, Louise		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Gautreaux, Moses		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0),	S-5
		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0),	
		Biological Resources (16.0)	
Geddes, Jean McC.	·	Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.4.1),	W-239,
		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-526
Geisler, George, Mayor	Islamorada, Village of	Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources	W-33
	Islands	(15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	
		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Genenish, Susan	•	General (1.0)	W-328
Genovese, David B.		General (1.0)	O-109,
			W-206
Gentile-Youd, Jane		SEIS Process (2.2.7)	W-44
Georganna, Rosemary		General (1.0)	W-181
George, Judith L.		General (1.0)	W-208
George, Stephen C.		General (1.0)	S-1
Gephart, Brent L.		General (1.0)	W-158
Gephart, Sarah J.		Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-137
Gerald, John A., Jr.		General (1.0)	S-1
Gerencher, Christy	Aircraft Owners and Pilots Association	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-289
Gerloff, Don & Margaret		Noise (10.0)	W-123
Gessez, Pat		General (1.0)	W-262
Ghosh, Debalina		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-333

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-29

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Giambo, Debra		SEIS Process (2.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise	W-18,
		(10.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-57
Giattino, Carmine		General (1.0)	S-1
Gibson, Joseph		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-348
Giffin, Sharon		General (1.0)	S-1
Giles-Klein, Natalie		Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0)	O-95
Gill, Kimie		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-612
Gillén, Genevieve S.		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-322
Gilmore, John & Margie		Alternatives (4.2.6)	W-98
Gilus, Fran		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-327
Ginsburg, Alyson		General (1.0)	S-1
Ginsburg, Robert N.		General (1.0)	W-280
Gintel, Robert M.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Glassmeyer, Jeanne & Michael		General (1.0)	W-195
Glennon, Gerald		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Globe, Leila		General (1.0)	W-610
Gobie, Jenifer		Noise (10.4.4)	O-95
Goenaga, Isa		General (1.0)	S-1
Goldberg, Joyce		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-114
Golden, James J.	South Florida Water Management District	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.5.1), Water Resources (15.2.12)	W-449
Goldman, Jonathan		General (1.0)	O-91
Goldstein, Amber	**************************************	General (1.0)	W-38
Goldstein, Victoria & Alan		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-537
Goll, Monika & Ralf		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Gomez, Carl		General (1.0)	O-71, O-130
Gomez, Dennis		General (1.0)	O-99, W-65
Gomez, Ivan		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-264, S-3, S-5
Gomez, Sara		General (1.0)	O-93, O-129
Gomez, Sergio B.	<u></u>	General (1.0)	O-125
Gontarz, Elizabeth A.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Gonzalez, Abundio	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Gonzalez, Angela D.		General (1.0)	O-3
Gonzalez, Damy		General (1.0)	W-250
Gonzalez, Estrella F.		General (1.0)	S-1
González, Felipe A. & Raquel		General (1.0)	W-205

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Gonzalez, Jose M.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-150
Gonzalez, Lazara		General (1.0)	S-1
Gonzalez, Maria T.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Gonzalez, Scott		General (1.0)	S-1
Gonzalez, Simona		General (1.0)	W-249
Gooch Jr., William C.	Community Bank of Elmhurst	Noise (10.0)	W-135
Goodall, Glenn T.		General (1.0)	W-111
Goodman, Barbara		General (1.0)	W-114
Goodman, Jack		General (1.0)	W-115
Goodman, Joanne		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Goodnight, Rebecca	-	General (1.0)	S-1
Gordon, Clint		General (1.0)	W-573
Gordon, J. D. & LaVerne D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-104
Gordon, Louis		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-299
Gosko, Cissy		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-143
Gottlieb, Natasha		General (1.0)	W-206, S-1
Gould, Phillip C.	,	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Goulet, Vivian		General (1.0)	W-382
Gow, William C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Gracey, Michael C.		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Gracey, Shawn		General (1.0)	S-1
Grafe, Elizabeth		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-131
Grafe, Harry M.		Content and Methodology (5.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-356
Grafe, James		Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-141
Graham, Candy		General (1.0)	S-1
Graham, Melissa A.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Grant, Michela		General (1.0)	S-1
Granville, Maurice F.		Noise (10.0)	W-196
Gray, David M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Gray, Rachel		Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-384
Graziadei, Keith N.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	General (1.0)	W-596
Greathouse, Marilyn R.		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-173
Green, Joan	Green's Gourmet Groves, Inc.	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-132
Green, Richard D.	Lyman Steel Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Greenberg, Paul		General (1.0)	S-2
Greenburger, Francis	Time Equities Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Greene, Harold A.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Content and Methodology (5.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-252
Gregg, Caryl		General (1.0), Noise (10.0)	W-321
Gregory, Alan & Monica		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-590
Greif, Cecile		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-224
Griffin, Brett		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Griffin, Colleen		Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Transportation (7.1.2), Airspace and Safety (9.4.1), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.1.1)	W-151
Griffin, Davis		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Griffin, Debbie		General (1.0)	S-1
Griffin, Donna R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Griffin, Robert C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Griffin, William R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Griffitts, Walter		General (1.0)	W-64
Grignal, Nathalie		Alternatives (4.0)	O-28
Grimes, Joseph F.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-236
Grodd, Leslie E.	Blazzard, Grodd & Hasenauer, P.C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Groen, Louis M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Groh, Donald		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.4.2), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-61, O-69, O-170, W-337
Groh, Richard		General (1.0)	O-169, W-336
Gromlovitz, Valerie		General (1.0)	W-247
Groome, Thomas S. & Kimberly V.		Alternatives (4.2.15, 4.2.19), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.1, 10.5.5), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.1.5, 15.8.3), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-606
Gross, Joan		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Grossman, Fabienne		General (1.0)	S-1
Grossman, Glenn		General (1.0)	S-1
Grosso, Betty C.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Grosso, Richard	Shepard Broad Law Center	Purpose and Need (3.2.3), Socioeconomics (6.1.28), Mitigation Measures (22.0.3)	O-144
Grove, T. K.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Grumbine, Rich		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Grunow, L.		Alternatives (4.0)	W-112
Guay, Kathy		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-310
Guillen, Jorge		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Guinn, Matt		General (1.0)	S-1
Gumbiner, Alice		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Gunion, Frederick A., Jr.	Gunion & Schack	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Gunnell, Maurice B. (Mrs.)		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Gustafson, Elizabeth & Darrell		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Guthrie, Beatrice T.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-343
Guthrie, R. D.		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-343
Gutierrez, Alejandro		General (1.0)	S-1
Gutierrez, Anamaria		Biological Resources (16.0)	O-98
Gutierrez, Manola		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Guyton, Bradley C.	Morgan-Keller, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Guyton, Gail T.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Guzman, Anthony		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Haberly, Richard L.	Florida West International Airways	Alternatives (4.2.32)	W-183
Hackbarth, Conde		Alternatives (4.0)	W-90, W-98
Hackelton, Marian J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hacker, Christina		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-110
Hackett, Patricia M.		Alternatives (4.2.7)	O-41
Hackett, Vara R.		Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-254
Haddad, W. B.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3, S-4
Hadden, Clifford		General (1.0)	S-1
Hafem, Fouad		Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-12
Hageman, Estefania		Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-98, S-1
Hagen, Steve		General (1.0)	O-135, W-60
Hairston, Peg		General (1.0)	S-1
Hajim, Edmund A.	ING Furman Selz Asset Management LLC	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hale-deSeve, Sue		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-611

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Hall, Alice (Florida)		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Hall, Alice		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hall, Alice Z.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-173
Hall, Floyd	Kmart Corporation	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hall, Howard, Jr.	Howard Hall Co., Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hall, Joseph A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Hall, LeAnn		General (1.0)	S-1
Hallauer, Cynthia M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Hallinger, C. Joyce		General (1.0)	W-282
Halloran, Andrew	Halloran Construction	General (1.0)	W-160
Halpert, Stephen		Water Resources (15.5.1, 15.5.4)	O-42
Halsey, Melanie		General (1.0)	W-260
Hammer, Roger L.		Noise (10.1.2, 10.3.3, 10.5.6), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.9)	W-382
Hammersmith, Charles P., Jr.	Elmhurst-Chicago Stone Co.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hampton, Michelle D.		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-591
Hanchey, Connie M.	<b></b>	General (1.0)	S-1
Handshu, Steven P.		Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.3)	W-42
Hankinson, John H., Jr.	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency	Alternatives (4.2.12, 4.4.1, 4.7.1, 4.8.8), Transportation (7.1.6), Noise (10.3.1, 10.3.14, 10.4.1, 10.4.2, 10.5.1, 10.6.1, 10.6.2, 10.7.1, 10.7.2, 10.7.10, 10.7.11), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.5), Air Quality (13.1.8, 13.1.10), Water Resources (15.3.9, 15.6.1), Biological Resources (16.4.7, 16.4.9), Buffer Area (21.0.1, 21.0.2), Mitigation Measures (22.0.6)	W-461
Hanna, Paul		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hannan, Janet E.		General (1.0)	S-1
Hannoch, Franklin, Jr.	Hannoch Appraisal Company	Noise (10.1.2)	W-461
Hansen, Melanie	Young Friends of the Everglades	General (1.0)	W-40
Hansen, Michael R.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Hanson, Mark		General (1.0)	S-1
Haralson, Paul	***************************************	General (1.0)	O-126
Harbert, Emma		General (1.0)	S-2
Hardy, Laura		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-72
Harkavy, Jeff		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Harkness, Bonita		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0)	W-600
Harling, Sher		General (1.0)	W-140
Harper, Barbara M.		General (1.0)	W-191

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-34 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Harrell, Darren		Socioeconomics (6.1.14)	O-116
Harrell, John		General (1.0)	S-1
Harrell, Lynne	•	General (1.0)	S-1
Harrington, Sara J.	······································	General (1.0)	W-188
Harris, Albert	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Harris, Janet R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Harris, Kenneth		General (1.0)	W-122
Harris, Kyle	·	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Harris, Molly & Larry		General (1.0)	S-1
Harris, Rita		General (1.0)	S-1
Harrison, Loraine R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hart, Lester		General (1.0)	S-1
Hartfield, Freda L.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hartman, Bradley J.	Florida Fish and	Biological Resources (16.5.3)	W-128
Traitman, Dradicy 3.	Wildlife Conservation Commission	Diological Resources (10.3.5)	W 120
Hartsgrove, Kristy		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0),	W-270
,		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	
		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Harvey, Emeric		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	S-3, S-4
		(15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	
Hasencamp, Mary L.		General (1.0)	S-1
Hastings, Val & Brian		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0),	W-379
		Biological Resources (16.0)	
Hatcher, Jeffrey A.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Hatcher, Michael		Transportation (7.1.1)	O-64
Hathaway, Betty V.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological	S-2
TT CI'CC 10 T		Resources (16.0)	S-1
Haugen, Clifford O., Jr.		General (1.0)	~ <u> </u>
Haven, Grant		SEIS Process (2.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-233
Havey, Jill T.	Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Hawker, David A.	71110 Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hawker, Judy		General (1.0)	W-112
Hayes, Carl		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0)	O-96
Hayes, Judith H.		Noise (10.1.3, 10.5.7)	W-299
Hayes, R. W.		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Biological	O-73,
iiayos, it. w.		Resources (16.0), Cultural Resources (17.0)	W-43
Haynes, Gisela		Socioeconomics (6.0), Biological Resources (16.0),	W-91
114,1105, 015014		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Haynes, John M.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Haynes, Mary Frances	<u> </u>	SEIS Process (2.1.1), Purpose and Need (3.4.1),	W-224,
MacDonald		Noise (10.0)	W-607
Healey, Ann	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-138
Healey, John W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Heasley, Philip G.	US Bancorp	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Heckert, Richard E.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-149
Heckler, Alex		Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-31
Heffaner, Elizabeth	The Nature Conservancy South Florida Office	General (1.0)	W-153
Heidgerd, Rebecca		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-592
Heilmann, H. Jurgen		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Heiner, Fred H.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-245
Heinrich, Donald & Polly		Socioeconomics (6.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-359
Heinrich, Donald H.		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-8
Heinrich, Henry G.		General (1.0)	S-1
Heinrich, Mary F.		Noise (10.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-8
Heitmeyer, Richard A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Helser, Barbara		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-611
Hembree, Nancy		Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-177
Heni, Brent & Carole		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Henize, Kellie		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-261, S-3, S-5
Henniay, H. R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Henrich, Adele & Harold R.		Socioeconomics (6.1.29)	W-527
Henriques, Adolfo		General (1.0)	O-131
Henson, Anita	<u> </u>	SEIS Process (2.0)	W-100
Hepler, William J.	Banta Catalog Group	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Herman, Norman J.		General (1.0)	W-99
Herman, Shawn		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-433
Hermann, Athena		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Hernandez, Adolfo	100 to	General (1.0)	0-4
Hernandez, Barbara		General (1.0)	S-1
Hernandez, Christine		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-581
Hernandez, Cindy		General (1.0)	S-1
Hernandez, Mirna		General (1.0)	W-251

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Hernandez, Pedro	Miami-Dade County	Content and Methodology (5.7.7), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.7), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.4), Water Resources (15.1.4, 15.2.8, 15.2.14, 15.3.8, 15.5.4, 15.6.1, 15.7.1), Biological Resources (16.3.1, 16.4.6)	W-372
Hernandez, Raul E.		General (1.0)	O-29
Hernandez, Rogelio		General (1.0)	W-252
Herndon, M.		General (1.0)	W-279
Herr, John	•	General (1.0)	S-1
Herradon, Natalie	<b></b>	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-587
Herrera, Javier		Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal	O-30,
,		(25.0)	O-106
Hershey, Robert D.	•	Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0)	W-286
Hert, Diane		Alternatives (4.6.3)	W-306
Herum, Alan D.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological	S-2
		Resources (16.0)	_
Hess, Rodger H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hewett, F. Robert	Gestion Management	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Hewitt, Cindy		SEIS Process (2.0)	O-100
Hewitt, Mary-Jo C.		SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0)	W-159
Heyder, Audrey		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Hibshman, Ed		General (1.0)	S-1
Hibshman, Phebe		General (1.0)	S-1
Hicks, Linda B.		General (1.0)	S-1
Hidalgo, Mariela		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-151
Hiell, Georgette		General (1.0)	S-1
Higginbotham, Jennifer		Transportation (7.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-160
Higginson, Norman		Noise (10.0)	W-371
Highland, Cecil		General (1.0)	W-247
Higuera, Sarah Jane		Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-114
Hild, Frederick D.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Hild, Harriet A.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Hillenbrand, Daniel A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hillenbrand, W. August		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hiltz, L. Thomas		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hindman, Don J.	Clark Foodservice, Inc.	Alternatives (4.0)	W-383
Hinman, Harry E., Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Hippert, James B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Hirschl, Andrew R.	Village of Bal Harbour	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-543

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-37 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Hitchings, James L.		General (1.0)	S-1
Hitchings, Sally		General (1.0)	S-1
Hodgdon, Hyatt		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological	S-2
		Resources (16.0)	
Hodges, Elizabeth K.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-48
Hoey, Clare B.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0)	W-122
Hoff, K. D.	McDonald's	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hoff, Mary	McDonald's	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hoff, Richard B.	McDonald's	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hoff, Tiffany	McDonald's	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hoffman, Marion W.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0)	W-223
Hoffman, Sandra Brake	•	General (1.0)	S-1
Hoffmann, Meno	<del></del>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hogan, Hulk		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-388
Hogan, Patricia		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-279
Hohenberg, Adrienne		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.1)	O-73
Holderman, Meg & Dean		General (1.0)	S-4
Holderman, Meg R.		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-331, W-354
Holland, Claire	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Holland, Joseph A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Holmbraker, Marianne Allen		General (1.0)	W-117
Holmes, Christopher		Alternatives (4.1.4)	W-611
Holmes, Daniel		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0)	W-331
Holmes, Eloise		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	S-4
Holmes, Jay T.	Law Office of Jay T. Holmes	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hooker, Charles M.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-593
Hoover Chase, Lacey	Hoover Environmental Group	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	W-386
Horgan, Jennifer	¢	General (1.0)	S-1
Horn, Katharine	<u> </u>	Biological Resources (16.0)	O-97
Horton, Anita		General (1.0)	S-1
Hottmann, Claudia	<u> </u>	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Houle, Barbara J.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0)	W-196
House, Linda K.		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-84, W-356
Howanitz, Buddy		General (1.0)	O-165
Howard, Carla		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	S-4
Howard, Cleve W.		Airspace and Safety (9.4.1)	W-182
Howard, J. R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
~~~ · r tota tog v + x to	1	; 10.00 (10.0); 1 m Quanty (10.0)	

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Howard, Joanne M.		Alternatives (4.6.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.3), Utilities (8.0.5)	W-284
Howard, Mary Jean		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-538, S-3
Howard, Pat		General (1.0)	W-113
Howell, Lashakeithea		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Howland, Barbara		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hoyt, Bradley A.	Continental Property Group, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hoyt, Joseph N.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-120
Huber, Frank		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Hudak, Andrea		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-234
Hudson, Arless		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hudson, John W. & L. Joyce		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Hudson, Matthew C.	Scottish Aviation Group LLC	Alternatives (4.2.37, 4.2.47, 4.2.48, 4.8.4, 4.8.5, 4.8.6, 4.8.7)	W-449
Hughes, Anthony		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-330
Hughes, Keith W.	The Associates	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hughes, Mary Lou		SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	W-537, S-3, S-4
Hume, Melissa		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-574
Hummel, Robert P.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-120
Humphrey, Jane D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hundevadt, Betty		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-1
Huneke, Daniel A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Hunt, Bob		General (1.0)	S-1
Huntington, Christopher F.	The Orthopaedic Institute Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hyams, Laura		General (1.0)	S-1
Hyman, Stanley C.		General (1.0)	W-143
Iglesias, Rita		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-586
Inciardi, James A.	University of Delaware	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Indiero, Connie		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Ingalls, Melville E. & Barbara M.	-	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Irwin, Steve		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0)	W-363

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Isenbergh, Penny D.		General (1.0)	S-1
Iversen, Jack R. & Joan		Noise (10.0)	W-234
Ivy, Curtis K., Jr.	City of Homestead	General (1.0)	O-52
Jack, Donald & Eulalia A.		General (1.0)	W-254
Jack, Dorothy		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Jack, Jackie S.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Jackalone, Frank	Sierra Club	Socioeconomics (6.1.3), Noise (10.2.1)	O-153
Jackson, Alfreda		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	S-4
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Jackson, Edward A.	•	Transportation (7.1.4)	W-145
Jackson, Edwin L.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-150
Jackson, Jennifer R.	······································	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Jackson, Waltrell		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Jacob, Dayle & Richard	Sylvan Nursery Farms, LLC	General (1.0)	W-344
Jacobs, David H. (Mrs.)		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-208
Jacobs, Diane		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-164
Jacobson, Patty & David		General (1.0)	W-284
Jaramillo, Julio C.		General (1.0)	W-601
Jason, Hilliard		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-136
Jeakle, Jean S.		General (1.0)	S-1
Jean-buis, Patrick		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Jeffs, Robert D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Jennings, Cynthia		General (1.0)	W-120
Jennings, Toni	Florida Legislature	Noise (10.3.5)	W-67
Jensen, Sandy	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	O-90
Jerew, Wendy L.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Jester, Erin		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-8
Jester, Laurie		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-7
Jeter, Mark		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-594
Jimenez, Jennette	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Jirihoaric, Winona	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Joanis, K. A.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-262
Johnson, April		General (1.0)	W-214
Johnson, Barbara		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-269

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Johnson, Brittney		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Johnson, Carol A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Johnson, Deanna		Transportation (7.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-6
Johnson, Eric S.	Community Bank of Florida	Alternatives (4.0)	W-94
Johnson, James		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-304
Johnson, Kent		General (1.0)	W-13
Johnson, Luecinda		General (1.0)	S-1
Johnson, Madeleine		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-580
Johnson, Patricia		General (1.0)	S-1
Johnson, Patricia C.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	
Johnson, Renita		Alternatives (4.0)	W-355
Johnson, Robert		General (1.0)	W-269
Johnson, Susan M.		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-346
Johnson, Sylvia R.		Biological Resources (16.0), Minority and Low- Income Populations (18.0)	W-273
Johnston, Don		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-605
Johnston, Miriam M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Johnston, William H., Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Jonckheere, Benoit		Content and Methodology (5.7.1, 5.7.5)	O-82
Jones, Anthony		General (1.0)	S-1
Jones, Antwon		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Jones, Daryl L.	Florida State Senator	Alternatives (4.2.5), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.3.1)	O-13
Jones, Delle & Ted	D'Elegante, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Jones, Donald W.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.2.25), Content and Methodology (5.7.3), Socioeconomics (6.1.11, 6.1.36), Airspace and Safety (9.0)	W-387
Jones, Edmund W.	Surgical Associates of Southwest Ohio, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-194
Jones, J. Annette		General (1.0)	W-252
Jones, Kadeshea		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Jones, Leroy		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Jones, M. Leo		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Jones, Margarette V.		Noise (10.0)	W-77
Jones, Michelle		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-333

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-41 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Jones, Ronald T.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-381
Jones, Ruth Ann		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-286
Jorczak, Eric		Content and Methodology (5.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-319, W-360
Joseph, Wills		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Joslyn, Robert & Catherine G.	· ·	General (1.0)	W-125
Jospey, Dorothy H.		General (1.0)	W-140
Jospey, Shelden		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Joyce, Mary Lou		General (1.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-263, S-3
Joyce, Tony & Marsha		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Jude, Sallye G.		General (1.0)	S-1
Judy, Lisa		General (1.0)	S-1
Julmiste, Trarmile		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Junkins, M. Patricia		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Kacser, Hilary		General (1.0)	W-277
Kadko, David		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Kahan, Diane	o name	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-90
Kalil, Christopher		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-312, W-316
Kalil, Craig P.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-311
Kalil, Deanna		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-316
Kalil, Diane A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Kalil, Donna		General (1.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0)	O-41, W-315, S-1
Kalis, Stephen H.	Law Offices of Binder, Kalis & Proctor, P.C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Kalmbach, Gregory J.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.2.56), Socioeconomics (6.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.5.1)	W-313, W-606
Kane, John	Equitrac	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Karch, Lisa M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	S-5
Karol, Susan V.	Beverly Surgical Associates, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Katcherian, Jeff Edmund		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Katz, Dolly		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-325
Katz, Edward		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Katz, Edward A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Kavanaugh, E. Edward	The Cosmetic, Toiletry, and Fragrance Association	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-132
Kay, William J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Kean, Danielle		Biological Resources (16.0)	O-98
Keel, Diane W.		General (1.0)	S-1
Keenan, Tom & Jaye Ellen		Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-334
Kehrhahn, Alicia A.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	O-117
Keiser, David		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0),	W-265,
,		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	S-3, S-5
Kelley, Cameron M.	Cameron Incorporated	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Kelley, Shirley D.		General (1.0)	W-146
Kelly, A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Kelly, Charles W.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0)	W-355
Kelly, Charlotte F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Kelly, M. J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Kelly, Sidney F.		General (1.0)	S-1
Kelly, Suzanne Temples		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-170, W-242
Kendall, Harold E.	South Florida Growers Association, Inc.	Alternatives (4.0)	W-555
Kenney, John D.		General (1.0)	W-63
Kent, J. Vincent	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Kent, Scott		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Kershner, Bryson	BK/Barrit	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ketover, Richard		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Keyser, Jeanette Parker	İ	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-341
Khalsa, Mha Atma S.		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-194
Khan, Farissa	1	General (1.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Kibert, Nicole C.	University of Florida	Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem	W-602
		Restoration (24.0)	
Kierski, Wanda K.		General (1.0)	W-79
Kiesylis, Patricia		General (1.0)	W-575
Kilby, Robert		General (1.0)	W-228
Kiley, Rita		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Kilrus, Kathy		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Air	W-235
Killus, Kalliy		Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	VV -255
Kimmerle, William L.	Baker McMillen Co.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
King, Jeanette	Barci McMinen Co.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	W-71,
King, Jeanette		(15.0)	W-227, S-1
King, Mary F.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Kinler, Katie		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-258
Kinney, Margaret & Patrick		General (1.0)	W-236
Kinsel, Allen, Jr.		General (1.0)	W-156
Kipp, Thomas E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Kippenhan, Rebecca		General (1.0)	S-1
Kirby, Mark	*	General (1.0)	S-1
Kirby, Tom	Dade County Farm Bureau	General (1.0)	O-145
Kirilenko, David		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Kirilenko, Yvette		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Kirkem, Tanika	·	General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Kirkwood, Tim		General (1.0)	W-14
Kirkwood, Tim & Maureen		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Kissam, Annie May		General (1.0)	W-225
Kissam, Bob		General (1.0)	S-1
Kissman, Jenness		General (1.0)	S-1
Kitchings, Chester W., Sr.	Coca-Cola Bottling Company of Southeastern New England	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Klein, Christopher		General (1.0)	S-1
Klein, Dee		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-591
Klein, J. P.	Raymond James & Associates, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Klein, Jessica	Young Friends of the Everglades	General (1.0)	W-40
Klein, Julie D.		General (1.0)	W-575
Klingbeil, Carol	Office of Commissioner Sorenson	Socioeconomics (6.1.33)	O-142

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Klingbeil, Jerry	Sierra Club	Transportation (7.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	O-85
Klosz, Dennis	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-198
Klosz, Renee		General (1.0)	W-198
Kmonicek, Joseph & Margaret		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Knight, Geoff		General (1.0)	W-309
Knight, Linda		General (1.0)	W-309
Knights, Geoffrey	Redland Citizens Association	Alternatives (4.4.9), Transportation (7.2.2), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.4)	W-345
Knox, Patricia		General (1.0)	W-184
Knox, Thomas J.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Koch, Wyatt		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-211
Kocher, Marlene		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-373
Kocher, Richard & Irene		General (1.0)	S-1
Koenig, David W.	<u> </u>	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Kohnt, Mark	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Kolker, Joel	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-41
Konicek, Paul		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Konkol, Kenneth J.		General (1.0)	W-9
Koppe, Lisa		General (1.0)	S-1
Koptur, Suzanne		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-58
Kores, Suzanne		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-159
Koslofsky, Adam		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-32
Kostrzewski, William J.		SEIS Process (2.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-241
Kotz, Rose M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Kovalski, Robert		General (1.0)	S-1
Kovar, Dana		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Kowne, Dolores		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Kowsler, Elaine		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Kowsler, Paul E.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Kozlovskis-Wade, Pat		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-63, W-218
Kraai, Dwight A.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0)	O-115, W-49
Kramer, Norm		General (1.0)	O-20
Kranz, Rhonda	<del></del>	General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-364
Kraus, Elizabeth		Noise (10.1.1)	O-96
Kraus, Mark L.	National Audubon Society	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.0), Transportation (7.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	O-93

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Kraus, Maryellen		SEIS Process (2.0), Transportation (7.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-149
Kraus, Robert A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Kreitler, John H.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-232
Kreitler, John T.		Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-228
Krenik, Caroline		General (1.0)	W-199
Krenik, Caroline & Tom		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-199
Krenik, John		General (1.0)	W-199, S-1
Krenik, Luke		General (1.0)	S-1
Krenik, Marlowe J.		General (1.0)	S-1
Krenik, Patricia L.	**************************************	General (1.0)	S-1
Kriminger, Kaley		Alternatives (4.6.1), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-151, W-214
Kronen, Steve	······································	General (1.0)	O-41
Kruger, Gayle		General (1.0)	W-189
Kruse, Carl		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Kuchenbacker, Heidi		Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0)	O-53
Kuchta, Judy		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-325
Kunkel, Brian J.		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-238
Kunkel, Cathy		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-70
Kuntz, Louella	······································	General (1.0)	W-355
Kunz, Timothy		Alternatives (4.2.9), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.3.4)	O-103, W-42
Kupper, Arlene J.		General (1.0)	W-118
Lacey, Henry B.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Lachat, Amy E.		General (1.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-317
LaFleur, Rhonda		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lake, Rona		Alternatives (4.0)	W-115
Lake, Rona & John		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lamanna, Frances		General (1.0)	S-1
Lamb, Victoria		General (1.0)	S-1
Lamke, Richard W.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Lampert, Thomas & Janet		General (1.0)	W-143
Lampl, Jack, Jr. (Mrs.)		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Lancaster, Laura		Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-15
Lander, Raymond A., Jr.		Alternatives (4.2.14), Noise (10.5.12)	W-177

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Landon, Kenneth R.	KeyBank USA	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Lange, Barbara	Sierra Club Miami Group	SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Airspace and Safety (9.3.2), Noise (10.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.2), Water Resources (15.2.2, 15.3.7), Secondary Development (20.0.3)	O-36, W-538
Langille, C. F.		General (1.0)	W-133
Langille, Lois		General (1.0)	W-167
Lannes, Gustavo E.		Noise (10.0)	O-130
La Plante, Leah	<u> </u>	South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-152
LaProdd, Donna		General (1.0)	S-1
Larkin Jr., C. Raymond, Jr.	3x NELL, LLC	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Larsen, Arthur P.		General (1.0)	S-1
Larsen, John R.		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-531
Larsen, Sofia		General (1.0)	S-1
Larson, Robert		Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-91
Lary, Todd		Transportation (7.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-9, W-9
	Latin Builders Association, Inc.	General (1.3.1)	W-54
La Torre, Filippa		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0)	W-326
Latras, Abraham		General (1.0)	W-61
Latras, Abrahan, Sr.		General (1.0)	W-60
Latras, Ana		General (1.0)	W-61
Latras, Mercedes		General (1.0)	W-60
Lauder, Malcolm		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-99
Laurent, Josette		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Lavine, Greg	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Law, Laura		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	0-4
Lawler, Robert Grant		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2
Lay, Chris W.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Leavitt, Edith		Transportation (7.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-364
Lecuru, Bruce		Noise (10.0)	W-85
Lee, James H.	U.S. Department of the Interior	DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.1)	W-451
Lee, Jean & Geoffrey		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-599

I-47

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Lee, Nancy		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Content and Methodology (5.3.3), Noise (10.2.1), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0.2), Buffer Area (21.0.3)	O-1, O-160, W-55, W-204, W-592
Lee, Patrick P.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Leenhouts, James		General (1.0)	W-146
Leenhouts, Marjorie		General (1.0)	W-146
Lefler, Susan		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-271
Leggett, Robert & Dee		General (1.0)	W-87
LeGros, Emile A.		Noise (10.1.2)	W-222
Lehman-Croswell, Caroline		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Lehmuller, Paul C.		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0)	W-122
Lenz, Amy		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-270
Lenz, Dennis J.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-170
Leon, Santiago		Purpose and Need (3.2.1), Content and Methodology (5.6.1)	O-159
Leposky, Rosalie		Water Resources (15.3.3, 15.3.3)	O-123, W <b>-4</b> 9
Lepper, Virginia M.		Biological Resources (16.0)	O-42
Lerner, Cindy		Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-39
Leroy, Nora		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-211
Les, Terry, et al.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Levarsky, Nancy		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Leverson, Shanika		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Levine, Randie		General (1.0)	S-1
Levinson, Lawrence	Coalition for Environmental Justice	SEIS Process (2.1.6), Alternatives (4.1.2), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.3.5)	O-23
Levinson, Lawrence E.	Verner, Liipfert, Bernhard, McPherson, and Hand	General (1.3.3), SEIS Process (2.1.2, 2.1.4, 2.1.5, 2.1.6, 2.1.7, 2.1.8), Alternatives (4.4.10), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0.1), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.2.1, 25.2.2, 25.2.3, 25.2.4, 25.3.1, 25.3.2, 25.3.3, 25.3.4)	W-423
Levitan, Laurie		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-58
Levitan, Paul	**************************************	General (1.0)	W-198
Levitt, Marcy		General (1.0)	S-1
Levy, Eric		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-595

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Levy, John A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lewen, Ed		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-327
Lewis, Dannie		General (1.0)	W-11
Lewis, Lenard E. &		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	S-3, S-4
Carol D.		(15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	
Lewis, Nancy B.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-295
Lewis, Thomas E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lieberman, Herbert & Peggy		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lieberman, Sheri		General (1.0)	S-1
Light, Georgia A.		General (1.0)	S-3
Lilly, Richard &		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-380
Elizabeth			
Lima, Edwin		General (1.0)	W-65
Lincoln, Robert B.		Alternatives (4.0)	W-226
Lindblad, Andrew		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	W-283
,		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Linder, Susan		General (1.0)	S-1
Lippert, Tony & Mimi		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Litowitz, Donna B.		General (1.0)	S-1
Little, Larry		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-69
Lively, Robin		General (1.0)	S-1
Livingston, Grant		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0), Biological	O-92
,		Resources (16.0)	
Llado, Josie		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	W-276
		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Lloyd, Dorry		General (1.0)	S-1
Lockwood, Kevin J.	Whispering Pines Lake Owners Association	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-81
Loffredo, Michael		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-212
Lofgren, Helen		Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-321
Loftis, John & Susan		General (1.0)	W-349
Loftus, Alex		General (1.0)	S-1
Loftus, Ana R.		Content and Methodology (5.3.1)	W-221
Loftus, Dorothy		General (1.0)	S-1
Loftus, William F.		Content and Methodology (5.3.2)	W-246
Lojan, Evelyn C.		General (1.0)	W-266
Longmire, Giannina		Transportation (7.1.2), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.1.1)	W-219
Lopez, Elias		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-227
Lopez, Jose		General (1.0)	S-1
Lopez, Ramon & Maria		General (1.0)	W-93

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Lopez, Ronald		General (1.0)	S-1
Lopez, Sandra		General (1.0)	S-1
Lopez, T. R.		General (1.0)	W-351
Lord, Mike D.		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-165
Loske, Nancy J.	***************************************	General (1.0)	S-1
Loures, James J.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Loures, Patricia G.		General (1.0)	S-1
Love, Michael C.	McDonald's Office	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lovejoy, Frank W., Jr. (Mrs.)		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lovell, Ruth		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Lovett, Anne R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lovett, Barbara E.		General (1.0)	S-1
Lovett, Richard N.		General (1.0)	S-1
Lozada Family		Noise (10.0)	W-95
Lubel, Howard		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-85
Lucas, Ken	Congress of the United	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise	W-459
,	States	(10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	
Lucca, Mary		General (1.0)	W-278
Luck, Patricia A.		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-608
Luczyk, Christopher		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Luders, Gabriele		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lueras, Benito L.		General (1.0)	S-1
Lumbly, Joy Roselyn		General (1.0)	O-162
Lundberg, Patsy		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0)	W-267
Lupin, Pearl S.		Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-168
Lupino, James		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lusby, Karelle		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Lutenegger, Brian		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Lyle, Marcal & Cynthia	-	Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-180
Lyons, Adell		General (1.0)	S-1
Lyons, Iva	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
MacDonald, Jessica		General (1.0)	S-1
MacDonald, Johnny		Alternatives (4.0)	S-1
Machado, Jeronimo & Nydia		General (1.0)	W-266
Macia, Joaquin R.		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0)	W-285
Macia, Silvia	University of Miami	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
MacKinney, Nada L.		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-326, W-333
MacLean, John R. & Ann		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
MacMahon, T. Fergus		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Magaldi, Michael & Diane		General (1.0)	W-77
Mager, Andreas, Jr.	U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmos- pheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service	Water Resources (15.2.11), Biological Resources (16.1.1, 16.2.8, 16.4.2, 16.7.1)	W-453
Magnani, Nancy D.		General (1.0)	S-1
Magrate, Cecelia	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Maguire, Joseph P.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-193
Mahaffey, Elizabeth	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-38
Mahurin, Ann & Jack	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Malcer, Edward		General (1.0)	O-118
Malinovsky, Alexandra	·	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-130, W-155
Mallard, Barbara		General (1.0)	S-1
Mallard, Georgia		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	O-151,
		(15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-210
Malo, Raymond J.	Coca-Cola Enterprises, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Maloney, Ken & Julie		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-239
Maly, Scott F. & Kristine M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Mancini, Robert		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Mandler, Harris		Alternatives (4.0)	S-1
Mangle, Irene		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Mann, Dorothy S.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-292
Mann, Gertrude		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-15, S-3
Mann, Pauline K.		General (1.0)	W-451
Mann, Sheldon		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-15
Manos, Kurt	\$	General (1.0)	S-1
Mantero, LeAnne		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Marasa, Helen	<del> </del>	General (1.0)	S-1
Marchese, Joseph		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Marchman, Ray E., Jr.	Northern Trust of	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	S-3, S-4
,,,	Florida Corporation	(15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	
Marciniak, Aimee		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Marewski, Gabriele		General (1.0)	W-334
Margolin, Mary June		Content and Methodology (5.0), Noise (10.0)	W-154
Marinau, Denise	***************************************	Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-592
Marino, Paul A.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-3
Marks, Antonio C. & Constance R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-295

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-51 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Markunas, Paul		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-380
Marlow, Darlene C.		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-240
Marmolejo, Rosemarie		General (1.0)	S-1
Marquez, Monica		General (1.0)	S-1
Marsh, Teresa H.		General (1.0)	W-199
Marshall, Charlotte	1	General (1.0)	S-1
Marshall, James L.		Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	O-91, W-36
Marshall, John Arthur	Arthur R. Marshall Foundation & The Florida Environmental Institute, Inc.	General (1.0)	W-220
Marsil, Joanne		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-43
Martin, Andrew		General (1.0), Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-69, W-231, W-415
Martin, Antonio J.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Content and Methodology (5.3.10), Socioeconomics (6.0), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	O-107, W-291
Martin, Carlton J.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-572
Martin, George		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Martin, J. Craig	J. Craig Martin, M.D., Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Martin, Kathleen R.		General (1.0)	S-1
Martin, Melissa Lynn		Alternatives (4.0)	W-76
Martin, Sharon	J. Craig Martin, M.D., Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Martin, Walter J.		General (1.0)	S-1
Martin, William A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Martinez, Delia N.		General (1.0)	S-1
Martinez, Fila	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	General (1.0)	S-1
Martinez, Grizel		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-586
Martinez, Ken		Socioeconomics (6.1.5)	O-26
Martinez, Nelly		General (1.0)	W-350
Martinez, Raul, Mayor	City of Hialeah	Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-9, W-31
Martinez, Rey		Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.4.4)	O-132
Massaline, Ola B.		SEIS Process (2.2.1)	O-16
Massey, John R.		General (1.0)	W-272
Massey, Lieneke C. (Mrs.)		Alternatives (4.2.18, 4.2.22), Socioeconomics (6.1.13, 6.1.37, 6.3.4), Utilities (8.0.2), Water Resources (15.2.1), Biological Resources (16.5.5, 16.5.7, 16.5.9)	W-366

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Massey, Paula		General (1.0)	W-274
Massim		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Mast, Alfred B.	Mast & Moyer Insurance	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Masters, Donna		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Mastorkis, Kim		Noise (10.0)	S-1, S-2
Mastrangelo, Joseph & Delores	•	General (1.0)	W-97
Matamoros, Griselda		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-584
Matamoros, Rosa	·	Transportation (7.0)	W-272
Mathis, Marvin A. & Cathie		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Matla, Solange		General (1.0)	W-200
Matthews, Janet Snyder	Florida Department of State	Cultural Resources (17.0)	W-372
Matuicuio, Dion V.		General (1.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-354
Matz, Lori		General (1.0)	S-1
Mauck, Bobette		Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	O-73
Maurice, Carol D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Maurin, M. S.		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-290
May, Janice		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-607
Mayberry, Doug	Real Estate Company of Key West, Inc.	Alternatives (4.0)	W-599
Mayer, David	Florida Department of Environmental Protection	Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.8.3), Noise (10.5.1), Air Quality (13.2.1), Water Resources (15.4.1)	W-403
Mayer, Lisa K.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Mayorga, Shannon		Air Quality (13.2.1)	W-383
Mazzagatti, Cora		Alternatives (4.2.35), Airspace and Safety (9.4.2)	W-134
McAllister, D. Edward & Constance C.	FBF Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McArdle, John	Alternatives Research & Development Foundation	General (1.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-162
McCabe, Morgan		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-209
McCafferty, David		Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.3.3)	W-295
McCann, Claire A.		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-246
McCann, Laurence D.		General (1.0)	W-10
McCann, Linda		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-264
McCarron, Diane		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McCarthy, Daniel D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-53 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
McCarthy, F. J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
McCarthy, Martha D.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
McCarthy, Steven & Rosalie		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-287
McCliney, Becky		General (1.0)	S-1
McCliney, Jon M.		General (1.0)	S-1
McClure, J. Warren		General (1.0)	W-144
McClure, Lois H.		Alternatives (4.0)	W-106
McCollum, John J. & Mary F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McCraw-Mungul, Jane		General (1.0)	S-1
McCreary, Bill		Socioeconomics (6.4.1)	W-124
McCue, Nancy		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-5
McDermott, A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-317
McDermott, Marion		General (1.0)	S-1
McDevitt, Erin E.		General (1.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-307
McDonald, J. Gordon		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
McDonnell, Sue		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-339
McDowell, Anne M. & Spicer R. C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McEachern, Joel B.	Natural Light Photography	General (1.0)	W-89
McGarty, Margaret		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-360
McGee, Michael & Rosemarie		General (1.0)	S-1
McGinley, William J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McGinty, Douglas T.		Noise (10.2.1), Water Resources (15.4.1), Secondary Development (20.0.3)	
McGrady, Chuck	Sierra Club South Florida/Everglades Office	Alternatives (4.2.15), Socioeconomics (6.1.28), Water Resources (15.1.4), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.1)	W-569
McGrath, Marcela		Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-159
McGrath, S.		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-116
McGrath, Shannon Anne		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
McGriff, Lee, III		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
McGuire, Helen L.		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-363
McGunagle, Carol	<del> </del>	Alternatives (4.2.15)	W-291

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
McHugh, William L.,	McHugh & Associates	General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives	O-69,
Jr.		(4.0), Base Realignment Process and Property	O-119,
		Disposal (25.0)	O-170,
			W-369
McIntosh, Douglas M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McIntyre, Alan D.		General (1.0), Content and Methodology (5.0), Noise (10.0)	W-160
McKenry, Carl E. B.		Purpose and Need (3.1.2), Content and Methodology	O-121,
		(5.5.1), Airspace and Safety (9.1.5), Noise (10.7.4),	W-544
		Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum	
		Products (12.2.7), Mitigation Measures (22.0.7)	ļ
McKenzie, Lynn M.		Noise (10.0)	W-126,
			W-126
McKeon, Maureen	\$	General (1.0)	W-324
McKinney, Shanika		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0),	S-5
		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0),	
		Biological Resources (16.0)	ļ
McLean, F. Evelyn		General (1.0)	W-10
McMaster, James	Coconut Grove Civic	General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and	O-104
	Club	Aesthetics (11.0)	
McMurray, Maria		General (1.0)	S-1
McNulty, Bill &		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality	W-127
Rosemary		(13.0)	ļ
McQueen, W. F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McQuillan, Margie &		Noise (10.2.1), Water Resources (15.4.1), Secondary	W-164
Joey		Development (20.0.3), South Florida Ecosystem	
		Restoration (24.0.1)	<u> </u>
McRoberts, Helene		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
McSweeny, Constance		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-175
McSweeny, Edward S.		SEIS Process (2.3.1), Content and Methodology	W-367
		(5.8.1), Socioeconomics (6.2.5), Biological	
		Resources (16.1.3, 16.2.7, 16.5.6), Secondary	
	<u> </u>	Development (20.0.5)	
McUsic, James M.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources	W-608
		(16.0), Base Realignment Process and Property	
		Disposal (25.0)	<u> </u>
Mead, Julie		General (1.0)	W-314
Meadows, Billy		General (1.0)	W-200, S-1
Medina, Evelio		General (1.0)	O-125, S-1
Medrano-Carbo, Ignacio		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-154
Meegan, D.		General (1.0)	S-1
Mejia, Mavia		General (1.0)	S-1
Mejides, Yvonne	Elfin Acres Organic	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.2.13), Airspace and	W-244
<b>,</b>	Farm	Safety (9.4.1, 9.4.4)	
Melcon, Darlene		General (1.0)	W-89
Mellerson, Patricia	•	Socioeconomics (6.1.21), Base Realignment Process	W-159
•		and Property Disposal (25.5.2, 25.5.4)	

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-55 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Mellinger, David K.		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-82
Melo, Egidio		General (1.0)	W-254
Mendall, Edward		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Mendel, Kelly		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Mendel, Nancy W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Mendiola, Danielle		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-98
Mendoza, Santiago		General (1.0)	S-1
Menejia, Jessica		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Menendez, Jose A.		General (1.0)	W-170
Mennin, Maggie		General (1.0)	S-1
Meredith, W. B. & Mary W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Merida, Jorge		General (1.0)	O-172
Meridith, Adam		General (1.0)	W-261
Merkel, Robert G.	Adams, Coogler, Watson, Merkel, Barry & Kellner, P.A.	Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-134
Merrigan, John		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-21
Merritt, Mark	·	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-263, S-5
Mesa, Blanca		General (1.1.2, 1.1.4), SEIS Process (2.2.6, 2.2.8, 2.2.9, 2.2.10, 2.2.17), Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.2.18, 4.2.24), Content and Methodology (5.3.7, 5.5.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.26), Airspace and Safety (9.3.7), Noise (10.2.13, 10.5.3, 10.5.10, 10.5.11), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.3, 11.3.1), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.6), Water Resources (15.1.4, 15.2.2), Buffer Area (21.0.3), Mitigation Measures (22.0.2)	
Mesa, Candida		General (1.0)	O-118
Messio, Ruth		Content and Methodology (5.2.4)	W-139
Meyer, Ed		Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.2.45)	O-63
Meyer, Nancy A.		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0)	W-99
Michel, Coky		General (1.0), Noise (10.0)	W-304
Michelena, Richard		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-108
Miehe, Anne M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Miehe, John		Airspace and Safety (9.3.2, 9.3.3)	O-72
Miles, S. R. Mill, N.		Alternatives (4.0) General (1.0)	S-4 W-157

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-56 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Millan, Natacha Seijas	Miami-Dade County Board of Commissioners	Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0)	O-11, O-142
Miller, Bonnie		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-302
Miller, Clare G.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Miller, Connie		General (1.0)	W-90
Miller, Eleanor		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-184
Miller, Helen L.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-161, S-1
Miller, Irwin B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Miller, Isabelle F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Miller, Jeffrey P.	***************************************	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Miller, Joe R.	Department of the Army, Jacksonville District Corps of Engineers	South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.2)	W-540
Miller, Klara		General (1.0)	W-176
Miller, Lloyd E.	Izaak Walton League of America, Inc.	SEIS Process (2.3.1, 2.3.2), Alternatives (4.2.18, 4.2.22, 4.2.27, 4.2.35, 4.2.49), Socioeconomics (6.1.3), Airspace and Safety (9.2.5), Noise (10.1.1, 10.4.16, 10.5.1, 10.5.10), Air Quality (13.4.1, 13.4.2), Biological Resources (16.2.13)	W-37, W-202, W-203
Miller, Patsy R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Miller, Richard B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Miller, Susana & Todd		General (1.0)	W-309
Miner, Anthony R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Miner, Rhoda & Bert		General (1.0)	W-130
Minkus, Jules		Socioeconomics (6.0), Water Resources (15.0)	O-104
Minore, John		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Water Resources (15.0)	O-59
Misdeiros, M.		General (1.0)	W-39
Mishael, Alan I.		Transportation (7.0)	W-83
Mitchell, Kenneth		General (1.0)	S-1
Mitchell, Olivia		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-212
Mitchell, Richard	THE PROPERTY OF THE PROPERTY O	SEIS Process (2.3.2), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.1)	W-380
Mochalski, Michelle		General (1.0)	W-357
Mojica, Gilberto E.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Mojica, Regina		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Molko, Bob		General (1.0)	S-1
Monaco, Mary & Tom		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Moninger, Jarod G.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-57

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Monochelli, Bobby		General (1.0)	S-1
	Monroe County Board of County Commissioners	SEIS Process (2.2.6)	W-66
Monroe, Charles		General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-91
Monroe, Ralph		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Monsivais, Gabriel		General (1.0)	S-1
Monson, Frances W.		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-378, W-597
Montague, Mary Lou		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Montalto, Stephen		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-589
Montañez, William		General (1.0)	W-361
Monternoso, Thelma		General (1.0)	S-1
Montes, Fernando		General (1.0)	W-106
Montgomerie, Bruce M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Montgomery, Constance		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Montgomery, Sara		Noise (10.5.1, 10.5.5)	W-325
Montorro, Eduardo		General (1.0)	S-1
Moore, Don		General (1.0)	S-1
Moore, Madeline		General (1.0)	S-1
Moore, Melissa		General (1.0)	S-1
Moore, Ralph E.	Community Council #15	General (1.0)	O-27
Moore, Theresa		General (1.0)	S-1
Moore, Tracy		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	S-4
Moose, Lisa		General (1.0)	S-1
Mora, Carlos		General (1.0)	O-97
Mora, James		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Moraguez, Gaile		General (1.0)	S-1
Morales, Rene		General (1.0)	W-251
Morales-Giron, Ruth		Water Resources (15.0)	O-109
Moran, Trisha	Keys Academy of Marine Science	Noise (10.0)	O-34
Moreau, D. A.		General (1.0)	W-215
Morely, Annette		General (1.0)	W-138
Moreno, Al		Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0)	W-350
Moreno, Nancy A.		General (1.0)	O-135
Moreton, Juan		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Morgan, Robert C. & Denise C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-196
Morira, Jorge A.		General (1.0)	W-50

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Morris, Allen I.	Allen Development Corporation	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Morris, Max, Jr.	•	Transportation (7.0)	W-234
Morrison, Leslie Ann		SEIS Process (2.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-197
Morrison, Marilee R.		General (1.0)	S-1
Moses, Elizabeth C.	Federal Employee Benefits Service	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Moss, Dennis C.	Miami-Dade County Board of Commissioners	General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-13
Moss, Evelyn & Murray		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-87
Moss, Ken (Mr. & Mrs.)		Biological Resources (16.0)	W <b>-</b> 594
Moss, Nicholas		Purpose and Need (3.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-580
Motes, Alice		Content and Methodology (5.3.8)	O-86
Motes, Bartholomew		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	O-39, W-260
Motes, Martin R.	Redland Professional Orchid Growers Inc.	Alternatives (4.2.14), Socioeconomics (6.1.23), Transportation (7.1.1), Airspace and Safety (9.2.2), Noise (10.3.8), Secondary Development (20.0.4)	O-49
Motes, Mary		General (1.0)	O-37
Motla, Solange		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-331
Mowery, Kimberly		Noise (10.0)	W-265
Mucci, Dave J.		General (1.0)	S-1
Muensterer, Horst F.		Alternatives (4.0)	W-207
Mulhern, Paul J.		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-51, W-107
Mullray, Eileen		Noise (10.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-1
Multach, David & Roberta		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-165
Muniz, Christopher Stewart		Noise (10.0)	W-213
Muñoz, Jose L.		General (1.0)	W-194
Munroe, Charles P.		Biological Resources (16.0)	O-157, W-608
Munson, Mary	Defenders of Wildlife	Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Airspace and Safety (9.1.4), Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.10, 10.5.11), Air Quality (13.1.6, 13.2.1)	W-366
Murdough, Thomas G., Jr.	The Step2 Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Murphy, Harlene		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-72, W-593
Murphy, Kathleen		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-321

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Murphy, Kathleen T.	Jugo & Murphy	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-187
Murphy, Mike & Barb		General (1.0)	W-125
Murphy-Gibb, Dwina	***************************************	Content and Methodology (5.2.5)	W-431
Murray, Betty L.		General (1.0)	S-1
Murray, Daniel		General (1.0)	W-300
Murray, Irene		General (1.0)	O-73
Murray, Joanna P.		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-142
Murray, Michele		General (1.0)	W-122
Music, Eileen A.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-602
Muth, Michael D.	Muth Mirror Systems	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Myers-Weine, Anne		Noise (10.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-303
Nagengast, Joe		Noise (10.0)	O-99
Nagle, Gwendolyn M.	,	Noise (10.0)	W-172
Nall, James		Purpose and Need (3.0), Transportation (7.0), Water	O-55,
		Resources (15.0)	W-226
Nance, Gordon Tracy		General (1.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0)	O-130
Nania, Margaret & John		General (1.0)	W-234
Naranjo, Alvaro		General (1.0)	S-1
Narbin, Kenneth		General (1.0)	W-81
Nardiello, Andrew K.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Naumann, William C.	Hatteras Yachts, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Navarro, Bernie		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0)	O-63
Navarro, Carlos		Alternatives (4.0)	W-600
Navarro, Jaime		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Neal, Leslie		SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-149
Nebel, Jodi		General (1.0)	S-1
Nebra, Joyce		General (1.0)	W-415
Negri, Gayle		General (1.0)	W-75
Neji, Ramzy		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-586
Nellen, Lynn		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Nelson, Eric B.		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-222
Nelson, Erland		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Nelson, Joanne E.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Nelson, Mary D.		General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2, S-4
Nelson, Mindy	University of Miami Marine Science Program	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.26, 6.1.27), Biological Resources (16.5.7)	W-230
Nelson, Murray E.		General (1.0), Content and Methodology (5.3.5), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-347 S-2, S-4
Nero, Frank R.	Beacon Council	Alternatives (4.2.20, 4.2.21), Socioeconomics (6.1.16, 6.1.30)	O-28, W-22
Neuleauchner, Marcos		General (1.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Neustein, Monroe L.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-599
Neville, John F.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-609
Neway, Roberta		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-324
Newberry, Precious		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Newell, Shelley & Terry		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-167, W-526
Newman, Joyce		SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-281
Newman, Rae S.		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-41, W-38
Nickerson, Fred	Upper Keys Citizens Association	Content and Methodology (5.2.4), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-318, S-2
Nicolle, Sean		Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-585
Nina, Annette		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Niswander, Ruth		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-97, W-278, W-575, W-612
Nixon, C. H.		General (1.0)	S-1
Noa, Arsenio		General (1.0)	W-350
Noble, Carlos	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Noble, Georgia		General (1.0)	S-1
Noble, Linda		Water Resources (15.0)	W-112
Noel, Malikah		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Nolan, Maureen A.		General (1.0)	W-127
Norhe, Barbara		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Norman, Colgan (Mrs.)		General (1.0)	W-76
Normandia, Pam		General (1.0)	S-1
Normandia, Sam	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Norris, Charles A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Notrika, Mindi	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	Air Quality (13.0)	W-155, S-1
Nouts, Livia		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Novak, Rodney		General (1.0)	S-1
Nowell, Alan		Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-41, W-57
Noyer, Denyse		General (1.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Noyes, Bradley & Gail		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-532
Nuti-de Biasi, Alex		General (1.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-384
Oakman, Diane		Biological Resources (16.6.3)	W-98
Oale, Charlie		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-261
Obermann, Joyce		General (1.0)	W-192
O'Brien, Sheila		Alternatives (4.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-351
O'Brien, Stephen, Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-195
Ocasio, Monica		General (1.0)	S-1
O'Connell, Colleen		General (1.0)	W-605
O'Connor, Edward A., Jr.	Spaceport Florida Authority	Alternatives (4.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-540
Ogden, Madeline		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-280
Ognan, G.		General (1.0)	W-256
Olefson, Andrew		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Olefson, Jessica		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Olinger, Lisa		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-298
Olivera, Kristy		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Olrich, Holly		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-259
Olsen, Frank		General (1.0)	W-127
Olson, Marc		General (1.0)	W-607
Oncavage, Mark		SEIS Process (2.2.18), Airspace and Safety (9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.3.6, 9.4.1, 9.4.2, 9.4.3, 9.4.5, 9.4.6, 9.4.7, 9.4.8, 9.4.9)	W-543
O'Neal, Denny		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-229
O'Neal, Kevin		General (1.0)	S-1
Opferkuch, Helen	an a	Air Quality (13.0)	W-169, W-571
Oppenheimer, Miriam		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-127, W-51
O'Reilly, Gerald		Water Resources (15.0)	W-5
O'Reilly, Gerald P.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ortega, Samuel		General (1.0)	O-74
Orth, Jimmy		General (1.0)	W-121
	Double Eagle Distributing, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Ortiz, Manuel		General (1.0)	O-157
Osaba, Jiberty E.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Osborne, Tom & Eve		Alternatives (4.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise	W-345,
		(10.0)	W-566
Oseda, Zoravada		General (1.0)	W-274
Ostrer, Allison		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Oswald, Cheryl, Lauren & Ronald		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-358
Otero, Daniel		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-582
Ott, Robert O.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ott, William		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Otto, Patricia		Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-107
Otzen, Karl G. & Lucy T.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Outerbridge, Ingrid C. & Erik		General (1.0)	S-1
Outerbridge, Margaret		General (1.0)	S-1
Outerbridge, Peter		General (1.0)	S-1
Outumuro, Christine	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Owens, Amy		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-608
Owens, Bill		General (1.0)	W-127
Pabmona, Iesha		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Pace, Phillip Darren		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-294, W-607
Padrón, Luis		SEIS Process (2.2.4), Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-90, W-4
Padron, Melba		General (1.0)	S-1
Page, Carole & Chris		SEIS Process (2.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-356
Pagenkopf, Kris		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Palacios, Rafael R.	R. Palacios & Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Palazuelos-Jonckheere, Mary		Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0)	W-346
Palenchar, John		Transportation (7.1.4)	W-361
Palma, Ana M.		General (1.0)	O-30, O-106, O-170
Palmer, Heather	Horizon Enterprises Group	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Papazian, Maria del Carmen	<b></b>	Transportation (7.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-132
Parcher, Robert	City of Miami Beach	Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-565

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-63

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Parekh, Avni		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-577
Parham, Elizabeth S.		General (1.0)	S-1
Parham, Paul		General (1.0)	S-1
Parhm, Joleo		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-212
Paris, Pura		General (1.0)	S-1
Parker, DeJohn H.		General (1.0)	S-1
Parker, Janet		Noise (10.0)	W-308
Parker, Karen Jo		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-283
Parker, Margaret A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Parker, Raymond C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Patchen, P. N.	Gilson Engineering Sales, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Patel, Nick		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Patrice, Nadine C.	Operation Green Leaves	General (1.0)	O-157
Patterson, Barry		Air Quality (13.4.1), SEIS Process (2.2.6), Socioeconomics (6.1.3)	O-82
Patterson, Jill		SEIS Process (2.2.6), Content and Methodology (5.2.2, 5.2.3), Airspace and Safety (9.1.3), Biological Resources (16.4.3)	O-84
Patterson, Pamela		General (1.0)	S-1
Patterson, Shawn	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Patterson, William		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-134
Pattison, Charles G.	1000 Friends of Florida		W-335
Paul, Michael, Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-604
Payan, Nadia		Purpose and Need (3.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-580
Payne, Kathleen	***************************************	General (1.0)	S-1
Payne, Robert E.		General (1.0)	S-1
Peacock, Marjorie		General (1.0)	S-1
Peacock, Patrick		General (1.0)	S-1
Pearcy, William		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-276
Pearson, Jerry		General (1.0)	W-235
Pearson, Mary Shields		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Pearson, Paul		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-17
Pearson, Ralph	***************************************	General (1.0)	O-86
Pedersen, William W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Peerson, Eve	922	Airspace and Safety (9.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-192
Pelen, M.	***************************************	General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Peña, Alexander	<b>4</b>	General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Pena, Alice		Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-88

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Penedo, Nestor		General (1.0)	O-115
Penelas, Alex, Mayor	Miami-Dade County	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	O-7
Pepper, Jacqueline V.	Community Council #14	SEIS Process (2.2.14, 2.2.15), Alternatives (4.2.24, 4.2.25), Content and Methodology (5.2.1)	W-387
Perema, Juan Carlos		SEIS Process (2.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	S-3
Perez, Darien		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-215
Perez, Esteban		General (1.0)	W-362
Perez, Joe		Noise (10.0)	W-106
Perez, Luis A.		Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-152
Perie, Lorne		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Perkins, Charles D.		General (1.0)	S-1
Perkins, Jerry & Jeanne		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Perkins, Jessica		General (1.0)	S-1
Perkins, Joseph		General (1.0)	S-1
Perkins, Raymond N.		General (1.0)	S-1
Perricelli, Claire S.		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-298
Perry, Marvin J.	Marvin J. Perry & Associates	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Pershing, Sandra S.		Airspace and Safety (9.4.1)	W-152
Peruer, Mary Frances		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Peterman, Audrey	Earthwise Productions, Inc.	General (1.0)	O-155
Peters, Carol S. & William A.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0)	W-246
Peterson, Andrew & Ellen		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Peterson, Anna L.	Wesleyan University	General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-379
Peterson, Bonnie		General (1.0)	S-1
Peterson, Eric		General (1.0)	S-4
Peterson, Kimberly		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Peterson, Larry		General (1.0)	W-65
Peterson, Marjorie		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Peterson, Myrtle L.		General (1.0)	W-349
Peterson, Sally		General (1.0)	W-117
Petri, Thomas E.	Congress of the United States	General (1.0)	W-182
Pettit, John A.	Miami-Dade Community Council 13	Water Resources (15.0)	O-88
Pflug, Jamie	-	General (1.0)	W-212
Phelan, Jolie		Alternatives (4.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Philipp, Joseph W.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-184
Philips, Betty		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Phillips, B. Calvin & Linda G.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Phillips, Lemetrius		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Phillips, Rosalind		General (1.0)	S-4
Phillips, Roy G.		General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.1.6, 6.1.31), Noise (10.3.6), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.4.4)	O-21, W-31
Phillips, Steven R.	Solutions Management	General (1.0)	W-129
Phillips, Van B. & Mildred L.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Phyfer, Lorie & Jay	•	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Piccolo, Louis & Phyllis		General (1.0)	S-1
Piedra, Kenia		General (1.0)	S-1
Pike, Michael J.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Pike, Virginia M.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	O-27, S-3
Pimental, Fred		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Pineras, Christian		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-584
Pinillos, Edward P.		General (1.0)	S-1
Pino, Michele		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-588
Pinsof, Evelyn S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Pinto, Laura		General (1.0)	S-1
Pinto-Torres, Francisco		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-264, S-3, S-5
Pinuice, Mania		General (1.0)	S-1
Piotrowski, Vicki	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-173
Pirtle, James A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Plocs, Germaine A.		Alternatives (4.8.3), Socioeconomics (6.2.1), Noise (10.1.1, 10.1.6, 10.2.16, 10.2.17, 10.2.18, 10.2.19, 10.7.6)	W-365
Pokorny, Cathryn		Biological Resources (16.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-596
Pollard, Hermine		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0)	W-163
Poltarack, Sanford		General (1.0)	S-1
Pomar, Armando V.	League of United Latin American Citizens	Purpose and Need (3.0), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0)	O-87, W-2
Poole, Grayland		General (1.0)	W-612
Poole, J. Gregory, Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Poole, Richard		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-605

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Pope, Carl	Sierra Club South Florida/Everglades Office	Alternatives (4.2.15), Socioeconomics (6.1.28), Water Resources (15.1.4), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.1)	W-569
Pope, Peck		Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0)	W-149
Portal, Santiago		General (1.0)	O-115, W-255
Porter, Jeff		General (1.0)	W-253
Porter, Lysbeth	***************************************	General (1.0)	W-233
Porter, Roger J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Pospisil, Gina		Transportation (7.0)	W-192
Post, Matthew		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-213
Pou, Armando & Vivian		General (1.0)	W-371
Pouch, Richard C.	,	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Powell, D.		Noise (10.0)	W-166
Powell, Maria & Harold		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-82
Powell, Mary		General (1.0)	W-118
Pratt, Eloise M.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-78
Preio, Madeline		Transportation (7.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-325
Prestegard, Kurt H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Preston, Alexandra		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Price, Lisa C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-72
Price, Lorne H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	W-148, S-4
Price, Natasha		Socioeconomics (6.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-111, W-148, W-148
Prifs, Keith		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Pro, Fernando, Jr.		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-62
Prudhomme, Joseph J.		General (1.0)	W-64
Puccia, Frank		Noise (10.0)	W-193
Pugh, Pamela W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Puglisi, Dorothy		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Puglisi, Lee H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Puig, Ralph, Jr.		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-132
Purcell		Alternatives (4.0)	W-572
Purnell, Archie	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Purrinos, Sergio		General (1.0)	W-123

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-67

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Pyzia, Melissa		Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-329
Quartin, Marie		General (1.0)	S-1
Quartin, Michael		General (1.0)	S-1
Quesada, Olman		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-578
Quinlan, John A.		General (1.0)	W-288
Quinlan, T. Timothy		General (1.0)	S-1
Quinn, Rodney S.		SEIS Process (2.2.11, 2.2.13), Alternatives (4.2.40), Content and Methodology (5.3.4, 5.5.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.21, 6.5.1), Noise (10.1.11, 10.4.4)	W-105, W-179, S-1
Quintana, Beatriz		General (1.0)	O-133
Quintana, Damarie		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-43, O-129, W-554
Quintana, Darcie		Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-74, W-554
Quintana, Rosa		General (1.0)	O-74
Rabin, Mitch	Living Colors Nursery, Inc.	General (1.0)	W-317
Rabin, Patty		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-87
Rader, James B.	Financial Asset Management Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Radford, Darlene		General (1.0)	S-1
Radford, Karen	·	General (1.0)	S-1
Radice, Joseph		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-296
Radice, Judith J.		General (1.0)	W-304
Radice, Paul A.		Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-96
Raeber, Kate		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-263
Ragno, Damien		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-172
Ragno, Fred		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-171
Ragno, Lisa		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-171
Ragucci, Bartholomew D.		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-537, S-3
Rahe, Marlene		General (1.0)	S-1
Rahe, Ronald E.		General (1.0)	S-1
Rahel, Cliff R.	Rahel Corporation	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rahm, Rick		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-104
Raithel, William S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Ramos, Danielle		Noise (10.0)	W-213
Ramos, Maria		General (1.0)	S-1
Rance, Robert & Eileen	***************************************	Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	W-379
		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Rand, Stanley, III	Rand Insurance, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rasco, Ana		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-2
Rasco, Jose Ignacio, Mayor	Key Biscayne	Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-10
Rasco, Ramon E.	Rasco Reininger & Perez P.A.	General (1.3.2), SEIS Process (2.1.4), Alternatives (4.1.2), Noise (10.3.4)	O-164, W-433
Raspiller, Ginger		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-56
Ratajczak, Rebecca R.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-576
Rathson, Colin		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-340
Rauchman, Robert		General (1.0)	S-1
Raven, William F., III	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Ray, Pamela B.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-307
Rayfield, Hilda D.		General (1.0)	S-1
Raymond, John U.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Raz, Katherine		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-284
Read, Alice	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-155
Read, Maureen		General (1.0)	S-1
Reback, Paul D.	Reback Realty, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rebuth, Richard	South Dade Community Council	Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-354
Redding, Takeytha		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Redford, Adam		General (1.0)	O-52
Redondo, Michael		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-587
Reed, Bruce		Content and Methodology (5.3.3)	W-320
Reed, Nathaniel P.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	W-555
Reed, Stuart		Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	
Reed, Suzanne		General (1.0)	W-370
Reeve, H. Robert		Alternatives (4.0)	W-525
Regido, Emma		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-285
Reid, Alexis		Alternatives (4.0)	S-1
Reinhardt, Margaret		General (1.0)	S-1
Reinhardt, Robert H.		General (1.0)	S-1
Reininger, Steve		General (1.0)	W-61
Reiter, Rollin S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-178

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name ·	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Rentschler, Dennis		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-269
Replogle, Joan		General (1.0)	W-223, W-300
Repplier, Banning & Libby		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-200
Ress, Lawrence		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	O-122, W-50
Reyes, Jaime	Community Council #15	Content and Methodology (5.3.11)	O-94
Reyes, Shelby		General (1.0)	O-94
Reynolds, Margaret B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Reynolds, Thomas M.	Congress of the United States	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0),	W-465
Rhoads, William, Jr.		Biological Resources (16.0)  General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-298
Rhodes, Fred		SEIS Process (2.0). Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-106, W-180
Rice, Suzette	Station 4 Citizen Advisory Committee	Socioeconomics (6.1.9)	O-99
Rich, Michael P.	READCO	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Richard, Gina		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Richards, Gilbert	Richards Industries	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Richards, Mary D.		Noisé (10.0)	W-12
Richards, Mavis	<u> </u>	Noise (10.3.9)	O-59
Richardson, Andrew S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Richardson, Betty B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Richardson, Michael E.	First National Bank of Homestead	General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.2.2), Alternatives (4.1.3, 4.2.2, 4.3.1), Content and Methodology (5.6.2), Socioeconomics (6.1.7), Transportation (7.2.2), Airspace and Safety (9.2.6, 9.3.5), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.1, 11.2.4, 11.2.5), Water Resources (15.10.7), Buffer Area (21.0.7), Mitigation Measures (22.0.1), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.1.3, 25.2.1)	O-24, W-108
Ricker, Peter E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ridolf, William R.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-167, W-576
Riff, Mark		General (1.0)	O-33
Riggin, Doris		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Riggs, Juliette G.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Riley, Neill		General (1.0)	W-216

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-70 Final SEIS

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Riley, Vina R.		General (1.0)	W-309
Riley, Will		General (1.0)	W-308
Riley, William	I.B.E.W. Local Union 349	General (1.0)	O-28, O-171
Ring, Richard	Everglades National Park	Noise (10.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	O-18
Rios, Gwenn	1 6111	Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0)	W-175
Ripich, Robert & Catherine		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Risden, Michael		Alternatives (4.0)	W-87
Risof, Patricia		General (1.0)	S-1
Rist, Karsten A.	Tropical Audubon Society, Inc.	Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.50), Content and Methodology (5.4.1), Air Quality (13.4.1)	O-57
Ritz, David C.	Ocean Reef Community Association	Transportation (7.2.1), Airspace and Safety (9.3.2), Noise (10.1.1, 10.1.8, 10.1.9, 10.1.10, 10.1.12, 10.2.2, 10.2.3, 10.2.9, 10.2.14, 10.3.13, 10.4.3, 10.4.5, 10.4.6, 10.4.7, 10.4.8, 10.4.9, 10.4.10, 10.4.14, 10.4.15, 10.5.9, 10.7.5, 10.7.8, 10.7.9), Water Resources (15.2.4, 15.3.3, 15.4.4, 15.5.4, 15.7.5, 15.7.13, 15.10.3, 15.10.5), Biological Resources (16.2.12, 16.3.4), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-19, W-110, W-412
Rivadeneira, Diego		SEIS Process (2.0), Transportation (7.0)	W-16
Rivadeneira, Juan C.		General (1.0)	W-15
Rivera, Aida		General (1.0)	S-1
Rivera, Ernesto		General (1.0)	W-249
Riverci, Jennifer		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Rivero, Luisa M.		General (1.0)	O-148
Roark, Sean P.		General (1.0)	S-1
Robaina, Julio, Mayor	City of South Miami	Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-566
Robbins, Charles		General (1.0)	W-64
Robbins, Patricia Roberts, Maria E.	Farm Share, Inc.	General (1.0)  Airspace and Safety (9.4.1), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.2), Biological Resources (16.2.15)	O-23 W-369
Roberts, Melanie	***************************************	General (1.0)	W-612
Robertson, Martin K.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Robie, Richard S., Jr.	Robie Properties LLC	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Robinson, Candis	·	Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-300
Robinson Family		Alternatives (4.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-363
Robinson, James H., Jr.		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-298
Robinson, Ken & Joan		Noise (10.0)	W-252

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-71

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Robinson, Michael		Biological Resources (16.5.1, 16.5.2)	O-147
Robinson, Michael	University of Miami Marine Science Program	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.26, 6.1.27), Biological Resources (16.5.7)	W-230
Robinson, Richard B.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-179
Robinson, Sidney		SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-34
Robulock, Nicholas		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-136, W-56
Rocha, Cynthia		SEIS Process (2.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	S-3
Rocha, Harvey		General (1.0)	W-362
Rock, George		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Rockowitz, Barbara		General (1.0)	S-1
Rodriguez, A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Rodriguez, Arbey		General (1.0)	W-250
Rodriguez, Cesar		General (1.0)	W-64
Rodriguez, Chris		General (1.0)	S-1
Rodriguez, Clemente		SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0)	O-124
Rodriguez, Crissy E.		General (1.0)	W-554
Rodriguez, Felix		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Base	O-30,
		Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	O-167
Rodriguez, Francica		General (1.0)	O-129
Rodriguez, Lisette		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-585
Rodriguez, Lourdes	Manuel Diaz Farms, Inc.	General (1.0)	W-18
Rodriguez, S.		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Roedema, Charles E.		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-135
Roedema, Margaret		General (1.0)	W-161
Rogers, Florence & David		General (1.0)	S-1
Rohan, Lynn		General (1.0)	S-1
Rohan, Nancy F. & Neil J.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Roitman, Lina		General (1.0)	S-1
Rolph, Frank M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Romain-Julien, Guay		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-584
Roman, Alfred M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Romanowski, Scott		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Romero, Jose, III		Noise (10.3.11)	O-96
Romero, Jose Manuel, Jr.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-40, O-64, O-106, O-118
Romero, Jose Ray		General (1.0)	O-52, O-171

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Romero, Julie R.	MCR Lumber	Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-158
Romero, Linda		General (1.0)	W-191
Romine, Joseph & Janet		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0),	W-247
H.		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Romney, Dave	diameter and the second se	Noise (10.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-126
Rooch, Cheryl		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Roon, Donald		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rosales, Sherry		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-584
Rose, Andrew		Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.2.46, 4.2.52), Noise (10.2.21)	O-29
Rose, Richard W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rose, Samuel G.	***************************************	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rosean, Stephen G., Sr.		General (1.0)	W-66
Rosembert, Kevin		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Rosenberg, Madelon		General (1.0)	S-1
Rosenberg, Ron		General (1.0)	O-158
Rosenberg, Sherry		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-191
Rosendahl, Kay		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-60
Rosepink, Ronald K.	Space Access, LLC	Alternatives (4.2.1), Airspace and Safety (9.3.1), Biological Resources (16.1.5)	W-411
Ross, Janice R. & Scott D.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-285
Rostant, Mabel		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Rotaton, Michelle & Peter		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Rothbart, Michael B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Rothing, Rex	Riviera Village Property Owners Association	Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-14
Roud, Roberta Y.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	S-5
Rousseau, Alice M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rovetto, Robert		General (1.0)	S-1
Rowley, Christy M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Roy, Christopher	Everglades Coalition	Alternatives (4.2.15, 4.2.42), Noise (10.1.3, 10.5.1, 10.5.5), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.5)	O-146
Rozek, Shirley		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-138
Rozen, Ruth		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Rubiera, Irma		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Rudisch, David		Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-42

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Rudisch, David & Mary		Noise (10.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-297
Rudisch, Mary		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-42
Ruiz, Adolfo R.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological	S-2
		Resources (16.0)	
Ruiz, Carlo		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-8
Ruiz, David		General (1.0)	O-1
Ruiz, Elsie J.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological	S-2
		Resources (16.0)	
Ruiz, Johanna		Air Quality (13.0)	W-6
Ruiz, Pablo		Airspace and Safety (9.2.4)	O-89
Runnells, Clive		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Russo, Gerard		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-103
Ryan, Berta		General (1.0)	S-1
Ryan, Bryce F.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0)	W-248
Ryan, Cathy		General (1.0)	W-117
Ryan, Conal D.		Biological Resources (16.4.5)	W-257
Ryder, Eva		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-257
Saavedra, Carrie		General (1.0)	S-1
Sacosa, Reed		General (1.0)	S-1
Saffir, Herbert S.	Herbert Saffir Consulting Engineers	General (1.0)	W-70
Sager, Lilyana	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Saia, Helen Clauder		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Sairol, Cessie		General (1.0)	S-1
Saitts, Karen		General (1.0)	S-1
Salas, Karen E.		SEIS Process (2.0). Purpose and Need (3.0),	O-35,
outus, Iturvii 2.		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.1.4)	O-65,
			O-169
Salas, Roberto		General (1.0)	O-129
Salazar, Maria	······································	General (1.0)	S-1
Saligman, Irene	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Salsich, Patrick		General (1.0), Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-333
Saluja, Lisa		General (1.0)	S-1
Salvador, Yesenier		General (1.0)	S-1
Salzer, Lorne		General (1.0)	S-1
Sammis, Donald		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-573
Samson, Jessica		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0),	S-5
		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	The state of the s
San Pedro, Patricia		General (1.0)	W-176
Sanchez, Clara		General (1.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Sanchez, Ignacio E.		Alternatives (4.4.3, 4.4.8), Content and	O-20,
, 0		Methodology (5.6.2), Hazardous Materials and	O-66,
		Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.7)	O-166
Sanchez, Lorna		General (1.0)	S-1
Sanchez, Roberto		General (1.0)	W-361
Sanford, Elizabeth S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-100, W-528
Sanford, Ellen Monroe		General (1.0)	W-238, S-1
Sangster, Shamika		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-381
Santemma, Jon N.	Santemma and Deutsch, LLP	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Santi, Vincenzo		General (1.0)	S-1
Santiago, Alison		General (1.0)	S-1
Santizo, Maria	<b>\$</b>	General (1.0)	W-56
Santizo, Mario		SEIS Process (2.2.16), Alternatives (4.2.14), Airspace and Safety (9.3.2, 9.3.3, 9.4.1), Noise (10.4.11, 10.7.3), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.6), Biological Resources (16.2.14)	O-54, W-346
Santovenia, Theresa	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	O-3
Sapp, Shirley		General (1.0)	S-1
Sapp, Steve	Dade County Farm Bureau	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-33
Sarsich, Maritza B.		General (1.0)	S-1
Sastre, Luis R., Jr.		General (1.0)	W-50
Saul, Perry		General (1.0)	S-1
Savabria, George M.		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-330
Savage, Thomas W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Savard, Edward		General (1.0)	S-1
Savard, Jeanne		General (1.0)	S-1
Savett, Adam T.		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-270
Sawyer, Sherri		General (1.0)	S-1
Saxon, Thryn		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-276
Saylor, Nancy J.		Alternatives (4.6.1)	W-44
Scarbro, Maggie	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Schaad, John	Schaad Properties	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Schaad, Louis E.	<b>1</b>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Schachter, Mary F.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Schattenburg, Bruce & Jennifer	The Sacks Group	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Scherf, Brian	Florida Biodiversity Project	Purpose and Need (3.1.1, 3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.18, 4.2.30, 4.2.53, 4.2.55, 4.8.3), Noise (10.2.6, 10.2.8, 10.5.1, 10.5.2, 10.5.4), Air Quality (13.2.1), Biological Resources (16.3.3), DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.4), Secondary Development (20.0.1), Mitigation Measures (22.0.5), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.4.1, 25.4.2, 25.4.3)	O-103, W-389
Schiavone, Jean R.		Noise (10.0)	W-113
Schiavone, Ronald		General (1.0)	W-114
Schleider, Diane	<u> </u>	General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Schlelib, Samuel		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Schmidt, Jill	•	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-590
Schneider, Danielle		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-587
Schneider, Erik		General (1.0)	S-1
Schneider, Rebekka	***************************************	Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-583
Schneider, Stanley A.	Schneider Communications	General (1.0)	W-163
Schnoor, Dean F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-184
Schoendorfer, George		SEIS Process (2.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-157
Schoenwiesner, Victoria	Westview Middle School	General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-388
Schonhoff, Jeff		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-282
Schreiber, Alicia M.		General (1.3.3), SEIS Process (2.2.2), Alternatives (4.4.7), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.10)	O-62, W-55
Schuenzel, Christine A.		Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-233
Schuenzel, Ernest C.	***************************************	Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-233
Schulman, Bert		Airspace and Safety (9.0)	W-327
Schulman, Evelyn K.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3, S-4
Schuman, William J.		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-229
Schumer, Doris H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-145, S-3
Schwartz, Lynne		General (1.0)	S-1
Schwartz, Robert		Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-381
Schwartz, Sonia		Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-377
Schwarz, Cheryl		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-161
Schwiep, Paul J.	Aragon, Burlington, Weil & Crockett, P.A.	Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.10), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.4.3)	O-92
Scofield, Douglas G.		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-293
Scott, Clarissa		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-39

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Scott, Eugene		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0),	O-122,
, ,		Alternatives (4.0), Water Resources (15.0),	W-342
		Biological Resources (16.0)	
Scott, Gwladys E.		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and	O-119,
		Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water	W-48,
		Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-303
Scott, Marie		General (1.0)	W-191
Sculthorpe, Anita V.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-177
Sea, Walter E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Seaman, Cynthia		General (1.0)	S-1
Searle, Bernard		General (1.0)	W-574
Sebben, Christina		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-258
Seehousen, M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Seeley, Barbara		General (1.0)	W-377
Seetoo, Sallie		General (1.0)	O-74
Seetoo, Thomas L. & Sallie B.		General (1.0)	W-602
Seibert, Steven M.	Florida Department of Community Affairs	Content and Methodology (5.2.6), Transportation (7.1.2, 7.2.2), Utilities (8.0.1, 8.0.4), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.8, 11.5.1), Water Resources (15.1.4, 15.2.8, 15.6.1), Secondary Development (20.0.5)	W-459
Seifert, Kim & David		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Seifried, Rosemary		Noise (10.0)	W-318
Self, Daniel & Cynthia		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-206
Sellek, Mercedes M.	Rasco & Reininger, P.A.	Alternatives (4.2.11), Noise (10.3.5), Air Quality (13.1.2), Water Resources (15.2.9, 15.7.4)	O-26, O-65, O-170
Sernaker, Margaret A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Serrano, Carmen E.		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-329
Servello, Felix		General (1.0)	W-47
Sesh, Frank P.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Setera, Veronica	<u> </u>	General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Seward, Peter A.		General (1.0)	W-306

I-77 Final SEIS

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>	
Sewell, Bradford H.	Natural Resources Defense Council	SEIS Process (2.1.9), Purpose and Need (3.3.1, 3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.5, 4.2.18, 4.2.22), Content and Methodology (5.1.2, 5.3.3), Socioeconomics (6.1.23, 6.1.24, 6.1.25, 6.2.3, 6.2.4), Airspace and Safety (9.3.9, 9.3.10), Noise (10.1.4, 10.2.4, 10.2.5, 10.2.7, 10.2.9, 10.2.10, 10.2.11, 10.2.12, 10.3.12, 10.5.10), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.4), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.7, 12.2.6, 12.3.5, 12.3.6, 12.3.7), Air Quality (13.1.4, 13.1.5, 13.3.2, 13.3.3, 13.5.1), Water Resources (15.1.6, 15.1.7, 15.2.1, 15.2.2, 15.2.3, 15.2.6, 15.2.7, 15.2.13, 15.3.1, 15.3.2, 15.3.3, 15.3.5, 15.3.6, 15.3.7, 15.4.1, 15.4.2, 15.4.3, 15.4.5, 15.5.4, 15.5.5, 15.5.6, 15.6.2, 15.7.2, 15.7.3, 15.7.5, 15.7.6, 15.7.7, 15.7.18, 15.7.9, 15.7.10, 15.7.11, 15.7.12, 15.7.14, 15.7.16, 15.8.2, 15.10.2, 15.10.4, 15.10.5), Biological Resources (16.2.1, 16.2.2, 16.2.3, 16.2.4, 16.2.5, 16.2.6, 16.2.12), DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.2), Secondary Development (20.0.3), Cumulative Impacts (23.0.2, 23.0.3, 23.0.4), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.1)	O-30, W-466	
Sewell, Joseph G.	Greater New Covenant Missionary Baptist Church	General (1.0)	O-33, S-1	
Sexton, Christine	01101	Secondary Development (20.0)	W-155	
Shannon, Jim		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4	
Shapiro, Peter & Sally		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Shater, Brenda		General (1.0)	S-1	
Shealy, Patricia		General (1.0)	S-1	
Sheffield, Lena	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1	
Shellem, Elaine		General (1.0)	S-1	
Shelton, Heather		General (1.0)	W-272	
Shepard, J.		SEIS Process (2.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0)	W-218	
Shepherd, Joel M.	Shepherd Products Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Sheppard, Jane		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-364	
Sheriff, Mary Ellen		General (1.0)	W-137	
Sherman, Randi Fetner		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Shields, Michael F.	Flat Rock Metal, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Shields, Pete		General (1.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	O-20, W-11	
Shields, Peter &	Flat Rock Metal, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	S-3, S-4	
Margaret	, in the second	(15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)		
Shipley, Robert P.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-609	
Shipley, Shirley & William	Shipley Energy	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Shiver, Steve, Mayor	City of Homestead	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-8
Shmalo, Steve		General (1.0)	S-1
Short, Linda		General (1.0)	S-1
Short, Steven A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Shotmeyer, Elizabeth		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Shumacker, Lloyd J. (Mrs.)		General (1.0)	W-131
Shumway, Frank R., Jr.		Noise (10.0)	W-232
Shumway, Frank R., III	· · ·	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Shumway, Shirley P.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-162, W-162
Shvetz, Paula		General (1.0)	W-283
Siegel, Ellen R.		Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0)	W-10, W-220
Siegel, Steven		Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-59
Siegrist, Toni		Air Quality (13.1.9)	W-283
Sieveking, Phyllis	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Silveira, Kristine		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Silverman, Marc		General (1.0)	S-1
Silvernail, Joyce B.		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-76
Simmons, Betty Jean		General (1.0)	S-1
Simmons, Edward		Noise (10.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-230
Simmons, Lula		General (1.0)	S-1
Simmons, Olga	The second secon	Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-384
Simonhoff, David		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-588
Simpson, Henriette L. & R. Smith		General (1.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-287
Simpson, Kenneth H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Simpson, R.		General (1.0)	W-58
Simpson, Roce H.		General (1.0)	O-162
Sims, Jo Anne		General (1.0)	S-2
Sims, Russell A.		General (1.0)	S-2
Singer, Lee		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Singler, Roxanne		General (1.0)	S-1
Sinto, Jessica P.	1	Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-583
Skelly, Richard F.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-121
Skinner, Renate H.	Florida Department of Environmental Protection	Biological Resources (16.2.12, 16.4.3)	W-371
Skinner, Robert F.	Robert F. Skinner & Associates, Inc.	Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-38
Skove, Ellen H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-79

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Skudder, Elizabeth		SEIS Process (2.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise	W-200
Jayne		(10.0), Base Realignment Process and Property	
		Disposal (25.0)	
Skudder, Paul A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	S-3, S-4
		(15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	
Slaton, C. Wayne	Miami Lakes Civic	General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives	0-11,
~1 IX 7:112	Association	(4.0)	W-563
Slattery, William		General (1.0)	W-66
Sloan, Sharon		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Sloane, Jacob		General (1.0)	W-597
Sloane, Martha		Noise (10.0)	0-71,
01 04 1 50		11 (1 (1 (1 (1 (1 (1 (1 (1 (1 (1 (1 (1 (	O-131
Sloane, Stephen F.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Slotnick, Michael C.		Alternatives (4.0)	0-144
Smillien, Thelma		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0),	S-5
		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0),	
Smith, Alice H.		Biological Resources (16.0)	0 (1 6 1
		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-61, S-1
Smith, Edward H.		General (1.0)	S-1
Smith, Edward W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-7
Smith, Eileen		Noise (10.0)	O-136
Smith, Jay R.		General (1.0)	W-244
Smith, Kathy		General (1.0)	S-1
Smith, Kenneth		Socioeconomics (6.0), Water Resources (15.0)	O-101
Smith, Philip W., III		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Smith, Ralph		General (1.0)	W-323
Smith, Robert H.	The Futures Group	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Smith, Robert L.		General (1.0)	S-1
Smolan, G.		General (1.0)	W-118
Snider, Mary Lou		General (1.0)	W-94
Snipes, Larry		General (1.0)	S-1
Snyder, Faye C.		General (1.0)	W-108
Socha, W. Scott		General (1.0)	O-156
Sokol, Lauren		General (1.0)	S-1
Solis, Tamara		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-588
Sommer, Ken		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-43
Sorenson, Katy	Miami-Dade County Board of Commissioners	Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.8.3), Socioeconomics (6.1.33)	O-12, W-62
Sorenson, Robert C. & Julia R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Sosa, Daniel		General (1.0)	S-1
Sosa, Jovan		General (1.0)	S-1
Southard, Paige		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-215
Souto, A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Souto, Javier	Miami-Dade County Board of Commissioners	General (1.0)	O-114
Sparks, Angela		General (1.0)	S-1
Spellman, Carole J.		General (1.0)	W-70
Spence, Christopher E.	Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Spence, William R., Jr.	Spence Group Services, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Spencer, Bill & Linda		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Spencer, James	The second secon	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Noise (10.4.13, 10.7.8), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.4.2), Air Quality (13.4.1), Biological Resources (16.1.4, 16.2.16, 16.2.17, 16.5.10)	W-404
Spencer, London		Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0)	O-74
Speyer, Jo Beth		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-61
Spikes, Sheteuia		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Spillman, John		General (1.0)	O-158
Spiner, Eitan & Cheryl	-	Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-389
Spohrer, B. F.	Challenge Air Cargo	Alternatives (4.2.31)	W-432
Spoor, T. Richard		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Spotts, Dan		SEIS Process (2.1.3, 2.3.1), Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.2.34), Socioeconomics (6.1.3)	O-154
Spotts, Richard		SEIS Process (2.1.10)	W-78
St. Aubin, Leo F.		General (1.0)	S-1
St. Pierre, Leslie		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-229
Stack, Pamela A.		General (1.0)	S-3
Stacy, Janis		General (1.0)	S-1
Stacy, Pat		General (1.0)	W-229
Stajduhar, Evan		General (1.0)	W-286
Stanton, Robert M.	Stanton Partners, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Stark, Joan		Noise (10.0)	W-189
Starkey, Zelma	,	Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-46
Stebbins, Elisabeth S.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Steele, Bill		Airspace and Safety (9.3.4)	W-609
Steele, Bridget F.		General (1.0)	S-1
Steele, Clifford R.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Steele, Dewey E.		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-95
Steele, Vernon A.		General (1.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-81

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Stein, Hermann B.		Socioeconomics (6.1.10), Airspace and Safety	W-568
~ 1111 ~ ~		(9.4.1, 9.4.2), Air Quality (13.1.6)	
Steinbrink, Scott C.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Steinman, Gregg	Young Friends of the Everglades	General (1.0)	W-40
Steitz, Jim		General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-278
Steketee, Deborah M.		Alternatives (4.0)	W-90
Stephens, James N.		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-339
Stern, Henry F.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Stern, William J.	Stern Advertising	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Sternlieb, Leslie		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-339
Stetser, Christopher		Noise (10.0)	W-574
Stevens, Jason		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Stevenson, Tim R.	United States Compliance Corporation	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Stewart, Gudrun		General (1.0)	S-1
Stewart, Jack		General (1.0)	S-1
Stierheim, M. R.	Miami-Dade County	General (1.0)	W-430
Stierwalt, Richard E.	ORBITEX Financial Services Group	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Stinger, Harry W.		General (1.0)	S-1
Stocker, Gene		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Stockman, Daniel L.		General (1.0)	S-1
Stockman, Darcy		General (1.0)	S-1
Stockman, Judy		General (1.0)	S-1
Stocks, Jane		Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-87
Stoddard, Philip		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-37
Stommes, Desiree		General (1.0)	S-1
Stone, Alexander		Alternatives (4.2.14, 4.2.30), Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.1), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.2.1)	O-148
Stone, Christine M.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3, S-4
Stover, William T.		SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-528
Strauss, Mildred L.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-16, S-1
Strawder, Jill		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Stripling, Cathy M.		Noise (10.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-55
Strode, J. P.	J. P. Strode & Associates, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Stroehmann, D. L.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Stroh, Mary L.		Airspace and Safety (9.4.1), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-185, S-3
Strozien, Diane		General (1.0)	S-1
Stsurin, Querline		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Stumpfl, Patricia Ann		Transportation (7.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-190
Stunkard, A. J.		General (1.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-290
Stuntz, Martha M.		Noise (10.0)	W-242
Stutsman, Paul M.	Stutsman Design Group, Inc.	Secondary Development (20.0.7), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.3.6)	W-288
Stuys, Jo Ellen		General (1.0)	S-1
Styles, Ronda		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Suarez, Cindy		General (1.0)	W-151
Suarez, Gustavo A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Suarez, Jay V.		Noise (10.0)	O-143
Sullivan, Christopher		Socioeconomics (6.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-330
Sullivan, Nancy		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0)	O-58, W-1
Suris, Hilda		General (1.0)	S-1
Svaldi, Elaine		General (1.0)	S-1
Svete, Joseph T.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Swam, Ellen		General (1.0)	S-1
Swanberg, Ken		Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-57
Swenson, Cynthia C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	S-3, S-5
Swenson, Jean K.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-147
Swenson, R. P.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-148
Swerdlin, Lee		General (1.0)	S-1
Swift, John & Mary		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Swindell, E. LeRoy & Polly Y.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Swindell, Phyllis S.	***************************************	Alternatives (4.2.15), Noise (10.1.2)	W-137
Swords, Alycia		General (1.0)	S-1
Sykes, Thelma		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-174
Sykora, Lyle E.		Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-77
Sytsma, Dennis Jon		Airspace and Safety (9.3.2, 9.4.1), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.1.2)	<u> </u>
Takeshita, Sandra		General (1.0)	O-42

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Talarico, Carla Bernabei	Perrine-Cutler Ridge Council, Inc.	General (1.0)	W-389
Talavera, Rina		General (1.0)	W-45
Talbot, Deborah L.		General (1.0)	W-291
Talbot, Herbert W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Tallardy, Charles C., III		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Talmadge, Mary Ann		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-86
Tanis, Victor		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Tarnow, Joyce		General (1.0)	W-322
Taubensee, Bruce T.	Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Taubensee, Dale T.	Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Taubensee, Kent T.	Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Taubensee, Shirley	Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Taylor, John N., Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Taylor, Laura A.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Taylor, Lynne E.		Noise (10.0)	S-2
Taylor, Robert M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Taylor, Tony		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Taylor, William C.	Taylor & Taylor Partnership	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Tchakarian, Darla		SEIS Process (2.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-85
Tchakarian, Judy F.		SEIS Process (2.0), Noise (10.0)	W-95
Teague, Jonathon M.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Teas, Howard J.	Florida Life Care Residents Association, Inc.	Biological Resources (16.3.2)	W-245, W-570
Temples, Price		General (1.0)	S-1
Tenor, Amos		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Teplen, Philip H.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Tercilla, Orlando		General (1.0)	S-1
Terrell, T. M.		General (1.0)	W-139
Terrill, Mildred		General (1.0)	W-47
Terry, Frank H., Sr.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-288
Terry, Karen E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Thibou, Tiffany		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Thomas, Eugene		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-213
Thomas, Gary		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-263, S-3, S-5
Thomas, Graham		General (1.0)	W-130
Thomas, Hilary		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Thomas, J. F.		Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-254
Thomas, Joanne		General (1.0)	W-131
Thomas, Joanne B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Thomas, John		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-381
Thompson, J. D.		General (1.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-319
Thompson, John M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Thompson, Nelda		General (1.0)	W-322
Thorpe, Gloria M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Thrasher, John	Florida Legislature	Noise (10.3.5)	W-67
Tillotson, Guy S.	8	SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0)	W-79
Tilney, Germaine		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-144, W-324
Tilney, Robert F.		Alternatives (4.2.28), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.3.1, 12.3.2)	W-144, W-144
Timmis, Michael		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Tirrell, Debbie		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-313
Tirrell, Roderick T.	Sierra Club of Broward County	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-102, W-313
Tober, Jeff		Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-594
Tod, Fred, Jr.		General (1.0)	W-92, W-197
Todd, Winship A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-167
Tokos, Tom	·	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Tomita, Judy		General (1.0)	S-1
Toreno, Bobbi		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Toreno, Joseph R.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Torres, Jackie		General (1.0)	S-1
Torres, Jaime		General (1.0)	S-1
Toulan, John W.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Townsend, Charles H.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-307
Townsend, Kerry W.	<u> </u>	Alternatives (4.0)	W-119
Townsend, Lee I.	<del></del>	South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-270

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Townshend, William B.	<u> </u>	Transportation (7.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-295
Tranthem, James B.	Keys Gate Single Family HOA	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-342
Trappmann, Jenny		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-344
Trapuzzano, John		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-349
Trenthem, Theresa		General (1.0)	S-1
Trimble, Maritza		General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Troner, Susannah		Alternatives (4.2.54)	O-158
Trotter, Richard W.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Truax, Wayne B.		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Trump, Thomas N.	•	Alternatives (4.0)	W-311
Tucker, Cenora C.		General (1.0)	S-1
Tucker, Richard B. C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Turice, Jeanette		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-271
Turk, Richard J., Jr.	Corley Communities Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Turner, Jay		General (1.0)	S-1
Turner, John L.	Highwood Properties	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Turner, Tina		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-123
Turowski, Leonard A., Jr.	Neely-Turowski Funeral Home	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Turton, Diane S.		General (1.0)	W-300
Twitchell, Frances G.		Transportation (7.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-241
Tyre, Elizabeth		General (1.0), Alternatives (4.2.43), Biological	O-85,
		Resources (16.0)	O-164
Uddin, Sarah		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-585
Uhorchak, Michael A.		Transportation (7.1.4), Mitigation Measures (22.0.4)	W-567
Ullman, Jonathan D.	Sierra Club	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.12), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.3, 11.2.6), Air Quality (13.2.1), Water Resources (15.4.1), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-34, O-68, O-105, O-116, O-165
Ullman, Rita		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Umberger, Judy Adams		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-207
Ungerman, Ted		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-237
Unknown, Alycia		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Unknown, Budd		General (1.0)	S-1
Unknown, Denise		Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-30
Unknown1		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	W-36
		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Unknown2		SEIS Process (2.2.5)	W-38
Unknown3	en i un razevan	Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-44
Unknown4		General (1.0)	W-49
Unknown5		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown6	Lazy Days Marina	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown7		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown8		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown9		SEIS Process (2.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	S-3
Unknown10	Schmalbach Aqua Inc.	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-141
Unknown11		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown12		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown13	J. Craig Martin, M.D., Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown14	J. Craig Martin, M.D., Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown15		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown16		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown21		General (1.0)	W-201
Unknown23		General (1.0)	W-292
Unknown24	***************************************	General (1.0)	W-314
Unknown25		General (1.0)	S-1
Unknown26		Alternatives (4.2.29, 4.2.30, 4.2.36), Transportation (7.1.2), Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.11), Air Quality (13.1.3, 13.1.7, 13.2.1)	W-332
Unknown27		Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Transportation (7.0)	W-345
Unknown28	Family Practice, Ltd.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Unknown29		Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-380
Unknown30		General (1.0)	W-52
Unknown31		General (1.0)	W-53
Urscheler, Maria E.		General (1.0)	S-1
Valant, Paul A.	Royal Chen Grove	Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-567
Valdes, Danny	Cutler Landings Homeowners Association	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Water Resources 15.4.6	W-255
Valdes, Kelly		General (1.0)	W-256
Valdes, Linda Ognan		SEIS Process (2.2.1, 2.2.12, 2.2.13), Water Resources (15.4.6)	W-256, W-257

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Valenti, Andrew F.	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Valenti, Jennifer		General (1.0)	S-1
Valentine, David		Content and Methodology (5.0), Secondary	W-46
ŕ		Development (20.0)	
Valentine, Helene		General (1.0)	W-46
Van Clief, Daniel G., Jr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Vande Hei, Clara Lynne & Don		SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-231
Van Dijk, Anne-Marie		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-589
Van Fleet, Jane		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0)	W-190
Van Smith, Garrett		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-420
Van Tureyver, Denise		General (1.0)	S-1
Varela, Hector M.	West Kendall Community Council, Area 11	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-81, W-101, S-1
Varela, Luis Z.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-47
Vargas, Gerardo		General (1.0)	S-1
Vargas, Raquel		Alternatives (4.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-98
Vasquez, A. Sonny, Jr.		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-6
Vasquez, Florence		General (1.0)	W-48
Vaswani, Kumar		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	W-72,
		(15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-165
Vaughn, Theresa		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-598
Vaz, Richard E.		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-96
Vazquez, Gladys		General (1.0)	S-1
Ventimiglia, Lois E.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0)	W-293
Ventura, Larry, Jr.		Content and Methodology (5.3.3)	W-187
Verdon, John C.		General (1.0)	S-6
Verloup, Benjamin		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-321
Viar, Bill		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-342
Victoria, Francisco		General (1.0)	S-1
Victoria, Teofilo		General (1.0)	S-1
Vieth, Lolly		General (1.0)	S-1
Vieth, Savannah		General (1.0)	S-1
Vigil, Jorge		Alternatives (4.4.11)	O-89, W-349
Vilahomat, Nelsa	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Villafuerte, Christine		General (1.0)	S-1
Villamil, MariElena A.	Washington Economics Group, Inc.	Socioeconomics (6.1.15, 6.1.16, 6.1.34, 6.1.30, 6.1.38, 6.1.39)	O-22, O-117,
		-, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -, -	W-396

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Villanella, John J.		General (1.0)	S-1
Villar, Olga M.		General (1.0)	S-1
Vincent, Elizabeth		General (1.0)	S-1
Vincent, Rebecca		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Vincunas, Kenneth P.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Vincunas, Raymond M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Viquez, Jessica		Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-153
Vital, Marceline		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Vizzi, Jacqueline		Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	O-59
Vogel, Judith Ann		Transportation (7.0)	W-190
Vogl, Alexander J.	Wilton Corporation	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Volante, Mary Jo	·	General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	S-3
Volante, Michael		Alternatives (4.0)	O-117
Volcy, Cassandra		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Volkert, Marleen	<u> </u>	Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-553
Von Arx, Carol R.	<u> </u>	Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-323
Von Cannon, Linda C.		General (1.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-323
Voorhees, Rosa A.		Transportation (7.0)	W-272
Voorhies, Bill & Marilyn		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-71
Waddle, Beulah		General (1.0)	S-1
Wade, Philip		General (1.0)	S-1
Wagner, Karen & Bill		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-168
Wagner, Kirk & Kimberly		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Wainer, Richard W., Sr.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-602
Waizenegger, Odette		General (1.0)	S-1
Walker, Brenda B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Walker, Jason		Transportation (7.0)	W-575
Wallace, Gerald W.		Alternatives (4.0)	W-69
Wallace, Otis T., Mayor	City of Florida City	General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-9, W-34
Waller, Allen C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Walter, Erick		Alternatives (4.2.16), Noise (10.1.5)	W-243, S-1
Walters, Ernest J.		······································	W-385

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Walters, Gloria & M. E.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Walters, Mark		SEIS Process (2.0), South Florida Ecosystem	W-14
,		Restoration (24.0)	
Walz, Nora		General (1.0)	S-1
Walz, Richard G.	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Ward, B.		General (1.0)	S-1
Ward, Christopher A.	•	General (1.0)	W-66
Ward, Linda		General (1.0)	S-1
Ward, Ray		General (1.0)	S-1
Ward, Tad & Barbara		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Waring, Tiffanie		General (1.0)	S-1
Warren, Ken	Sierra Club Harvey Broome Group	Noise (10.2.1, 10.5.1), Secondary Development (20.0.3)	W-369
Washburn, Connie and Students	Young Friends of the Everglades	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-41
Washburn, Connie J.		General (1.0)	O-94
Washington, Raisa		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Waters, Roger		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Watkins, Michael E.	<b></b>	General (1.0)	W-332
Watson, Thomas J., III		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Watterson, Debbie		General (1.0)	S-1
Watts, Edwin	Edwin Watts Golf Shops	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Watts, Joretta		General (1.0)	W-137
Watts, Lin	Association of Floral Importers of Florida	Alternatives (4.2.31)	W-432
Way, Shatara		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Weaver, Melissa		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-329
Webb, Donne R.		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-4
Webb, Frances E.		Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.1.1)	W-74
Webb, Kristine		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-258
Weber, Dianne		Alternatives (4.8.1)	W-273
Weber, Karl B.		Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-574
Weber, Seward		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Webster, Daniel E.		Alternatives (4.2.17)	W-197
Wedow, Nancy J.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-597
Weeks, Cynthia		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-605

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Weeks, Marlen S.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Weems, R. Joyce		General (1.0)	S-1
Wegs, Margaret	<u> </u>	SEIS Process (2.0)	W-601
Weichman, Joe	<u> </u>	Alternatives (4.0)	W-71
Weigan, Carolyn		General (1.0)	S-1
Weigel, Russell	<b>*</b>	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Weiler, Rosemary		Transportation (7.0), Airspace and Safety (9.0)	W-168
Weinberg, Lawrence E.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Weinreb, Robert		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0)	O-3
Weinstein, Gary		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Weisleder, Brooke		General (1.0)	W-261
Weisleder, Sally		General (1.0)	W-262
Welbourn, Nancy & Ham		SEIS Process (2.2.12, 2.2.13)	W-79
Welch, Marcia & Joe	Bachman	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2
Welch, Rita		General (1.0)	S-1
Weller, Shirley A.		General (1.0)	W-116
Weller, Thomas C., Jr.		General (1.0)	W-197
Weller, Thomas R.	Weller & Losner	General (1.0)	O-25
Wells, Marshall K.	1,01101 00 2001101	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Welsh, Robert Cooper, Jr.		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-89, W-37
Wenauch, June		General (1.0)	S-1
Werman, Joanne		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Werman, Keith		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Werman, Kimberly		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Werman, Kristine		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Werner, Barbara		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-334
Werner, Beth		Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.7), Biological Resources (16.1.2)	W-293
Werner, Jackie Rousseau		Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-161
Werner, Stuart		General (1.0)	S-1
Wescott, Doug		General (1.0)	W-306
West, Evelyn K.		General (1.0)	S-1
Westberg, Jane		Airspace and Safety (9.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-136
Westman, Jack		General (1.0)	W-265
Westphal, Loretta		General (1.0)	W-326
Wetherington, Lisa	Ocean Watch Foundation	General (1.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-389
Whalen, Catherine S.		General (1.0)	S-1
Whalen, William		General (1.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-91

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Whaylen, Leslie		General (1.0)	W-147
Wheeler, John M.		General (1.0)	W-169
Wheeler, Willard L.		General (1.0)	S-1
White, Kelly		General (1.0)	S-1
White, Kenneth B. & Marjorie C.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
White, Michael W.		General (1.1.1, 1.2.1, 1.3.1), Airspace and Safety (9.1.1), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.3, 12.1.8, 12.2.1), Water Resources (15.8.1), Biological Resources (16.2.12)	W-124, W-536
Whitley, Elizabeth B.		General (1.0)	W-222
Wight, F. R.		General (1.0)	W-238
Wilbur, Victor		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-365
Wilcox, David		Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Wilcox, James M.		General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-344
Wilder, Corwin A.		General (1.0)	W-156
Wilkin, Randall, Sr.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	W-82, W-239, S-3, S-4
Williams, Artesha		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Williams, Bob & Diana		General (1.0)	S-1
Williams, Dick	Monarch Capital Partners, LLC	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Williams, Dorothy		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-178
Williams, Edna E.		SEIS Process (2.0)	W-135
Williams, Faye A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Williams, G. A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Williams, Joseph		General (1.0)	S-1
Williams, Marilyn		General (1.0)	W-113
Williams, Mary Anne		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Williams, R. Warren		General (1.0)	W-203
Williams, Ralph, Jr.	Alston & Bird, LLP	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Williams, Robert G.		Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-2
Williams, Verne O.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-237
Williamson, Anne		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Willigar, Gloria L.		Noise (10.0)	W-237
Willis, Carol B.		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-598
Willis, Tom & Caryn	<u> </u>	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Wilpon, Bonnie		General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-603
Wilson, Bruna		General (1.0)	S-1

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Wilson, David		General (1.0)	S-1
Wilson, Janet		General (1.0)	W-150
Wilson, R. M. & Anne		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Wilson, Virginia B.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources	S-3, S-4
		(15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	
Wilwol, Kathleen		General (1.0)	S-1
Wilwol, Thomas J.		General (1.0)	S-1
Wind, Audrey W.		General (1.0)	S-1
Wine, H. Eugene		Alternatives (4.0)	W-77
Winfield, Marti	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	W-140
Winkelmann, Craig A.		General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Noise (10.0),	W-314,
Windermann, Crang 11		Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological	W-320
		Resources (16.0)	
Winslow, Marie		Biological Resources (16.0)	W-431
Winter, Phillip		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Winton, Musette		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-12
Wise, Randy		Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum	W-363
,, 150, 141110)		Products (12.3.2)	
Wiseman, Jannette G.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-111, S-3
Witherell, Charles T.		General (1.0)	W-133
Witherell, Karen		General (1.0)	W-133
Witusik, Karen		General (1.0)	W-276
Woight, Michelle		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0),	S-5
VV OIGHI, INTOIREM		Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0),	
		Biological Resources (16.0)	
Wolf, Cyd Beth		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Wolf, Steven		General (1.0)	S-1
Wolfgram, Howard		General (1.0)	S-1
Wood, John		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0)	W-319
Wood, Leah A.		General (1.0)	S-1
Wood, Marjorie A.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Woodruff, Cheryl		General (1.0)	S-1
Woodside, Laura A.		General (1.0)	W-131
Woodsum, Stephen G.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Wordsworth, Jerry L.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Workman, Roy	Workman Company	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Woroniak, Stephen &	Working Company	General (1.0)	S-1
Myra		(***)	
Worth, Allison	<u> </u>	General (1.0)	S-1
Worth, Douglas		General (1.0)	S-1
Worthington, Ralph &	,	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lucinda		1.000 (10.0), 1.111 Quality (10.0)	
Wright, Tammy &		General (1.0)	W-351
George		(~~)	
Wulf, Nanette & Raul		SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Base	W-314, S-1
Wall, Hamolie & Raul		Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	, , ,

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Wyberg, Bryan L.		Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida	W-287
, , ,		Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	
Wyberg, Kenneth A.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-271
Wyberg, Sharon J.		South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-290
Wyeth, Nathan		Alternatives (4.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-68, W-377
Wylie, John Terry	Tee Jays	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Wyman, Thomas R.		Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-182
Yannini, Yamile		Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-577
Yerbees, Andrew		Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-214
Yochim, Michael J.		Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-76
Yoh, H. L., Jr.	Day & Zimmermann, Inc.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Young, Lauriette R.		Transportation (7.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-109
Young, Sara S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Yousefi, Cid		General (1.0)	S-1
Yousefi, Reneé		General (1.0)	S-1
Yown, Margaret		General (1.0)	W-376
Zachar, Caroline		General (1.0)	S-1
Zambrana, Jocelyn		General (1.0)	S-1
Zandivari, Lydia		General (1.0)	S-1
Zavalesky, Marilyn M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Zephyr, Anita		General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	S-5
Zhuk, S. M.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Zick, John W.		Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-527
Ziegler, Edward James		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Ziegler, Jessica Sadar		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Ziegler, John		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Ziegler, Linda		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Ziff, Dean		General (1.0)	S-1
Zifferer, Jodi		General (1.0)	W-116
Zifferer, Morton F.		and a second contract of the c	W-122, S-3, S-4
Zimmerly, Sara Alice		General (1.0)	S-1
Zinn, Rick		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Zirnkilton, Jane S.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Name	Organization	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Znaszewski, Robert & Valerie		General (1.0)	S-1
Zorniger, Mary & Frank	······································	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-163
Zuchowski, Ben		Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-329

I-95

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

# **RESPONSE INDEX—ORGANIZATIONS**

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
1000 Friends of Florida	Pattison, Charles G.	Air Quality (13.1.6, 13.2.1)	W-335
3x NELL, LLC	Larkin Jr., C. Raymond, Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
	Ackermann, Kristen	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Ackermann Enterprises Inc.	Ackermann, T. F.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Adams, Coogler, Watson, Merkel, Barry & Kellner, P.A.	Merkel, Robert G.	Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-134
Aircraft Owners and	Gerencher, Christy	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Base	W-289
Pilots Association		Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	<u> </u>
All Seasons Tree Care	Cheshire, Matthew S.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Allen Development Corporation	Morris, Allen I.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Alston & Bird, LLP	Williams, Ralph, Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Alternatives Research & Development Foundation	McArdle, John	General (1.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-162
American Freight International, Inc.	Garcia, Mark	Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-235
Aragon, Burlington, Weil & Crockett, P.A.	Schwiep, Paul J.	Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.10), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.4.3)	O-92
Armando J. Bucelo, Jr., Attorneys and Counsellors at Law	Contreras, Gilbert A.	General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-371
Armellini Industries, Inc.	Armellini, Richard	Alternatives (4.2.32)	W-206
Arthur Cox Wilson Insurance Consultants	Cox, James R.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Arthur R. Marshall Foundation & The Florida Environmental Institute, Inc.	Marshall, John Arthur	General (1.0)	W-220
Association of Floral Importers of Florida	Watts, Lin	Alternatives (4.2.31)	W-432

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Audubon of Florida		Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.2.8, 4.2.26, 4.5.1, 4.8.1), Content and Methodology (5.2.6, 5.5.1, 5.6.3, 5.7.6), Socioeconomics (6.1.1, 6.1.2, 6.1.8, 6.1.12, 6.1.18, 6.1.19, 6.1.20, 6.1.40, 6.2.2, 6.3.1, 6.3.2, 6.3.3, 6.3.5), Transportation (7.1.4, 7.1.5, 7.1.6), Airspace and Safety (9.3.8), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.2, 11.1.6, 11.1.7, 11.1.8, 11.2.3, 11.2.9, 11.3.2, 11.4.1), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.3, 12.2.4), Air Quality (13.3.1), Water Resources (15.1.1, 15.1.2, 15.1.3, 15.2.14, 15.4.7), Biological Resources (16.6.2, 16.6.3), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0.2, 18.0.3), DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.4), Buffer Area (21.0.1, 21.0.3, 21.0.4), Cumulative Impacts (23.0.5)	W-416
Bachman	Welch, Marcia & Joe	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2
Baker McMillen Co.	Kimmerle, William L.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Baljet Environmental	Baljet, Peter P.	General (1.0)	O-55, W-216
Banta Catalog Group	Hepler, William J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Beachem Investments	Beachem, J. W.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Beacon Council	Nero, Frank R.	Alternatives (4.2.20, 4.2.21), Socioeconomics (6.1.16, 6.1.30)	O-28, W-22
Beverly Surgical Associates, Inc.	Karol, Susan V.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Biscayne Bay Foundation	Blumenthal, Joel	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
Biscayne National Park		Alternatives (4.2.39), Noise (10.4.12)	O-18
BK/Barrit	Kershner, Bryson	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Blazzard, Grodd & Hasenauer, P.C.	Grodd, Leslie E.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Blue Water Capital	Acheson, Michael H.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Bowden Productions	Bowden, R.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Broyhill Asset Management LLC	Broyhill, Hunt	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-461
Builders Association of South Florida	Burton, Truly	Alternatives (4.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-289
Cameron Incorporated	Kelley, Cameron M.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Capitol Title Services	Garcia, Sylvia	General (1.0)	O-134
Challenge Air Cargo	Spohrer, B. F.	Alternatives (4.2.31)	W-432
Charles A. Alden, Landscape Architect, A.S.L.A.	Alden, Charles A.	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.2.1), Content and Methodology (5.1.1, 5.5.1), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.2.2)	O-39, W-19, W-572

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Charles Brucia & Co.	Brucia, Charles J. & Laura J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
City of Florida City	Wallace, Otis T., Mayor	General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-9, W-34
City of Hialeah	Martinez, Raul, Mayor	Purpose and Need (3.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-9, W-31
City of Homestead	Ivy, Curtis K., Jr.	General (1.0)	O-52
City of Homestead	Shiver, Steve, Mayor	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	O-8
City of Miami Beach	Parcher, Robert	Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Water Resources (15.0)	W-565
City of South Miami	Robaina, Julio, Mayor	Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-566
City of Sweetwater	Diaz, Jose, Mayor	General (1.0)	O-10
Clark Foodservice, Inc.	Hindman, Don J.	Alternatives (4.0)	W-383
Clinton Enterprises	Clinton, Ray	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Coalition for Environmental Justice	Levinson, Lawrence	SEIS Process (2.1.6), Alternatives (4.1.2), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.3.5)	O-23
Coca-Cola Bottling Company of Southeastern New England	Kitchings, Chester W., Sr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Coca-Cola Enterprises, Inc.	Malo, Raymond J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Coconut Grove Civic Club	McMaster, James	General (1.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-104
Collier Resources Company	Duncan., Robert D., Jr	General (1.0)	W-386
Community Bank of Elmhurst	Gooch Jr., William C.	Noise (10.0)	W-135
Community Bank of Florida	Johnson, Eric S.	Alternatives (4.0)	W-94
Community Bank of Homestead	Epling, Robert L.	SEIS Process (2.0)	W-104
Community Council #14	Pepper, Jacqueline V.	SEIS Process (2.2.14, 2.2.15), Alternatives (4.2.24, 4.2.25), Content and Methodology (5.2.1)	W-387
Community Council #15	Moore, Ralph E.	General (1.0)	O-27
Community Council #15	Reyes, Jaime	Content and Methodology (5.3.11)	O-94
Congress of the United States	Lucas, Ken	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-459
Congress of the United States	Petri, Thomas E.	General (1.0)	W-182

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

I-99 Final SEIS

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Congress of the United States	Reynolds, Thomas M.	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-465
Continental Property Group, Inc.	Hoyt, Bradley A.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Corley Communities Inc.	Turk, Richard J., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Cranston	Ariosa, Robert J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Cutler Landings Homeowners Association	Valdes, Danny	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Water Resources 15.4.6	W-255
Cypen & Cypen	Cypen, Irving	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
D'Elegante, Inc.	Jones, Delle & Ted	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Dade County Farm Bureau	Kirby, Tom	General (1.0)	O-145
Dade County Farm Bureau	Sapp, Steve	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	O-33
Day & Zimmermann, Inc.	Yoh, H. L., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Defenders of Wildlife	Munson, Mary	Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Airspace and Safety (9.1.4), Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.10, 10.5.11), Air Quality (13.1.6, 13.2.1)	W-366
Department of the Army, Jacksonville District Corps of Engineers	Miller, Joe R.	South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.2)	W-540
Design Basics Inc.	Brozak, Dennis	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Dick Broadcasting Co. Inc.	Dick, Allen	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Double Eagle Distributing, Inc.	Orthwein, James B., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
	Peterman, Audrey	General (1.0)	O-155
Eden, Inc.	Forbes, Ken	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	W-359
Edwin Watts Golf Shops	Watts, Edwin	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Elfin Acres Organic Farm	Mejides, Yvonne	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.2.13), Airspace and Safety (9.4.1, 9.4.4)	W-244
Elmhurst-Chicago Stone Co.	Hammersmith, Charles P., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Equitrac	Kane, John	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Ethington Building Supply, Inc.	Ethington, Pat B.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Ethington Building Supply, Inc.	Ethington, Robert E.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Everglades Coalition	Roy, Christopher	Alternatives (4.2.15, 4.2.42), Noise (10.1.3, 10.5.1, 10.5.5), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.5)	O-146
Everglades National Park	Ring, Richard	Noise (10.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	O-18
Family Practice, Ltd.	Unknown28	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Farm Share, Inc.	Robbins, Patricia	General (1.0)	O-23
Fazio, Dawson, DiSalvo, Cannon, Abers, Podrecca & Fazio	Fazio, D. Fredrico	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Fazio, Dawson, DiSalvo, Cannon, Abers, Podrecca & Fazio	Fazio, Joseph R., III	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
FBF Inc.	McAllister, D. Edward & Constance C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Federal Employee Benefits Service	Moses, Elizabeth C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Financial Asset  Management Inc.	Rader, James B.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
First National Bank of Homestead	Richardson, Michael E.	General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.2.2), Alternatives (4.1.3, 4.2.2, 4.3.1), Content and Methodology (5.6.2), Socioeconomics (6.1.7), Transportation (7.2.2), Airspace and Safety (9.2.6, 9.3.5), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.1, 11.2.4, 11.2.5), Water Resources (15.10.7), Buffer Area (21.0.7), Mitigation Measures (22.0.1), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.1.3, 25.2.1)	O-24, W-108
Flat Rock Metal, Inc.	Shields, Michael F.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Flat Rock Metal, Inc.	Shields, Peter & Margaret	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Florida Biodiversity Project	Scherf, Brian	Purpose and Need (3.1.1, 3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.18, 4.2.30, 4.2.53, 4.2.55, 4.8.3), Noise (10.2.6, 10.2.8, 10.5.1, 10.5.2, 10.5.4), Air Quality (13.2.1), Biological Resources (16.3.3), DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.4), Secondary Development (20.0.1), Mitigation Measures (22.0.5), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.4.1, 25.4.2, 25.4.3)	
Florida Department of Community Affairs	Cantral, Ralph	SEIS Process (2.0)	W-524
Florida Department of Community Affairs	Seibert, Steven M.	Content and Methodology (5.2.6), Transportation (7.1.2, 7.2.2), Utilities (8.0.1, 8.0.4), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.8, 11.5.1), Water Resources (15.1.4, 15.2.8, 15.6.1), Secondary Development (20.0.5)	W-459

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

I-101 Final SEIS

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Florida Department of Environmental Protection	Mayer, David	Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.8.3), Noise (10.5.1), Air Quality (13.2.1), Water Resources (15.4.1)	W-403
Florida Department of Environmental Protection	Skinner, Renate H.	Biological Resources (16.2.12, 16.4.3)	W-371
Florida Department of State	Matthews, Janet Snyder	Cultural Resources (17.0)	W-372
Florida Department of Transportation	Ashbaker, William J.	Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-388
Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission	Hartman, Bradley J.	Biological Resources (16.5.3)	W-128
Florida Keys Fishing Guides Association	Ehlers, Mike	General (1.0)	S-1
Florida Legislature	Jennings, Toni	Noise (10.3.5)	W-67
Florida Legislature	Thrasher, John	Noise (10.3.5)	W-67
Florida Life Care Residents Association, Inc.	Teas, Howard J.	Biological Resources (16.3.2)	W-245, W-570
Florida State Representative	Bullard, Larcenia	General (1.0)	O-15
Florida State Representative	Cantens, Gaston	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.0)	O-14
Florida State Representative	Garcia, Rodolfo, Jr.	General (1.0)	O-15
Florida State Senator	Jones, Daryl L.	Alternatives (4.2.5), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.3.1)	O-13
Florida West International Airways	Haberly, Richard L.	Alternatives (4.2.32)	W-183
Florida Wildlife Federation	Fuller, Manley K., III	General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Air Quality (13.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-370
Friends of the Everglades	Chenoweth, Michael F.	General (1.2.3), SEIS Process (2.3.2), Alternatives (4.2.44), Content and Methodology (5.3.1, 5.3.3), Socioeconomics (6.1.3)	O-38
Gestion Management	Hewett, F. Robert	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Gilson Engineering Sales, Inc.	Patchen, P. N.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Girl Scout Troop 78 of Tropical Florida	Escoffery, Lorna	Biological Resources (16.0)	S-6
Greater Homestead/ Florida City Chamber of Commerce	Finlan, Mary	General (1.0)	O-32

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Greater Miami Aviation	Collier, Walter E.	Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0),	O-54,
Association	,	Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-553
Greater New Covenant Missionary Baptist Church	Sewell, Joseph G.	General (1.0)	O-33, S-1
Green's Gourmet Groves, Inc.	Green, Joan	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0)	W-132
Gunion & Schack	Gunion, Frederick A., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Halloran Construction	Halloran, Andrew	General (1.0)	W-160
Hannoch Appraisal Company	Hannoch, Franklin, Jr.	Noise (10.1.2)	W-461
Hatteras Yachts, Inc.	Naumann, William C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
HCF Enterprises, Inc.		Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Herbert Saffir Consulting Engineers	Saffir, Herbert S.	General (1.0)	W-70
Highwood Properties	Turner, John L.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Hoover Environmental Group	Hoover Chase, Lacey	General (1.0)	W-386
Horizon Enterprises Group	Palmer, Heather	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Howard Hall Co., Inc.	Hall, Howard, Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
H-P Products, Inc.	Bishop, Paul R.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
I.B.E.W. Local Union 349	Fernandez, Art	General (1.0)	O-28, O-171, W-58
I.B.E.W. Local Union 349	Riley, William	General (1.0)	O-28, O-171
ING Furman Selz Asset Management LLC	Hajim, Edmund A.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Isakson-Barnhart	Barnhart, David L.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Islamorada, Village of Islands	Geisler, George, Mayor	(15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-33
Izaak Walton League of America, Inc.	Miller, Lloyd E.	SEIS Process (2.3.1, 2.3.2), Alternatives (4.2.18, 4.2.22, 4.2.27, 4.2.35, 4.2.49), Socioeconomics (6.1.3), Airspace and Safety (9.2.5), Noise (10.1.1, 10.4.16, 10.5.1, 10.5.10), Air Quality (13.4.1, 13.4.2), Biological Resources (16.2.13)	W-37, W-202, W-203
J. Craig Martin, M.D., Inc.	Martin, J. Craig	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
J. Craig Martin, M.D., Inc.	Martin, Sharon	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
J. Craig Martin, M.D., Inc.	Unknown13	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
J. Craig Martin, M.D., Inc.	Unknown14	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
J. P. Strode & Associates, Inc.	Strode, J. P.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Jugo & Murphy	Murphy, Kathleen T.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-187
Key Biscayne	Rasco, Jose Ignacio, Mayor	Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-10
KeyBank USA	Landon, Kenneth R.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Keys Academy of Marine Science	Chapell, Connie	Biological Resources (16.0)	O-36
Keys Academy of Marine Science	Moran, Trisha	Noise (10.0)	O-34
Keys Gate Single Family HOA	Tranthem, James B.	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0)	W-342
Kmart Corporation	Hall, Floyd	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Labor Finders	Chacón, Manny	General (1.0)	W-119
Latin Builders Association, Inc.	***************************************	General (1.3.1)	W-54
Latin Builders Association, Inc.	Delgado, William J.	General (1.0), SEIS Process (2.0)	O-37, W-84
Law Office of Jay T. Holmes	Holmes, Jay T.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Law Offices of Binder, Kalis & Proctor, P.C.	Kalis, Stephen H.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Law Offices of Clinton D. Flagg	Flagg, Clinton D.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Lazy Days Marina	Unknown6	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
	Pomar, Armando V.	Purpose and Need (3.0), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0)	O-87, W-2
Linquist & Craig-Hotels & Resorts, Inc.	Craig, Stephen J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Living Colors Nursery, Inc.	Rabin, Mitch	General (1.0)	W-317
Lyman Steel Company	Green, Richard D.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
M & J Management Corp.	Delligatti, Michael J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
M. C. Dixon Lumber Company	Dixon, Robert M.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Mannington	Campbell, Ann C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Manuel Diaz Farms, Inc.	Rodriguez, Lourdes	General (1.0)	W-18
Marvin J. Perry & Associates	Perry, Marvin J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Mast & Moyer Insurance	Mast, Alfred B.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McDonald's	Hoff, K. D.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
McDonald's	Hoff, Mary	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

Organization Name		Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol, IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>	
McDonald's	Hoff, Richard B.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
McDonald's	Hoff, Tiffany	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
McDonald's Office	Love, Michael C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
McHugh & Associates	McHugh, William L., Jr.	General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Base Realignment Process and Property	O-69, O-119,	
		Disposal (25.0)	O-170, W-369	
MCR Lumber	Romero, Julie R.	Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-158	
Miami-Dade County	Hernandez, Pedro	Content and Methodology (5.7.7), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.7), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.4), Water Resources (15.1.4, 15.2.8, 15.2.14, 15.3.8, 15.5.4, 15.6.1, 15.7.1), Biological Resources (16.3.1, 16.4.6)	W-372	
Miami-Dade County	Penelas, Alex, Mayor	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.0)	O-7	
Miami-Dade County	Stierheim, M. R.	General (1.0)	W-430	
Miami-Dade County	Drum, Bruce	Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0),	O-34,	
Aviation Department		Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-67	
Miami-Dade County	Millan, Natacha Seijas	Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0)	O-11,	
Board of Commis- sioners			O-142	
Miami-Dade County Board of Commis- sioners	Moss, Dennis C.	General (1.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	O-13	
Miami-Dade County Board of Commis- sioners	Sorenson, Katy	Alternatives (4.2.4, 4.8.3), Socioeconomics (6.1.33)	O-12, W-62	
Miami-Dade County Board of Commis- sioners	Souto, Javier	General (1.0)	O-114	
Miami-Dade Commu- nity Council 13	Pettit, John A.	Water Resources (15.0)	O-88	
Miami Lakes Civic Association	Slaton, C. Wayne	General (1.0), Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0)	O-11, W-563	
Monarch Capital Partners, LLC	Williams, Dick	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Monroe County Board of County Commis- sioners		SEIS Process (2.2.6)	W-66	
Monroe County Board of County Commis- sioners	Freeman, Shirley	Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-129	
Morgan-Keller, Inc.	Guyton, Bradley C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4	
Muth Mirror Systems	Muth, Michael D.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
National Audubon Society	Kraus, Mark L.	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.0), Transportation (7.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	O-93	

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization Name		Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
National Parks Conservation Association	Collins, Kevin	General (1.2.4), Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Content and Methodology (5.7.2), Noise (10.1.1, 10.2.13, 10.5.3, 10.5.10, 10.5.11, 10.5.12), Water Resources (15.4.1, 15.5.7), DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.3)	W-368
Natural Light Photography	McEachern, Joel B.	General (1.0)	W-89
Natural Resources Defense Council	Sewell, Bradford H.		
Neely-Turowski Funeral Home	Turowski, Leonard A., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Northern Trust of Florida Corporation	Marchman, Ray E., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Ocean Reef Community Association	Ritz, David C.	General (1.2.2, 1.3.4), Alternatives (4.2.41), Transportation (7.2.1), Airspace and Safety (9.3.2), Noise (10.1.1, 10.1.8, 10.1.9, 10.1.10, 10.1.12, 10.2.2, 10.2.3, 10.2.9, 10.2.14, 10.3.13, 10.4.3, 10.4.5, 10.4.6, 10.4.7, 10.4.8, 10.4.9, 10.4.10, 10.4.14, 10.4.15, 10.5.9, 10.7.5, 10.7.8, 10.7.9), Water Resources (15.2.4, 15.3.3, 15.4.4, 15.5.4, 15.7.5, 15.7.13, 15.10.3, 15.10.5), Biological Resources (16.2.12, 16.3.4), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-19, W-110, W-412
Ocean Watch Foundation	Wetherington, Lisa	General (1.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-389
Office of Commissioner Sorenson	Klingbeil, Carol	Socioeconomics (6.1.33)	O-142

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	e Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	
Ohio House of Representatives	Coughlin, Kevin	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-459
Operation Green Leaves	Patrice, Nadine C.	General (1.0)	O-157
ORBITEX Financial Services Group	Stierwalt, Richard E.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Perrine-Cutler Ridge Council, Inc.	David, Tom M.	General (1.0)	W-389
Perrine-Cutler Ridge Council, Inc.	Talarico, Carla Bernabei	General (1.0)	W-389
Princeton/Naranja Community Council	Anthony, Leonard S.	SEIS Process (2.2.3)	W-88
Quarry Hill Group	Davidson, Thomas N.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-2, S-3
	Palacios, Rafael R.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
Rahel Corporation	Rahel, Cliff R.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rand Insurance, Inc.	Rand, Stanley, III	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Rasco & Reininger, P.A.	Behar, Howard R.	Alternatives (4.4.4, 4.4.5), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.4.4, 25.5.3)	O-35, O-67, O-168
Rasco & Reininger, P.A.	Sellek, Mercedes M.	Alternatives (4.2.11), Noise (10.3.5), Air Quality (13.1.2), Water Resources (15.2.9, 15.7.4)	O-26, O-65, O-170
Rasco Reininger & Perez P.A.	Esquinazi, Salomon B.	Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Alternatives (4.2.23), Socioeconomics (6.0), Socioeconomics (6.1.17)	O-24, O-66, W-438
Rasco Reininger & Perez P.A.	Rasco, Ramon E.	General (1.3.2), SEIS Process (2.1.4), Alternatives (4.1.2), Noise (10.3.4)	O-164, W-433
Raymond James & Associates, Inc.	Klein, J. P.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4
READCO	Rich, Michael P.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Real Estate Company of Key West, Inc.	\$25000000000000000000000000000000000000	Alternatives (4.0)	W-599
Reback Realty, Inc.	Reback, Paul D.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Redland Citizens Association	Knights, Geoffrey	Alternatives (4.4.9), Transportation (7.2.2), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.3.4)	W-345
Redland Professional Orchid Growers Inc.	Motes, Martin R.	Alternatives (4.2.14), Socioeconomics (6.1.23), Transportation (7.1.1), Airspace and Safety (9.2.2), Noise (10.3.8), Secondary Development (20.0.4)	
Richards Industries	Richards, Gilbert	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	
Riviera Village Property Owners Association	Rothing, Rex	Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Organization Name Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)		Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>	
Robert F. Skinner & Associates, Inc.	Skinner, Robert F.	Purpose and Need (3.0)	O-38	
Robie Properties LLC	Robie, Richard S., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-4	
Royal Chen Grove	Valant, Paul A.	Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-567	
San Bruno Mountain Watch	Andres, Fred	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-317	
Santemma and Deutsch, LLP	Santemma, Jon N.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Schaad Properties	Schaad, John	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Schmalbach Aqua Inc.	Unknown10	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-141	
Schneider Communications	Schneider, Stanley A.	General (1.0)	W-163	
Scottish Aviation Group LLC	Hudson, Matthew C.	Alternatives (4.2.37, 4.2.47, 4.2.48, 4.8.4, 4.8.5, 4.8.6, 4.8.7)	W-449	
Shepard Broad Law Center	Grosso, Richard	Purpose and Need (3.2.3), Socioeconomics (6.1.28), Mitigation Measures (22.0.3)	O-144	
Shepherd Products Company	Shepherd, Joel M.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)		
Shipley Energy	Shipley, Shirley & William	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Sierra Club	Jackalone, Frank	Socioeconomics (6.1.3), Noise (10.2.1)	O-153	
Sierra Club	Klingbeil, Jerry	Transportation (7.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	O-85	
Sierra Club	Ullman, Jonathan D.	SEIS Process (2.0), Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Noise (10.1.1, 10.5.12), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.1.3, 11.2.6), Air Quality (13.2.1), Water Resources	O-34, O-68, O-105, O-116, O-165	
Sierra Club Berks Group	Back, Phila	Noise (10.2.1), Secondary Development (20.0.3)	W-247	
Sierra Club Harvey	Warren, Ken	Noise (10.2.1, 10.5.1), Secondary Development	W-369	
Broome Group		(20.0.3)		
Sierra Club Loma Prieta Chapter	Barasch, Werner	Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-244	
Sierra Club Miami Group	Farago, Alan	SEIS Process (2.2.6, 2.2.12), Alternatives (4.0), Content and Methodology (5.7.4), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	O-81, O-163, W-555	
Sierra Club Miami Group	Fortuin, John M.	SEIS Process (2.3.1, 2.3.2)	O-83, W-19	

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Sierra Club Miami Group	Lange, Barbara	SEIS Process (2.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Airspace and Safety (9.3.2), Noise (10.0), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.2), Water Resources (15.2.2, 15.3.7), Secondary Development (20.0.3)	O-36, W-538
Sierra Club of Broward County	Tirrell, Roderick T.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-102, W-313
Sierra Club South Florida/Everglades Office	McGrady, Chuck	Alternatives (4.2.15), Socioeconomics (6.1.28), Water Resources (15.1.4), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.1)	W-569
Sierra Club South Florida/Everglades Office	Pope, Carl	Alternatives (4.2.15), Socioeconomics (6.1.28), Water Resources (15.1.4), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0.1)	W-569
Solutions Management	Phillips, Steven R.	General (1.0)	W-129
South Dade Community Council	Rebuth, Richard	Purpose and Need (3.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-354
South Dade Investment Group, Inc.	Fernandez, Ray	General (1.0)	W-20
South Dade Realty, Inc.	Cadman, George E., III	General (1.0)	O-25
South Florida Growers Association, Inc.	Kendall, Harold E.	Alternatives (4.0)	W-555
South Florida Water Management District	Finch, Frank R.	Alternatives (4.0), Content and Methodology (5.2.6), Utilities (8.0.3, 8.0.4), Airspace and Safety (9.2.3, 9.3.11), Noise (10.3.2), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.2.8), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.2.7), Water Resources (15.2.6, 15.2.10, 15.2.14, 15.2.15, 15.2.16, 15.3.4, 15.5.3, 15.6.1), Biological Resources (16.4.1, 16.5.3, 16.6.1, 16.7.2), Secondary Development (20.0.5), Buffer Area (21.0.6), Cumulative Impacts (23.0.1)	
South Florida Water Management District	Golden, James J.	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.5.1), Water Resources (15.2.12)	W-449
Space Access, LLC	Rosepink, Ronald K.	Alternatives (4.2.1), Airspace and Safety (9.3.1), Biological Resources (16.1.5)	W-411
Spaceport Florida Authority	O'Connor, Edward A., Jr.	Alternatives (4.0), Content and Methodology (5.0)	W-540
Spence Group Services, Inc.	Spence, Christopher E.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Spence Group Services, Inc.	Spence, William R., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Stanton Partners, Inc.	Stanton, Robert M.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Station 4 Citizen Advisory Committee	Rice, Suzette	Socioeconomics (6.1.9)	O-99
Stern Advertising	Stern, William J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Stutsman Design Group, Inc.	Stutsman, Paul M.	Secondary Development (20.0.7), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.3.6)	W-288

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

## **RESPONSE INDEX**

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Surgical Associates of Southwest Ohio, Inc.	Jones, Edmund W.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	W-194
Sylvan Nursery Farms, LLC	Jacob, Dayle & Richard	General (1.0)	W-344
Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Havey, Jill T.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Taubensee, Bruce T.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Taubensee, Dale T.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Taubensee, Kent T.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Taubensee Steel & Wire Company	Taubensee, Shirley	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
Tavernier Community Association, Inc.	Allen, Alice	Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-396
Taylor & Taylor Partnership	Taylor, William C.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Tee Jays	Wylie, John Terry	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
The Associates	Hughes, Keith W.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
The Cosmetic, Toiletry, and Fragrance Association	Kavanaugh, E. Edward	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Secondary Development (20.0)	W-132
The Futures Group	Smith, Robert H.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
The Nature Conservancy South Florida Office	Heffaner, Elizabeth	General (1.0)	W-153
The Orthopaedic Institute Inc.	Huntington, Christopher F.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
The Sacks Group	Schattenburg, Bruce & Jennifer	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
The Step2 Company	Murdough, Thomas G., Jr.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Time Equities Inc.	Greenburger, Francis	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
Tropical Audubon Society, Inc.	Chinquina, Don	Socioeconomics (6.1.3)	0-49
Tropical Audubon Society, Inc.	Rist, Karsten A.	Purpose and Need (3.4.1), Alternatives (4.2.50), Content and Methodology (5.4.1), Air Quality (13.4.1)	O-57
U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Ocean Service	Causey, Billy D.	Land Use and Aesthetics (11.2.7), Water Resources (15.2.11), Secondary Development (20.0.3, 20.0.6)	W-539

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service	Mager, Andreas, Jr.	Water Resources (15.2.11), Biological Resources (16.1.1, 16.2.8, 16.4.2, 16.7.1)	W-453
U.S. Department of the Interior	Barry, Donald J.	Alternatives (4.7.2), Air Quality (13.3.4), Biological Resources (16.4.8, 16.6.2), Noise (10.1.7, 10.2.6, 10.5.1, 10.5.2, 10.5.7, 10.5.8), Water Resources (15.2.5, 15.10.6), Buffer Area (21.0.1, 21.0.2)	W-446
U.S. Department of the Interior	Lee, James H.	DOT Act Section 4(f) Lands (19.0.1)	W-451
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency	Hankinson, John H., Jr.	Alternatives (4.2.12, 4.4.1, 4.7.1, 4.8.8), Transportation (7.1.6), Noise (10.3.1, 10.3.14, 10.4.1, 10.4.2, 10.5.1, 10.6.1, 10.6.2, 10.7.1, 10.7.2, 10.7.10, 10.7.11), Hazardous Materials and Waste and Petroleum Products (12.1.5), Air Quality (13.1.8, 13.1.10), Water Resources (15.3.9, 15.6.1), Biological Resources (16.4.7, 16.4.9), Buffer Area (21.0.1, 21.0.2), Mitigation Measures (22.0.6)	W-461
Uniforms by Star	Cohen, Daniel J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
United States Compliance Corporation	Stevenson, Tim R.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3
the state of the s	Inciardi, James A.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4
University of Florida	Kibert, Nicole C.	Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	W-602
University of Miami	Macia, Silvia	Alternatives (4.0)	S-4
University of Miami Marine Science Program	DiResta, Daniel	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.26, 6.1.27), Biological Resources (16.5.7)	W-230
University of Miami Marine Science Program	Nelson, Mindy	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.26, 6.1.27), Biological Resources (16.5.7)	W-230
University of Miami Marine Science Program	Robinson, Michael	Content and Methodology (5.3.1), Socioeconomics (6.1.26, 6.1.27), Biological Resources (16.5.7)	W-230
	Dorsey, Michael	Alternatives (4.6.2), Cumulative Impacts (23.0.4)	W-259
University of Minnesota	\$11.111.111.111.111.111.111.111.111.111	Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-459
Upper Keys Citizens Association	Nickerson, Fred	Content and Methodology (5.2.4), Socioeconomics (6.0), Noise (10.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-318, S-2
US Bancorp	Heasley, Philip G.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV). Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>	
Verner, Liipfert, Bernhard, McPherson, and Hand	Brown, Jamie E.	General (1.3.3), SEIS Process (2.1.2, 2.1.4, 2.1.5, 2.1.6, 2.1.7, 2.1.8), Alternatives (4.4.10), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0.1), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.2.1, 25.2.2, 25.2.3, 25.2.4, 25.3.1, 25.3.2, 25.3.3, 25.3.4)	W-423	
Verner, Liipfert, Bernhard, McPherson, and Hand	Levinson, Lawrence E.	General (1.3.3), SEIS Process (2.1.2, 2.1.4, 2.1.5, 2.1.6, 2.1.7, 2.1.8), Alternatives (4.4.10), Minority and Low-Income Populations (18.0.1), Base Realignment Process and Property Disposal (25.2.1, 25.2.2, 25.2.3, 25.2.4, 25.3.1, 25.3.2, 25.3.3, 25.3.4)	W-423	
Village of Bal Harbour	Hirschl, Andrew R.	General (1.0), Alternatives (4.0), Socioeconomics (6.0)	W-543	
Vision Council	Bauer, Richard H.	General (1.0)	W-20	
Washington Economics Group, Inc.	Villamil, MariElena A.	Socioeconomics (6.1.15, 6.1.16, 6.1.34, 6.1.30, 6.1.38, 6.1.39)	O-22, O-117, W-396	
Weller & Losner	Weller, Thomas R.	General (1.0)	O-25	
Wesleyan University	Peterson, Anna L.	General (1.0), Land Use and Aesthetics (11.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-379	
West Kendall Community Council, Area 11	Varela, Hector M.	SEIS Process (2.0), Socioeconomics (6.0), South Florida Ecosystem Restoration (24.0)	O-81, W-101, S-1	
Westview Middle School	Schoenwiesner, Victoria	General (1.0), Transportation (7.0), Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Biological Resources (16.0)	W-388	
Whispering Pines Lake Owners Association	Lockwood, Kevin J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Cumulative Impacts (23.0)	W-81	
Wildlife Rescue of Dade County	Brown, Lloyd	Socioeconomics (6.1.3), Transportation (7.0)	O-50, O-106, O-120, O-162	
Wilton Corporation	Vogl, Alexander J.	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0), Water Resources (15.0), Mitigation Measures (22.0)	S-3, S-4	
Workman Company	Workman, Roy	Noise (10.0), Air Quality (13.0)	S-3	
Young Friends of the Everglades	Bernal, Lisa-Marie	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40	
Young Friends of the Everglades	Birghenthal, Kaitlin	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40	
Young Friends of the Everglades	Blyden, Joshua	General (1.0)	W-40	
Young Friends of the Everglades	Claus, Jerry, III	General (1.0)	W-40	
Young Friends of the Everglades	Constant, Allison	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40	
Young Friends of the Everglades	Del Rio, Andrew	General (1.0)	W-40	
Young Friends of the Everglades	Echo, Krysten	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40	

Refers to comment number in the **Responses to Comments** section of this volume (Volume IV).
Refers to page number of comments in **Volume III** of the SEIS.

Organization	Name	Relevant Response Number(s) <sup>1</sup> (Vol. IV)	Comment Page No. (Vol. III) <sup>2</sup>
Young Friends of the Everglades	Fried, Jessica	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Gallagher, Michelle	General (1.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Hansen, Melanie	General (1.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Klein, Jessica	General (1.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Lavine, Greg	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Lyons, Iva	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Outumuro, Christine	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Scarbro, Maggie	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Steinman, Gregg	General (1.0)	W-40
Young Friends of the Everglades	Washburn, Connie and Students	Biological Resources (16.0)	W-41

I-113 Final SEIS

Refers to comment number in the Responses to Comments section of this volume (Volume IV).
 Refers to page number of comments in Volume III of the SEIS.

This Page Intentionally Left Blank

## ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AFB	Air Force Base	$O_3$	ozone
AQRV	air quality related values	OEA	Office of Economic Adjustment
ARS	Air Reserve Station	OPF	Opa-Locka Airport
ATC	Air Traffic Control	OU	operable unit
BRAC	Base Realignment and Closure	PAH	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
	Council on Environmental Quality	PSD	Prevention of Significant
CEQ	* *	rsD	Deterioration
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations	D C D A	
CO	carbon monoxide	RCRA	Resource Conservation and Recovery
dB	decibel(s)	CATO	Act
dBA	A-weighted decibel(s)	SAIC	Science Applications International
DERM	Department of Environmental	anta	Corporation
	Resources Management (Miami-Dade	SEIS	Supplemental Environmental Impact
	County)	C FOX	Statement
DNL	Day-Night Average Sound Level	SEL	Sound Exposure Level
DOI	Department of the Interior	SFWMD	South Florida Water Management
DOD	Department of Defense	90	District
DOT	Department of Transportation	$SO_2$	sulfur dioxide
EA	Environmental Assessment	STDA	stormwater treatment and distribution
FAA	Federal Aviation Administration		area
FICON	Federal Interagency Committee on	SWMM	Surface Water Management Model
	Noise	TA	Time Above
FLL	Fort Lauderdale-Hollywood	TAamb	Time Above ambient
	International Airport	TAD	Transportation Analysis District
HABDI	Homestead Air Base Developers, Inc.	UAM	Urban Airshed Model
HST	Homestead Regional Airport	UDB	Urban Development Boundary
INM	Integrated Noise Model	U.S.C.	United States Code
IRP	Installation Restoration Program	USEPA	U.S. Environmental Protection
ISIS	Integrated Sound Information System		Agency
LAmax	Maximum Sound Level	VMT	vehicle miles traveled
Leq	Equivalent Sound Energy Level	VOC	volatile organic compound
Leq(h)	Peak Hour Equivalent Sound Level		
LRA	Local Redevelopment Authority		
MIA	Miami International Airport		
MTOW	Maximum Take Off Weight		
NAAQS	National Ambient Air Quality		
NIEDA	Standards National Environmental Baliay Act		
NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act		
$NO_2$	nitrogen dioxide		
NO <sub>x</sub>	nitrogen oxides		
NPIAS	National Plan of Integrated Airport		
NIDC	Systems National Paula Comics		
NPS	National Park Service		•
NRC	Nuclear Regulatory Commission		
NRDC	Natural Resources Defense Council		
NWR	National Wildlife Refuge		